
Industrial Development Authority 
Monthly Meeting 

May 24, 2019 – 10:00 a.m. 
IMAG 

2000 Cranford Avenue 
Fort Myers, FL  33901 

I. Call to Order

II. Guest Introductions

III. Approval of Minutes

a. April 26, 2019

IV. Treasurer's Report

a. Financials – April 2019

V. New Business

a. Consider adoption of bond resolution relating to the Shell Point Project

b. Knott-Ebelini-Hart invoices (December 2018, Jan/Feb/March 2019)

c. Proposal letter from Ashley, Brown & Company CPAs to provide audit services

d. Discussion of IDA’s continued financial support of Horizon Foundation’s economic
development efforts to include, but not limited to, the ‘Independent Contractor
Agreement’

e. Discussion on IDA’s interest and ability to participate in Lee County’s affordable
housing efforts

VI. Old Business

VII. Economic Development Office Comments

VIII. Adjourn
Next Industrial Development Authority Monthly Meeting: 

JUNE 28, 2019 
Lee County Admin East Building 

2201 Second Street, First Floor, Room 118 
Fort Myers, FL 33901 
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INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MONTHLY MEETING

 DATE:  April 26, 2019 

 TIME:  10:14 a.m. to 10:54 a.m. 

 PLACE:  FSW State College 
 8099 College Parkway 
 Fort Myers, Florida 33919 

 REPORTER:  TAMMY L. BETZ, Registered 
 Professional Reporter, Notary 
 Public, State of Florida at Large 

VON AHN ASSOCIATES, INC./U.S. LEGAL SUPPORT, INC. 
Registered Professional Reporters

2271 McGregor Boulevard, Second Floor
Fort Myers, Florida 33901

Phone:  (239) 332-7443  FAX:  (239) 332-4066
Offices in Naples • South Fort Myers • Punta Gorda 
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A P P E A R A N C E S 

Wayne Kirkwood, IDA Chairman

David Barton, Vice Chairman

Ed Bolter, Secretary 

Jim Humphrey, IDA Corporate Attorney

Chris Traber, IDA Bond Attorney

John Talmage, Lee County EDO Director 

Nancy Collura, Lee County EDO

Gail Markham, Assistant Secretary

Robbie Roepstorff, Member 

Glen Salyer, Assistant County Manager

Amanda Patton, Administrative Specialist 

Martin Schappell, President and CEO of Shell Point

Tim Lockridge, CFO of Shell Point  
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(The location of the meeting was changed from 

U102 to U107 just prior to the start of the 

meeting.)

(Thereupon, commencing at 10:14 a.m. the 

following proceedings were had:) 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Good morning, everyone, and our 

apologies.  Our speaker ran over, and he's still 

speaking.  So in order -- and to all deference to 

our guests, I'm going to go ahead and hold the 

public hearing for the adoption of the inducement 

resolution first, and then we can get to the house 

business later.  

Chris, do you want to start?  

MR. HUMPHREY:  Well, if we would, if we can 

have the names for the record and everyone here, 

and then we'll assign it to Chris. 

MS. MARKHAM:  Gail Markham.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Robbie Roepstorff.

MR. SALYER:  Glen Salyer.  

MR. BARTON:  David Barton.  

MR. TRABER:  Chris Traber.  

MR. HUMPHREY:  And Jim Humphrey.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Wayne Kirkwood.  And we do have 

a quorum, so we're good.

(Nancy Collura entered the room.) 
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MR. TRABER:  First there will be a public 

hearing before we consider the inducement 

resolution for Shell Point Village.  They have an 

application in the authority for bonds, but not to 

exceed the amount of $118,000,000 to handle the 

acquisition and construction of additional skilled 

nursing facilities and other capital improvements 

to their campus here in Fort Myers.  

With us today is Martin Schappell and Tim 

Lockridge.  And, you know, before I go into all the 

legalese on the inducement resolution, I would just 

like to ask them to perhaps talk about Shell Point, 

sort of where they've been in the last three years, 

because the last time you saw them was in 2016, and 

what exactly they want to do with the project. 

MR. SCHAPPELL:  I'll lead off.  Thank you for 

allowing us to come before you.  So my name is 

Martin Schappell, and I have the privilege of being 

the president and CEO of Shell Point, a retirement 

community, and I've had that opportunity for the 

last almost three years coming out of a background 

in hospital healthcare.  

Shell Point last year in 2018 celebrated its 

fiftieth year anniversary.  So it's an organization 

that has tremendous history and stability within 
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the Fort Myers market.  Some things just in terms 

of Shell Point, as a means of an introduction for 

those of you that may not have been on campus or 

may not even know where we are, we're right before 

the causeway over to Sanibel.  

Shell Point basically right now maintains 

independent living, assisted living and skilled 

nursing for our residents.  And we have almost 

2,500 residents, that they're a part of Shell 

Point, and they are served by approximately 1,100 

employees.  

So we're comparatively -- the size and scale 

of Shell Point is the largest single-site 

retirement community in Florida.  It is the second 

largest retirement -- single-site retirement 

community in the country.  That is fortunate that 

it gives us density and scale to provide a 

lifestyle through our amenities that is rather 

robust, whether that's the tennis courts or the 

golf course or the dining venues or the kayaks and 

the marina, et cetera.  So it provides for a 

tremendous lifestyle for our residents while they 

are taking advantage of the life care that we 

provide to them contractually.  

The reason that we are now looking at a 
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skilled nursing project is we had provided skilled 

nursing services since inception in respects to a 

very small clinic that started with five beds.  

That skilled nursing building was built in the 

'70s, currently called our Larsen Pavilion.  It is 

licensed for 219 beds.  

The reason that we are now looking at a 

replacement building is as it was built in the 

'70s, it has its limitations as a skilled nursing 

building.  The rooms are primarily semi-privates, 

and our residents these days are saying, "We really 

want access to a private skilled nursing bed."  

I'm old enough to remember when Health Park 

opened and the splash it made in town, that it was 

going to provide single rooms, private rooms in 

healthcare.  Well, we're a little behind in 

respects to offering that level of service.  And so 

what this new building allows us to do is to 

provide single rooms.  So it will be a 180-bed 

skilled nursing facility located up at the gateway 

to our campus.  

So as you are on McGregor, where Summerlin and 

McGregor merge, and then you come next to our 

entrance, you'll see that rounded sign with the 

fountains.  That first pod or that first community 
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called Waterside is where the new skilled nursing 

will be.  So it will be at our gateway at the front 

of our community.  

Within that 180 beds, 162 will be private 

rooms.  The other nine rooms will be companion 

rooms.  And what's going to make these different 

than other companion rooms or semi-private rooms is 

they'll be shaped like an L.  So a bed will be 

surrounded by three walls with a shared bathroom.  

And we're doing those deliberately because 

clinically there's some folks who do better with 

companionship.  As well, if it's a couple or two 

friends, they can choose to place their two beds in 

one room leaving the other space available for a 

studio or a suite type of experience.  

The neighborhoods will be 20-bed 

neighborhoods.  So each 20 beds will have its own 

living room, dining room, activity space, sun 

porch, et cetera.  So there will be plenty of 

common space, unlike what we have right now in our 

'70s skilled nursing building.  

So the strategy behind this is really to first 

and foremost be responsive to our residents, to 

their requests, and recognizing that if we want to 

maintain our competitiveness in the marketplace and 
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continue to be the premiere retirement community, 

we need to skate towards that puck, which is to 

provide those private beds.  

So that's the rationale behind this new 

construction project.  And so we've got tremendous 

support within our residents as well as our board.  

They will be voting on the final budget and 

contract in our May board meeting in the middle of 

May, and from there we are prepared to move swiftly 

towards construction with your support. 

MR. LOCKRIDGE:  I'm Tim Lockridge.  I've been 

with Shell Point for 20 years now as the CFO.  So I 

think this is the fifth or sixth transaction that 

I've brought before you.  So I want to thank you 

for all you've done for us in the past in enabling 

us to be able to access the bond market so that we 

can continue our expansion and continue to serve 

the elders of Lee County.  So I hope that you will 

favorably consider our request for today, and we 

look forward to working with you all once again. 

MR. TRABER:  Any questions from board members?  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  I have one real quick.  So it's 

a 290-bed skilled nursing right now?  

MR. LOCKRIDGE:  Two nineteen. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Two nineteen.  I'm sorry.  And 
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we're going to 180, and you're going to tear down 

the existing facility?  

MR. SCHAPPELL:  Actually not.  The existing 

pavilion has great bones.  It doesn't serve well 

anymore as a skilled nursing building, but it has 

great bones.  So we are converting that to an 

amenity building for our residents.  So there will 

be some new amenities that we'll be able to 

introduce, whether that's a movie theater or a 

fitness center, et cetera.  So we're looking at 

converting that square footage to a better use. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Just a point of personal 

curiosity, memory care is skilled nursing?  

MR. SCHAPPELL:  There's a continuum for memory 

care, anywhere from home health memory care to 

respite care, day care, to assisted living memory 

care on into skilled nursing memory care. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  And this will provide   

possibly -- 

MR. LOCKRIDGE:  It continues -- that continuum 

exists currently, and we'll continue to provide for 

that. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  I just lost my mom, and she was 

in a memory care unit, so it's a point of personal 

curiosity.
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MR. LOCKRIDGE:  Sure.  Of course.

MS. MARKHAM:  Are any of those units 

one-bedroom or are they all studios?  

MR. SCHAPPELL:  In terms of skilled nursing  

or -- 

MS. MARKHAM:  Yes.  Skilled nursing, yeah.  

MR. SCHAPPELL:  They will all be single rooms. 

MS. MARKHAM:  Not -- just a studio, not a 

one-bedroom?  

MR. SCHAPPELL:  Correct, for skilled nursing. 

MS. MARKHAM:  I just moved my mother last week 

into her third facility in the last 12 months, and 

I find -- in St. Petersburg.  That's where my 

family is, but I find that the one-bedrooms are 

very popular.  I'm surprised to hear -- and she's 

in a one-bedroom that -- in skilled nursing.  

Advanced Parkinson's.  I'm surprised to hear that 

you're not doing any one-bedrooms, because that's a 

very popular option.  

MR. SCHAPPELL:  Well, in our assisted living 

product there are one-bedroom units.  In our 

assisted living product we are licensed as ECC, an 

extended congregate care license, which allows the 

criteria to be deeper for treating residents in 

that ECC level of care.  
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So we try and encourage aging in place and 

putting folks at a least restrictive level of care, 

so folks, by the time they're moving into that 

skilled nursing level of care really do require far 

more attention. 

MS. MARKHAM:  Well, we're in that mode, very 

much so, several calls a day.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  For clarification, because 

you were saying 160 of these 180 are private.

MR. SCHAPPELL:  A hundred and sixty-two, 

correct.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  A hundred and sixty-two.  

Okay.  So when you say one-bedroom, are you just 

saying it's an open room with a bed in it versus a 

bedroom?  

MS. MARKHAM:  A bedroom, a living room, a 

kitchen and a bathroom.  That's the one-bedroom 

apartment, which is -- 

MR. SCHAPPELL:  That's not what we're doing 

for skilled nursing.  Skilled nursing is the 

highest level of care -- 

MS. MARKHAM:  It is skilled nursing.  They're 

right there, but it is definitely larger than a 

studio and much more comfortable actually.  

MR. SCHAPPELL:  Sure.  
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MS. MARKHAM:  Just wondering.  Just curious. 

MR. SCHAPPELL:  These will be one-bedrooms, 

private rooms, full bathrooms, and then within the 

hallways, within that 20-bed unit is where there 

will be a separate living room, dining room, et 

cetera. 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Well, I was just -- you're 

not too far behind, because I was just at a Healthy 

Lee meeting yesterday, and much to my surprise -- 

I'm sure you already know this, Jim -- they're 

taking -- Dr. Wolff, I think it was, gave a 

presentation of where they're taking the Lee 

Memorial campus downtown and taking those and 

converting the bulk of them to private rooms simply 

because that's what they're calling for.  

And my concern was, isn't that the main focal 

point for the -- you know, an insured, and 

surprisingly again, Scott Kashman said, "No.  It's 

pretty spread out now.  It's not just there."  But 

they're converting all of that.  They're going to 

do some major -- 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  A lot of that is through HIPAA, 

private rooms.  That's -- 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Oh, I didn't know that.  

Well, who wouldn't want a private room?  But I 
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didn't know that they could scale it down and still 

have enough beds.  But then, of course, look at 

what they're doing at Gulf Coast, so...  

MR. HUMPHREY:  If I may, they're just not 

briefing the former mayor -- or the present mayor 

and some of the council on all they're doing now.  

But council is starting to get involved, because 

they're concerned, like you say, of the -- they 

decided to keep the -- to the trauma unit there, 

and so -- but we know they're thinking of turning 

some others into offices.  

That's frankly one consolation about it, is 

that there's usually more people for the offices 

and parking and they stay longer.  They don't just 

come in and see the patient and leave.  So we hope 

they visit downtown and other areas of the city. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  So let's circle back around to 

Shell Point.  All right.  Chris, I believe Martin 

and Tim are done. 

MR. TRABER:  Any further questions from the 

Board?  It is a public hearing, Mr. Chairman, so if 

there's any people from the public, if they want to 

speak up as well or just announce themselves.  

For the record, there's no one from the public 

here.  So if you want to close the public hearing. 

14



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

 

 

14

IDA CHAIRMAN:  We'll close the public hearing. 

MR. TRABER:  The next item would be to 

consider the inducement, and we should move forward 

today for this project.  Again, this is the first 

and second step of a four-step process.  

So you held the public hearing the IRS 

requires.  The inducement resolution basically 

says, the IDA thinks this project is a good idea.  

It will promote the economic prosperity and health 

and safety of the citizens of Lee County and meets 

the requirements of Chapter 159, and also the 

inducement resolution basically -- because you're 

not the Board of County Commissioners -- for their 

approval, and that's the next step in the process.  

If they should -- if you should proceed with 

the project and they agree, then the last and final 

step is to come back in May for all the final bond 

document approvals and sort of the final blessing 

on the project. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Any discussion on the 

inducement resolution?  

MR. HUMPHREY:  I would, if I may for the 

record, of course, not only have I communicated 

with the bond counsel, but also I've reviewed 

saying we can approve it as to form and legal 
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sufficiency.  We haven't closed the public hearing 

though; have we?  

MR. TRABER:  Yes. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  Oh, I'm sorry.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  I'm just saying, any 

discussion, questions regarding the resolution?  I 

have none.  It all looks good to me.

MR. HUMPHREY:  We're ready for a motion    

then --

MS. MARKHAM:  So move.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Second. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  -- to adopt the resolution, 

which also includes the memorandum agreement for 

the issuance of the private activity bonds. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  I have a motion and second.  

Any further discussion?  Hearing none, all in 

favor?  

MS. MARKHAM:  Aye.

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Aye.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  David?  Yes, aye?  

MR. BARTON:  Oh, yes.  Sorry.  Yes.  I thought 

I said it. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Any opposed?  Seeing none, 

motion carries. 

MR. TRABER:  There's two other points I want 
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to raise to go forward with the project.  The first 

is to call your attention to the underwriter.  B.C. 

Ziegler & Company has mentioned that because of the 

interest rates in June and July, they are concerned 

about the timing and will be back before the board 

in May with the final bond documents.  

What we're seeing, not on this transaction, 

but a lot of other transactions we have in play 

right now, is that they're asking for permission to 

basically go out and premark the bonds a little 

bit, obviously, pending final approvals from the 

county and this board, so that we never sell the 

bonds before your final approval, but they are 

looking to possibly get in the market a week or two 

beforehand with a prospectus to at least start 

talking about the bonds to get the interest there 

so that they can speed things along.  Really it 

will cut two weeks off the schedule.  

So if anyone has concerns about that -- I'm 

just throwing it out there if anybody wants to 

raise the issue.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  I don't have any issues. 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Is there any reason to have 

concern?  

MR. HUMPHREY:  No.  In fact, it's important, 
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and as he said, if it comes back before you -- I 

just closed one for the health system, and we did 

the same thing, because now is good timing for it, 

the interest rate in setting it up before we close 

and get the final approval.  So I see no legal 

issues. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  If there's no legal issues, I 

think it would only behoove us, as a board, to 

provide them and empower them to capture the best 

rates. 

MS. MARKHAM:  Absolutely. 

MR. TRABER:  And the last item, they do have a 

fee cap letter.  How do you want to proceed with 

that, you know, in terms of -- 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  That was the next item to be 

discussed, is the fee cap for the fee structure and 

discussion. 

MS. MARKHAM:  Counsel?  

MR. HUMPHREY:  Well, I will say to you this is 

not a refunding.  Your policy provided for it, it 

was a refunding.  But it's all new money, and the 

issue that you have, and continue to think about 

it, is this is not the only applicant that is 

non-profit.  You have the one at Health Park.  

What's the name of the one at Health Park?  
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MR. SCHAPPELL:  Cypress Cove?  

MR. HUMPHREY:  Cypress Cove, which you 

considered before, and from -- I think you charged 

the regular rate that -- for closing, if I recall.  

I checked it.  I checked it, but you received 

their letter and, of course, one other thing, and I 

know it sounds like I'm advocating for keeping the 

rates.  Probably I am. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  There's nothing wrong with 

that, just for the record. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  That's right, but I'll say it 

out loud so they could hear it.  The only revenues 

you really receive is from the sale of the bonds, 

and -- I mean from bond issues, and we continue to 

do reviews of other IDAs in the State of Florida.  

And while there are some lower, and you're one of 

the most successful as far -- and I think he would 

concur -- as far as the IDA and -- not only the 

approvals, but the way that you work with them just 

like that request.  

So it -- I think that it's not something other 

than you setting a precedent that the next one will 

say, "Let's look at what you just did," and so -- 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  That's always the concern 

that I have.  At the same time knowing the 
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competitive world, you know, that we all live in I 

always like to make sure that our fees are in line 

with what the market bears for bonding application 

fees.  Do you know if -- have we researched that?  

MR. HUMPHREY:  I would answer that 

affirmatively when I do review and, of course, I'll 

be interested in Chris, because he does a lot more 

closing -- I mean bond issues than I do.  

MR. TRABER:  We have noted in the last two 

years, especially, that some of the statewide 

issuers, who are your competition, like Florida 

Development Finance Corporation out of Orlando and 

Capital Crest Agency in the Panhandle, have moved 

in the higher ranges of bonds, not for the 

40,000,000 or $50,000,000 bond issues, but the  

over in excess of a hundred million dollars.  

They've gone to sort of not charging the full 

amount for over X --  

MS. MARKHAM:  Yeah.  

MR. TRABER:  -- to more of a scaled amount to 

say, "Yeah, we want at least a couple hundred 

thousand, but once you get above that, they're kind 

of starting to ease it off a little bit. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  If I can work from my rather 

probably poor recollections and having sat through 
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a number of these, to Jim's point we have, when 

it's a refunding, given discounts, and that is a 

precedent in a policy that we have established.  

I know that we have been made -- this ask has 

been made of us before on a number of occasions.  I 

believe one of them was when this institution was 

Edison College and we had the entire team there 

lobbying for a discount.  

And if my recollection is correct, we did not 

provide that.  And part of that discussion, when 

we've had these questions come before us, has been 

fear of setting a precedent, because once we open 

that door, then it's, you know, it's Katy bar the 

door.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  And then how could you be 

subjective --  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Exactly.  We work -- and this 

discussion has gone on and on about that point 

exactly, is how are we subjective, how do we 

gradiate this, and we haven't had a good solution.  

That is my two cents' worth for what it's worth.  

Gail, I know you want to say something. 

MS. MARKHAM:  No.  I was just thinking.  

That's all.  I'm not thinking to say something 

actually, believe it or not.  I'm thinking quietly.  
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I think -- since this is a new offering, I 

think we need to stay with our criteria for 

financing, our normal procedure. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  So do you want to make that a 

formalized -- 

MS. MARKHAM:  I guess I need to.  Yeah.  So 

moved. 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Aye. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Motion to second that we offer 

no discount, our rate applies as stated?  Any 

further discussion?  Seeing none, all in favor?  

MS. MARKHAM:  Aye.  

MR. BARTON:  Aye.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Any opposed?  Seeing none, 

motion carries. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  If I may, Mr. Chairman, please 

remember what we did say.  This is something that 

we appreciate, you know, the previous actions with 

Shell Point, and if you want to do refunding, we've 

got a policy on that. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Tim and Martin, both, I mean 

please understand that this board and virtually all 

of us sitting here have sat on this board for many, 

many years, so we come with a history, we come with 

a background, and this is something we have 
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wrestled with for years, and it is a position that 

we have been very, very cautious about venturing 

into.  

On the other side, sitting on your side, as a 

business person, I would ask the same question, you 

know, and God bless you, and we are very proud of 

you for asking that question.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  At some point in time if we 

find the market -- everybody is doing over a 

certain threshold on a tiered level, I think it's 

something that we never want to close our mind on 

and not address.  But I think you're saying you're 

seeing a little bit of it, but it's not prevalent 

in the market. 

MR. TRABER:  Just in those two statewide 

issuers, because again, they're trying to 

essentially steal your business.

MR. HUMPHREY:  Thank you.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Thank you.  Thank you very 

much.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Good luck with the project.  It 

is well needed in this community.

(Mr. Schapppell and Mr. Lockridge left the 

room.) 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  The next item on the 
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agenda, let's back up, is approval of minutes.  

I'll entertain a motion for the approval of minutes 

of January 25th, 2019.  Do we have a motion?  

MS. MARKHAM:  So move.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Second?  Do I have a second?  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Second -- oh, David.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  David, second?  

MR. BARTON:  Yes.

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Any discussion?  Seeing 

none, all in favor?  

MR. BARTON:  Aye.

MS. MARKHAM:  Aye.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Any opposed?  Seeing none, 

motion carries.  Treasury Report.

(Discussion held off the record per request of 

Counsel.) 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Old business.  Anything 

for old business?  

MR. TRABER:  Last year Bonita Springs Utility 

got another IRS audit for their bonds, and we gave 

them everything to work with.  The borrower was 

really good about getting all the information right 

away.  We got the letter from the IRS.  So 

basically a number of IRS agents were then 

furloughed as part of the governmental shutdown.  
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So we were sort of in limbo until last week.  

Actually, we did receive a good letter from the IRS 

indicating there's no change in the taxable status 

of those bonds outstanding.  It was 2015 bonds.  So 

they're very happy, and, of course, we're very 

happy as well.  I just wanted to report that. 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Who did they upset with the 

IRS?  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  I'm going to share a real quick 

story.  My dad has been gone for 30 years since 

November.  My mother's tax return still shows up 

with his name on it. 

(Comment by the court reporter)

IDA CHAIRMAN:  This is off the record.  

(A discussion was held off the record.) 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Let's move on, Economic 

Development Office Comments.  John?  

MR. TALMAGE:  Just a couple of comments.  One 

is that we are updating our IDA material, and I 

mean I'm actively marketing the IDA wherever I go 

and speak to -- the mayor and I spoke this week 

about possibly doing a roundtable for some of the 

medium size, large size businesses in Lee County 

that may not know that they have access to the IDA 

in their expansions or consolidation plans.  
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So we're going to do a workshop and invite 

some of them to sit around the table to be able to 

have a conversation about that.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  The qualifiable type.  

MR. TALMAGE:  Right.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  I think that's a great idea. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  And often the ones that are 

already existing but need to expand are not aware 

that they qualify.  They're not aware of the IDA 

possibilities.  And so we thought it might be good, 

and we'll invite Chris too to be there. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  I would hope as part of our 

marketing there's a little blurb there to the 

general public as to what the IDA does, because I 

don't think there's not one of us in this room that 

are members that have not been asked and drilled 

and grilled on, "What is it you guys do and what's 

all that money going to?"  

MS. MARKHAM:  We defer to our counsel. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  And then we remind them to read 

the brochure and read the application. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Go on online.  There's a 

website. 

MR. TALMAGE:  I'm also aware we're going back 

and updating the pictures of when the product -- 
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when you look at the $2.2 billion (inaudible).

(Comment by the court reporter) 

MR. TALMAGE:  I was just saying we're going to 

update the pictures because when you look at the 

amount of money they bonded out, it represents a 

lot of the significant growth in Lee County. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  We felt it's not necessary.  I 

like that announcement of over $2 billion, because 

most of them, of the IDA members, were there 

through all of this, so maybe a few were not, so -- 

isn't that what you said, 2 point --

MR. TALMAGE:  Yes, sir.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  I think the challenge that the 

public sees is they see the balance sheet and they 

see X million dollars we've got sitting there, and 

in their mind it's not deployed.  And so that was 

always the challenge, and so we're just educating 

them on what we do in the form of grants and that 

we do keep reserves for reasons like the last, I 

will admit, ten-year reset.  You know, we didn't 

see anything.  So it's just we're prudent with our 

money.  That's the key I think. 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  But I would like to see a way 

to employ some of this money. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  John and I have had a few of 
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those conversations, and I believe he is working on 

some ideas that he will be bringing back to us.

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Good.

MS. MARKHAM:  That million dollars fund --

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Yeah.

MR. TALMAGE:  And I'll note that next month's 

meeting at the IMAG, that there are invitations to 

have a public discussion. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Yeah.  

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  Also did you ever find a way 

to close that loophole or that black hole that 

universities couldn't be applying for, colleges can 

but universities can't?  

MR. HUMPHREY:  I wish we could.  I think you 

know and some of the others that there's a family 

that bought or purchased significant property and 

desires to enter into -- and work with FGCU to have 

an administrative office building for them.  

But we -- word we get from you and the others 

on the back of the Internal Revenue Service -- 

MS. MARKHAM:  I have a question about the 

May 24th meeting.  Our Horizon General Membership 

Meeting is at the Collaboratory, and then we're 

going to move over to the IMAG?  

MR. TALMAGE:  We're going to provide a van to 
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take people back and forth.  

MS. MARKHAM:  Yeah.  I was just wondering.

MR. TALMAGE:  Because we couldn't -- because 

the IMAG has been trying to host you for a while, 

and I think that's when they tried to -- and 

dedicated some of the facility for the Horizon 

council. 

MS. MARKHAM:  Got it.  Just curious.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  John, anything else?  

MR. TALMAGE:  That's it. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Anything for the good of 

the whole before we adjourn?  

MR. TRABER:  Just one final anecdote from 

earlier.  The IRS has had the same regulations 

applicable to our public hearing process since the 

mid '80s, since the 1986 Tax Act.  They have 

proposed various changes in the last couple of 

decades.  Finally last year we got a trickle-down 

of a new regulation or a slimmed-down regulation 

for our public hearings.  

Now instead of 14 days in advance, we only 

have to advertise seven days in advance, and we 

don't have to use newspapers anymore.  We can use a 

website within certain parameters.  So the IRS is 

finally moving into sort of the information age, 
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you know, the worldwide web. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  So you'll save some money on 

advertising.  

MR. TRABER:  So we'll save some money and also 

it's been a time issue too with respect to the 

meetings and getting things going.  So we're 

exhausted under your policy, because your policy 

reflects 14 days now, and as well as some other 

things, we'll update -- we'll get Jim's office to 

update the policy as well.  So one positive thing 

did come out of the IRS. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  It was kind of like today.  We 

were running over and -- 

MS. MARKHAM:  Yeah.  

MR. TALMAGE:  One thing I want to recognize is 

that Miesha, Jim's assistant, had a baby. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  I should have said something.  

I have to call her on the phone now. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Well, congratulations from the 

board to her. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  But if I may add for the record 

this, if you would, Mr. Chairman and Members, is 

that if I can remember everything about it -- oh, I 

know, it's the -- what he was saying about the 

website is you've probably seen from the invoices 
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that we've been working on, the amendments to the 

website for the IDA, because you're a special 

district and they have changed the special district 

requirements, but I believe we're in accordance 

with the statutory requirements of special 

districts.  

So I think for the record, because I will be 

one, as your counsel, to advocate using the website 

instead of the continued use of the print media. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Well, I just came from a 

meeting that basically was indicating that social 

electronic means are superior and will reach more 

people, maybe not our own age, but... 

MR. TALMAGE:  The millennials will see it. 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  I didn't know -- although I 

know it was done at Horizon, I certainly want our 

body to show respect for the loss of Larry -- 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Larry Kiker.  Yes.  I heard, 

and I knew Larry was having some health challenges, 

but this came on very quickly.  He was formally 

diagnosed in October. 

MS. MARKHAM:  And they didn't think it was 

that serious. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  No.  It was one of those on 

again, off again, now it's on, now it's really bad.  
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Larry was a friend and a colleague, and he brought 

a lot to this county, and we are blessed to have 

had Larry in our lives.  We wish all and his wife 

the best. 

MR. HUMPHREY:  For the record, since she's 

making it, is that he's County Commissioner Larry 

Kiker of the Lee County Commission that passed away 

just a couple of days ago. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Thursday morning, I believe.  

Yeah.  Okay.  Glen, you had something?  

MR. SALYER:  Thanks, Mr. Chair.  I think I 

resolved it.  I just wanted Chris to talk about 

timing of the approval for the issue.  We'll have 

to get that on the May 21st board agenda, and then 

you come back for the 24th here with the IDA, so --

MR. TABER:  We're all set Monday to give our 

usual electronic letter to Richard and Andrea and 

get that going.

MR. SALYER:  Thank you.  

IDA CHAIRMAN:  Nothing else coming before the 

board, I entertain a motion to adjourn. 

MS. ROEPSTORFF:  So move. 

IDA CHAIRMAN:  We stand adjourned.  Thank you.  

(Thereupon, the proceedings were concluded at 

10:54 a.m.)
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STATE OF FLORIDA         )

COUNTY OF LEE  ) 

I, Tammy L. Betz, Registered Professional 

Reporter, do hereby certify that I was authorized to and 

did stenographically report and electronically record 

the foregoing proceedings consisting of pages 1 through 

32 inclusive; and that the transcript is a true record 

of all proceedings had.

I further certify that I am not a relative, 

employee, attorney or counsel of any of the parties, nor 

am I a relative or employee of any of the parties' 

attorney or counsel connected with the action, nor am I 

financially interested in this action.

Dated this 16th day of May, 2019.

         (This transcript has been digitally signed.) 

--------------------------
Tammy L. Betz, RPR, FPR
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Lee County Industrial Development Authority

IDA Financial Summary as of April 30, 2019 

Current Assets
Edison Bank-Operating 198,128.51
Edison Bank-Money Market 207,844.53
Petty Cash 94.59
Total Current Assets 406,067.63

Other Assets Maturity Date
Bank United 1/17/2020 251,522.48
Centennial Bank 12/12/2019 245,743.50
Florida Community Bank 11/4/2019 250,676.80
PNC Bank 9/21/2019 248,563.38
Regions Bank 7/4/2019 247,916.70
SunTrust 7/9/2019 247,096.13
TIAA EverBank 6/27/2019 250,350.98

Total Other Assets 1,741,869.97

Liabilities

   Accounts Payable 12,439.37

   Long-term Liabilities 0.00

Total Liabilities 12,439.37

TOTAL FUNDS AVAILABLE 2,135,498.23

Designated Non-Operating  Funds
Economic Development Programs Budget 900,000.00
Less Expenditure 15,000.00
Balance 885,000.00

Gold Key Program Budget 5,000.00
Less Expenditure 0.00
Balance 5,000.00

HF 1099 Administration Budget 50,000.00
Less Expenditure 0.00
Balance 50,000.00

Horizon Foundation Sponsorship Budget 20,000.00
Less Expenditure 20,000.00
Balance 0.00

Marketing Support Budget 200,000.00
Less Expenditure 2,420.00
Balance 197,580.00

Non-Operating Funds Remaining Balance 1,137,580.00

Operating Funds
Budgeted Operating Expenses 55,600.00
Less Expenditure 6,738.78

Total Estimated-to-Spend 48,861.22

Net Available Funds 949,057.01
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Apr 30, 19

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
Edison National Checking 198,128.51
Edison National Money Market 207,844.53

Total Checking/Savings 405,973.04

Other Current Assets
Petty Cash 94.59

Total Other Current Assets 94.59

Total Current Assets 406,067.63

Other Assets
Bank United CD #1815057021 251,522.48
Centennial Bank 245,743.50
Florida Community Bank 250,676.80
PNC Bank CD 248,563.38
Regions Bank CD 247,916.70
SunTrust CD 247,096.13
TIAA (EverBank ) 250,350.98

Total Other Assets 1,741,869.97

TOTAL ASSETS 2,147,937.60

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable 12,439.37

Total Accounts Payable 12,439.37

Total Current Liabilities 12,439.37

Total Liabilities 12,439.37

Equity
Opening Bal Equity 1,206,757.15
Retained Earnings 967,585.77
Net Income -38,844.69

Total Equity 2,135,498.23

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 2,147,937.60

Lee County Industrial Development Authority
Balance Sheet 05/20/19
As of April 30, 2019 Accrual Basis
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Oct '18 - Apr 19

Income
Interest Income 17,753.46

Total Income 17,753.46

Gross Profit 17,753.46

Expense
Designated Funds

Designated for Eco Dev Programs 15,000.00

Total Designated Funds 15,000.00

Non-Operating Expenditures
Horizon Foundation Sponsorship 20,000.00
Marketing Support 2,420.00

Total Non-Operating Expenditures 22,420.00

Operating Expenditures
Insurance 2,119.00
Legal Fees 15,985.46
Meeting Costs 663.47
Miscellaneous

Dues and Subscription 390.22
Postage 20.00

Total Miscellaneous 410.22

Total Operating Expenditures 19,178.15

Total Expense 56,598.15

Net Income -38,844.69

4:27 PM Lee County Industrial Development Authority

05/20/19 Profit & Loss YTD Comparison
Accrual Basis October 2018 through April 2019

Page 1
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 Lee County Industrial Development Authority
 Budget vs. Actual
 October - April 2019

 Accrual Basis

 Page 1 of 1

Oct - Apr '19 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Operating Income
Interest Income 17,753.46 0.00 17,753.46 100.0%

Total Income 17,753.46 0.00 17,753.46 100.0%

Operating Expenditures
Audit Fees 0.00 7,500.00 -7,500.00 0.0%
Bank Service Charge 0.00 100.00 -100.00 0.0%
Business Development 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 0.0%

FGCU Economic Impact Models 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 0.0%
Insurance 2,119.00 2,500.00 -381.00 84.76%
Legal Fees 15,985.46 30,000.00 -14,014.54 53.29%
Meeting Costs 663.47 2,500.00 -1,836.53 26.54%
Miscellaneous 410.22 1,000.00 -589.78 41.02%
Printing 0.00 2,000.00 -2,000.00 0.0%

Total Operating Expenditures 19,178.15 55,600.00 -36,421.85 34.49%

Net Operating Income -1,424.69 -55,600.00 54,175.31

Designated Non-Operating Funds
HF 1099 Administration 0.00 50,000.00 -50,000.00 0.0%
Horizon Foundation Sponsorship 20,000.00 20,000.00 0.00 100.0%
Marketing Support 2,420.00 200,000.00 -197,580.00 1.21%
Designated for Eco Dev Programs 15,000.00 900,000.00 -885,000.00 1.67%
Gold Key Program 0.00 5,000.00 -5,000.00 0.0%

Net Designated Funds 37,420.00 1,175,000.00 -1,137,580.00 3.19%
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Type Date Num Name Memo Split Debit Credit Balance

Edison National Checking 198,123.63
Deposit 04/30/2019 Interest Interest Income 4.88 198,128.51

Total Edison National Checking 4.88 0.00 198,128.51

Edison National Money Market 207,839.41
Deposit 04/30/2019 Interest Interest Income 5.12 207,844.53

Total Edison National Money Market 5.12 0.00 207,844.53

Accounts Receivable 0.00
Total Accounts Receivable 0.00

Petty Cash 94.59
Total Petty Cash 94.59

Undeposited Funds 0.00
Total Undeposited Funds 0.00

Bank United CD #1815057021 251,522.48
Total Bank United CD #1815057021 251,522.48

Centennial Bank 245,743.50
Total Centennial Bank 245,743.50

Florida Community Bank 250,676.80
Total Florida Community Bank 250,676.80

PNC Bank CD 248,563.38
Total PNC Bank CD 248,563.38

Regions Bank CD 246,512.59
General Journal 04/05/2019 122 Interest Income Interest Income 1,404.11 247,916.70

Total Regions Bank CD 1,404.11 0.00 247,916.70

Regions CD # 0132551835 0.00
Total Regions CD # 0132551835 0.00

SunTrust CD 247,096.13
Total SunTrust CD 247,096.13

TIAA (EverBank ) 250,350.98
Total TIAA (EverBank ) 250,350.98

Accounts Payable -11,291.31
Bill 04/23/2019 412 Knott Ebelini Hart Legal Fees March Current Work Legal Fees 1,148.06 -12,439.37

Total Accounts Payable 0.00 1,148.06 -12,439.37

Opening Bal Equity -1,206,757.15
Total Opening Bal Equity -1,206,757.15

Retained Earnings -967,585.77
Total Retained Earnings -967,585.77

Interest Income -16,339.35
General Journal 04/05/2019 122 Interest Income Regions Bank CD 1,404.11 -17,743.46
Deposit 04/30/2019 Interest Edison National Checking 4.88 -17,748.34
Deposit 04/30/2019 Interest Edison National Money Market 5.12 -17,753.46

Total Interest Income 0.00 1,414.11 -17,753.46

Designated Funds 15,000.00
Designated for Eco Dev Programs 15,000.00
Total Designated for Eco Dev Programs 15,000.00

Total Designated Funds 15,000.00

Non-Operating Expenditures 22,420.00
Horizon Foundation Sponsorship 20,000.00
Total Horizon Foundation Sponsorship 20,000.00

Lee County Industrial Development Authority
General Ledger 05/20/19

As of April 30, 2019 Accrual Basis
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Type Date Num Name Memo Split Debit Credit Balance

Marketing Support 2,420.00
Total Marketing Support 2,420.00

Total Non-Operating Expenditures 22,420.00

Operating Expenditures 18,030.09
Insurance 2,119.00
Total Insurance 2,119.00

Legal Fees 14,837.40
Bill 04/23/2019 412 Knott Ebelini Hart Legal Fees March Current Work Accounts Payable 1,148.06 15,985.46

Total Legal Fees 1,148.06 0.00 15,985.46

Meeting Costs 663.47
Total Meeting Costs 663.47

Miscellaneous 410.22
Dues and Subscription 390.22
Total Dues and Subscription 390.22

Postage 20.00
Total Postage 20.00

Total Miscellaneous 410.22

Total Operating Expenditures 1,148.06 0.00 19,178.15

TOTAL 2,562.17 2,562.17 0.00

Lee County Industrial Development Authority
General Ledger 05/20/19

As of April 30, 2019 Accrual Basis
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A RESOLUTION OF THE LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY PROVIDING FOR THE 
ISSUANCE BY THE AUTHORITY OF NOT TO EXCEED 
$118,000,000 AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF 
LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY HEALTHCARE FACILITIES 
IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BONDS SERIES 2019 (SHELL 
POINT/ALLIANCE OBLIGATED GROUP) (SHELL POINT 
PROJECT) FOR THE PRINCIPAL PURPOSES OF 
FINANCING A PORTION OF THE COSTS (INCLUDING 
REIMBURSEMENT FOR PRIOR RELATED 
EXPENDITURES) RELATING TO THE ACQUISITION, 
CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPPING OF A NEW HEALTH 
CENTER AND EQUIPPING OF VARIOUS CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENTS TO SENIOR LIVING FACILITIES; 
AUTHORIZING A DELEGATED NEGOTIATED SALE OF 
SUCH SERIES 2019 BONDS; AUTHORIZING THE USE OF 
A PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND A FINAL 
OFFICIAL STATEMENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
SALE OF SUCH BONDS; PROVIDING CERTAIN TERMS 
AND DETAILS OF THE SERIES 2019 BONDS, 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT, A BOND TRUST 
INDENTURE, THE SERIES 2019 BONDS, A LOAN 
AGREEMENT AND ALL OTHER RELATED 
INSTRUMENTS INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, A 
TAX AGREEMENT; APPOINTING U.S. BANK 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS BOND TRUSTEE; 
MAKING CERTAIN COVENANTS, AGREEMENTS AND 
FINDINGS IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF 
THE SERIES 2019 BONDS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE FOR THIS RESOLUTION.  

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA, THAT: 

SECTION 1. AUTHORITY FOR THIS RESOLUTION. This 
Resolution, hereafter called "Resolution," is adopted pursuant to the provisions of 
Chapter 159, Parts II and III, Florida Statutes, and other applicable provisions of law. 
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SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS. Unless the context otherwise requires, the 
terms used in this Resolution shall have the meanings specified in this section. Any 
capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned 
such terms in the Bond Indenture (as defined below.) Words importing the singular shall 
include the plural, words importing the plural shall include the singular, and words 
importing persons shall include corporations and other entities or associations. 

"Act" means the Constitution and laws of the State of Florida, particularly 
Chapter 159, Parts II and III, Florida Statutes, and other applicable provisions of law. 

"Alliance" means The Alliance Community for Retirement Living, Inc., a Florida 
not-for-profit corporation, and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entities as provided 
in the Loan Agreement. 

"Authority" means the Lee County Industrial Development Authority, Lee 
County, Florida, a public body corporate and politic and an industrial development 
authority under the Act. 

"Authority's Counsel" means Knott Ebelini Hart, Fort Myers, Florida. 

"Bond Counsel" means the law firm of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., 
Tampa, Florida or a firm of nationally recognized standing in the field of municipal 
finance law whose opinions are generally accepted by purchasers of public obligations. 

"Bond Documents" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 12 
hereof. 

"Bond Indenture" means the Bond Trust Indenture related to the Series 2019 
Bonds to be executed by the Authority and the Bond Trustee, substantially in the form 
attached hereto as EXHIBIT D and incorporated herein by reference. 

"Bond Trustee" means U.S. Bank National Association, as bond trustee under 
the Bond Indenture. 

"Borrower" means Shell Point as representative of an obligated group consisting 
of itself and Alliance. 

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 
including, when appropriate, the statutory predecessor thereof, or any applicable 
corresponding provisions of any future laws of the United States of America relating to 
federal income taxation, and except as otherwise provided herein or required by the 
context hereof, includes interpretations thereof contained or set forth in the applicable 
regulations of the Department of the Treasury (including applicable final or temporary 
regulations and also including regulations issued pursuant to the statutory predecessor of 
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the Code), the applicable rulings of the Internal Revenue Service (including published 
Revenue Rulings and private letter rulings), and applicable court decisions. 

"County" means Lee County, Florida, a political subdivision of the State. 

"Loan Agreement" means the Loan Agreement related to the Series 2019 Bonds, 
to be executed by and between the Authority and Shell Point substantially in the form 
attached hereto as EXHIBIT C and incorporated herein by reference. 

"Master Indenture" means the Amended and Restated Master Trust Indenture, 
dated as of September 1, 2016, among Shell Point, Alliance and the Master Trustee and 
all amendments and supplements thereto. 

"Master Trustee" means U.S. Bank National Association, as successor to 
SunTrust Bank, its successors and assigns. 

"Mortgages" means collectively the Mortgage and Security Agreement, dated as 
of April 1, 1999, from Shell Point to the Master Trustee and the Mortgage and Security 
Agreement, dated as of April 1, 1999, from Alliance to the Master Trustee, and all 
amendments and supplements thereto. 

"Official Statement" means the Preliminary Official Statement and Official 
Statement relating to the Series 2019 Bonds, substantially in the form attached hereto as 
EXHIBIT A and incorporated herein by reference. 

"Project" means the healthcare facilities of the Borrower described in subsection 
G(1) of Section 3 of this Resolution and in the Loan Agreement, heretofore acquired or to 
be acquired, constructed and equipped in the County and owned and operated by the 
Borrower. 

"Purchase Agreement" means the Bond Purchase Agreement to be executed by 
and among the Authority, the Underwriter and Shell Point, substantially in the form 
attached hereto as EXHIBIT B. 

"Secretary" means the Secretary, any Assistant Secretary or any other 
representative of the Authority appointed for the purpose of attesting to the signatures of 
the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Authority. 

"Series 2019 Bonds" means the Authority's Healthcare Facilities Improvement 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group) (Shell Point Project) 
(or such other series as may be designated by the Authority), issued under the Bond 
Indenture substantially in the form and with the rates of interest, maturity dates and other 
details provided for herein and in the Bond Indenture or established in accordance with 
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the terms hereof and thereof, to be authorized and issued by the Authority, authenticated 
by the Bond Trustee and delivered under the Bond Indenture. 

"Shell Point" means The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. 
d/b/a Shell Point, a Florida not-for-profit corporation, and any surviving, resulting, or 
transferee entities as provided in the Master Indenture. 

"State" means the State of Florida. 

"Tax Agreement" means the Tax Exemption Agreement and Certificate to be 
executed by the Authority and the Borrower in connection with the issuance of the Series 
2019 Bonds. 

"Underwriter" means B.C. Ziegler and Company, the underwriter for the Series 
2019 Bonds. 

SECTION 3. FINDINGS. It is hereby ascertained, determined and declared 
as follows: 

A. The Authority is a duly created industrial development authority created 
under the Act, and constitutes a public body corporate and politic within the meaning of 
the Act and is authorized by the Act to finance and refinance any capital project, 
including any "project" for any "health care facilities" as defined in the Act, including 
land, rights in land, buildings, machinery and other improvements essential or convenient 
for the orderly conduct of such "project." 

B. Shell Point and Alliance are each a Florida not-for-profit corporation. 

C. The Borrower has requested the Authority to assist the Borrower by issuing 
not to exceed $118,000,000 in original aggregate principal amount of the Series 2019 
Bonds and loaning the proceeds to the Borrower to (1) finance (or reimburse the 
Borrower for) the costs of the Project, (2) funding capitalized interest on the Series 2019 
Bonds for approximately 24 months, (3) funding any necessary reserves, and (4) pay the 
costs associated with the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds. 

D. By resolution duly adopted on April 26, 2019, in accordance with all 
requirements of law, upon reasonable public notice, at which meeting members of the 
public were afforded reasonable opportunity to be heard on all matters pertaining to the 
issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds and the financing of the Project, the Issuer provided its 
preliminary approval for the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds for such purposes.  

E. Pursuant to a resolution of the Board of County Commissioners of the 
County adopted on May 21, 2019, the County has approved the issuance of the Series 
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2019 Bonds and the location and nature of the Project in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 147(f) of the Code. 

F. The Borrower has represented to the Authority that it has, after consulting 
with the Underwriter, determined that market and other conditions are now conducive to 
proceed to finance (or reimburse the Borrower for) the costs of the Project with the 
proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds. 

G. Upon consideration of the documents described herein and the information 
presented to the Authority at or prior to the adoption of this Resolution, the Authority has 
made and does hereby make the following findings and determinations: 

(1) The Borrower has shown that the Project, which generally includes 
the financing of a portion of the costs (including reimbursement for prior related 
expenditures) relating to the acquisition, construction and equipping of a 6-story 
approximately 196,952 square foot health center to be known as the Waterside 
Health Center, which will provide approximately 180 skilled nursing beds, 
comprised of 162 private rooms and nine companion rooms, and including a 
medical clinic, physical therapy, dental and pharmacy facilities, multi-purpose 
meeting rooms, administrative offices, kitchen and related amenities; and the 
acquisition, construction and equipping of various capital improvements to the 
existing senior living facilities of the Obligated Group as part of its capital 
improvement program located at 15101 Shell Point Boulevard in the County, will 
help to alleviate unemployment in the County, improve living conditions and 
health care, foster economic growth and development and the business 
development of the County and the State, and served and will serve other 
predominantly public purposes as set forth in the Act.  The Project is desirable and 
further the public purposes of the Act, and most effectively serve and will serve 
the purposes of the Act, for the Authority to finance the Project and to issue and 
sell the Series 2019 Bonds for the purposes of providing funds to finance (or 
reimburse the Borrower for) the costs of the Project, all as provided in the Loan 
Agreement, which contain such provisions as are necessary or convenient to 
effectuate the purpose of the Act. 

(2) Taking into consideration representations made to the Authority by 
the Borrower and based on other criteria established by the Act, as of the date 
hereof, the Borrower is financially responsible and fully capable and willing to 
fulfill its obligations under the Loan Agreement, and any other agreements to be 
made in connection with the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, and the use of the 
Series 2019 Bond proceeds for financing (or reimbursing the Borrower for) the 
costs of the Project, including the obligation to make loan payments or other 
payments due under the Loan Agreement, or the Bond Indenture in an amount 
sufficient in the aggregate to pay all of the principal of, interest and redemption 
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premiums, if any, on the Series 2019 Bonds, in the amounts and at the times 
required. 

(3) The County and other local agencies are able to cope satisfactorily 
with the impact of the Project and are able to provide, or cause to be provided 
when needed, the public facilities, including utilities and public services, that are 
necessary for the construction and maintenance of the Project and on account of 
any increase in population or other circumstances resulting therefrom. 

(4) Adequate provision is made under the Loan Agreement for the 
payment by the Borrower of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 
Series 2019 Bonds when and as the same become due, and payment by the 
Borrower of all other costs in connection with the financing, refinancing, 
acquisition, construction, installation, operation, maintenance and administration 
of the Project which are not paid out of the proceeds from the sale of the Series 
2019 Bonds or otherwise. 

(5) The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2019 
Bonds and all other pecuniary obligations of the Authority under the Loan 
Agreement, the Bond Indenture, the Tax Agreement or otherwise, in connection 
with the financing (or reimbursing the Borrower for) the costs of the Project or 
otherwise in connection with the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, shall be 
payable by the Authority solely from (a) the loan payments and other revenues and 
proceeds received by the Authority under the Loan Agreement, the Bond 
Indenture and the Master Indenture, (b) the operation, sale, lease or other 
disposition of the Project, including proceeds from insurance or condemnation 
awards and proceeds of any foreclosure or other realization upon the liens or 
security interests under the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, Mortgages, 
and the Bond Indenture, and (c) the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds and income 
from the temporary investment of the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds or of 
such other revenues and proceeds, as pledged for such payment to the Bond 
Trustee under and as provided in the Bond Indenture. Neither the faith and credit 
nor the taxing power of the Authority, the County, the State or of any political 
subdivision or agency thereof is pledged to the payment of the Series 2019 Bonds 
or of such other pecuniary obligations of the Authority, and neither the Authority, 
the County, the State nor any political subdivision or agency thereof shall ever by 
required or obligated to levy ad valorem taxes on any property within their 
territorial limits to pay the principal of, purchase price, premium, if any, or interest 
on such Series 2019 Bonds or other pecuniary obligations or to pay the same from 
any funds thereof other than such revenues, receipts and proceeds so pledged, and 
the Series 2019 Bonds shall not constitute a lien upon any property owned by the 
Authority, the County or the State or any political subdivision or agency thereof, 
other than the Authority's interest in the Loan Agreement and the property rights, 
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receipts, revenues and proceeds pledged therefor under and as provided in the 
Bond Indenture, Master Indenture, the Mortgages  and any other agreements 
securing the Series 2019 Bonds. The Authority has no taxing power. 

(6) A delegated negotiated sale of the Series 2019 Bonds is required and 
necessary, and is in the best interest of the Authority, for the following reasons: 
the Series 2019 Bonds will be special and limited obligations of the Authority 
payable solely out of revenues and proceeds derived by the Authority pursuant to 
the Loan Agreement and by the Master Trustee or Bond Trustee pursuant to the 
Master Indenture and the Mortgages, and the Borrower will be obligated for the 
payment of all costs of the Authority in connection with the financing (or 
reimbursing the Borrower for) the costs of the Project which are not paid out of 
the Series 2019 Bond proceeds or otherwise; the costs of issuance of the Series 
2019 Bonds, which will be borne directly or indirectly by the Borrower, could be 
greater if the Series 2019 Bonds are sold at public sale by competitive bids than if 
the Series 2019 Bonds are sold at negotiated sale; private activity revenue bonds 
having the characteristics of the Series 2019 Bonds are typically and usually sold 
at negotiated sale and/or privately placed; the Borrower has indicated that it may 
be unwilling to proceed with the financing (or reimbursing the Borrower for) the 
costs of the Project unless a negotiated sale of the Series 2019 Bonds is authorized 
by the Authority; and authorization of a negotiated sale of the Series 2019 Bonds 
is necessary in order to serve the purposes of the Act. 

(7) All requirements precedent to the adoption of this Resolution, of the 
Constitution and other laws of the State, including the Act, have been complied 
with. 

(8) The purposes of the Act will be most effectively served by the 
acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project by the Borrower as an 
independent contractor and not as an agent of the Authority, as provided in the 
Loan Agreement. 

H. The Authority, the Borrower and the Underwriter will negotiate a sale and 
public offering of the Series 2019 Bonds pursuant to the provisions hereof and the 
Purchase Agreement.  Upon or prior to closing and in accordance with Section 218.385, 
Florida Statutes, the Underwriter will submit to the Authority disclosure and truth-in-
bonding statements dated the date of closing setting forth any fee, bonus or gratuity paid 
in connection with the sale of the Series 2019 Bonds. 

SECTION 4. FINANCING OF THE PROJECT AUTHORIZED.  The 
financing (or reimbursing the Borrower for) the costs of the Project by the Authority in 
the manner provided herein, the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture is hereby 
authorized. 

46



8 

SECTION 5. DELEGATED SALE OF SERIES 2019 BONDS 
AUTHORIZED; AUTHORIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2019 
BONDS.  (A)  Subject to the requirements which must be satisfied in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 5(B) below prior to the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, the 
Authority hereby authorizes the issuance of "Lee County Industrial Development 
Authority Healthcare Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell 
Point/Alliance Obligated Group) (Shell Point Project)" for the principal purpose of 
financing (or reimbursing the Borrower for) the costs of the Project. The Series 2019 
Bonds shall be issued only in accordance with the provisions hereof and the Bond 
Indenture, and all the provisions hereof, and of the Bond Indenture shall be applicable 
thereto. 

(B) Subject to full satisfaction of the conditions set forth in this Section 5(B), 
the Authority hereby authorizes a delegated negotiated sale of the Series 2019 Bonds to 
the Underwriter in accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement to be dated the 
date of sale of the Series 2019 Bonds and to be substantially in the form attached hereto 
as EXHIBIT B, with such changes, amendments, modifications, omissions and additions 
thereto as shall be approved by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman and the Secretary in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 5(B), the execution thereof being deemed 
conclusive evidence of the approval of such changes and the full and complete 
satisfaction of the conditions set forth herein. The Purchase Agreement shall not be 
executed by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman until such time as all of the following 
conditions have been satisfied: 

(1) Receipt by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of a written offer to 
purchase the Series 2019 Bonds by the Underwriter substantially in the form of the 
Purchase Agreement, said offer to provide for, among other things, (a) the 
issuance of an initial aggregate principal amount of Series 2019 Bonds issued 
pursuant to this Resolution, does not exceed $118,000,000, (b) an underwriting 
discount (including management fee and all expenses other than counsel fees and 
expenses) not in excess of 1.125% of the initial par amount of the Series 2019 
Bonds, (c) a true interest cost with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds of not more 
than 5.125% per annum, and (d) the maturities of the Series 2019 Bonds with the 
final maturity no later than November 15, 2052. 

(2) With respect to any optional redemption terms of the Series 2019 
Bonds, the first call date may be no later than 11 years from the dated date of the 
Series 2019 Bonds and no call premium may exceed 5.0% of the par amount of 
that portion of the Series 2019 Bonds to be redeemed. 

(3) Receipt by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman from the Underwriter of 
disclosure statements and the truth-in-bonding information complying with 
Section 218.385, Florida Statutes. 
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(4) The issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds shall not exceed any debt 
limitation prescribed by law, and such Series 2019 Bonds, when issued, will be 
within the limits of all constitutional or statutory debt limitations. 

SECTION 6. PREPAYMENT AND OPTIONAL AND 
EXTRAORDINARY REDEMPTION.  The Series 2019 Bonds are subject to optional, 
mandatory and extraordinary redemption prior to maturity in the manner, to the extent, in 
the amounts and at the times set forth in Article VII of the Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 7 APPROVAL OF PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT AND FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT FOR THE SERIES 2019 
BONDS.  The Authority does hereby authorize the distribution and delivery of the 
Official Statement with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds. The Official Statement shall be 
in substantially the form of the Preliminary Official Statement attached as EXHIBIT A 
hereto with such changes therein as shall be approved by the Borrower in order to reflect 
the final terms and details of the Series 2019 Bonds. The Authority does hereby 
authorize, approve and ratify the prior distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement 
with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds by the Underwriter. The Preliminary Official 
Statement may be "deemed final" by a certificate of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman 
within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 upon 
receipt of a similar certificate from the Borrower. 

SECTION 8. APPOINTMENT OF BOND TRUSTEE.  The Borrower's 
selection of U.S. Bank National Association, Jacksonville, Florida, as Bond Trustee 
under the Bond Indenture is hereby approved. 

SECTION 9. AUTHORIZATION OF EXECUTION AND DELIVERY 
OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT.  The Loan Agreement, substantially in the form 
attached hereto as EXHIBIT C with such corrections, insertions and deletions as may be 
approved by the Chairman or Vice Chairman and Secretary of the Authority, such 
approval to be evidenced conclusively by their execution thereof, is hereby approved and 
authorized; the Authority hereby authorizes and directs the Chairman or Vice Chairman 
of the Authority to date and execute and the Secretary of the Authority to attest, under the 
official seal of the Authority, the Loan Agreement, and to deliver the Loan Agreement to 
the Borrower; and all of the provisions of the Loan Agreement, when executed and 
delivered by the Authority as authorized herein and by the Borrower, shall be deemed to 
be a part of this Resolution as fully and to the same extent as if incorporated verbatim 
herein. 

SECTION 10. AUTHORIZATION OF EXECUTION AND DELIVERY 
OF THE BOND INDENTURE; AUTHORIZED DENOMINATIONS OF SERIES 
2019 BONDS.  The Bond Indenture, substantially in the form attached hereto as 
EXHIBIT D with such changes, corrections, insertions and deletions as may be approved 
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by the Chairman or Vice Chairman and Secretary of the Authority, such approval to be 
evidenced conclusively by their execution thereof, is hereby approved and authorized; the 
Authority hereby authorizes and directs the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Authority 
to date and execute and the Secretary of the Authority to attest, under the official seal of 
the Authority, the Bond Indenture, and deliver the Bond Indenture to the Trustee; and all 
of the provisions of the Bond Indenture, when executed and delivered by the Authority as 
authorized herein, and by the Trustee, shall be deemed to be a part of this Resolution as 
fully and to the same extent as if incorporated verbatim herein.  The Bond Indenture 
provides for the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds in authorized denominations of $5,000 
and integral multiples thereof.  Based upon the delivery by the Borrower of a BBB+ 
rating on the Series 2019 Bonds from Standard and Poor's upon issuance of the Series 
2019 Bonds, such authorized denominations are hereby approved. 

SECTION 11. AUTHORIZATION OF EXECUTION OF TAX 
AGREEMENT, OTHER CERTIFICATES AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS.  The 
Chairman or Vice Chairman and the Secretary of the Authority are hereby authorized and 
directed, either alone or jointly, under the official seal of the Authority, to execute and 
deliver certificates of the Authority certifying such facts as the Authority's Counsel or 
Bond Counsel shall require in connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of the 
Series 2019 Bonds, and to execute and deliver such other instruments, including but not 
limited to, a Tax Agreement relating to certain requirements set forth in Section 148 of 
the Code, and such other assignments, bills of sale and financing statements, as shall be 
necessary or desirable to perform the Authority's obligations under the Loan Agreement, 
the Bond Indenture, the Tax Agreement and the Purchase Agreement and to consummate 
the transactions hereby authorized. 

SECTION 12. NO PERSONAL LIABILITY.  No representation, 
statement, covenant, warranty, stipulation, obligation or agreement herein contained, or 
contained in the Series 2019 Bonds, the Loan Agreement, the Bond Indenture, the Master 
Indenture, the Mortgages, the Tax Agreement, the Purchase Agreement, or any certificate 
or other instrument to be executed on behalf of the Authority in connection with the 
issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds (collectively, hereinafter referred to as the "Bond 
Documents"), shall be deemed to be a representation, statement, covenant, warranty, 
stipulation, obligation or agreement of any member, officer, employee or agent of the 
Authority in his or her individual capacity, and none of the foregoing persons nor any 
member or officer of the Authority executing the Bond Documents shall be liable 
personally thereon or be subject to any personal liability of or accountability by reason of 
the execution or delivery thereof. 

SECTION 13. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  Except as 
otherwise expressly provided herein or in the Bond Documents, nothing in this 
Resolution, or in the Bond Documents, express or implied, is intended or shall be 
construed to confer upon any person, firm, corporation or other organization, other than 
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the Authority, the Borrower, the Bond Trustee, the Master Trustee, the Underwriter and 
the owners from time to time of the Series 2019 Bonds any right, remedy or claim, legal 
or equitable, under and by reason of this Resolution or any provision hereof, or of the 
Bond Documents, all provisions hereof and thereof being intended to be and being for the 
sole and exclusive benefit of the Authority, the Borrower, the Bond Trustee, the Master 
Trustee, the Underwriter and the owners from time to time of the Series 2019 Bonds. 

SECTION 14. PREREQUISITES PERFORMED.  All acts, conditions 
and things relating to the passage of this Resolution, to the issuance, sale and delivery of 
the Series 2019 Bonds, to the execution and delivery of the other Bond Documents, 
required by the Constitution or other laws of the State, to happen, exist and be performed 
precedent to the passage hereof, and precedent to the issuance, sale and delivery of the 
Series 2019 Bonds and to the execution and delivery of the other Bond Documents, have 
either happened, exist and have been performed as so required or will have happened, 
will exist and will have been performed prior to such execution and delivery thereof. 

SECTION 15. COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 218, PART III, AND 
CHAPTER 189, FLORIDA STATUTES.  The Authority hereby approves and 
authorizes the completion, and filing with the Division of Bond Finance, at the expense 
of the Borrower, of notice of the sale of the Series 2019 Bonds and of Bond Information 
Form BF 2003, and any other acts as may be necessary to comply with Chapter 218, 
Part III, and Chapter 189, Florida Statutes. 

SECTION 16. GENERAL AUTHORITY.  The officers, attorneys, 
engineers or other agents or employees of the Authority are hereby authorized to do all 
acts and things required of them by this Resolution and the Bond Documents, and to do 
all acts and things which are desirable and consistent with the requirements hereof or of 
the Bond Documents, for the full, punctual and complete performance of all the terms, 
covenants and agreements contained herein and in the Bond Documents. 

SECTION 17. THIS RESOLUTION CONSTITUTES A CONTRACT.  
The Authority covenants and agrees that this Resolution shall constitute a contract 
between the Authority and the owners from time to time of the Series 2019 Bonds then 
outstanding and that all covenants and agreements set forth herein and in the Bond 
Documents, to be performed by the Authority shall be for the equal and ratable benefit 
and security of all owners of outstanding Series 2019 Bonds, and all subsequent owners 
from time to time of the Series 2019 Bonds, without privilege, priority or distinction as to 
lien or otherwise of any of the Series 2019 Bonds over any other of the Series 2019 
Bonds. 

SECTION 18. LIMITED OBLIGATION.  THE ISSUANCE OF THE 
SERIES 2019 BONDS SHALL NOT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OR 
CONTINGENTLY OBLIGATE THE AUTHORITY, THE COUNTY, THE STATE 
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NOR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY THEREOF TO LEVY OR TO 
PLEDGE ANY FORM OF TAXATION WHATEVER, OR TO LEVY AD VALOREM 
TAXES ON ANY PROPERTY WITHIN THEIR TERRITORIAL LIMITS TO PAY 
THE PRINCIPAL OF, PURCHASE PRICE, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON 
SUCH SERIES 2019 BONDS OR OTHER PECUNIARY OBLIGATIONS OR TO PAY 
THE SAME FROM ANY FUNDS THEREOF OTHER THAN SUCH REVENUES, 
RECEIPTS AND PROCEEDS SO PLEDGED, AND THE SERIES 2019 BONDS 
SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A LIEN UPON ANY PROPERTY OWNED BY THE 
AUTHORITY, THE COUNTY OR THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION 
OR AGENCY THEREOF, OTHER THAN THE AUTHORITY'S INTEREST IN THE 
LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE PROPERTY RIGHTS, RECEIPTS, REVENUES 
AND PROCEEDS PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER AND AS PROVIDED IN THE 
BOND INDENTURE AND ANY OTHER AGREEMENTS SECURING THE SERIES 
2019 BONDS. THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

SECTION 19. SEVERABILITY OF INVALID PROVISIONS.  If any 
one or more of the covenants, agreements or provisions herein contained shall be held 
contrary to any express provisions of law or contrary to the policy of express law, though 
not expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be 
held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and 
shall be deemed separable from the remaining covenants, agreements or provisions, and 
shall in no way affect the validity of any of the other provisions hereof or of the Series 
2019 Bonds issued under the Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 20. REPEALING CLAUSE.  All resolutions or parts thereof in 
conflict with the provisions herein contained are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby 
superseded and repealed. 

SECTION 21. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 24th day of May, 2019. 

  LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

   
   
ATTEST:   By:  
   Chairman 
   
By:    
 Secretary   
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PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED MAY 17, 2019 

4826-5684-9044.5 

 RATING:      S&P:   “BBB+” 
NEW ISSUE – BOOK-ENTRY ONLY       See “RATING” herein 
  
  

In the opinion of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., Tampa, Florida, Bond Counsel, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court 
decisions and subject to the conditions described herein under “TAX MATTERS,” interest on the Bonds is (a) excludable from gross income of the 
owners thereof for federal income tax purposes except as otherwise described herein under the caption “TAX MATTERS,” and (b) not an item of tax 
preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. Such interest also may be subject to other federal income tax consequences referred to 
herein under “TAX MATTERS.”  See “TAX MATTERS” herein for a general discussion of Bond Counsel’s opinion and other tax considerations. 

$84,840,000* 
LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 (FLORIDA)  
 Healthcare Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019   
 (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group) [Shell Point Logo] 

(Shell Point Project) 
Dated Date of Delivery  Due  November 15, as shown on the inside front cover 

The Lee County Industrial Development Authority (the “Issuer”) is issuing its Healthcare Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds Series 
2019 (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group)(Shell Point Project) (the “Bonds”) pursuant to a Bond Trust Indenture dated as of June 1, 2019 (the “Bond 
Indenture”), between the Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association, in its capacity as bond trustee (the “Bond Trustee”).  The Bonds will be issued as 
fully registered bonds in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”).  Purchases of 
beneficial interests in the Bonds will be made in book-entry only form. The Bonds will be issued in denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples 
thereof.  Purchasers of a beneficial interest in the Bonds (“Beneficial Owners”) will not receive physical delivery of certificates representing their 
interest in the Bonds.  Interest on the Bonds, together with the principal of, purchase price, and premium, if any, thereon will be paid directly to DTC 
by the Bond Trustee, so long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner of the Bonds.  The disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners 
of the Bonds will be the responsibility of DTC, the DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants, all as more fully described herein under “BOOK-
ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” in APPENDIX F hereto. 

The Issuer will loan the proceeds of the Bonds to The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point (“Shell Point”) 
pursuant to a Loan Agreement dated as of June 1, 2019 (the “Loan Agreement”) primarily for the purposes of (i) financing and refinancing a portion 
of the costs (including reimbursement for prior related expenditures) relating to the acquisition, construction and equipping of a six-story health center 
which will provide approximately 180 skilled nursing beds, and including a medical clinic, physical therapy, dental and pharmacy facilities, multi-
purpose meeting rooms, administrative offices, kitchen and related amenities; and the acquisition, construction and equipping of various capital 
improvements to the existing senior living facilities, located at Shell Point Retirement Community (described herein) (the “2019 Project”), (ii) 
capitalizing interest on the Bonds for 24 months, (iii) funding any necessary reserves and (iv) paying costs related to issuance of the Bonds.  

The payment obligations of Shell Point under the Loan Agreement will be evidenced and secured by a master note (the “Series 2019 Master 
Note”), issued by Shell Point, on behalf of itself and The Alliance Community for Retirement Living, Inc. collectively, (the “Obligated Group 
Members” or the “Obligated Group”), under an Amended and Restated Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2016, as amended and 
supplemented (the “Master Indenture”), among the Obligated Group and U.S. Bank National Association, as successor to SunTrust Bank, in its capacity 
as master trustee (the “Master Trustee”).  The Series 2019 Master Note will be payable equally, ratably and on a parity with any Obligations (as defined 
in the Master Indenture) outstanding as of the date hereof and any future Obligations issued under the Master Indenture from time to time. The source 
of payment of and security for the Bonds are more fully described in this Official Statement. 

AMOUNTS, MATURITIES, INTEREST RATES, YIELDS, PRICES, AND INITIAL CUSIP NUMBERS  
ARE SET FORTH ON THE INSIDE COVER PAGE 

 
The Bonds will be subject to optional, extraordinary optional and mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity as described herein. 

THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER PAYABLE SOLELY FROM PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE 
ISSUER UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE AND BY THE BOND TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO 
OTHER FINANCING DOCUMENTS DESCRIBED HEREIN, AND DO NOT AND WILL NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF LEE COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION, AGENCY OR INSTRUMENTALITY THEREOF OTHER 
THAN THE LIMITED OBLIGATION OF THE ISSUER AS AFORESAID.  NEITHER THE GENERAL CREDIT OF THE ISSUER NOR 
THE CREDIT OR TAXING POWER OF LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION, 
AGENCY OR INSTRUMENTALITY THEREOF IS PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF, INTEREST OR 
PREMIUM, IF ANY, ON THE BONDS.  THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY.  IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THIS 
ISSUE.  INVESTORS MUST READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO MAKING AN 
INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION. AN INVESTMENT IN THE BONDS INVOLVES RISK.  SEE “RISK FACTORS” HEREIN FOR A 
DISCUSSION OF CERTAIN RISK FACTORS WHICH SHOULD BE CONSIDERED IN CONNECTION WITH AN INVESTMENT IN THE 
BONDS. 

The Bonds offered by this Official Statement are offered when, as and if issued and accepted by the Underwriter, subject to prior sale, 
withdrawal or modification of the offer without notice, and subject to the approval of legality by Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., Tampa, Florida, 

                                                                        
* Preliminary; subject to change. 
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Bond Counsel.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for Shell Point by Holland & Knight LLP, Lakeland, Florida, for the Issuer by Knott Ebelini 
Hart, Fort Myers, Florida, and for the Underwriter by its counsel, Foley & Lardner LLP, Jacksonville, Florida.  It is expected that delivery of the 
Bonds in definitive form will be made against payment therefor in New York, New York through the facilities of DTC on or about June __, 2019. 

[Ziegler logo] 
Dated: ______________, 2019 

 

54



 

4826-5684-9044.5 

 
$84,840,000 

 LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
(FLORIDA) 

Healthcare Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019  
(Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group) 

(Shell Point Project) 
 

AMOUNTS, MATURITIES, INTEREST RATES, YIELDS, PRICES AND INITIAL CUSIP NUMBERS 
 

$_________ Serial Bonds 
 

Maturity 
(November 15) 

Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate 

 
Yield 

 
Price 

 
Initial CUSIP 

      
      
      
      
      

 
 
 

$_____  ___% Term Bonds due November 15, 20__  Yield ___%  Price ___  Initial CUSIP ____________ 

$_____  ___% Term Bonds due November 15, 20__   Yield ___%  Price ___  Initial CUSIP ____________ 

$_____  ___% Term Bonds due November 15, 20__  Yield ___%  Price ___  Initial CUSIP ____________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

**  CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association.  CUSIP data contained herein is provided by Standard & Poor’s, CUSIP 
Service Bureau, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc.  CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with 
the Issuer, the Underwriter or the Obligated Group, and are included solely for the convenience of the holders of the Bonds.  Neither the Issuer nor 
the Underwriter nor the Obligated Group is responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers, and no representation is made as to their 
correctness on the Bonds or as indicated above.  

                                                                        
Preliminary; subject to change. 
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No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the Lee County Industrial Development 
Authority (the “Issuer”), The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point (“Shell Point”), 
The Alliance Community for Retirement Living, Inc. (“Alliance”) or the Underwriter to give any information or to 
make any representations with respect to the Bonds, other than those in this Official Statement, and if given or made, 
such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing.  
This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, and there shall not be 
any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, 
solicitation or sale.  The information set forth herein has been obtained from Shell Point, Alliance, DTC, and other 
sources that are believed to be reliable, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of the 
information, and the information is not to be construed as a representation by the Underwriter.  Except under the 
headings “SUMMARY STATEMENT -- The Issuer and the Bonds,” as it pertains to the Issuer, “THE ISSUER” and 
“LITIGATION -- The Issuer,” the information contained herein is not to be construed as a representation by the Issuer.  
The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of 
this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there 
has been no change in the matters described herein since the date hereof. 

THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS 
AMENDED, NOR HAS THE BOND INDENTURE OR THE MASTER INDENTURE BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER 
THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED 
IN SUCH ACTS.  THE REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THE BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES IN WHICH THE BONDS HAVE BEEN 
REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED AND THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN 
SUCH STATES CANNOT BE REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF.  NEITHER THESE 
STATES NOR ANY OF THEIR AGENCIES HAVE PASSED UPON THE MERITS OF THE BONDS OR THE 
ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE 
CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.  

______________________ 
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR EFFECT 

TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A LEVEL 
ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF 
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

_______________________ 

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  
In This Official Statement 

Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute “forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 
21E of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the United States Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended.  Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan,” “expect,” 
“estimate,” “budget” or other similar words.  Such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, certain 
statements contained in the information under the section “SUMMARY STATEMENT—Historical and Selected 
Financial Information.” 

THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND 
OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS 
DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR 
ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.  THE 
OBLIGATED GROUP DOES NOT PLAN TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO THOSE FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS IF OR WHEN ITS EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR 
CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS OCCUR ARE BASED. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
Relating to 

 
$84,840,000* 

LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
(FLORIDA) 

Healthcare Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019   
(Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group) 

(Shell Point Project) 
 

INTRODUCTION 

The description and summaries of various documents hereinafter set forth do not purport 
to be comprehensive or definitive, and reference is made to each document for the complete details 
of all terms and conditions.  All statements herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to 
each document.  Until the issuance and delivery of the Bonds (as defined below), copies of drafts 
of the documents described herein may be obtained from B.C. Ziegler and Company (the 
“Underwriter”).  After delivery of the Bonds, copies of the executed documents will be available 
for inspection at the principal corporate trust office of U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee 
(the “Bond Trustee”).  See APPENDIX C for definitions of certain capitalized words and terms 
used herein. 

 
Purpose of this Official Statement   

 
The purpose of this Official Statement is to set forth certain information in connection with 

the issuance by the Lee County Industrial Development Authority (the “Issuer”) of its 
$84,840,000* Healthcare Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell 
Point/Alliance Obligated Group) (Shell Point Project) (the “Bonds”).  

 
The Bonds are being issued pursuant to Parts II and III of Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, as 

amended, and other applicable provisions of law (collectively, the “Act”).  The Bonds are being 
issued pursuant to a Bond Trust Indenture dated as of June 1, 2019 (the “Bond Indenture”), 
between the Issuer and the Bond Trustee. 

  
Use of Proceeds 

 

The Bonds are being issued at the request of The Christian and Missionary Alliance 
Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point (“Shell Point”), a Florida not for profit corporation and 
organization exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) (a “qualified 501(c)(3) 
organization”) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  The proceeds to 
be received by the Issuer from the sale of the Bonds will be loaned to Shell Point pursuant to a 
Loan Agreement dated as of June 1, 2019 (the “Loan Agreement”), and applied, together with 
other available moneys, to (i) finance and refinance a portion of the costs (including reimbursement 
for prior related expenditures) relating to the acquisition, construction and equipping of a six-story 
approximately 196,952 square foot health center to be known as the 
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 Waterside Health Center, which will provide approximately 180 skilled nursing beds, 
comprised of 162 private rooms and nine companion rooms, and including a medical clinic, 
physical therapy, dental and pharmacy facilities, multi-purpose meeting rooms, administrative 
offices, kitchen related amenities; and the acquisition, construction and equipping of various 
capital improvements to the existing senior living facilities known as Shell Point Retirement 
Community (the “Shell Point Community”), located in Fort Myers, Florida (the “2019 Project”), 
(ii) capitalize interest on the Bonds for 24 months, (iii) fund any necessary reserves, and (iv) pay 
costs related to issuance of the Bonds “PLAN OF FINANCE” and “ESTIMATED SOURCES 
AND USES OF FUNDS.” 

 
The Obligated Group and the Communities  

 
The Obligated Group (defined herein) is currently comprised of Shell Point and The 

Alliance Community for Retirement Living, Inc. (“Alliance”).  Shell Point was formed in 1967 for 
the purpose of providing healthcare, housing and other support and related services to aged 
persons.  Shell Point owns and operates the Shell Point Community, which is a continuing care 
retirement facility. 

 
Alliance was formed in 1954 for the purpose of providing housing, health and other support 

and related services to aged persons.  Alliance owns and operates a continuing care retirement 
facility known as the “Alliance Community” in DeLand, Florida (the “Alliance Community”).  
The Alliance Community is managed its Board of Directors, and the members of the Board of 
Directors of Shell Point are the sole members of Alliance and elect the members of the Alliance 
Board of Directors.  Alliance and Shell Point are each sponsored by The Christian and Missionary 
Alliance, Inc. (“CMA”), a Colorado not for profit corporation which is a national church 
denomination (Protestant) and which sponsors retirement communities in Florida, Pennsylvania 
and California.  CMA has no liability with respect to the debt or obligations of either Shell Point 
or Alliance, including, without limitation, any obligations related to the Bonds.  As used herein, 
each of the terms “Facilities” or “Communities” means collectively, the Shell Point Community, 
the Alliance Community and any additional continuing care retirement facilities owned by 
members of the Obligated Group. 

 
As of the date of issuance of the Bonds, Shell Point and Alliance are the only members of 

the Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group (each, an “Obligated Group Member” or collectively, 
the “Obligated Group”), under the Amended and Restated Master Trust Indenture dated as of 
September 1, 2016, as amended and supplemented (the “Master Indenture”), among Shell Point 
and Alliance, as the initial members of the Obligated Group, and U.S. Bank National Association, 
as master trustee (the “Master Trustee”).  Other persons may become Obligated Group Members 
in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Master Indenture.  The Obligated Group has no 
present intention of adding additional Obligated Group Members.  In addition, under certain 
circumstances, Obligated Group Members may withdraw from the Obligated Group.  As of the 
date hereof, neither Obligated Group Member has a present intention of withdrawing from the 
Obligated Group.  For a more complete description of the provisions of the Master Indenture, see 
APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND 
INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED 
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.”  See APPENDIX A hereto for certain information relating to 
Shell Point and Alliance, their histories, organization and financial performance and see 
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APPENDIX B hereto for certain consolidated financial statements of Shell Point, which include 
the operations of Alliance.  

 
Security for the Bonds 

 
General.  The payment obligations of the Obligated Group Members to the Issuer pursuant 

to the Loan Agreement will be evidenced by a promissory note (the “Series 2019 Master Note”) 
issued by Shell Point under Supplement No. 20 to the Master Indenture dated as of June 1, 2019 
(the “Supplement”), between Shell Point, as the Obligated Group Representative, and the Master 
Trustee, in a principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds.   

 
Pursuant to the Bond Indenture, the Issuer will pledge and assign to the Bond Trustee all 

of its rights and interest under the Loan Agreement (except for certain Reserved Rights) and the 
Series 2019 Master Note.   

 
The Series 2019 Master Note will entitle the Bond Trustee, as the holder thereof, to the 

protection of the covenants, restrictions and other obligations imposed upon the Obligated Group 
Members by the Master Indenture.  The obligation of the Obligated Group Members to make 
payments on the Series 2019 Master Note is a joint and several obligation of Shell Point, Alliance 
and any future Member of the Obligated Group. The Series 2019 Master Note will be payable 
equally, ratably and on a parity with the Obligations (as defined in the Master Indenture) 
outstanding as of the date hereof and any future Obligations issued under the Master Indenture 
from time to time. See “SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE—General” for 
more information regarding outstanding Obligations. 

 
THE BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER PAYABLE SOLELY 

FROM PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE ISSUER UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND 
THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE AND BY THE BOND TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO 
CERTAIN OTHER FINANCING DOCUMENTS DESCRIBED HEREIN, BY RECOURSE TO 
THE MORTGAGES AND FROM MONEYS PLEDGED UNDER THE BOND INDENTURE 
AS DESCRIBED HEREIN AND SHALL NOT DIRECTLY, INDIRECTLY OR 
CONTINGENTLY OBLIGATE, AND DO NOT AND WILL NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF, 
LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION, 
AGENCY OR INSTRUMENTALITY THEREOF OTHER THAN THE LIMITED 
OBLIGATION OF THE ISSUER AS AFORESAID.  NEITHER THE GENERAL CREDIT OF 
THE ISSUER NOR THE CREDIT OR TAXING POWER OF LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE 
STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION, AGENCY OR 
INSTRUMENTALITY THEREOF IS PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL 
OF, INTEREST OR PREMIUM, IF ANY, ON THE BONDS.  THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING 
POWER. 

 
Revenues and Mortgaged Property.  In accordance with the Master Indenture, each 

Obligated Group Member has granted to the Master Trustee a security interest in, among other 
things, the Gross Revenues (as defined in the Master Indenture) to secure the Series 2019 Master 
Note and other Obligations issued thereunder from time to time.  See “SECURITY FOR THE 
SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE” herein.   
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In addition, as security for all Obligations issued and outstanding under the Master 
Indenture, Shell Point has granted to the Master Trustee a mortgage lien on and security interest 
in the Shell Point Community, including the site on which it is located (the “Shell Point Mortgaged 
Property”), and Alliance has granted to the Master Trustee a mortgage lien on and security interest 
in the Alliance Community, including the site on which it is located (the “Alliance Mortgaged 
Property” and, together with the Shell Point Mortgaged Property, the “Mortgaged Property”) in 
each case subject to Permitted Liens.  See “SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE 
-- The Mortgages” and APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF 
THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND 
RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.”  herein.   

 
Reserve Account.  The Bond Indenture establishes a debt service reserve account (the 

“2019 Reserve Account”) to secure, equally and ratably, amounts due from Shell Point and 
Alliance in respect of the principal or redemption price of, and interest on, the Bonds secured by 
such Bond Indenture.  For a more complete description of the 2019 Reserve Account, see 
“DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Security for the Bonds” and APPENDIX C -- 
“DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN 
AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER TRUST 
INDENTURE.” 

 
Financial Statements 

 
Audited consolidated financial statements of Shell Point, which include the operations of 

Alliance, for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2017 and 2018 are included in APPENDIX B 
hereto. Pursuant to the Master Indenture, the Obligated Group has covenanted to provide to each 
Required Information Recipient, within 45 days of the end of each fiscal quarter, financial 
statements for the Obligated Group, as well as certain information on a monthly basis if certain 
financial covenants are not met.  For a more complete description of the financial statements and 
other information required to be provided by the Obligated Group Members, see APPENDIX C -- 
“DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN 
AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER TRUST 
INDENTURE.”   

 
Under the Master Indenture, the term “Required Information Recipient” means the 

Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which currently accepts continuing disclosure 
submissions through EMMA web portal, or any successor entity authorized and approved by the 
Securities Exchange Commission from time to time to act as a recognized municipal securities 
repository. 

 
Bondholders’ Risks 

 
AN INVESTMENT IN THE BONDS INVOLVES RISK.  A BONDHOLDER IS 

ADVISED TO READ “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Security for the Bonds,” 
“SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE” AND “RISK FACTORS” HEREIN 
FOR A DISCUSSION OF CERTAIN RISK FACTORS WHICH SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
IN CONNECTION WITH AN INVESTMENT IN THE BONDS.  Careful consideration should 
be given to these risks and other risks described elsewhere in this Official Statement.  Among other 
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things, since the Bonds are payable solely from the revenues of the Obligated Group and other 
moneys pledged to such payment, careful evaluation should be made of certain factors that may 
adversely affect the ability of the Obligated Group to generate sufficient revenues to pay expenses 
of operation, and the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds. 

 

PLAN OF FINANCE 

The proceeds to be received by the Issuer from the sale of the Bonds will be loaned to Shell 
Point.  Such proceeds, together with other available moneys, will be used to (1) finance and 
refinance (including through reimbursement of prior expenditures of) a portion of the costs of the 
2019 Project; (2) capitalize interest on the Bonds for 24 months; (3) fund the 2019 Reserve 
Account relating to the Bonds; and (4) pay all or a portion of the expenses incurred in connection 
with the issuance of the Bonds. 

 
See APPENDIX A -- “THE OBLIGATED GROUP -- The Project” attached hereto. 
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The total costs estimated to be incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, and 
the anticipated sources of funds to pay such costs, are summarized in the following table. The 
footnote following the table is an integral part of the table and should be read in conjunction 
therewith.   

 

 

 

 

Sources of Funds* Total
Par Amount of Bonds 84,840,000$        
Plus:  Original Issue Premium 7,795,052            

Total Sources of Funds 92,635,052$        

Uses of Funds*
2019 Project Account 76,240,368$        
2019 Reserve Account 7,865,273            
Capitalized Interest (1) 6,676,970            
Costs of Issuance (2) 1,852,441            

Total Uses of Funds 92,635,052$        

* Estimated; subject to change.

________________ 
(1)  Management estimates, based on information provided by the Underwriter, that this amount of  
       Bond proceeds and interest earnings thereon would be used to fund interest on the Bonds for  
       approximately 24 months.   
(2)  Includes legal fees, underwriter's discount and other fees associated with the issuance of the Bonds.  
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ESTIMATED DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE 

The following table sets forth, for each bond year ending November 15, the estimated amounts required each year to be made available for the payment of the 
principal, scheduled mandatory redemption requirements, and interest on the Bonds, the Series 2011B Bonds, the 2012 Loan, the Series 2016A Bonds and the 
Series 2016B Bond (all as further described under “SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE – General” herein).  

 
Bond 
Year 

Ending 
Nov 15 

Series 2011B Bonds 2012 Loan Series 2016A Bonds Series 2016B Bond Series 2019 Bonds  

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest (1) Principal Interest (2) Principal Interest  Total 
2019 

$ 195,000   $ 699,931  
 

$ 689,808 $ 300,066   $ 2,693,000  $ 1,157,648   $ 4,072,000  $ 2,839,702  
   

2020 210,000  689,206  689,808 272,473   2,753,000  1,084,544  4,168,000   2,719,478     

2021 225,000  677,656  689,808 244,881   2,826,000  1,003,705    4,256,000   2,581,217     

2022 240,000  665,281  689,808 217,289   2,881,000  923,925   4,372,000    2,447,522     

2023 260,000  650,581  689,808 189,696    2,957,000  842,460   4,461,000    2,310,476     

2024 275,000  634,656  689,808 162,104    3,024,000  761,066    4,565,000     2,176,526     

2025 295,000  617,813  689,808 134,512    3,093,000  673,453    4,676,000     2,027,251     

2026 315,000  599,744  689,808 106,919   3,167,000  586,106   4,782,000     1,880,500     

2027 335,000 580,450 689,808 79,327  3,238,000  496,670  4,894,000    1,730,442     

2028 360,000  558,675  689,808 51,735  3,314,000  406,312  5,004,000   1,581,373     

2029 380,000  535,275  689,808 24,142  3,390,000  311,513    5,112,000  1,420,048     

2030 5,400,000  510,575  229,916   1,916    3,126,000  219,985     4,748,000  1,266,714     

2031 2,455,000  159,575     3,052,000  133,551     4,638,000  1,120,761     

2032      3,130,000    47,435   4,733,000  978,221     

2033        7,545,000  788,183     

2034       7,726,000  551,404     

2035             7,908,000  308,949     

2036             5,677,000  95,540     

2037          $ 4,790,000    

2038          5,030,000    

2039         5,280,000    

2040          5,545,000    

2041          5,825,000    

2042         6,115,000    

2043         6,420,000    

2044         6,740,000    

2045         7,075,000    

2046         7,430,000    

2047         7,800,000    

2048         8,190,000    

2049          8,600,000    

TOTAL $ 10,945,000 $ 7,579,419 $ 7,817,804 $ 1,785,061 $ 42,644,000 $ 8,648,372 $ 93,337,000 $ 28,824,307 $ 84,840,000   
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(1) The Series 2016A Bond bears interest at a rate set at 81.43% of one-month LIBOR plus a fee spread. Seventy-five percent of the Series 2016A is swapped to a net synthetic fixed rate of 2.7575% 
through November 1, 2032. For purposes of estimating the annual debt service on the outstanding Series 2016A Bond, the net synthetic rate is applied ot the total outstanding balance of the Series 
2016A Bond.  
(1) The Series 2016A Bond bears interest at a rate set at 81.43% of one-month LIBOR plus a fee spread. Seventy-five percent of the Series 2016A is swapped to a net synthetic fixed rate of 3.0620% 
through November 1, 2032. For purposes of estimating the annual debt service on the outstanding Series 2016A Bond, the net synthetic rate is applied ot the total outstanding balance of the Series 
2016A Bond.  
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THE ISSUER 

The Issuer is a public body corporate and politic, a public instrumentality and industrial 
development authority, organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, including, 
particularly, the Act and the resolutions of the Board of County Commissioners of Lee County, 
Florida (the “Board”) adopted on June 25, 1975 and September 3, 1975.  The Issuer is issuing the 
Bonds pursuant to the Act. 

 
The Bonds will be special and limited obligations payable solely from the sources provided 

for under the Bond Indenture (as defined below).  The Issuer has no taxing power and neither the 
State of Florida (the “State”), Lee County, Florida (the “County”), nor any political subdivision of 
the State is liable for the payment of principal, interest or redemption premium on the Bonds.   

The powers of the Issuer are exercised by a Board of Directors consisting of seven persons 
who are appointed by the Board for a term of four years.  The current members of the Board of 
Directors and their terms are: 

 
 

Members 
 
Expiration of Term 

David Barton 2020 
Ed Bolter 2018* 
Doug Gyure 2021 
Tom Hoolihan 2020 
Wayne Kirwood 2020 
Gail Markham 2020 
Robbie Roepstorff 2019 

_________________ 
[*Serves until successor appointed.] 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS 

The Bonds will be issued pursuant to a Bond Trust Indenture dated as of June 1, 2019 (the 
“Bond Indenture”), between the Issuer and the Bond Trustee, and the proceeds of the Bonds will 
be loaned to Shell Point pursuant to the Loan Agreement.  Contemporaneously with the issuance 
of the Bonds and to secure repayment of the loan made by the Issuer to the Obligated Group under 
the Loan Agreement, Shell Point, on behalf of the Obligated Group, will issue and deliver to the 
Issuer its Series 2019 Master Note. 

 
General 

 
  The Bonds are issuable only as fully registered bonds in the denomination of $5,000 or 

any integral multiple thereof.  The Bonds will be dated their date of delivery and will bear interest 
from their date of delivery, payable semiannually on May 15 and November 15 of each year (each 
an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing November 15, 2019, at the rates and with the maturities 
set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. 
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So long as the Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, 
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2019 Bonds will be paid as described in 
“BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” in APPENDIX F hereto. The following information is subject 
in its entirety to the provisions described in APPENDIX F hereto.   

 
In the event the Bonds are no longer held in a book-entry only system, payment of the 

principal or redemption price on the Bonds will be made at the designated corporate trust office of 
the Bond Trustee and interest on all the Bonds will be payable to the registered owner as of the 
Regular Record Date by check or draft mailed to such registered owner.  The Regular Record Date 
for the Bonds for the payment of interest is the fifteenth day of the calendar month next preceding 
each Interest Payment Date.  Interest due on any Interest Payment Date may also be paid by wire 
transfer in immediately available funds to an account in any member bank of the Federal Reserve 
System designated in writing by any registered owner of the Bonds in the aggregate principal 
amount of $1,000,000. 

 
Optional Redemption  

 
The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer at the 

direction of Shell Point on or after November 15, 20__, at any time as a whole or in part by lot 
(subject to the requirements of the Bond Indenture with respect to partial redemptions), at the 
following redemption prices (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount to be redeemed), 
plus accrued interest to the redemption date: 

 
Redemption Period 
(Dates Inclusive) Redemption Price 

___________, 20__ through __________, 20__ % 
___________, 20__ through __________, 20__  
___________, 20__ through __________, 20__  
______ ____, 20__ and thereafter  

 
Extraordinary Optional Redemption  

 
The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer at the 

direction of the Obligated Group Members, in whole or in part at any time, upon payment of a 
redemption price of 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption 
date, but only in the event all or a portion of the Project Facilities (as defined in the Bond Indenture) 
are damaged, destroyed, condemned or sold under threat of condemnation and it is determined by 
the Obligated Group Members that repair or reconstruction is not desirable, practical or financially 
feasible, from and to the extent of insurance proceeds or condemnation awards or proceeds of any 
sale under threat of condemnation received by the Bond Trustee, as a result of such damage, 
destruction, condemnation or sale under threat of condemnation. 

 
Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption  

 
The Bonds maturing on November 15, 20__ shall be subject to mandatory redemption prior 

to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a maturity as chosen by the Bond Trustee 
by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the following table, but only from moneys 
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required to be deposited therefor in the Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established 
under the Bond Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 
interest to the redemption date:  

 
 
 
 
  

Redemption  
Date 

(November 15) 

  
 

Amount 
   
   
   
   

*   
   

_________________ 
*Final Maturity 

The Bonds maturing on November 15, 20___ shall be subject to mandatory redemption 
prior to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a maturity as chosen by the Bond 
Trustee by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the following table, but only from 
moneys required to be deposited therefor in the Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund 
established under the Bond Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, 
plus accrued interest to the redemption date:   

 
Redemption  

Date 
(November 15) 

  
 

Amount 
   
   
   
   
*   

_________________ 
*Final Maturity 

The Bonds maturing on November 15, 20__ shall be subject to mandatory redemption prior 
to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a maturity as chosen by the Bond Trustee 
by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the following table, but only from moneys 
required to be deposited therefor in the Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established 
under the Bond Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 
interest to the redemption date:   
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Redemption  

Date 
(November 15) 

  
 

Amount 
  $     
   
   
   

*   
_________________ 
*Final Maturity 

As described in the Bond Indenture, the principal amount of the Bonds otherwise required 
to be redeemed by mandatory sinking fund redemption may be reduced by the principal amount 
of such Bonds theretofore delivered to the Bond Trustee in lieu of cash under the Loan Agreement 
or purchased by the Bond Trustee out of moneys in the Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service 
Fund established under the Bond Indenture and which have not been applied previously as a credit 
against any sinking fund installment.  In addition, the principal amount of the Bonds otherwise 
required to be redeemed may also be reduced by the application to such redemption obligation of 
a partial optional redemption of such Bonds in the manner designated by the Issuer, at the direction 
of the Obligated Group. 

 
The redemption price of any Bonds redeemed by mandatory sinking fund redemption may 

be paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account in any member bank of the 
Federal Reserve System designated in writing by the Registered Owner of the Bonds in an 
aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more, not less than 15 days prior to the applicable 
redemption date. 

 
Selection of the Bonds to be Redeemed 

 
In the case of any optional or extraordinary optional redemption of the Bonds subject to 

mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, the Issuer at the direction of Shell Point is 
entitled under the Bond Indenture to designate whether such payments should be credited against 
the principal amounts due at maturity or against particular mandatory redemption obligations with 
respect to the Bonds.   

 
In the case of any optional or extraordinary optional redemption of Bonds in part, the Bond 

Indenture provides that the Bonds shall be redeemed in any order of maturities and in any amount 
within each maturity as directed by Shell Point, and Shell Point is entitled (but not obligated) to 
select the Bonds or portions thereof within any maturity to be redeemed, but in the absence of such 
selection, the Bonds of any maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by the Bond Trustee by lot. 

 
The selection of book-entry interests in the Bonds to be redeemed is the responsibility of 

DTC, Direct Participants and Indirect Participants.  See APPENDIX F -- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY 
SYSTEM.” 
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Notice of Redemption 
 

Notice of any redemption of the Bonds pursuant to the above provisions will be mailed by 
Electronic Notice or first-class mail to the Owners of any of the Bonds or portion of the Bonds to 
be redeemed at the address shown on the Bond Register not less than 20 days nor more than 60 
days prior to the redemption date; provided that notice of any redemption to Owners of $1,000,000 
or more of the Bonds will be mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested.  No defect in any 
mailed notice or in the mailing thereof (including the failure to mail any notice) shall affect the 
validity of the redemption of other Bonds for which proper notice of redemption has been given.  
Any Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption will be due and payable at the designated 
corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee, at the applicable redemption price.  From and after the 
date so fixed for redemption, interest on such Bonds or portions thereof will cease to accrue.  
Notice of any redemption of the Bonds may be conditioned upon certain events or may be 
rescinded and, in cases where such events do not occur or the notice is rescinded,  such notice shall 
be of no effect and such Bonds shall remain Outstanding and interest thereon shall continue to 
accrue.  If less than all the Series 2019 Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, the Bond Trustee 
shall select the Bonds to be redeemed by lot. 

 
Notice of the call for redemption of the Bonds held under a book entry system will be sent 

by the Bond Trustee only to DTC or its nominee as registered owner.  Notice of redemption to the 
owners of the Bonds called for redemption is the responsibility of DTC, Direct Participants and 
Indirect Participants.  Any failure of DTC to advise any Direct Participant, or of any Direct 
Participant or any Indirect Participant to notify the book entry interest owners, of any such notice 
and its content or effect will not affect the validity of any proceedings for the redemption of the 
Bonds.  See APPENDIX F -- “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” attached hereto. 

 
Security for the Bonds 

 
The Bonds will be limited obligations payable solely from (i) payments or prepayments on 

the Series 2019 Master Note; (ii) payments or prepayments made under the Loan Agreement; 
(iii) moneys held by the Bond Trustee in the funds and accounts established in the Bond Indenture; 
(iv) in certain circumstances, proceeds from insurance and condemnation awards or proceeds of 
sales made under the threat of condemnation; and (v) net amounts derived by recourse to the 
Mortgages (as hereinafter defined). 

 
Pursuant to the Bond Indenture, the Issuer will assign and pledge to the Bond Trustee, for 

the equal and proportionate benefit, security and protection of the Owners from time to time of the 
Bonds and all Additional Bonds issued under the Bond Indenture, except as otherwise expressly 
provided in the Bond Indenture, all right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to the Trust Estate, 
which consists of:  (a) the Loan Agreement and the Series 2019 Master Note; (b) the Pledged 
Revenues; (c) all moneys and investments in the funds and accounts created under the Bond 
Indenture (including all income and receipts earned on the funds and accounts held by the Bond 
Trustee under the Bond Indenture), other than amounts on deposit in the Rebate Fund; and (d) all 
other property rights of any kind assigned to the Bond Trustee as security; subject, however, in 
each case, to the Reserved Rights of the Issuer as set forth in the Bond Indenture, which Reserved 
Rights include the payment of the Issuer’s fees and expenses pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the 
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indemnification of the Issuer pursuant thereto, and the right to grant consents and approvals under 
the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture. 

 
The Loan Agreement provides that Shell Point shall make designated payments to the Bond 

Trustee in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds 
when due.  The Obligated Group’s obligation to make payments on the Series 2019 Master Note 
shall be satisfied to the extent payments are made by Shell Point under the Loan Agreement.  The 
Loan Agreement will also impose certain restrictions on the actions of Shell Point for the benefit 
of the Issuer and the owners of the Bonds.  See APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND 
EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, 
MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE” attached 
hereto. 

 
 
Holders of the Bonds are also entitled to the security of Mortgages, as further described in 

“SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE – The Mortgages” herein. 
 
Pursuant to the Bond Indenture, a debt service reserve account for the Bonds (the “2019 

Reserve Account”) will be established and held by the Bond Trustee for the benefit of the holders 
of the Bonds.  At the time of issuance of the Bonds, $________ will be deposited in the 2019 
Reserve Account.  Moneys on deposit in the 2019 Reserve Account will be maintained in an 
amount equal to the Reserve Requirement for the Bonds.  Moneys in the 2019 Reserve Account 
will be applied by the Bond Trustee whenever, and to the extent that, moneys on deposit in the 
Debt Service Fund established under the Bond Indenture are insufficient for the purpose of paying, 
on an equal and ratable basis, amounts due in respect of the principal or redemption price of, and 
interest on, the Bonds.   

 
In the event that, as a result of any withdrawal from the 2019 Reserve Account, the amount 

on deposit in the 2019 Reserve Account is less than the Reserve Requirement for the Bonds, the 
Obligated Group is required to restore the amount of such deficiency in twelve equal monthly 
deposits commencing on the first day of the seventh month following such withdrawal.  The 
Obligated Group is also required to restore the amount of any deficiency in the 2019 Reserve 
Account resulting from a decline in the value of any investments therein. 

 
Upon compliance with the provisions of the Bond Indenture (including compliance by the 

Obligated Group with the requirements of the Master Indenture for the incurrence of additional 
Indebtedness), the Issuer may issue Additional Bonds from time to time at the request of the 
Obligated Group Members for any purpose or combination of purposes permitted under the Act.  
Such Additional Bonds will be on a parity with the Bonds and any Additional Bonds issued and 
outstanding at such time or thereafter.  See APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED 
PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND 
AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.”  However, Additional Bonds 
will not be secured by the 2019 Reserve Account.   

 
Under the Bond Indenture, the payment of debt service on any series of Additional Bonds 

may be secured and protected from sources or by property, instruments or documents not 
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applicable to the Bonds, and there is no requirement that such debt service be secured or protected 
from sources or by property, instruments or documents applicable to the Bonds or any other 
Additional Bonds.  See APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF 
THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND 
RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.”  

 
SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE 

 
General 

 
The obligations of Shell Point under the Loan Agreement will be secured by the Series 

2019 Master Note, which will be issued and secured under the Master Indenture.  The Series 2019 
Master Note will entitle the Bond Trustee, as the holder of the Series 2019 Master Note, to the 
protection and benefit of the covenants, restrictions and other obligations imposed on the Obligated 
Group Members by the Master Indenture. The Series 2019 Master Note will be payable equally, 
ratably and on a parity with the following Obligations (as defined in the Master Indenture) 
outstanding as of the date hereof and any future Obligations issued under the Master Indenture 
from time to time.  

 
• Master Note, Series 2011B (Lee County Industrial Development Authority), dated 

as of December 1, 2011, in favor of Lee County Industrial Development Authority 
and assigned to U.S. Bank National Association, as bond trustee, outstanding in 
the principal amount of $10,945,000 (the “Series 2011B Master Note”), issued 
pursuant to Supplement No. 13 to the Master Indenture, dated as of December 1, 
2011, between the Obligated Group Representative and the Master Trustee, to 
secure obligations under a loan agreement relating to the Issuer’s Healthcare 
Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2011B (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated 
Group) (Shell Point Village Project) issued in the original principal amount of 
$12,065,000 (the “Series 2011B Bonds”).  

• Master Note, Series 2012 (Term Loan Agreement), dated as of April 18, 2012, and 
as amended on March _, 2017, in favor of [Bank], outstanding in the principal 
amount of $7,817,804 (the “Series 2012 Master Note”), issued pursuant to 
Supplement No. __ to the Master Indenture, dated as of April __ ,2012, and 
amended and restated, among Alliance, Shell Point and the Master Trustee to secure 
obligations relating to a term loan agreement among Shell Point, Alliance and 
[Bank] in the aggregate principal amount of [$10,980,000].  

• Master Note, Series 2016A (Lee County Industrial Development Authority),dated 
September 9, 2016, in favor of the Issuer, outstanding in the principal amount of 
$42,644,000 (the “Series 2016A Master Note”), issued pursuant to Supplement No. 
16 to the Master Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2016, among Shell Point, 
Alliance and the Master Trustee, to secure obligations under a financing agreement 
relating to the Issuer’s Healthcare Facilities Refunding and Improvement Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2016A (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group Project) issued in the 
original principal amount of $47,228,000 (the “Series 2016A Bonds”).  
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• Master Note, Series 2016B (Lee County Industrial Development Authority),dated 
September 9, 2016, in favor of the Issuer, outstanding in the principal amount of 
$93,337,000 (the “Series 2016B Master Note”), issued pursuant to Supplement No. 
17 to the Master Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2016, between the Obligated 
Group Representative and the Master Trustee, to secure obligations under financing 
agreement relating to the Issuer’s Healthcare Facilities Refunding and 
Improvement Revenue Bond, Series 2016B (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group 
Project) issued in the original principal amount of $100,286,000 (the “Series 2016B 
Bond”).  

• Obligation, Series 2016C (Series 2016A Interest Rate Agreement Obligation) in 
favor of Branch Banking & Trust Company, outstanding in the principal amount of 
$_______ (the “Series 2016C Obligation”), issued pursuant to Supplement No. 18 
to the Master Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2016, between the Obligated 
Group Representative and the Master Trustee, to secure obligations under an ISDA 
Master Agreement and Schedule thereto, dated as of September 1, 2016, between 
BB&T and Shell Point, as the Obligated Group Representative, on behalf of itself 
and the Obligated Group, together with the Transaction Confirmation dated 
September 9, 2016, relating to the Series 2016A Bond, in the original notional 
amount of $47,228,000 (the “2016A Swap”). The 2016A Swap provides for Shell 
Point to receive interest from the counterparty at 81.43% of one-month LIBOR and 
to pay the counterparty a net synthetic fixed rate equal to 2.7575%, through 
November 1, 2032.  

• Obligation, Series 2016D (Series 2016B Interest Rate Obligation) in favor of 
SunTrust Bank, outstanding in the principal amount of $_______ (the “Series 
2016D Obligation”), issued pursuant to Supplement No. 19 to the Master 
Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2016, among Shell Point, Alliance and the 
Master Trustee, to secure obligations under an ISDA Master Agreement an 
Schedule thereto, dated as of September 1, 2016, between SunTrust Bank and Shell 
Point, as the Obligated Group Representative, on behalf of itself and the Obligated 
Group, together with the Transaction Confirmation dated September 9, 2016, 
relating to the Series 2016B Bond, in the original notional amount of $100,286, 000 
(the “2016B Swap”). The 2016B Swap provides for Shell Point to receive interest 
from the counterparty at 81.43% percent of one-month LIBOR and to pay the 
counterparty a net synthetic fixed rate equal to 3.0620%, through November 1, 
2032.  

 
The Master Indenture 

 
The Series 2011B Master Note, the Series 2012 Master Note, the Series 2016A Master 

Note, the Series 2016B Master Note, the Series 2016C Obligation, the Series 2016D Obligation 
and any other Obligations hereafter issued and outstanding under the Master Indenture are joint 
and several obligations of Shell Point, Alliance and any future Obligated Group Members.  
Pursuant to the Master Indenture, the Obligated Group has pledged and granted to the Master 
Trustee (a) a security interest in all personal property owned or hereafter acquired by the Obligated 
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Group; (b) a security interest in all of Gross Revenues of the Obligated Group, with certain limited 
exceptions; (c) a security interest in the Funds established under the Master Indenture, and (d) a 
security interest in any other property from time to time subjected to the lien of the Master 
Indenture.  “Gross Revenues” means all receipts, revenues, rentals, income, insurance proceeds 
(including, without limitation, all Medicaid, Medicare and other third party payments), 
condemnation awards, Entrance Fees, Federal Subsidy Payments and other moneys received by or 
on behalf of any Obligated Group Member, including (without limitation) revenues derived from 
(a) the ownership, operation or leasing of any portion of the Facilities (including, without 
limitation, fees payable by or on behalf of residents of the Facilities) and all rights to receive the 
same (other than the right to receive Medicaid and Medicare payments), whether in the form of 
accounts, general intangibles or other rights, and the proceeds of such accounts, general intangibles 
and other rights, whether now existing or hereafter coming into existence or whether now owned 
or held or hereafter acquired, and (b) gifts, grants, bequests, donations and contributions heretofore 
or hereafter made that are legally available to meet any of the obligations of the Obligated Group 
Member incurred in the financing, operation, maintenance or repair of any portion of the Facilities; 
provided, however, that there shall be excluded from Gross Revenues (i) all such items, whether 
now owned or hereafter acquired by the Obligated Group Members, which by their terms or by 
reason of applicable law cannot be granted, assigned or pledged hereunder or which would become 
void or voidable if granted, assigned or pledged hereunder by the Obligated Group Members, or 
which cannot be granted, pledged or assigned hereunder without the consent of other parties whose 
consent is not secured, or without subjecting the Master Trustee to a liability not otherwise 
contemplated by the provisions hereof, or which otherwise may not be, or are not, hereby lawfully 
and effectively granted, pledged and assigned by the Obligated Group Members, (ii) any amounts 
received by an Obligated Group Member as a billing agent  for another entity, except for fees 
received for serving as billing agent, (iii) gifts, grants, bequests, donations and contributions to an 
Obligated Group Member heretofore or hereafter made, and the income and gains derived 
therefrom, which are specifically restricted by the donor or grantor to a particular purpose which 
is inconsistent with their use of payments required under the Master Indenture, (iv) any moneys 
received by any Obligated Group Member from prospective residents or commercial tenants in 
order to pay for customized improvements to those independent living units or other areas of the 
Facilities to be occupied or leased to such residents or tenants, (v) all deposits made pursuant to 
Residency Agreements to be held in escrow pursuant to Chapter 651, Florida Statutes, until 
construction of the Facilities with respect to which such deposits have been made is completed, a 
certificate of occupancy with respect to such Facilities has been issued and appropriate licenses, if 
required, have been issued, and (vi) all deposits and/or advance payments made in connection with 
any leases of the independent living units and received prior to receipt of all applicable certificates 
of occupancy and licenses of such independent living units. 

 
Notwithstanding limitations on and uncertainties as to enforceability of the covenant of 

each Obligated Group Member in the Master Indenture to be jointly and severally liable for each 
Obligation, the accounts of the Obligated Group Members will be combined for financial reporting 
purposes and will be used in determining whether the covenants and tests contained in the Master 
Indenture are met.  See “RISK FACTORS -- Certain Matters Relating to The Enforceability of the 
Master Indenture.” 
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On the date of issuance of the Bonds, Shell Point and Alliance are the only Obligated Group 
Members under the Master Indenture.  Upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, however, any 
Person may become an Obligated Group Member.  Under certain conditions and upon meeting 
certain tests set forth in the Master Indenture, members of the Obligated Group may withdraw 
from the Obligated Group.  See APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED 
PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND 
AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.” 

 
Under certain conditions specified in the Master Indenture, members of the Obligated 

Group may issue additional Obligations, which additional Obligations will be equally and ratably 
secured by the Master Indenture with the Series 2019 Master Note.  In addition, the Master 
Indenture permits such additional Obligations to be secured by security in addition to that provided 
for by the Series 2019 Master Note, including letters or lines of credit or insurance, which 
additional security need not be extended to secure any other Obligations (including the Series 2019 
Master Note).  The Master Indenture also permits each member of the Obligated Group to incur 
other Indebtedness, and sell, lease or otherwise dispose of Property all upon the terms and 
conditions specified therein.  See APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED 
PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND 
AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.”   

 
Also, the Master Indenture contains various financial covenants of the Obligated Group for 

the security of all Obligations issued thereunder.  See “—Rate Covenant” in this section and 
APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND 
INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED 
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.”  

 
The Mortgages 

 

As security for all Obligations issued and outstanding under the Master Indenture, (i) Shell 
Point will deliver to the Master Trustee an Eleventh Supplemental Mortgage and Security 
Agreement dated as of June __, 2019, supplementing the Mortgage and Security Agreement dated 
as of April 1, 1999, as amended and supplemented (the “Shell Point Mortgage”), pursuant to which 
it granted the Master Trustee a mortgage lien on and security interest in the Shell Point Mortgaged 
Property, and (ii) Alliance will deliver to the Master Trustee an Eleventh Supplemental Mortgage 
and Security Agreement dated as of June __, 2019, supplementing the Mortgage and Security 
Agreement dated as of April 1, 1999, as amended and supplemented (the “Alliance Mortgage”), 
pursuant to which it granted the Master Trustee a mortgage lien on and security interest in the 
Alliance Mortgaged Property, in each case subject to Permitted Liens.   The Shell Point Mortgage 
and the Alliance Mortgage are hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Mortgages.”  See 
APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND 
INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED 
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE” herein.  Each Obligated Group Member has agreed in the 
Master Indenture that it will not permit liens upon any of its Property other than Permitted Liens 
pursuant to the Master Indenture.  The Master Indenture permits Obligated Group Members to 
incur Indebtedness and to permit liens on their Property, if the Indebtedness or liens are of the 
types specified in the Master Indenture and/or if certain financial tests and ratios set forth therein 
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are satisfied.  See APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE 
BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND 
RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE” herein.   

 
In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, Chicago Title Insurance Company will issue 

an endorsement to an existing title insurance policy (the “Policy”) relating to the Shell Point 
Mortgaged Property and the Alliance Mortgaged Property. In connection with the issuance of the 
Lee County Industrial Development Authority Health Care Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 
1999A (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group) (Shell Point Village Project) and the Series 1999B 
Bonds, surveys were performed for the portions of the Shell Point Mortgaged Property and the 
Alliance Mortgaged Property that were owned by Shell Point and Alliance, respectively, at that 
time. Subsequently, surveys on various portions of the Alliance Mortgaged Property and the Shell 
Point Mortgaged Property have been performed, including a recent survey relating to the site where 
the Project will be located; however, no as-built surveys on the entire Shell Point Mortgaged 
Property and the Alliance Mortgaged Property have been performed in connection with the 
issuance of the Bonds. The Policy will contain a standard survey exception for any matters that 
would be disclosed by current surveys and inspections of the Shell Point Mortgaged Property and 
the Alliance Mortgaged Property. See also “RISK FACTORS – Liquidation of Security May Not 
be Sufficient in the Event of a Default,” “– Possible Limitations on The Mortgages,” and “– 
Environmental Matters” herein for additional risks associated with the Mortgages and the 
Mortgaged Property. 

 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Mortgages, the Master Trustee agrees in 

the Mortgages that the rights of a resident of the Mortgaged Property under a continuing care 
contract governed by Chapter 651, Florida Statutes, will be honored and will not be disturbed by 
a foreclosure or a conveyance in lieu of foreclosure as long as the resident (1) is current in the 
payment of all monetary obligations required by such continuing care contract; (2) is in compliance 
and continues to comply with all provisions of the resident’s continuing care contract; and (3) has 
asserted no claim inconsistent with the rights of the Master Trustee. 

 
 

 Additional Indebtedness 
 
Under certain conditions specified therein, the Master Indenture will permit the Obligated 

Group issue Additional Indebtedness which may be equally and ratably secured without 
preference, priority or distinction with the Series 2019 Master Note.  Any such additional parity 
indebtedness would be entitled to share ratably with the holders of the Series 2019 Master Note 
and any other Outstanding Parity Obligations (as defined in APPENDIX C hereto) in any moneys 
realized from the exercise of remedies in the event of a default under the Master Indenture.  See 
APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND 
INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED 
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.”  

 
Rate Covenant 
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Pursuant to the Master Indenture, the Obligated Group has covenanted to operate its 
Facilities on a revenue producing basis and to charge such fees and rates for its Facilities and 
services and to exercise such skill and diligence, including obtaining payment for services 
provided, as to provide income from its Property together with other available funds sufficient to 
pay promptly all payments of principal and interest on its Indebtedness, all expenses of operation, 
maintenance and repair of its Property and all other payments required to be made by it under the 
Master Indenture to the extent permitted by law.  Each Member further covenanted and agreed 
under the Master Indenture that it will from time to time as often as necessary and to the extent 
permitted by law, revise its rates, fees and charges in such manner as may be necessary or proper 
to comply with the provisions of the Master Indenture. 

 
The Members have covenanted and agreed that the Obligated Group Representative will 

calculate the Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated Group for each Fiscal Year, 
in accordance with the Master Indenture. 

 
Except as otherwise set forth in this paragraph, if the Historical Debt Service Coverage 

Ratio of the Obligated Group for any Fiscal Year is less than 1.20:1, the Obligated Group 
Representative, at the Obligated Group’s expense, shall select a Consultant and notify the Master 
Trustee of the selection within thirty (30) days following the calculation described in the Master 
Indenture, and shall engage a Consultant in accordance with the Master Indenture to make 
recommendations with respect to the rates, fees and charges of the Members and the Obligated 
Group’s methods of operation and other factors affecting its financial condition in order to increase 
such Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio to at least 1.20:1 for the following Fiscal Year.  

 
Under certain circumstances, if, in the opinion of the Consultant engaged by the Obligated 

Group Representative pursuant to the prior paragraph, applicable laws or regulations have 
prevented the Obligated Group from generating Income Available for Debt Service during such 
Fiscal Year sufficient to meet the requirements summarized above, the Obligated Group will be 
relieved of that requirement if the rates charged by the Obligated Group are such that the Obligated 
Group has generated the maximum amount of revenues reasonably practicable given such laws or 
regulations, and the  Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated Group for such 
Fiscal Year was at least 1.00:1.  

 
If the Obligated Group fails to achieve a Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio of 1.20:1 

for any Fiscal Year, such failure shall not constitute an Event of Default under the Master Indenture 
if the Obligated Group takes all action necessary to comply with the procedures set forth above for 
preparing a report and adopting a plan and follows each recommendation contained in such report 
to the extent feasible (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Governing Body of the 
Obligated Group Representative) and permitted by law; provided, however, it shall be an Event of 
Default under the Master Indenture if (i) the Obligated Group (A) fails to achieve a Historical Debt 
Service Coverage Ratio of at least 1.20:1 for any Fiscal Year, and (B) fails to take all necessary 
action to comply with the procedures described under this Section for preparing a report, adopting 
a plan, and following all recommendations contained in such report or plan to the extent feasible 
(as determined in the reasonable judgement of the Governing Body of the Obligated Group 
Representative) and permitted by law, (ii) the Obligated Group fails to achieve a Historical Debt 
Service Coverage Ratio of at least 1.00:1 and the Days Cash on Hand of the Obligated Group as 
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of the last day of the Fiscal Year is less than 150 days or (iii) the Obligated Group fails to achieve 
a Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio of at least 1.00:1 for two consecutive Fiscal Years. 

 
In event that any Member of the Obligated Group incurs any Additional Indebtedness for 

any Capital Addition (as defined in the Master Trust Indenture), the Debt Service Requirements 
on such Additional Indebtedness and the Revenues and Expenses relating to the project or projects 
financed with the proceeds of such Additional Indebtedness shall be excluded from the calculation 
of the Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated Group for the purposes of 
complying with the Master Indenture until the first full Fiscal Year following the later of (i) the 
estimated completion of the Capital Addition being paid for with the proceeds of such Additional 
Indebtedness provided that such completion occurs no later than six (6) months following the 
completion date for such project set forth in the Consultant’s report described in (A) below, or (ii) 
the first full Fiscal Year in which Stable Occupancy is achieved in the case of construction, 
renovation or replacement of senior living facilities or nursing facilities financed with the proceeds 
of such Additional Indebtedness, which Stable Occupancy shall be projected in the report of the 
Consultant referred to in paragraph (A) below to occur no later than during the fifth full Fiscal 
Year following the incurrence of such Additional Indebtedness, or (iii) the end of the fifth full 
Fiscal Year after the incurrence of such Additional Indebtedness, if the following conditions are 
met: 

 
(A) there is delivered to the Master Trustee a report or opinion of a Consultant 

to the effect that the Projected Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the first full Fiscal Year 
following the later of (i) the estimated completion of the Capital Addition being paid for 
with the proceeds of such Additional Indebtedness, or (ii) the first full Fiscal Year 
following the year in which Stable Occupancy is achieved in the case of construction, 
renovation or replacement of senior living facilities or nursing facilities being financed 
with the proceeds of such Additional Indebtedness, which Stable Occupancy shall be 
projected to occur no later than during the fifth full Fiscal Year following the incurrence 
of such Additional Indebtedness, will be not less than 1.25:1 after giving effect to the 
incurrence of such Additional Indebtedness and the application of the proceeds thereof; 
provided, however, that in the event that a Consultant shall deliver a report to the Master 
Trustee to the effect that state or federal laws or regulations or administrative 
interpretations of such laws or regulations then in existence do not permit or by their 
application make it impracticable for Members to produce the required ratio, then such 
ratio shall be reduced to the highest practicable ratio then permitted by such laws or 
regulations but in no event less than 1.00:1; provided, further, however, that in the event a 
Consultant’s report is not required to incur such Additional Indebtedness, the Obligated 
Group may deliver an Officer’s Certificate to the Master Trustee in lieu of the Consultant’s 
report described in this subparagraph (A); and 

 
(B) there is delivered to the Master Trustee an Officer’s Certificate on the date 

on which financial statements are required to be delivered to the Master Trustee pursuant 
to Master Indenture until the first Fiscal Year in which the exclusion from the calculation 
of the Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio no longer applies, calculating the Historical 
Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated Group at the end of each Fiscal Year, and 
demonstrating that such Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio is not less than 1.00:1, 
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such Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio to be computed without taking into account 
(i) the Additional Indebtedness to be incurred if (1) the interest on such Additional 
Indebtedness during such period is funded from proceeds thereof or other funds of the 
Member then on hand and available therefore, and (2) no principal of such Additional 
Indebtedness is payable during such period, and (ii) the Revenues to be derived from the 
project to be financed from the proceeds of such Additional Indebtedness. 

 
Liquidity Covenant 

 
The Master Indenture requires that the Obligated Group Representative calculate the Days 

Cash on Hand of the Obligated Group as of June 30 and December 31 of each Fiscal Year (each 
such date being a “Testing Date”).  Each Obligated Group Member is required to conduct its 
business so that on each Testing Date the Obligated Group shall have a no less than 150 Days Cash 
on Hand (the “Liquidity Requirement”). 

 
If the Days Cash on Hand as of any Testing Date is less than the Liquidity Requirement, 

the Obligated Group Representative shall, within 30 days after delivery of the Officer’s Certificate 
disclosing such deficiency, deliver an Officer’s Certificate approved by a resolution of the 
Governing Body of the Obligated Group Representative to the Master Trustee setting forth in 
reasonable detail the reasons for such deficiency and adopting a specific plan setting forth steps to 
be taken designed to raise the level of Days Cash on Hand to the Liquidity Requirement for future 
Testing Dates. 

 
If the Obligated Group has not raised the level of Days Cash on Hand to the Liquidity 

Requirement by the next Testing Date immediately subsequent to delivery of the Officer’s 
Certificate required in the preceding paragraph, the Obligated Group Representative shall, within 
30 days after receipt of the Officer’s Certificate disclosing such deficiency, select a Consultant in 
accordance with the terms of the Master Indenture to make recommendations with respect to the 
rates, fees and charges of the Obligated Group and the Obligated Group’s methods of operation 
and other factors affecting its financial condition in order to increase Days Cash on Hand to the 
Liquidity Requirement for future Testing Dates.  A copy of the Consultant’s report and 
recommendations, if any, shall be filed with each Member and each Required Information 
Recipient within 60 days after the date such Consultant is actually engaged.  Each Member of the 
Obligated Group shall follow each recommendation of the Consultant applicable to it to the extent 
feasible (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Governing Body of such Member) and 
permitted by law. 

 
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Master Indenture, failure of the Obligated 

Group to achieve the required Liquidity Requirement for any Testing Date shall not constitute an 
Event of Default under the Master Indenture if the Obligated Group takes all action necessary to 
comply with the procedures set forth above for adopting a plan and follows each recommendation 
contained in such plan or Consultant’s report to the extent feasible (as determined in the reasonable 
judgment of the Governing Body of such Member) and permitted by law. 

 
For specific information regarding the process under the Master Indenture for the selection 

of Consultants, see “SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE – Approval of 
Consultants” herein and in APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS 
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OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND 
RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.” 

 
Actuarial Study 

 
The Obligated Group has covenanted that within 150 days of the end of each third Fiscal 

Year, the Obligated Group will obtain an actuarial report, including a calculation of funded status, 
and the Obligated Group shall deliver an executive summary of such report, including a calculation 
of the Obligated Group’s funded status, to the Required Information Recipients.  The most recent 
such actuarial report was delivered in January 2018 for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2017, and 
concluded that the Obligated Group is in adequate financial condition to meet its obligations under 
actuarial standards.  Should the Obligated Group engage an actuary to report on funding status 
more frequently, an executive summary of such report shall be provided. 

 
Approval of Consultants 

 
The Master Indenture provides that if at any time the Members of the Obligated Group are 

required to engage a Consultant under the provisions of the Master Indenture with respect to the 
Rate Covenant or Liquidity Covenant, such Consultant shall be engaged in the manner as set forth 
below. 

 
Upon selecting a Consultant as required under the provisions of the Master Indenture, the 

Obligated Group Representative will notify the Master Trustee of such selection.  The Master 
Trustee shall, as soon as practicable but in no case longer than five Business Days after receipt of 
notice, notify the Holders of all Obligations Outstanding under the Master Indenture of such 
selection.  Such will (i) include the name of the Consultant and a brief description of the 
Consultant, (ii) state the reason that the Consultant is being engaged including a description of the 
covenant(s) of the Master Indenture that require the Consultant to be engaged, and (iii) state that 
the Holder of the Obligation will be deemed to have consented to the selection of the Consultant 
named in such notice unless such Holder submits an objection to the selected Consultant in writing 
(in a manner acceptable to the Master Trustee) to the Master Trustee within 15 days of the date 
that the notice is sent to the Holders.  No later than two Business Days after the end of the 15-day 
objection period, the Master Trustee shall notify the Obligated Group of the number of objections.  
If 66.6% or more in aggregate principal amount of the Holders of the Outstanding Obligations 
have been deemed to have consented to the selection of the Consultant or have not responded to 
the request for consent, the Obligated Group Representative shall engage the Consultant within 
three Business Days.  If 33.4% or more in aggregate principal amount of the Holders of the 
Obligations Outstanding have objected to the Consultant selected, the Obligated Group 
Representative shall select another Consultant which may be engaged upon compliance with the 
procedures described above and in accordance with the Master Indenture. 

 
Revenue Fund 

 
If an Event of Default under the Master Indenture occurs and continues for a period of five 

days, each Obligated Group Member shall deposit with the Master Trustee all Gross Revenues of 
such Obligated Group Member (except to the extent otherwise provided by or inconsistent with 
any instrument creating any mortgage, lien, charge, encumbrance, pledge or other security interest 
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granted, created, assumed, incurred or existing in accordance with the provisions of the Master 
Indenture) during each succeeding month, beginning on the first day thereof and on each day 
thereafter, until no payment default under the Master Indenture then exists. 

 
On the fifth Business Day preceding the end of each month in which any Obligated Group 

Member has made payments to the Master Trustee for deposit into the Revenue Fund, the Master 
Trustee shall withdraw and pay or deposit from the amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund the 
following amounts in the order indicated: 

 
First: To the payment of all amounts due the Master Trustee under the Master 

Indenture; 
 
Second: to an operating account designated by the Obligated Group Representative 

(which shall be subject to the lien of the Master Indenture), the amount necessary to pay 
the Expenses due or expected to become due in the month in which such transfer is made, 
all as set forth in the then-current Annual Budget; 

 
Third: to the payment of the amounts due and unpaid upon the Obligations, for 

principal (and premium, if any) and interest, in respect of which or for the benefit of which 
such money has been collected, ratably without preference or priority of any kind, 
according to the amounts due and payable on such Obligations for principal (and premium, 
if any) and interest, respectively and payments due under any Interest Rate Agreement that 
do not constitute Subordinated Indebtedness; 

 
Fourth: to restore any deficiency in a Related Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund or 

Minimum Liquid Reserve Account;  
 
Fifth: to the payment of the amounts then due and unpaid upon Subordinated 

Indebtedness for principal (and premium, if any) and interest, in respect of which or for the 
benefit of which such money has been collected, ratably, without preference or priority of 
any kind, according to the amounts due and payable on such Subordinated Indebtedness 
for principal (and premium, if any) and interest, respectively and payments due under any 
Interest Rate Agreement that constitute Subordinated Indebtedness; and 

 
Sixth: to the Obligated Group Representative for the benefit of the Obligated 

Group. 
 

Other Covenants and Restrictions 
 

For information about the Obligated Group’s covenants with respect to its continuing care 
obligations, the incurrence of additional Indebtedness, maintenance of the Obligated Group 
Facilities, sale, transfer or disposition of property, mergers and consolidations and other covenants, 
see APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND 
INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED 
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.” 
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Upon the issuance of the Bonds, approximately $______ million in aggregate principal 
amount of bonds will be outstanding for the benefit of the Obligated Group, secured by Obligations 
and held directly by financial institutions or affiliated financial institutions (the “Direct Placement 
Debt”).  For more information regarding the Direct Placement Debt, see “SECURITY FOR THE 
SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE – General” herein. The financing documents relating to the Direct 
Placement Debt contain certain financial and operating covenants of the Obligated Group 
Members that differ from the financial covenants in the Master Indenture.  These covenants may 
be amended or waived without notice to or consent by the holders of the Bonds.  An event of 
default under such financing documents may result in an Event of Default under the Master 
Indenture.  Upon an Event of Default under the Master Indenture, all Obligations outstanding 
under the Master Indenture, including the Series 2019 Master Note, may be accelerated upon the 
direction of the holders of at least 25% of the Obligations then outstanding.  Therefore, although 
the Members of the Obligated Group may be in compliance with the provisions of the Master 
Indenture, they may nevertheless be in default under the terms of the financing documents relating 
to the Direct Placement Debt, which could lead to an acceleration and early redemption of the 
Bonds.  See APPENDIX C – “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE 
BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND MASTER INDENTURE.”  

 
RISK FACTORS 

General 
 

The paragraphs set forth below discuss certain risks associated with an investment in the 
Bonds, but are not intended to be a complete enumeration of all risks associated with the purchase 
of any of the Bonds.  Other investment risks are discussed in other sections of this Official 
Statement. 

 
Except as otherwise noted herein, the Bonds will be payable solely from the payments to 

be made by Shell Point under the Loan Agreement, the Series 2019 Master Note and from certain 
other available moneys pledged under the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, the Bond 
Indenture and the Mortgages.  No entity or person other than the Obligated Group is, or shall be, 
in any way liable or responsible for any payments to be made under the Loan Agreement and the 
Series 2019 Master Note.  Except for certain restricted assets, the Obligated Group has no 
significant assets other than the Communities and has no significant sources of income other than 
the Entrance Fees, monthly service fees, per diem charges from use of the healthcare services and 
other moneys received from the operation of the Communities.  See APPENDIX A hereto.  
Accordingly, owners of the Bonds must look solely to the security provided under the Master 
Indenture, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Mortgages for payment of the 
principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest due on the Bonds. 

 
General Uncertainty of Revenues 

 
Certain risks are inherent in the successful operation of facilities such as the Communities.  

The ability of the Obligated Group Members to generate sufficient revenues from the operation of 
the Communities to pay the required amounts under the Loan Agreement and the Series 2019 
Master Note will be dependent on the achievement and maintenance of high future residency levels 
and turnover thereof at the Communities by eligible residents who will be able to pay the Entrance 
Fees and monthly service fees, and on the hiring and retention of competent administrative and 
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operating personnel to conduct the day-to-day operations of the Communities.  No representation 
or assurance can be made that revenues will be realized by the Obligated Group Members in 
amounts sufficient to make the required payments with respect to debt service on the Bonds.  The 
realization of future revenues and control of expenses is dependent upon, among other things, 
successful marketing by the personnel of the Obligated Group Members, future state and federal 
funding of certain healthcare programs, and future economic and other conditions that are 
unpredictable.  Any of these factors may affect revenues and payment of debt service on the Bonds. 

 
The Obligated Group may fail to meet the “rate covenant” contained in the Master 

Indenture and described in APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND EXCERPTED PROVISIONS 
OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND 
RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.”  Failure to meet the rate covenant under the 
various documents will require the Obligated Group Members to formulate and implement a plan 
of corrective action.  While this covenant is intended to require the Obligated Group Members to 
take corrective action in order to avert a payment default, no assurance can be given that such 
corrective action, if required, will be successful.   

 
Impact of Market Turmoil 

 
The economic turmoil of past years has had severe negative repurcussions upon the United 

States and global economies. This impact was particularly severe in the financial sector, prompting 
a number of banks and other financial institutions to seek additional capital, to merge, and, in some 
cases, to case operating.  While financial markets have improved, the effects of this turmoil linger.  
Any similar future market turmoil could affect the market and demand for the Bonds in addition 
to adversely affecting the value of any investments of the Obligated Group.   

 
Additions to the Obligated Group 

 
As of the date of issuance of the Bonds, Shell Point and Alliance will are the only Members 

of the Obligated Group.  Upon satisfaction of certain conditions in the Master Indenture, other 
entities can become Members of the Obligated Group.  See APPENDIX C -- “DEFINITIONS AND 
EXCERPTED PROVISIONS OF THE BOND INDENTURE, LOAN AGREEMENT, 
MORTGAGES AND AMENDED AND RESTATED MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.” 
Management of the Obligated Group Members currently has no plans to add additional Members 
to the Obligated Group.  However, if and when new Members are added, the Obligated Group’s 
financial situation and operations will likely be altered from that of the current Obligated Group.  

 
 Risks Associated with Variable Rate Debt and Direct Placement Debt 

 
As of the issuance date of the Bonds, the Obligated Group will have approximately 

$__________ aggregate principal amount of variable rate debt obligations outstanding (___% of 
which is subject to an interest rate hedging agreement).  The interest rates on variable rate debt 
obligations issued or to be issued on behalf of the Obligated Group could rise, or be adjusted from 
time to time upon the occurrence of changes in certain tax rates or events of taxability. A significant 
increase in interest rates would increase the Obligated Group’s debt service requirements with 
respect to the variable rate obligations not subject to an interest rate hedge, thereby increasing the 
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possibility of (i) a default by the Obligated Group under its financing documents and (ii) an 
acceleration and early redemption of the Series 2019 Bonds.   

 
Certain Direct Placement Debt, bears interest at rates that are determined using, or are 

payable based on, a LIBOR index.  In 2017, U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the “UK FCA”), 
the body that regulates and supervises the publication of LIBOR, announced that it will no longer 
persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021.  It is not possible 
to predict the impact of the phase out of LIBOR or any future rule changes or benchmark rates 
adopted by the UK FCA or other regulatory body, if any in replacement of LIBOR.  The financing 
documents relating to the Direct Placement Debt provide for substitute rates in the event LIBOR 
is no longer available and permit the Obligated Group Members the ability to refund such Direct 
Placement Debt pursuant to the terms thereof, and subject to related swap termination costs (see 
“Interest Rate Hedging Transactions” below). 

 
In addition, the financing documents relating to the Direct Placement Debt generally 

contain certain financial and operating covenants of the Obligated Group Members that differ from 
the covenants in the Master Indenture, and in some instances such covenants may be more 
restrictive than the covenants contained in the Master Indenture.  Therefore, although the Members 
of the Obligated Group may be in compliance with the provisions of the Master Indenture, they 
may nevertheless be in default under the terms of the financing documents relating to the Direct 
Placement Debt, which could lead to an acceleration and early redemption of the Bonds.  See 
“SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 MASTER NOTE – Other Covenants and Restrictions” 
above and “ESTIMATED DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS” for more information. 

 
Interest Rate Hedging Transactions 

 
Shell Point is currently a party to the Series 2016A Swap and the Series 2016B Swap, the 

payments of which, including any termination payments, are payable on a parity with the Series 
2019 Master Note and other Outstanding Parity Obligations. See “Note 8” to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for June 30, 2018 and 2017 in APPENDIX B hereto for more information.  
Any hedge agreement to which any Member of the Obligated Group is a party may, at any time, 
have a negative value to the Obligated Group.  If either a swap or other hedge counterparty or an 
Obligated Group Member terminates such an agreement when the agreement has a negative value 
to the Obligated Group, the Obligated Group would be obligated to make a termination payment 
to the counterparty in the amount of such negative value, and such payment could be substantial 
and potentially have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Obligated Group.  
A counterparty generally may only terminate such an agreement upon the occurrence of defined 
termination events such as nonpayment by the Obligated Group, a bankruptcy type event of either 
party, cross default to specified indebtedness or other hedging transactions, or other breaches of 
covenants in such agreements or the withdrawal of the ratings assigned to the Obligated Group’s 
indebtedness or a downgrade of such ratings below specified levels. 

 
Failure to Maintain Occupancy 

 
The successful operation of the Communities depends in large part upon the ability of the 

Obligated Group Members to attract sufficient numbers of residents to the Communities and to 
maintain substantial occupancy at the Communities throughout the term of the Bonds.  The ability 
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of the Obligated Group Members to maintain high levels of occupancy depends to some extent on 
factors outside their control, such as the residents’ right to terminate their Residency Agreements 
and to receive a refund as provided in the Residency Agreements.  If the Communities fail to 
maintain a high level of occupancy, there may be insufficient funds to pay debt service on the 
Bonds.  Moreover, if a substantial number of residents live beyond their anticipated life 
expectancies or if their admissions or transfers to the assisted living area or the skilled care nursing 
area are substantially less than anticipated by the Obligated Group Members, or if market changes 
prevent an increase in the amount of the Entrance Fees payable by new residents of the 
Communities, the receipt of additional Entrance Fees could be curtailed or limited, with a 
consequent impairment of revenues.  Such impairment would also result if the Obligated Group 
Members are unable to remarket independent living units becoming available when residents die, 
withdraw, or are transferred to another facility. See also “RISK FACTORS – Sale of Homes” 
herein. 

 
Competition 

 
The Obligated Group Members perform services in areas where other competitive facilities 

exist and may face additional competition in the future as a result of the construction or renovation 
of competitive facilities in their primary or secondary market areas.  There may also arise in the 
future competition from other continuing care facilities, some of which may offer similar facilities, 
but not necessarily similar services, at lower prices.  See APPENDIX A hereto for more 
information regarding existing competition for the Obligated Group Members. 

 
Potential Refund of Entrance Fees 

 
Under certain circumstances, the Obligated Group is obligated to refund all or a portion of 

a resident’s Entrance Fee upon the resident’s departure from the Communities based on certain 
conditions as provided in such resident’s Residency Agreement and as may be required by Chapter 
651, Florida Statutes.  In some cases, refunds may be owed or payable prior to the Obligated 
Group’s receipt of a corresponding replacement Entrance Fee with respect to the applicable 
Entrance Fee unit.  Accordingly, the payment of such refunds could adversely affect the Obligated 
Group’s ability to make payments required by the Loan Agreement, the Bonds, the Series 2019 
Master Note or any other Outstanding Obligations. 

 
State Licensure 

 
The health care components of the Communities are licensed by the State of Florida 

Agency for Health Care Administration (“AHCA”).  The nursing homes are required to undergo 
at least one annual unannounced inspection by AHCA to determine compliance with applicable 
statutes and rules promulgated thereunder which govern minimum standards of construction, 
quality, adequacy of care and rights of residents. In addition, AHCA will at least annually evaluate 
the nursing homes to determine compliance with applicable licensure requirements and standards 
as a basis for assigning a rating to such facilities.  AHCA will also inspect the assisted living 
facility components prior to the biennial renewal of a license to determine compliance with resident 
rights; requirements for resident care and services; staff training; and other regulatory 
requirements.  The Obligated Group Members are also required to submit a biennial (for nursing 
homes and assisted living facilities) licensure renewal application to AHCA, as well as maintain a 

87



 

29 
4826-5684-9044.5 

license from AHCA.  AHCA may revoke or suspend an assisted living facility’s or skilled nursing 
facility’s license for a number of reasons, including: (a) an intentional or negligent act seriously 
affecting a facility resident’s health, safety or welfare; (b) misappropriation or conversion of 
resident property; (c) a determination by AHCA that the facility owner lacks the financial ability 
to provide continuing adequate care to residents; or (d) a licensee’s failure during relicensure to 
meet minimum licensing standards or applicable rules.  Furthermore, AHCA may seek an 
injunction in various circumstances, including to enforce applicable requirements against an 
assisted living facility or skilled nursing facility when a violation has not been corrected by the 
imposition of administrative fines or when the violation materially affects resident health, safety 
or welfare.   

 
State Regulation of Continuing Care Facilities 

 
As described herein under “FLORIDA REGULATION OF CONTINUING CARE 

FACILITIES,” Chapter 651, Florida Statutes, as amended (“Chapter 651”) requires every 
continuing care facility to maintain a certificate of authority from the Office of Insurance 
Regulation (the “OIR”) in order to operate.  Shell Point and Alliance have each received a final 
certificate of authority for the Shell Point Community and the Alliance Community, respectively.  
If Shell Point or Alliance fails to comply with the requirements of Chapter 651, it would be subject 
to sanctions including the possible revocation of the certificate of authority.  A certificate of 
authority may be revoked if certain grounds exist including, among others, failure by the provider 
to continue to meet the requirements for the certificate of authority as originally granted, on 
account of deficiency of assets, failure of the provider to maintain escrow accounts or funds 
required by Chapter 651 and failure by the provider to honor its residency agreements with 
residents.  Under certain circumstances the OIR may petition for an appropriate court order for 
rehabilitation, liquidation, conservation, reorganization, seizure or summary proceedings.  If the 
OIR has been appointed a receiver of a continuing care facility, it may petition a court to enjoin a 
secured creditor of a facility from seeking to dispose of the collateral securing its debt for a period 
of up to 12 months. 

 
Sale of Homes 

 
It is anticipated that many future residents of the Communities will come from a personal 

residence.  Many of these individuals may sell their current homes prior to occupancy to meet 
financial obligations under their Residency Agreement.  If prospective residents encounter 
difficulties in selling their homes due to local or national economic conditions affecting the sale 
of residential real estate, such prospective residents may not have sufficient funds to pay fees or 
other obligations under their Residency Agreements, thereby causing a delay in marketing vacated 
units.  Any such delay could have an adverse impact on the revenues of the Obligated Group 
Members and the ability of Shell Point to pay debt service requirements on the Bonds. 

 
Utilization Demand 

 
Several factors could, if implemented, affect demand for services provided at the 

Communities including:  (i) efforts by insurers and governmental agencies to reduce utilization of 
skilled nursing home and long-term care facilities by such means as preventive medicine and home 
health care programs; (ii) advances in scientific and medical technology; (iii) a decline in the 
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population, a change in the age composition of the population or a decline in the economic 
conditions of the service areas for the Communities; and (iv) increased or more effective 
competition from retirement communities and long-term care facilities now or hereafter located in 
the service areas of the Communities.   

 
The Nature of the Income of the Elderly 

 
A large percentage of the monthly income of the residents of the Communities will be fixed 

income derived from pensions and social security.  In addition, some residents may liquidate assets 
in order to pay the fees and other charges for occupancy of the Communities.  If, due to inflation 
or otherwise, substantial increases in fees and other charges are required to cover increases in 
operating costs, nursing care costs, wages, benefits and other expenses, residents may have 
difficulty paying or may be unable to pay such increased fees and other charges.  Furthermore, 
investment income of the residents may be adversely affected by declines in market interest rates 
and stock prices, which may also result in payment difficulties. 

 
Factors Affecting Taxes on Real Property 

 
Currently, the portions of the Communities which comprise the assisted living facilities 

and the skilled nursing facilities are exempt from State of Florida taxes on real property.  In recent 
years various State of Florida and local legislative, regulatory and judicial bodies have reviewed 
the exemption of non-profit corporations from taxes on real property.  Various State of Florida and 
local government bodies have challenged with increasing frequency and success the tax-exempt 
status of such institutions and have sought to remove the exemption of certain real property from 
the taxes of various non-profit institutions on the grounds that a portion of such property was not 
being used to further the charitable purposes of the institution.  Several of these disputes have been 
determined in favor of the taxing authorities or have resulted in settlements. 

 
Malpractice Claims and Losses 

 
The Obligated Group has covenanted in the Master Indenture to maintain professional 

liability insurance with commercial insurance carriers unless the Obligated Group provides a 
certificate of an insurance consultant complying with the terms of the Master Indenture.  The 
operations of the Obligated Group Members may be affected by increases in the incidence of 
malpractice lawsuits against elder care facilities and care providers in general and by increases in 
the dollar amount of resident damage recoveries.  These may result in increased insurance 
premiums and an increased difficulty in obtaining malpractice insurance.  It is not possible at this 
time to determine either the extent to which malpractice coverage will continue to be available to 
the Obligated Group or the premiums at which such coverage can be obtained. 

 
Federal Tax Reform 

 
Tax reform legislation (the “Tax Act”) was passed by both houses of Congress and signed 

into law on December 22, 2017.  The Tax Act contained numerous other tax changes affecting tax-
exempt organizations, including changes to unrelated business income tax provisions and a new 
executive compensation excise tax imposed on an exempt organization with respect to certain 
highly-compensated individuals.  All or any of such provisions and/or other provisions affecting 
the Obligated Group contained in current or future tax reform legislation may materially impact 
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the future cost and/or availability of borrowed funds, the market price or marketability of the Bonds 
in the secondary market, and the operations, financial position and cash flows of the Obligated 
Group.  

 
Healthcare Reform Act  

 
The feasibility of the Communities may be affected by changes in the regulation of 

retirement communities or in the system of reimbursement for skilled nursing units.  Participants 
in the healthcare industry are subject to significant regulatory requirements of federal, state and 
local governmental agencies and independent professional organizations and accrediting bodies, 
technological advances and changes in treatment modes, various competitive factors and changes 
in third party reimbursement programs. In addition, the operations of the healthcare industry have 
been subject to increasing scrutiny by federal, state and local governmental agencies.  In response 
to perceived abuses and actual violations of the terms of existing federal, state and local healthcare 
payment programs, such agencies have increased their audit and enforcement activities, and 
federal and state legislation has been considered or enacted, providing for civil and criminal 
penalties against certain activities. 

 
The “Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act” and “The Health Care and Education 

Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2010” (together referred to herein as the “Health Reform Act”) 
were enacted in March 2010.  Some of the provisions of the Health Reform Act took effect 
immediately while others will take effect over a ten-year period.  Because of the complexity of the 
Health Reform Act generally, additional legislation modifying or repealing portions of the Health 
Reform Act is likely to be considered and enacted over time.  The Health Reform Act provides 
changes with respect to how consumers pay for their own and their families’ health care and how 
employers procure health insurance for their employees.  In addition, the Health Reform Act 
requires insurers to change certain underwriting practices and benefit structures in order to cover 
individuals who previously would have been ineligible for health insurance coverage.  As a result, 
since the enactment of the Health Reform Act, there has been a significant increase in the number 
of individuals eligible for health insurance coverage. Associated with increased utilization will be 
increased variable and fixed costs of providing health care services, which may or may not be 
offset by increased revenues. 

 
Some of the specific provisions of the Health Reform Act that may affect the feasibility of 

the Communities include the following (this listing is not, is not intended to be, nor should be 
considered to be comprehensive): 

 
With varying effective dates, the annual Medicare market basket updates for many 

providers, including skilled nursing, would be reduced, and adjustments to payment for expected 
productivity gains would be implemented. 

 
With varying effective dates, the Health Reform Act mandates a reduction of waste, fraud 

and abuse in public programs by allowing provider enrollment screening, enhanced oversight 
periods for new providers and suppliers, and enrollment moratoria in areas identified as being at 
elevated risk of fraud in all public programs, and by requiring Medicare and Medicaid program 
providers and suppliers to establish compliance programs.  The legislation requires the 
development of a database to capture and share healthcare provider data across federal healthcare 
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programs and also provides for increased penalties for fraud and abuse violations, and increased 
funding for anti-fraud activities. 

 
The Health Reform Act provides for the implementation of various demonstration 

programs and pilot projects to test, evaluate, encourage and expand new payment structures and 
methodologies to reduce health care expenditures while maintaining or improving quality of care, 
including bundled payments under Medicare and Medicaid, and comparative effectiveness 
research programs that compare the clinical effectiveness of medical treatments and develop 
recommendations concerning practice guidelines and coverage determinations.  Other provisions 
encourage the creation of new health care delivery programs, such as accountable care 
organizations, or combinations of provider organizations, that voluntarily meet quality thresholds 
to share in the cost savings they achieve for the Medicare program.  The Health Reform Act also 
provides funding for establishment of a national electronic health records system.  The outcomes 
of these projects and programs, including their effect on payments to providers and financial 
performance, cannot be predicted. 

 
Several attempts to amend and repeal provisions of the Healthcare Reform Act have been 

made since its passage. While past attempts to amend and repeal the Healthcare Reform Act in its 
entirety have not been successful, the future of the Healthcare Reform Act is uncertain. The Tax 
Act (defined above) repealed a key provision of the Healthcare Reform Act, known as the 
“individual mandate” – a requirement that most Americans maintain a “minimum essential” health 
insurance coverage or pay a yearly tax penalty to the federal government.  While it is not possible 
to predict whether the Healthcare Reform Act will be further modified in any significant respect 
or wholly repealed, or the impact the individual mandate repeal, a full repeal or additional 
piecemeal repeal, or any health care reform replacement legislation would have on the operations 
of the Obligated Group.  

 
Nursing Staff Shortage 

 
Recently the healthcare industry has experienced a shortage of nursing staff, which has 

resulted in increased costs for healthcare providers due to the need to hire agency nursing personnel 
at higher rates.  Both the federal and state governments have implemented, or are considering 
implementing, legislative efforts to combat the health care industry’s workforce shortages, 
including those in nursing.  If the nursing staff shortage continues, it could adversely affect the 
operations or financial condition of the Obligated Group Members.  

 
Fraud and Abuse Enforcement 

 
Anti-Kickback Laws.  The Federal Medicare/Medicaid Anti-Fraud and Abuse 

Amendments to the Social Security Act (the “Anti-Kickback Law”) make it a criminal felony 
offense (subject to certain exceptions) to knowingly or willfully offer, pay, solicit or receive 
remuneration in order to induce business for which reimbursement may be provided under the 
Medicare program. The arrangements prohibited under the Anti-Kickback Law can involve 
hospitals, physicians and other health care providers such as nursing homes and home health 
agencies. Prohibited arrangements may include joint ventures between providers, space and 
equipment rentals, purchases of physician practices, physician recruiting programs and 
management and personal services contracts. In addition to criminal penalties, violations of the 

91



 

33 
4826-5684-9044.5 

Anti-Kickback Law can lead to civil monetary penalties and exclusion from the Medicare program 
for not less than five years. Exclusion from the Medicare program could have a material adverse 
impact on the operations and financial condition of the Obligated Group Members. 

 
Billing and Reimbursement Practices.  Health care providers, including nursing 

homes, also are subject to criminal, civil and exclusionary penalties for violating billing and 
reimbursement standards under state and federal law. In recent years, state and federal enforcement 
authorities have investigated and prosecuted providers for submitting false claims to Medicare or 
Medicaid for services not rendered or for misrepresenting the level or necessity of services actually 
rendered in order to obtain a higher level of reimbursement. 

 
Enforcement Activity.  Enforcement activity against health care providers is increasing, 

and enforcement authorities are adopting more aggressive approaches.  In the current regulatory 
climate, it is anticipated that many hospitals, physician groups and other health care providers will 
be subject to investigation, audit or inquiry regarding billing practices or false claims.  The 
Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General (“OIG”) and the 
Department of Justice (“DOJ”) have conducted several joint investigation and prosecution projects 
in the last two years involving a significant number of hospitals and certain other health care 
providers nationwide in an effort to recover alleged overpayments. In some instances, the OIG and 
DOJ have recovered double or treble damages, plus penalties and interest, and have imposed strict 
compliance measures to ensure correct billing practices in the future. 

 
As with other health care providers, the Obligated Group Members may be the subject of 

Medicare intermediary or carrier, OIG, U.S. Attorney General, DOJ, state attorney general 
investigations, audits or inquiries in the future.  Because of the complexity of these laws, the 
instances in which an alleged violation may arise to trigger such investigations, audits or inquiries 
is increasing and could result in enforcement action against the Obligated Group. 

 
Regardless of the merits of a particular case or cases, the Obligated Group Members could 

incur significant legal and settlement costs.  Prolonged and publicized investigations could be 
damaging to the reputation, business and credit of the Obligated Group Members, regardless of 
the outcome, and could have material adverse consequences on the financial condition of the 
Obligated Group. 

 
Other Sources of Liability for Health Care Providers 

 
Health care providers may be subject to criminal prosecution and civil penalties under a 

variety of federal laws in addition to those discussed in the previous paragraphs, notably the 
following: 

 
Privacy and Security Regulations.  The confidentiality and security of patient medical 

records and other health information is subject to considerable regulation by state and federal 
governments.  The administrative simplification provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) mandated that standards and requirements be adopted for the 
electronic transmission of certain health information.  The United States Department of Health and 
Human Services (“DHHS”) has issued a series of regulations to comport with this mandate, 
including regulations governing the privacy and security of protected health information. 
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In addition, DHHS published final regulations: (a) adopting standards for specific types of 

electronic administrative and financial health care transactions; and for the code sets used in 
conjunction with those transactions; and (b) creating a unique health identifier for health care 
providers.  Physicians and other persons exchanging patient information with the Obligated Group 
Members are required to comply with these laws and regulations. 

 
In December 2000, DHHS issued a final rule regarding privacy standards covering health 

plans, health care clearinghouses, and health care providers.  Most covered entities had to be in 
compliance with the rule by April 14, 2003.  Each of the Obligated Group Members is considered 
a covered entity.  DHHS also published a final rule regarding the security of electronic health 
information.  Most covered entities had to comply with the rule by April 20, 2005.  The Obligated 
Group Members intend to operate in material compliance with HIPAA. 

 
On February 17, 2009, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (the “ARRA”) was 

signed into law.  The ARRA contained significant changes to HIPAA including a new requirement 
that covered entities must make notifications in the event of a breach of privacy, security or 
integrity of protected health information to individuals, DHHS, and in certain instances, depending 
on the number of people whose information was subject to the breach, to the media.  In addition, 
the ARRA increased the liability of business associates of covered entities and placed additional 
administrative responsibilities on health care providers and other covered entities regarding the 
privacy and security of health information.   Pursuant to the ARRA, DHHS will be required to 
conduct periodic HIPAA compliance audits to ensure that covered entities, including health care 
providers, are complying with HIPAA and the new requirements created by the ARRA.  DHHS is 
currently writing regulations implementing the ARRA requirements; regulations implementing the 
breach notification requirements were published on August 19, 2009 and apply to breaches on or 
after September 23, 2009.  The full impact of the ARRA will not be known until all of the new 
requirements have been implemented, but the Obligated Group Members may incur significant 
costs in implementing the policies and systems required to comply with these new requirements. 

 
If Shell Point or Alliance is found to have violated any state or federal statute or regulation 

with regard to the security, confidentiality, dissemination or use of patient medical information, 
the violator could be liable for damages, or civil or criminal penalties.  Under HIPAA and the 
ARRA amendments, the penalty for failure to comply with the standards is a fine of $114 to 
$57,051 for each violation, with a maximum penalty of $1,711,533 imposed for all violations of 
an identical requirement during a calendar year.  Congress also established criminal penalties for 
knowingly violating patient privacy.  Criminal penalties include up to $50,000 and one year in 
prison for obtaining or disclosing protected health information; up to $100,000 and up to five years 
in prison for obtaining protected health information under “false pretenses”; and up to $250,000 
and up to ten years in prison for obtaining or disclosing protected health information with the intent 
to sell, transfer or use it for commercial advantage, personal gain or malicious harm.  In addition, 
the ARRA authorizes state attorneys general to bring civil actions seeking either an injunction or 
damages in response to violations of HIPAA privacy and security regulations that threaten state 
residents. 
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These standards impose very complex procedures and operational requirements with which 
the Obligated Group Members are required to comply.  There can be no assurance that differing 
interpretations of existing laws and regulations or the adoption of new laws and regulations would 
not have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Obligated Group Members to obtain or use 
health information which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on the business of the 
Obligated Group Members.  Similarly, because of the complexity of these regulations, there can 
be no assurances that either Shell Point or Alliance would not be reviewed, found to violate these 
standards and assessed penalties for such violations. 

 
Medicare and Medicaid Programs 

 
Currently, Shell Point and Alliance are certified for Medicare and Medicaid.  For Fiscal 

Year 2018, approximately 21% of the nursing beds at the Shell Point Community and 12% of the 
nursing beds at the Alliance Community were utilized by Medicare patients and approximately 
7% of the nursing beds at the Shell Point Community and 75% of the nursing beds at the Alliance 
Community were utilized by Medicaid patients. See also “THE OBLIGATED GROUP 
FACILITIES” in APPENDIX A herein.  

 
Shell Point and Alliance are subject to highly technical regulations by a number of federal, 

state and local government agencies and private agencies, including those that administer the 
Medicare program.  Changes in the structure of the Medicare or Medicaid system, as well as 
potential limitations on payments from governmental and other third party payors, could 
potentially have an adverse effect on the results of operations of Shell Point and Alliance.  The 
initiation of audits and investigations concerning billing practices could also potentially have an 
adverse effect on the results of operations of Shell Point and Alliance. 

 
There is an expanding and increasingly complex body of law, regulation and policy (both 

federal and state) relating to the Medicaid and Medicare programs, which is not directly related to 
payments under such programs.  This includes reporting and other technical rules as well as 
broadly stated prohibitions regarding improper inducements for referrals, referrals by physicians 
for designated health services to entities with which the physicians have a prohibited financial 
relationship, and payment of kickbacks in connection with the purchase of goods and services (see 
“Fraud and Abuse Enforcement” above).  Violations of prohibitions against false claims, improper 
inducements and payments, prohibited physician referrals, and illegal kickbacks may result in civil 
and/or criminal sanctions and penalties.  Civil penalties range from monetary fines that may be 
levied on a per-violation basis to temporary or permanent exclusion from the Medicaid and 
Medicare programs.  A determination that any of the facilities of the Obligated Group were in 
violation of these laws could have a material adverse effect on finances of the Obligated Group. 

 
Medicare Reimbursement. Medicare reimbursement to skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”) 

depends on several factors, including the character of the facility, the beneficiary’s circumstances, 
and the type of items and services provided.  Extended care services furnished by SNFs are covered 
only if the patient spent at least three consecutive days as a hospital inpatient prior to admission to 
the SNF and if the patient was admitted to the SNF within thirty (30) days of discharge from a 
qualifying hospital stay.  Medicare Part A covers nursing services furnished by or under the 
supervision of a registered professional nurse, as well as physical, occupational, and speech 
therapy provided by the SNF.  “Ancillary” services furnished to the non-Medicare Part A SNF 
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patients are also covered under Medicare Part B.  SNF services for Medicare Part A inpatient stays 
are reimbursed for up to one hundred (100) days for each spell of illness. Medicare payments are 
subject to coinsurance and deductibles from the patient. 

 
Payments of Medicare patients in SNFs are now based on a Prospective Payment System 

(“PPS”).  Under the PPS, SNFs are paid a single per diem rate per resident according to the 
Resource Utilization Group (“RUG”) to which the patient is assigned.  RUG rates are based on the 
expected resource needs of patients and cover routine services, therapy services, and nursing costs.  
SNF PPS payment rates are adjusted annually based on the skilled nursing facility “market basket” 
index, or the cost of providing SNF services.  There is no guarantee that SNF rates as they may 
change from time to time, will cover the actual costs of providing care to Medicare SNF patients.  

 
The Healthcare Reform Act also required the Secretary of the Department of Health and 

Human Services (“DHHS”) to develop a “value based” purchasing program (based on 
performance and quality measures and other factors) for Medicare payments to skilled nursing 
facilities. DHHS is required to publish the measures selected, including procedures for the public 
to review such data.  The measures, to the extent feasible and practicable, extend to all dimensions 
of quality and efficiency in skilled nursing facilities.  The Secretary is also required to study the 
impact of expanding Medicare’s healthcare acquired conditions reduced payment policy to skilled 
nursing facilities.    The full impact of these provisions is unknown and subsequent laws, 
regulations, and guidance documents with changes to Medicare payments may be issued which 
may provide additional information. 

 
Medicare has also increased its efforts to recover overpayments.  The Centers for Medicare 

and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) is expanding its use of Recovery Audit Contractors (“RACs”) to 
further assure accurate payments to providers.  RACs search for potentially improper Medicare 
payments from prior years that may have been detected through CMS existing program integrity 
efforts.  RACs use their own software and review processes to determine areas for review.  Once 
a RAC identifies a potentially improper claim as a result of an audit, it applies an assessment to 
the provider’s Medicare reimbursement in an amount estimated to equal the overpayment from the 
provider pending resolution of the audit.  Such audits may result in reduced reimbursement for 
past alleged overpayments and may slow future Medicare payments to providers pending 
resolution of appeals process with RACs, as well as increase purported Medicare overpayments 
and associated costs for the Obligated Group Members. 

 
Other future legislation, regulation or actions by the federal government are expected to 

continue the trend toward more restrictive limitations on reimbursement for long term care 
services. At present, no determination can be made concerning whether, or in what form, such 
legislation could be introduced and enacted into law. Similarly, the impact of future cost control 
programs and future regulations upon the financial performance of the Obligated Group Members 
cannot be determined at this time. 

 
The Florida Medicaid Program. AHCA, which administers the State of Florida Medicaid 

program, reimburses operators of SNFs on a per diem rate set by the Medicaid Cost 
Reimbursement Office.  Medicaid is the payer of last resort, and Medicaid reimbursement is not 
available for a resident until all other available third party resources meet their legal obligations to 
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pay claims.  The policies and procedures for reimbursement under the Florida Medicaid program 
are set forth in Florida Title XIX Long-Term Care Reimbursement Plan Version XLV (effective 
July 1, 2017) (the “Plan”).  The per diem rate is determined based on the size, location, and 
allowable costs of the nursing facility.  The federal government requires the state Medicaid rates 
be reasonable and adequate to meet costs incurred by efficiently and economically operated 
nursing facilities to provide service in conformity with state and federal laws, regulations, and 
quality and safety standards. 

 
Under the current Medicaid reimbursement plan, rates in Florida are prospective, 

facility-specific and cost-based, subject to ceilings and set for six-month periods beginning in 
January and July of each year (the rate semesters).  There are six reimbursement classes (based on 
location and size) that are used to determine the ceilings for reimbursement rates.  There are three 
geographical regions:  the northern counties, the central counties and the southern counties.  Size 
categories include small nursing homes (100 or fewer beds) and large nursing homes (greater than 
100 beds).  The reimbursement rate has three components:  patient care, operating costs and 
property costs.  Effective January 1, 2002, the patient care component has a direct care and indirect 
care subcomponent, each with a separate reimbursement rate ceiling.  An additional 
reimbursement is available in the form of an incentive, called a Medicaid Adjustment Rate, which 
is based on the percentage of Medicaid patient days provided at a facility and can equal 4.5% of 
the patient care component.  The direct care subcomponent of patient care costs includes salaries 
and benefits of direct care staff providing nursing services, excluding nursing administrators, care 
plan coordinators and staff coordinators, among others.  Other patient care costs directly 
attributable to nursing services, dietary costs, activity costs, social services costs and all medically 
ordered therapies fall within the indirect care subcomponent.  All other costs, exclusive of property 
costs, are considered operating costs. 

 
Each provider participating in the Florida Medicaid Nursing Home Program is 

required to submit a uniform cost report and related documents no later than three calendar months 
after the close of its cost reporting year.  The cost report is used to determine the SNF’s allowable 
Medicaid costs.  The Medicaid program pays a single level of payment rate for all levels of nursing 
care.  The single per diem rate is based upon each provider’s allowable Medicaid costs divided by 
the Medicaid days from the most recent cost report, subject to the rate setting methodology in the 
Plan.  Reimbursement of patient care and operating costs are limited to class ceilings set forth in 
the Plan, while property costs are paid under the Fair Rental Value System (“FRVS”).  FRVS is 
based on the indexed allowable asset cost and the provider specific interest rate plus actual costs 
of insurance and real estate taxes. 

 
A new provider is required to submit a budgeted cost report with a Medicaid officer 

in order to establish an interim rate for reimbursement during the initial period following a change 
of ownership (the “Initial Period”).  At the election of the new provider, the term of the Initial 
Period can range from six months to eighteen months.  At the conclusion of the Initial Period, an 
initial cost report is filed by the new provider and a settlement will be made for the difference 
between actual costs and the budgeted costs used to establish the initial interim rate.  After the 
Initial Period, Medicaid rates are set prospectively, based on actual costs incurred in the prior 
period, adjusted for inflation. 
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Possible Changes in Tax Status  
 

The possible modification or repeal of certain existing federal income or state tax laws or 
other loss by the Obligated Group Members of the present advantages of certain provisions of the 
federal income or state tax laws could materially and adversely affect the status of the Obligated 
Group Members and thereby the revenues of the Obligated Group.  Each of the Obligated Group 
Members has obtained a letter from the Internal Revenue Service making the determination that it 
is exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code by virtue of being an 
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.  As exempt organizations, the Obligated 
Group Members are subject to a number of requirements affecting their operations.  The failure of 
either of the Obligated Group Members to remain qualified as an exempt organization would affect 
the funds available to Shell Point for payments to be made under the Loan Agreement.  Failure of 
any of the Obligated Group Members or the Issuer to comply with certain requirements of the 
Code, or adoption of amendments to the Code to restrict the use of tax-exempt bonds for facilities 
such as those being financed or refinanced with Bond proceeds, could cause interest on the Bonds 
to be included in the gross income of Bondholders or former Bondholders for federal income tax 
purposes. 

 
It is not possible to predict the scope or effect of future legislative or regulatory actions 

with respect to taxation of nonprofit corporations.  There can be, however, no assurance that future 
changes in the laws and regulations of the federal, state or local governments will not materially 
and adversely affect the operations and revenues of the Obligated Group Members by requiring 
payment of income taxes. 

 
Intermediate Sanctions 

 
On July 31, 1996, the Taxpayers Bill of Rights 2 (the “Taxpayers Act”) was signed into 

law.  The Taxpayers Act provides the IRS with an “intermediate” tax enforcement tool to combat 
violations by tax-exempt organizations of the private inurement prohibition of the Code.  Previous 
to the Taxpayers Act, the IRS could punish such violations only through revocation of an entity’s 
tax-exempt status. 

 
Intermediate sanctions may be imposed where there is an “excess benefit transaction,” 

defined to include a disqualified person (i.e., a director, officer or other related party) (1) engaging 
in a non-fair market value transaction with the tax-exempt organization; (2) receiving excessive 
compensation from the tax-exempt organization; or (3) receiving payment in an arrangement that 
violates the private inurement proscription. 

 
A disqualified person who benefits from an excess benefit transaction will be subject to a 

“first tier” penalty excise tax equal to 25% of the amount of the excess benefit.  Organizational 
managers who participate in an excess benefit transaction knowing it to be improper are subject to 
a first-tier penalty excise tax of 10% of the amount of the excess benefit, subject to a maximum 
penalty of $10,000.  A “second tier” penalty excise tax of 200% of the amount of the excess benefit 
may be imposed on the disqualified person (but not the organizational manager) if the excess 
benefit transaction is not corrected in a specified time period. 
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Other Tax Status Issues 
 

The IRS has also issued Revenue Rulings dealing specifically with the manner in which a 
facility providing residential services to the elderly must operate in order to maintain its exemption 
under Section 501(c)(3).  Revenue Rulings 61-72 and 72-124 hold that, if otherwise qualified, a 
facility providing residential services to the elderly is exempt under Section 501(c)(3) if the 
organization (1) is dedicated to providing, and in fact provides or otherwise makes available 
services for, care and housing to aged individuals who otherwise would be unable to provide for 
themselves without hardship, (2) to the extent of its financial ability, renders services to all or a 
reasonable proportion of its residents at substantially below actual cost, and (3) renders services 
that minister to the needs of the elderly and relieve hardship or distress.  Revenue Ruling 79-18 
holds that a facility providing residential services to the elderly may admit only those tenants who 
are able to pay full rental charges, provided that those charges are set at a level that is within the 
financial reach of a significant segment of the community’s elderly persons, and that the 
organization is committed by established policy to maintaining persons as residents, even if they 
become unable to pay the monthly charges after being admitted to the facility. 

 
No Credit Enhancement on the Bonds 

 
The Bonds are not secured by any letter of credit, insurance policy or other credit 

enhancement and no person is obligated to obtain any such enhancement in the future.  
 

Marketability of the Bonds 
 

There can be no assurance that there will always be a secondary market for the purchase 
and sale of the Bonds, and from time to time there may be no market for them depending upon 
prevailing market conditions, the financial condition or market position of firms who may make 
the secondary market, and the financial condition and results of operations of the Obligated Group 
Members and the Communities.  The Bonds should therefore be considered long-term investments 
in which funds are committed to maturity. 

 
Amendments to Documents 

 
Certain amendments to the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Master Indenture 

may be made without the consent of the registered holders of the Bonds and other amendments 
may be made with the consent of the registered holders of not less than 51% in aggregate principal 
amount of all outstanding Bonds, including the Bonds and any Additional Bonds issued hereafter. 

 
Liquidation of Security May Not be Sufficient in the Event of a Default 

 
The Bond Trustee and the Issuer must look solely to the Gross Revenues, the Mortgaged 

Property and any funds held under the Bond Indenture and the Master Indenture to pay and satisfy 
the Bonds in accordance with their terms.  The Bondholders are dependent upon the success of the 
Communities and the value of the assets of the Obligated Group for the payment of the principal 
of, premium, if any, and interest on, the Bonds.  The Obligated Group Members have not made 
any representations to Bondholders regarding the current market value of the Communities, and 
has not secured an appraisal in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  The Mortgaged 
Property secures all Obligations issued under and pursuant to the Master Indenture. In the event 
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of a default, the value of the Mortgaged Property may be less than the amount of all outstanding 
indebtedness secured by the Obligations outstanding under the Master Indenture, since the 
Communities exist for the narrow use as continuing care retirement communities. In addition, even 
without consideration of the special purpose nature of the facilities, the sale of property at a 
foreclosure sale may not result in the full value of such property being obtained.  The special design 
features of a continuing care facility and the continuing rights of residents under continuing care 
and lease agreements may make it difficult to convert the facilities to other uses, which may have 
the effect of reducing their attractiveness to potential purchasers.  In the event of a default and 
subsequent foreclosure and sale of the Mortgaged Property, Bondholders have no assurance that 
the value of the Mortgaged Property would be sufficient to pay the outstanding principal and 
interest due under the terms of the Bonds.  Accordingly, in the event of foreclosure and sale of the 
Mortgaged Property, Bondholders may not receive all principal and interest due under the terms 
of the Bonds.  

 
Possible Limitations on the Mortgages 

 
The pledge of and security interest in the Gross Revenues and the lien on the Obligated 

Group’s interest in the Mortgaged Property and security interest in the equipment, fixtures and 
personal property, may be limited by the following:  (i) statutory liens; (ii) rights arising in favor 
of the United States of America or any agency thereof; (iii) present or future prohibitions against 
assignment contained in any federal statutes or regulations; (iv) constructive trusts, equitable liens 
or other rights impressed or conferred by any state or federal court in the exercise of its equitable 
jurisdiction; (v) federal bankruptcy or state insolvency laws affecting assignments of revenues 
earned after any effective institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings by or against Shell 
Point or any other Members of the Obligated Group; (vi) rights of third parties in any revenues, 
including revenues converted to cash, not in possession of the Master Trustee; and (vii) the 
requirement that appropriate continuation statements be filed in accordance with the Florida 
Uniform Commercial Code.  

 
If a trustee or lender becomes the mortgagee under the Mortgages pursuant to a foreclosure 

sale or otherwise through the exercise of remedies upon the default of the mortgagor, the rights of 
a resident of any portion of the applicable Mortgaged Property governed by Chapter 651, Florida 
Statutes, under a continuing care agreement, will be honored and will not be disturbed or affected 
(except as described below) as long as the resident continues to comply with all provisions of the 
continuing care agreement and has asserted no claim inconsistent with the rights of the trustee or 
lender.  In such event, the OIR will not exercise its remedial rights provided under Chapter 651 
with respect to the facility, including its right to enjoin disposal of the facility as described in the 
preceding paragraph.  Upon acquisition of a facility by a trustee or lender pursuant to remedies 
under the Mortgage, the OIR will issue a 90-day temporary certificate of authority to operate the 
facility, provided that the trustee or lender will not be required to continue to engage in the 
marketing or resale of new continuing care agreements, pay any refunds of entrance fees otherwise 
required to be paid under a resident’s continuing care agreement until expiration of such 90-day 
period, be responsible for acts or omissions of the operator of the facility arising prior to the 
acquisition of the facility by the trustee or lender, or provide services to the residents to the extent 
that the trustee or lender would be required to advance funds that have not been designated or set 
aside for such purposes. 
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Certain Matters Relating to the Enforceability of the Master Indenture 
 

In determining whether various covenants and tests contained in the Master Indenture 
(including tests relating to the issuance of Additional Indebtedness) are met, the accounts of Shell 
Point, Alliance and any future Obligated Group Members will be combined for financial reporting 
purposes, notwithstanding uncertainties hereinafter described as to the enforceability of certain 
obligations of the Obligated Group contained in the Master Indenture which bear on the 
availability of the revenues of the members of the Obligated Group for payment of debt service on 
the Obligations, including the Series 2019 Master Note pledged as security for the Bonds. 

 
The joint and several obligations described herein of the members of the Obligated Group 

to make payments of debt service on Obligations issued pursuant to and under the Master Indenture 
(including transfers in connection with voluntary dissolution or liquidation) may not be 
enforceable to the extent such payments (a) are requested to be made with respect to payments on 
any Master Note or Obligation which is issued for a purpose that is not consistent with the 
charitable purposes of the Obligated Group Member from which such payment is requested or 
which is issued for the benefit of an entity other than a tax-exempt organization; (b) are requested 
to be made from any property which is donor restricted or which is subject to a direct or express 
trust which does not permit the use of such property for such payment; (c) would result in the 
cessation or discontinuation of any material portion of the health-care or related services 
previously provided by an Obligated Group Member from which such payment is requested (other 
than the member by or for which such Master Note or Obligation was issued); or (d) are requested 
to be made pursuant to any loan violating applicable usury laws.  Due to the absence of any clear 
legal precedent in this area, the extent to which the Property of any present or future member of 
the Obligated Group falls within category (a) referred to above cannot be determined and could be 
substantial. 

 
No Obligated Group Member may be required to make payments on Obligations issued by 

or for the benefit of another Obligated Group Member to the extent any such payment would render 
such Obligated Group Member insolvent or would conflict with, would not be permitted by or 
would be subject to recovery for the benefit of other creditors of such member under applicable 
fraudulent conveyance, bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the 
enforcement of creditors’ rights.  There is no clear precedent in the law as to whether payments by 
an Obligated Group Member in order to pay debt service on Obligations issued by or for the benefit 
of another Obligated Group Member may be voided by a trustee in bankruptcy in the event of a 
bankruptcy of the member or by third party creditors in an action brought pursuant to state 
fraudulent conveyances statutes.  Under the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy 
Code”), a trustee in bankruptcy and, under state fraudulent conveyances statutes, a creditor of a 
related guarantor, may avoid any obligation incurred by a related guarantor, if, among other bases 
therefor, (1) the guarantor has not received fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value in 
exchange for the guaranty and (2) the guaranty renders the guarantor insolvent, as defined in the 
Bankruptcy Code or state fraudulent conveyances statutes, or the guarantor is undercapitalized.  

 
Application by courts of the tests of “insolvency,” “reasonably equivalent value” and “fair 

consideration” has resulted in a conflicting body of case law.  It is possible that, in an action to 
force an Obligated Group Member to pay debt service on Obligations issued by or for the benefit 
of another Obligated Group Member, a court might not enforce such a payment in the event it is 
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determined that such Obligated Group Member is analogous to a guarantor and that fair 
consideration or reasonably equivalent value for such guaranty was not received and that the 
incurrence of such obligation has rendered or will render the Obligated Group Member insolvent 
or the Obligated Group Member is or will thereby become undercapitalized. 

 
Bankruptcy  

 
In the event of the bankruptcy of the Obligated Group Members, the rights and remedies 

of the owners of the Bonds are subject to various provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code.  
If the Obligated Group Members were to commence a proceeding in bankruptcy, payments made 
by the Obligated Group Members during the 90-day (or under certain circumstances one year) 
period immediately preceding such commencement may be voided as preferential transfers to the 
extent such payments allow the recipients thereof to receive more than they would have received 
in the event of the liquidation of the Obligated Group Members.  Security interests and other liens 
granted to the Trustee and perfected during such preference period may also be voided as 
preferential transfers to the extent such security interest or other lien secures obligations that arose 
prior to the date of such perfection.  Such a bankruptcy filing would operate as an automatic stay 
of the commencement or continuation of any judicial or other proceeding against the Obligated 
Group Members and their property, including the property mortgaged pursuant to the Mortgages, 
and as an automatic stay of any act or proceeding to enforce a lien upon or to otherwise exercise 
control over their property as well as various other actions to enforce, maintain or enhance the 
rights of the Trustee.  If the bankruptcy court so ordered, the property of the Obligated Group 
Members could be used for the financial rehabilitation of the Obligated Group Members despite 
any security interest of the Trustee therein.  The rights of the Trustee to enforce its interests and 
other liens could be delayed during the pendency of the rehabilitation proceeding. 

 
The Obligated Group Members could file a plan for the adjustment of their debts in any 

such proceeding which could include provisions modifying or altering the rights of creditors 
generally, or any class of them, secured or unsecured.  The plan, when confirmed by a court, binds 
all creditors who had notice or knowledge of the plan and, with certain exceptions discharges all 
claims against the debtor to the extent provided for in the plan.  No plan may be confirmed unless 
certain conditions are met, among which is that the plan is feasible and shall have been accepted 
by each class of claims impaired thereunder.  Each class of claims has accepted the plan if at least 
two-thirds in dollar amount and more than one-half in number of the class cast votes in its favor.  
Even if the plan is not so accepted, it may be confirmed if the court finds that the plan is fair and 
equitable with respect to each class of non-accepting creditors impaired thereunder and does not 
discriminate unfairly. 

 
In addition, if the bankruptcy court concludes that the Bondholders have “adequate 

protection,” it could under certain circumstances (1) substitute other security for the security 
provided by the Loan Agreement, the Indenture and the Mortgages for the benefit of the 
Bondholders and (2) subordinate the lien and security interest of the Bondholders to (a) claims by 
persons supplying goods and services to the Obligated Group Members after the bankruptcy and 
(b) the administrative expenses of the bankruptcy proceeding.   

 
In the event of bankruptcy of the Obligated Group Members, there is no assurance that 

certain covenants, including tax covenants, contained in the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, 
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the Mortgages and certain other documents would survive.  Accordingly, the Obligated Group 
Members, as debtor in possession, or a bankruptcy trustee could take action that would adversely 
affect the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income of the Owners for federal income 
tax purposes. 

 
If the Obligated Group Members were to file a petition for relief under the federal 

Bankruptcy Code, such filing would constitute an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement, 
permitting the Bond Trustee, under the terms set forth in the Bond Indenture, to accelerate the 
payment of principal and interest on the Bonds. 

 
Environmental Matters 

 
Health care providers are subject to a wide variety of federal, state and local environmental 

and occupational health and safety laws and regulations which address, among other things, health 
care operations, facilities and properties owned or operated by health care providers.  Among the 
type of regulatory requirements faced by health care providers are (a) air and water quality control 
requirements, (b) waste management requirements, including medical waste disposal, (c) specific 
regulatory requirements applicable to asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls and radioactive 
substances, (d) requirements for providing notice to employees and members of the public about 
hazardous materials handled by or located at clinics, (e) requirements for training employees in 
the proper handling and management of hazardous materials and wastes and (f) other requirements. 

 
In its role as the owner and operator of properties or facilities, each of the Obligated Group 

Members may be subject to liability for investigating and remedying any hazardous substances 
that may have migrated off of its property.  Typical health care operations include, but are not 
limited to, in various combinations, the handling, use, storage, transportation, disposal and 
discharge of hazardous, infectious, toxic, radioactive, flammable and other hazardous materials, 
wastes, pollutants or contaminants.  As such, health care operations are particularly susceptible to 
the practical, financial and legal risks associated with compliance with such laws and regulations.  
Such risks may (a) result in damage to individuals, property or the environment, (b) interrupt 
operations and increase their cost, (c) result in legal liability, damages, injunctions or fines and (d) 
result in investigations, administrative proceedings, penalties or other governmental agency 
actions.  There is no assurance that the Obligated Group Members will not encounter such risks in 
the future, and such risks may result in material adverse consequences to the operations or financial 
condition of the Obligated Group Members. 
 

A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (the “Environmental Site Assessment”) was 
completed on approximately ___ acres where an existing automotive service station used by Shell 
Point service vehicles is located (the “Gas Station”).  Johnson Engineering (“Environmental 
Consultant”) performed the Environmental Site Assessment and issued its final report dated May 
__, 2019. The historical sources that were reviewed for the report did not reveal any recognized 
environmental condition (“REC”) relative to the Gas Station. Investigation of the Gas Station and 
surrounding parcels revealed [address the spill/clean-up once we see the report].  [Accordingly, 
the Environmental Consultant concluded that the Gas Station does not currently pose an 
environmental threat to the Community. The Environmental Consultant also concluded that no 
further environmental investigation is necessary].  In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, 
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no other Phase I Environmental Site Assessment has been conducted with respect to the 2019 
Project site or any other portion of the Communities; however, at the present time management of 
the Obligated Group Members is not aware of any pending or threatened claim, investigation or 
enforcement action regarding such environmental issues which, if determined adversely to the 
Obligated Group Members would have a material adverse effect on their operations or financial 
condition. 

Taxation of Interest on the Bonds 
 

Because the existence and continuation of the excludability of the interest on the Bonds 
from federal gross income depends upon events occurring after the date of issuance of the Bonds, 
the opinion of Bond Counsel described under the caption “TAX MATTERS” herein assumes the 
compliance by Shell Point and the Issuer with the provisions of the Code and the regulations 
relating thereto.  No opinion is expressed by Bond Counsel with respect to the excludability of the 
interest on the Bonds in the event of noncompliance with such provisions.  The failure of Shell 
Point or the Issuer to comply with the provisions of the Code and the regulations thereunder may 
cause the interest on the Bonds to become includable in gross income as of the date of issuance.  

 
Construction Risk 

 
The 2019 Project is subject to the risks associated with all construction projects, including, 

but not limited to, delays in the issuance of required building permits or other necessary approvals 
or permits, strikes, terrorism, vandalism, shortages of materials, and adverse weather conditions, 
including hurricanes and tornadoes.  Such events could result in delaying completion occupancy 
of the 2019 Project, potentially increasing the level of expenditures of Shell Point for the 2019 
Project.  Additionally, the 2019 Project may be subject to cost overruns due to change orders and 
other factors.  Is it anticipated that the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds, together with 
investment earnings thereon, will be sufficient to complete the 2019 Project.  However, cost 
overruns for a project of this magnitude are not uncommon due to change orders and other factors. 

 
A construction contract for a guaranteed maximum price, subject to increase based on 

change orders and other events (the “Construction Contract”), has been entered into with Weitz 
Construction (the “Contractor”).  It is anticipated that the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds, 
together with anticipated investment earnings thereon, will be sufficient to complete the 
construction and equipping of the Project based upon the total fixed price to be obtained from the 
Contractor.  However, no assurance can be given that the Project will be completed on time or will 
not exceed the guaranteed maximum price in the Construction Contract due to allowances, change 
orders or other circumstances, or that the Contractor will not default under the Construction 
Contract.  To alleviate this potentially adverse circumstance, the Construction Contract includes 
provisions requiring payment and performance bonds and the payment of liquidated damages in 
the event of construction delays.  See “THE SHELL POINT PROJECT – The Contractor, and –
The Contract” in APPENDIX A hereto. 

 
Senior Management Turnover and Succession Planning 

 
Nonprofit senior living providers nationwide are expecting senior management turnover in 

the next three to ten years which may make it more difficult to retain Members of the Obligated 
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Group’s senior management team or to recruit replacements should any Members of the Obligated 
Group’s management team retire or otherwise cease employment with the Obligated Group. 

 
Other Possible Risk Factors 

 
The occurrence of any of the following events, or other unanticipated events, could 

adversely affect the operations of the Obligated Group Members: 
(1) Reinstatement or establishment of mandatory governmental wage, rent or price 
controls; 

(2) Inability to control increases in operating costs, including salaries, wages and fringe 
benefits, supplies and other expenses, given an inability to obtain corresponding increases 
in revenues from residents whose incomes will largely be fixed; 

(3) Unionization, employee strikes and other adverse labor actions which could result 
in a substantial increase in expenditures without a corresponding increase in revenues; 

(4) Adoption of other federal, state or local legislation or regulations having an adverse 
effect on the future operating or financial performance of the Obligated Group Members; 

(5) The cost and availability of energy; 

(6) Increased unemployment or other adverse economic conditions in the service areas 
of the Obligated Group Members which would increase the proportion of patients who are 
unable to pay fully for the cost of their care; 

(7) Any increase in the quantity of indigent care provided which is mandated by law or 
required due to increased needs of the community in order to maintain the charitable status 
of the Obligated Group Members; 

(8) Inflation or other adverse economic conditions; 

(9) Changes in tax, pension, social security or other laws and regulations affecting the 
provisions of health care and other services to the elderly; 

(10) Inability to control the diminution of patients’ assets or insurance coverage with the 
result that the patients’ charges are reimbursed from government reimbursement programs 
rather than private payments; 

(11) The occurrence of natural disasters, including, but not limited to, hurricane or 
floods or failures of storm water detention devices during such naturally occurring events, 
which may damage the facilities of the Obligated Group Members, interrupt utility service 
to the facilities, or otherwise impair the operation and generation of revenues from said 
facilities; or 

(12) Cost and availability of any insurance, such as malpractice, fire, automobile and 
general comprehensive liability, that organizations such as the Obligated Group Members 
generally carry. 
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FLORIDA REGULATION OF CONTINUING CARE FACILITIES 

 
Continuing care facilities in Florida are regulated by the OIR under the provisions of 

Chapter 651. Under Chapter 651, “continuing care” means furnishing pursuant to an agreement 
shelter, food and either nursing care or certain personal services, whether such nursing care or 
personal services are provided in the facility or in another setting designated by the agreement for 
continuing care, to an individual not related by consanguinity or affinity to the provider furnishing 
such care, upon payment of an entrance fee.  Agreements to provide continuing care include 
agreements to provide care for any duration, including agreements that are terminable by either 
party.  “Personal services” include, but are not limited to, such services as individual assistance 
with or supervision of essential activities of daily living.  “Entrance fee” means an initial or 
deferred payment of a sum of money or property made as full or partial payment for continuing 
care.  An accommodation fee, admission fee, member fee or other fee of similar form and 
application is considered to be an entrance fee. 

 
Certificate of Authority 

 
Chapter 651 provides that no person may engage in the business of providing continuing 

care or enter into continuing care agreements or construct a facility for the purpose of providing 
continuing care without a certificate of authority or provisional certificate of authority issued by 
the OIR.  Each applicant for a certificate of authority must first apply for and obtain a provisional 
certificate of authority.  A final certificate of authority may be issued after the applicant has 
provided the OIR with the information and documents required by Chapter 651.  Shell Point 
received a final certificate of authority as of July 15, 1980 and Alliance received a final certificate 
of authority as of March 31, 1980. 

 
Once issued, a certificate of authority is valid for as long as the OIR determines that the 

provider continues to meet the requirements of Chapter 651.  Annual reports containing financial 
and other information about the provider and the facility are required to be filed with the OIR 
annually on or before  May 1.  If such deficiencies are not corrected within 20 days after the notice 
to the provider, the OIR may institute delinquency proceedings against the provider, as described 
below.  See “Examinations and Delinquency Proceedings” below. 

 
Required Reserves 

 
Chapter 651 requires that each continuing care provider maintain:  (a)  a debt service 

reserve in an amount equal to the principal and interest payments becoming due during the current 
fiscal year (12 months’ interest on the financing if no principal payments are currently due) on any 
mortgage loan or other long term financing, including property taxes; (b) an operating reserve in 
an amount equal to 15% of the facility’s average total annual operating expenses set forth in the 
annual reports filed pursuant to Chapter 651 for the immediate preceding 3-year period, subject to 
adjustment in the event there is a change in the number of facilities owned; and (c) a renewal and 
replacement reserve in an amount equal to 15% of the total accumulated depreciation based on the 
audited financial statements included in the facility’s annual report filed pursuant to Chapter 651, 
not to exceed 15% of the facility’s average operating expenses for the past 3 fiscal years based on 
the audited financial statements for each of such years.  These reserves are required to be held in 
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a segregated escrow account maintained with a Florida bank, savings and loan association or trust 
company acceptable to the OIR and, in the case of the operating reserve, must be in an 
unencumbered account held in escrow for the benefit of the residents.  The 2019 Reserve Account 
established with the Bond Trustee pursuant to the Bond Indenture is intended to meet the 
requirements of Chapter 651 for the requirement described in (a) above. Certain outstanding 
escrow agreements entered into between Shell Point and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 
Company of Florida, N.A. (successor to The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.), as escrow 
agent, and between Alliance and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (successor 
to The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.), as escrow agent, are intended to meet the 
requirements of Chapter 651 for the requirements described in (b) and (c) above. 

 
Chapter 651 requires the escrow agent holding the Required Reserves to deliver to the 

provider quarterly reports on the status of the escrow funds, including balances, deposits and 
disbursements.  Chapter 651 provides that withdrawals can be made from the Required Reserves 
only after ten days’ prior written notice to the OIR, except that in an emergency the provider may 
petition for a waiver of such ten-day notice requirement (a waiver being deemed granted if not 
denied by the OIR within three working days).  Fines may be imposed for failure to deliver the 
quarterly reports or notices of withdrawal within the required time periods. 

 
Continuing Care Agreements and Residents’ Rights 

 
Chapter 651 prescribes certain requirements for continuing care agreements and requires 

OIR approval of the form of an agreement before it is used and of any changes to the terms of an 
agreement once it has been approved.  In addition to requiring that the agreement state the amounts 
payable by the resident, the services to be provided and the health and financial conditions for 
acceptance of a resident, Chapter 651 requires that the agreement may be canceled by giving at 
least 30 days’ written notice of cancellation by the provider, the resident, or the person who 
provided the transfer of property or funds for the care of such resident.  A provider that does not 
give its residents a transferable membership right or ownership interest in the facility may retain 
up to 2% of the entrance fee per month of occupancy prior to cancellation, plus a processing fee 
not exceeding 5% of the entrance fee, and must pay the refund within 90 days after the contract is 
terminated and the unit is vacated.  The Resident Agreements for the Community meet the 
requirements of this provision. 

 
Chapter 651 requires that a prospective resident have the right to cancel, without penalty, 

a continuing care agreement within seven days of signing the continuing care agreement.  During 
this seven-day period, any entrance fee or deposit must be held in escrow or, at the request of the 
prospective resident, held by the provider.  If the prospective resident rescinds the continuing care 
contract during the seven-day rescission period, the entrance fee or deposit must be refunded to 
the prospective resident without deduction.  If cancellation occurs after seven days, but prior to 
occupancy, the entire entrance fee must be refunded, less a processing fee not exceeding 5%, 
within 60 days of notice of cancellation.  However, if cancellation occurs prior to occupancy due 
to death, illness, injury or incapacity of the prospective resident, the entire entrance fee must be 
refunded, less any costs specifically incurred by the provider at the written request of the resident. 
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Chapter 651 further requires that no contract for care shall permit dismissal or discharge of 
a resident from the facility providing care before the expiration of the contract, without just cause 
for such removal.  Failure to pay monthly maintenance fees will not be considered just cause until 
such time as the amounts paid by the resident, plus any benefits under Medicare or third party 
insurance, exceed the cost of caring for the resident, based on the per capita cost to the facility 
(which cost may be adjusted proportionately for amounts paid above the minimum charge for 
above-standard accommodations). 

 
Chapter 651 also contains provisions giving residents the right:  to form residents’ 

organizations and choose representatives; to attend quarterly meetings with the provider; and to 
inspect the provider’s annual reports to the OIR and any examination reports prepared by the OIR 
or any other governmental agencies (except those which are required by law to be kept 
confidential).  In addition, each contract must provide for advance notice to the resident, of at least 
60 days, before any change in fees or charges or the scope of care or services is effective, except 
for changes required by state or federal assistance programs.  Prior to the implementation of any 
increase in the monthly maintenance fee, the provider must provide, at a quarterly meeting of the 
residents, the reasons, by department cost centers, for any increase in the fee that exceeds the most 
recently published Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers, all items, Class A Areas of the 
Southern Region.  Residents must also be notified of any plans filed with the OIR relating to 
expansion of the facility or any additional financing or refinancing. 

 
Examinations and Delinquency Proceedings 

 
The OIR is required to examine the business of each continuing care provider at least once 

every three years, in the same manner as provided under Florida law for examination of insurance 
companies.  Inspections may also be requested by any interested party.  The OIR is required to 
notify the provider of any discrepancies and to set a reasonable time for corrective action and 
compliance by the provider. 

 
The OIR may deny, suspend, or revoke a certificate of authority for various grounds 

relating to:  the insolvent condition of the provider or the provider’s being in a condition which 
renders its conduct of further business hazardous or injurious to the public; lack of one or more of 
the qualifications for a certificate of authority; material misstatements, misrepresentation, fraud, 
misappropriation of moneys or demonstrated lack of fitness or untrustworthiness; violations of 
Chapter 651 or any regulation or order of the OIR; or refusal to permit examination or to furnish 
required information. 

 
Suspension of a certificate of authority may not exceed one year, during which period the 

provider may continue to operate and must file annual reports, but may not issue new continuing 
care agreements.  At the end of the suspension period, the certificate of authority is to be reinstated, 
unless the OIR finds that the causes for suspension have not been removed or that the provider is 
otherwise not in compliance with Chapter 651 (in which event the certificate of authority is deemed 
to have been revoked as of the end of the suspension period or upon failure of the provider to 
continue the certificate during the suspension period, whichever event first occurs.).  In lieu of 
suspension, administrative fines may be levied, not exceeding $1,000 per violation, or $10,000 per 
violation for knowing and willful violations.  
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If the OIR finds that sufficient grounds exist as to a continuing care provider for the 
rehabilitation (i.e., receivership), liquidation, conservation, reorganization, seizure or summary 
proceedings of an insurer as provided under Florida law pertaining to insurance companies, the 
OIR may petition for an appropriate court order or pursue such other relief as is afforded under 
Part I of Chapter 631, Florida Statutes, as amended (the “Insurers Rehabilitation and Liquidation 
Act”), for insurance companies generally.  Such grounds include, but are not limited to, insolvency 
or failure or refusal to comply with OIR’s requirements.   

 
Chapter 651 provides that the rights of the OIR are subordinate to the rights of a trustee or 

lender pursuant to an indenture, loan agreement or mortgage securing bonds issued to finance or 
refinance the facility.  However, if the OIR has been appointed as receiver of the facility, the court 
having jurisdiction over the receivership proceeding is authorized to enjoin a secured creditor from 
seeking to dispose of the collateral securing its mortgage for up to 12 months, upon a showing of 
good cause, such as a showing that the collateral should be retained in order to protect the life, 
health, safety or welfare of the residents or to provide sufficient time for relocation of the residents. 

 
If a trustee or lender becomes the mortgagee under the Mortgages pursuant to a foreclosure 

sale or otherwise through the exercise of remedies upon the default of the mortgagor, the rights of 
a resident of any portion of the applicable Mortgaged Property governed by Chapter 651, under a 
continuing care agreement, shall be honored and shall not be disturbed or affected (except as 
described below) as long as the resident continues to comply with all provisions of the continuing 
care agreement and has asserted no claim inconsistent with the rights of the trustee or lender.  In 
such event, the OIR shall not exercise its remedial rights provided under Chapter 651 with respect 
to the facility, including its right to enjoin disposal of the facility as described in the preceding 
paragraph.  Upon acquisition of a facility by a trustee or lender pursuant to remedies under the 
Mortgages, the OIR shall issue a 90-day temporary certificate of authority to operate the facility, 
provided that the trustee or lender will not be required to continue to engage in the marketing or 
resale of new continuing care agreements, pay any refunds of entrance fees otherwise required to 
be paid under a resident’s continuing care agreement until expiration of such 90-day period, be 
responsible for acts or omissions of the operator of the facility arising prior to the acquisition of 
the facility by the trustee or lender, or provide services to the residents to the extent that the trustee 
or lender would be required to advance funds that have not been designated or set aside for such 
purposes. 

 
 

Pending Legislation 
 

The Florida Legislature has enacted legislation known as House Bill 1033 (“HB 1033”) 
during its 2019 legislative session.  Florida Governor Ron DeSantis is expected to sign HB 1033 
into law.  If the Governor does not sign or veto the legislation within the time period prescribed 
under Florida law, then it will become law without the Governor’s signature.  If HB 1033 becomes 
law, most provisions of HB 1033 will become effective as of January1, 2020. 

HB 1033 provides a number of revisions to Chapter 651 that will impact the regulation of 
continuing care retirement communities (a “CCRC” or “CCRCs”) in Florida, including the 
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Communities.  According to an analysis of HB1033, dated April 22, 2019, prepared by the staff 
of the Florida House of Representatives, these revisions: 

• Improve early warning signs of a CCRC’s solvency issues and provides the OIR 
with administrative tools to address declining financial conditions 

• Remedy various ambiguities exploited in recent years by a distressed CCRC 

• Provide the OIR with authority to disapprove and remove unqualified 
management 

• Impose an express duty on CCRC providers to produce records and give the OIR 
standing to petition a court for production of such records 

• Require that records be maintained in Florida but permit cloud-based storage 

• Clarify that CCRCs must appoint the Florida Chief Financial Officer for service 
of legal process 

• Create a number of new requirements for the provider to give notice to the 
residents or residents’ council 

• Prescribe additional procedures for the handling of resident complaints to keep 
residents better informed 

• Revise minimum liquid reserve requirements, duties of escrow agents, and 
procedures for withdrawals from a CCRC’s reserve funds 

• Amend grounds for suspension or revocation of a CCRC providers’ certificate of 
authority 

• Specify grounds for the issuance of an immediate final order to ceases and desist 
or immediate final order suspending a CCRC providers’ certificate of authority 

• Modify requirements, procedures and prohibitions relating to applications for 
provisional certificates of authority and certificates of authority, and to the OIR’s 
review of such applications 

The Obligor is currently uncertain as to the impact that HB 1033 will have on its operations 
or the Community in future years as the various provisions of HB 1033 become effective. 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 

Financial Reporting 
 

The Master Indenture requires that the Obligated Group Representative provide to each 
Required Information Recipient, the following: 
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Monthly Reporting. If the Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated 
Group for any Fiscal Year is less than 1.00:1 and Days Cash on Hand of the Obligated 
Group is less than the Liquidity Requirement on a Testing Date as provided in the Master 
Indenture, the Obligated Group will deliver (A) monthly financial statements of the 
Obligated Group, including a combined or combining statement of revenues and expenses 
and statement of cash flows of the Obligated Group during such period, and a combined or 
combining balance sheet, (B) a calculation of Days Cash on Hand, and (C) a calculation of 
Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio, each within 45 days of the end of each month until 
the Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated Group is at least 1.00:1 and 
Days Cash on Hand is at least equal to the Liquidity Requirement. 

 

Quarterly Reporting. The following items will be prepared in reasonable detail, 
certified (subject to year-end adjustment) by an officer of the Obligated Group 
Representative, and accompanied by a comparison to the Annual Budget and a 
management’s discussion and analysis of results, if applicable, and delivered as follows: 
(A) Quarterly unaudited financial statements of the Obligated Group as soon as practicable 
after they are available but in no event more than 45 days after the completion of such 
fiscal quarter, including a combined or combining statement of revenues and expenses and 
statement of cash flows of the Obligated Group during such period, a combined or 
combining balance sheet as of the end of each such fiscal quarter, (B) a calculation of Days 
Cash on Hand, (C) a calculation of Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio, and (D) 
statistics for marketing, occupancy and payor mix, for such fiscal quarter (similar, in the 
sole opinion of the Obligated Group Representative, to the statistics typically provided in 
offering documents or disclosure for debt financing of facilities of similar to the Facilities 
of the Obligated Group’s Members from time to time). 

 
Annual Reporting.  Within 150 days of the end of each Fiscal Year, the following 

items will be delivered: 

(i) an annual audited financial report of the Obligated Group prepared by a firm 
of certified public accountants, including a combined and an unaudited combining balance 
sheet as of the end of such Fiscal Year, a combined and an unaudited combining statement 
of cash flows for such Fiscal Year, and a combined and an unaudited combining statement 
of revenues and expenses for such Fiscal Year, showing in each case in comparative form 
the financial figures for the preceding Fiscal Year; 

 
(ii) a separate written statement of the accountants preparing such report 

containing calculations based on the annual audited financial report in (i) above of the 
Obligated Group’s Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio and Days Cash on Hand for 
said Fiscal Year and a statement that such accountants have no knowledge of any event of 
default under the Master Indenture insofar as it relates to accounting matters or to the 
Obligated Group’s Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio or Days Cash on Hand 
covenant, or if such accountants shall have obtained knowledge of any such default or 
defaults, they shall disclose in such statement the default or defaults and the nature thereof;  

 
(iii) an Officer’s Certificate of the Obligated Group Representative (1) stating 

that the Obligated Group is in compliance with all of the terms, provisions and conditions 
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of the Master Indenture, and related loan agreement, and any related bond indenture or, if 
not, specifying all such defaults and the nature thereof, and (2) calculating and certifying 
Days Cash on Hand based on the annual audited financial report in (i) above, the Historical 
Debt Service Coverage Ratio based on the annual audited financial in (i) above and the 
marketing and occupancy statistics (similar to the statistics typically provided in offering 
documents or disclosure for debt financing such Facilities from time to time) as of the end 
of such Fiscal Year; 

 
(iv) a summary of the Obligated Group’s annual operating and capital budget 

for the coming Fiscal Year;  
 
(v) a management’s discussion and analysis of results for such Fiscal Year; and 
 
(v)  the number of stars awarded to the Facilities pursuant to the Centers for 

Medicare and Medicaid Services Five-Star Quality Rating System, or any similar successor 
quality rating system. 

 

Periodic Reporting.  Upon occurrence of the following events the items described 
below will be delivered: 

 
(i) copies of any board approved revisions to the summary of the Annual 

Budget; 
 
(ii) notification that the Obligor has received correspondence from the Internal 

Revenue Service concerning the commencement or conclusion of an audit relating to either 
the status of the Obligor as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or 
to the tax-exempt status of the Bonds, promptly upon receipt of such correspondence;  

 
(iii) to the extent that any Obligated Group Member incur permitted Additional 

Indebtedness of a form for which there is not a CUSIP number (the “non-Public Debt”), 
the Obligated Group Representative will provide a copy of the financing document (with 
non-material information redacted in the sole discretion of the Obligated Group 
Representative) relating to such non-Public Debt and a debt service schedule showing the 
principal and interest associated with each series of the Bonds then outstanding as well as 
the non-Public Debt and the aggregate debt service of the Obligated Group; provided, 
however, to the extent that non-Public Debt is used to construct additional units at the 
Facilities, the Obligated Group Representative will provide monthly reports regarding 
whether the construction of the additional units is (1) within the construction budget and if 
not, a brief explanation and a copy of any revised budget, and (2) on schedule with the 
construction timetable and if not, a brief explanation and a copy of any revised timetable; 

 
(iv) actuarial reports received by an Obligated Group Member; 
 
(v) within 10 days after its receipt thereof, the Obligated Group Representative 

will file with the Required Information Recipients a copy of each Consultant’s final report 
or counsel’s opinion required to be prepared under the terms of the Master Indenture; and 
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(vi) such additional information as the Master Trustee may reasonably request 

concerning any Obligated Group Member in order to enable the Master Trustee to 
determine whether the covenants, terms and provisions of the Master Indenture have been 
complied with by the Obligated Group Members. 

 
 Continuing Disclosure 

 
No financial or operating data concerning the Issuer is material for an evaluation of the 

offering of the Bonds or to any decision to purchase, hold or sell the Bonds and, therefore, such 
information has not been provided.  The Obligated Group has undertaken all responsibility for any 
continuing disclosure to the registered or beneficial owners of the Bonds as described below 
pursuant to the Master Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Continuing Disclosure Agreement 
between Shell Point, as Obligated Group Representative, and U.S. Bank National Association, as 
dissemination agent, dated as of June 1, 2019 (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”), and the 
Issuer shall have no liability to the registered and beneficial owners of the Bonds or any other 
person with respect to Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”).    

 
The Obligated Group, by and through Shell Point, as Obligated Group Representative, has 

covenanted for the benefit of the registered and beneficial owners of the Bonds to provide certain 
annual financial information and operating data relating to the Obligated Group by not later than 
150 days following the end of the Obligated Group’s fiscal year (the “Annual Report”), 
commencing with the report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019, and to provide notice of 
certain enumerated events, if material.  The Annual Report will be filed with the Electronic 
Municipal Market Access System maintained by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board 
(“EMMA”) and the Bond Trustee.  See APPENDIX D hereto.   

 
With respect to its existing continuing disclosure undertakings, the Obligated Group has 

over the past five years been in compliance with the requirements of such agreement in all material 
respects.  

 
The covenants set forth in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement have been made in order 

to assist the Underwriter in complying with the Rule.  Failure to provide such information pursuant 
to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall not constitute a default thereunder; provided, 
however, the Obligated Group has also covenanted in the Master Indenture to provide such annual 
financial information and operating data and additional financial information to the Required 
Information Recipient. See APPENDIX C hereto. 

 
Authorization of and Certification Concerning Official Statement 

 
This Official Statement has been authorized by the Obligated Group.  Concurrently with 

the delivery of the Bonds, the Members of the Obligated Group will furnish their certificates to 
the effect that, to the best of their knowledge, this Official Statement (other than the information 
relating The Depository Trust Company and its book-entry system, including but not limited to 
the information in APPENDIX F hereto and the information in the section entitled 
“UNDERWRITING” herein as to which no opinion is expressed) did not, as of its date and does 
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not as of the date of delivery of the Bonds, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit 
to state a material fact which should be included therein for the purposes for which this Official 
Statement is to be used, or which is necessary in order to make the statements contained herein, in 
light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading. 

 
Disclosure Required By Florida Blue Sky Regulations 

 
Section 517.051 Florida Statutes and Rule 69W-400.003, Florida Administrative Code, 

provide for the exemption from registration of certain governmental securities and require that, if 
an issuer or guarantor of governmental securities has been in default at any time after 
December 31, 1975 as to principal and interest on any obligation issued or guaranteed by it, its 
securities may not be offered or sold in Florida except by means of an offering circular containing 
full and fair disclosure, as prescribed by rules of the Florida Department of Financial Services (the 
“Department of Financial Services”).  Under the rules of the Department of Financial Services, the 
prescribed disclosure is not required if the information is not an appropriate disclosure in that the 
information would not be considered material by a reasonable investor. 

 
As described above, the Issuer has the power to issue bonds for the purpose of financing 

other projects for other borrowers which are payable from the revenues of the particular project or 
borrower.  Revenue bonds issued by the Issuer for other projects may be in default as to principal 
and interest.  The source of payment, however, for any such defaulted bond is separate and distinct 
from the source of payment for the Bonds and, therefore, any default on such bonds would not, in 
the judgment of the Issuer, be considered material by a potential purchaser of the Bonds. 

 
With respect to the Obligated Group, neither member thereof has defaulted in any payment 

of principal or interest after December 31, 1975. 
 

TAX MATTERS  
 

Series 2019 Bonds 

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), includes requirements 
which the Issuer and Shell Point must continue to meet after the issuance of the Bonds in order 
that interest on the Bonds not be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes.  The 
Issuer or Shell Point’s failure to meet these requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to be 
included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to their date of issuance.  The 
Issuer and Shell Point have covenanted in the Indenture and the Loan Agreement to take the actions 
required by the Code in order to maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes of interest on the Bonds. 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, assuming continuing compliance by the Issuer and the 
Shell Point with the tax covenants referred to above, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings 
and court decisions, interest on the Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes.  Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal 
alternative minimum tax. 

Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that the Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt 
from all present intangible personal property taxes imposed pursuant to Chapter 199, Florida 
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Statutes.  Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that the Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt 
from taxation under the laws of the State of Florida, except as to estate taxes and taxes imposed 
by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, on interest, income or profits on debt obligations owned by 
corporations as defined therein. 

As to questions of fact material to the opinion of Bond Counsel, Bond Counsel will rely 
upon representations and covenants made on behalf of the Issuer and the Shell Point in the 
Indenture and the Loan Agreement, certificates of appropriate officers and certificates of public 
officials (including certifications as to the use of proceeds of the Bonds and of the property 
refinanced thereby), without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation. 

Except as described above, Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding the federal 
income tax consequences resulting from the ownership of, receipt or accrual of interest on, or 
disposition of, the Bonds.  Prospective purchasers of Bonds should be aware that the ownership of 
Bonds may result in other collateral federal tax consequences.  For example, ownership of the 
Bonds may result in collateral tax consequences to various types of corporations relating to (1) 
denial of interest deduction to purchase or carry Bonds, (2) the branch profits tax and (3) the 
inclusion of interest on the Bonds in passive income for certain S corporations.  In addition, the 
interest on the Bonds may be included in gross income by recipients of certain Social Security and 
Railroad Retirement benefits. 

PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP, SALE OR DISPOSITION OF THE BONDS AND THE 
RECEIPT OR ACCRUAL OF THE INTEREST THEREON MAY HAVE ADVERSE FEDERAL 
TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR CERTAIN INDIVIDUAL AND CORPORATE 
BONDHOLDERS, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE CONSEQUENCES 
DESCRIBED ABOVE.  PROSPECTIVE BONDHOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH 
THEIR TAX SPECIALISTS FOR INFORMATION IN THAT REGARD. 

Other Tax Matters 
Interest on the Bonds may be subject to state or local income taxation under applicable 

state or local laws in other jurisdictions.  Purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors 
as to the income tax status of interest on the Bonds in their particular state or local jurisdictions. 

During recent years legislative proposals have been introduced in Congress, and in some 
cases enacted, that altered certain federal tax consequences resulting from the ownership of 
obligations that are similar to the Bonds.  In some cases these proposals have contained provisions 
that altered these consequences on a retroactive basis.  Such alteration of federal tax consequences 
may have affected the market value of obligations similar to the Bonds.  From time to time, 
legislative proposals are pending which could have an effect on both the federal tax consequences 
resulting from ownership of the Bonds and their market value.  For example, proposals have been 
discussed in connection with deficit spending reduction, job creation and other tax reform efforts, 
that could significantly reduce the benefit of, or otherwise effect the exclusion from gross income 
of, interest on obligations such as the Bonds.  The further introduction or enactment of one or more 
of such proposals could affect the market price or marketability of the Bonds.  No assurance can 
be given that additional legislative proposals will not be introduced or enacted that would or might 
apply to, or have an adverse effect upon, the Bonds. 
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Original Issue Discount 
 Certain of the Bonds (the "Discount Bonds") may be offered and sold to the public at an 
original issue discount, which is the excess of the principal amount of the Discount Bonds over 
the initial offering price to the public, excluding bond houses, brokers or similar persons or 
organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers, at which price a substantial 
amount of the Discount Bonds of the same maturity was sold.  Original issue discount represents 
interest which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes to the same extent 
as interest on the Bonds.  Original issue discount will accrue over the term of a Discount Bond at 
a constant interest rate compounded semi-annually.  A purchaser who acquires a Discount Bond 
at the initial offering price thereof to the public will be treated as receiving an amount of interest 
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes equal to the original issue discount 
accruing during the period he holds such Discount Bonds and will increase its adjusted basis in 
such Discount Bonds by the amount of such accruing discount for purposes of determining taxable 
gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of such Discount Bonds. The federal income tax 
consequences of the purchase, ownership and prepayment, sale or other disposition of Discount 
Bonds which are not purchased in the initial offering at the initial offering price may be determined 
according to rules which differ from those above.  Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their 
own tax advisors with respect to the precise determination for federal income tax purposes of 
interest accrued upon sale, prepayment or other disposition of such Discount Bonds and with 
respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of such Discount Bonds. 
 
Original Issue Premium 

Certain of the Bonds (the "Premium Bonds") may be offered and sold to the public at a 
price in excess of the principal amount of such Premium Bond, which excess constitutes to an 
initial purchaser amortizable bond premium which is not deductible from gross income for Federal 
income tax purposes.  The amount of amortizable bond premium for a taxable year is determined 
actuarially on a constant interest rate basis over the term of the Premium Bonds which term ends 
on the earlier of the maturity or call date for each Premium Bond which minimizes the yield on 
said Premium Bonds to the purchaser.  For purposes of determining gain or loss on the sale or 
other disposition of a Premium Bonds, an initial purchaser who acquires such obligation in the 
initial offering to the public at the initial offering price is required to decrease such purchaser’s 
adjusted basis in such Premium Bond annually by the amount of amortizable bond premium for 
the taxable year.  The amortization of bond premium may be taken into account as a reduction in 
the amount of tax-exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of 
owning such Premium Bonds.  The federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership 
and sale or other disposition of Premium Bonds which are not purchased in the initial offering at 
the initial offering price may be determined according to rules which differ from those described 
above.  Owners of the Premium Bonds are advised that they should consult with their own advisors 
with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning such Premium Bonds. 

 
RATING 

 
Standard & Poor’s Global Ratings has assigned a rating of “BBB+” (stable outlook) to the 

Bonds.  This rating reflects only the view of such rating agency and will not be a recommendation 
to buy, sell or hold the Bonds.  There is no assurance that the rating will remain for any given 
period of time or that the rating, if obtained, will not be  lowered or withdrawn entirely, if in the 
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judgment of the rating agency that has given such rating circumstances so warrant.  Any such 
downward change in or withdrawal of such rating might have an adverse effect on the market price 
for and marketability of the Bonds.  A further explanation of the significance of the rating may be 
obtained from the rating agency that has assigned the rating. Neither the Issuer, the University, nor 
the Underwriter has undertaken any responsibility to oppose any such revision, suspension or 
withdrawal. 

 
 

UNDERWRITING 
 

The Bonds are being purchased by B.C. Ziegler and Company, as Underwriter (the 
“Underwriter”) for a purchase price of $____________ (representing the principal amount of the 
Bonds less an underwriter’s discount of $________  and [plus/less] an original issue 
[premium/discount] of ________) pursuant to a Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Bond Purchase 
Agreement”), entered into among the Underwriter, the Issuer and Shell Point, as the Obligated 
Group Representative.  The Obligated Group will indemnify the Underwriter and the Issuer against 
certain losses, claims, damages and liabilities arising out of any incorrect statement or information 
contained in or information omitted from this Official Statement.  The initial public offering price 
set forth on the inside cover page hereof may be changed by the Underwriter and the Underwriter 
may offer to sell the Bonds to certain dealers and others at prices lower than such offering 
price.  The Bond Purchase Agreement provides that the Underwriter will purchase all of the Bonds 
if any Bonds are purchased. 

 
LEGAL MATTERS 

 
Legal matters incident to the issuance of the Bonds and with regard to the tax-exempt status 

of the interest on the Bonds (see “TAX MATTERS”) are subject to the legal opinion of Nabors, 
Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., Tampa, Florida, whose legal services as Bond Counsel have been 
retained by the Issuer.  The signed legal opinion, dated and premised on law in effect as of the date 
of original delivery of the Bonds, will be delivered to the Issuer and the Underwriter at the time of 
original delivery. 

 
The proposed text of the legal opinion of Bond Counsel is set forth in APPENDIX E hereto.  

The actual legal opinion to be delivered may vary from that text if necessary to reflect facts and 
law on the date of delivery.  The opinion will speak only as of its date, and subsequent distribution 
of it by recirculation of this Official Statement or otherwise shall create no implication that Bond 
Counsel has reviewed or expresses any opinion concerning any of the matters referenced in the 
opinion subsequent to its date. 

 
Bond Counsel has not been engaged to, nor has it undertaken to, review the accuracy, 

completeness or sufficiency of this Official Statement or any other offering material relating to the 
Bonds; provided, however, that Bond Counsel will render opinions to the Underwriter (upon which 
opinions only the Underwriter may rely) relating to the accuracy of certain summaries of the Act, 
the Code and the financing documents herein.   
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Certain legal matters will be passed upon for Shell Point and Alliance by their special 
counsel, Holland & Knight LLP, Lakeland, Florida, for the Issuer by Knott Ebelini Hart, Fort 
Myers, Florida, and for the Underwriter by Foley & Lardner LLP, Jacksonville, Florida.   

 
The legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds express the 

professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinions regarding the legal issues expressly 
addressed therein.  By rendering a legal opinion, the opinion giver does not become an insurer or 
guarantor of the result indicated by that expression of professional judgment of the transaction on 
which the opinion is rendered or of the future performance of the parties to the transaction, nor 
does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of 
the transaction. 

 
LITIGATION 

 
The Issuer 

 
There is no litigation pending against the Issuer seeking to restrain or enjoin the purchase 

of the Bonds or delivery of said Bonds or questioning or affecting the legality of the Bonds or the 
proceedings of the Issuer and the authority under which the Bonds are to be issued.  There is no 
litigation pending against the Issuer which in any manner questions the right of the Issuer to enter 
into the Bond Indenture or the Loan Agreement, to assign its rights under the Loan Agreement to 
the Bond Trustee or to issue the Bonds. 

 
The Obligated Group 

 
There is no litigation pending that in any manner questions the right of the Obligated Group 

Members to operate the Communities.  There is no litigation pending which in any manner 
questions the right of the Obligated Group Members to enter into the Master Indenture or the 
Mortgages, or the right of the Obligated Group Members to enter into the Loan Agreement.  In 
addition, there is no litigation pending or, to knowledge of the Obligated Group Members, 
threatened against the Obligated Group Members, wherein an unfavorable decision would 
adversely affect the ability of the Obligated Group to carry out its obligations under the Loan 
Agreement, the Master Indenture or the Mortgages or would have a material adverse effect on the 
operations or financial position of the Obligated Group Members. 

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The consolidated financials of Shell Point, which include the operations of Alliance, as of 
June 30, 2016, 2017 and 2018 and the years then ended, have been audited by BKD, LLP, 
independent auditor (the “Auditor”).  The report of the Auditor, together with the consolidated 
financial statements and notes to the financial statements for the Fiscal Years ended June 30. 2016, 
2017 and 2018 are attached hereto as APPENDIX B to this Official Statement.   

 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Any statements herein involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are 
intended as such and not as representations of fact. 
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The foregoing and the following excerpts of provisions of the Bonds, the Bond Indenture, 

the Master Indenture, the Series 2019 Master Note, the Mortgages, the Loan Agreement, and all 
references to other materials not purporting to be quoted in full are only brief outlines of some of 
the provisions thereof and do not purport to summarize or describe all of the provisions thereof.  
For a complete statement of the provisions of the Bonds, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, 
the Master Indenture, the Mortgages and the Series 2019 Master Note, reference is made to the 
documents in their entireties.  Until the issuance and delivery of the Bonds, copies of drafts of the 
documents described herein may be obtained from the Underwriter.  After delivery of the Bonds, 
copies of the executed documents will be on file for inspection at the corporate trust office of the 
Bond Trustee.  
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The Issuer has authorized the distribution of this Official Statement. 
THE CHRISTIAN AND MISSIONARY 
 ALLIANCE FOUNDATION, INC. 
 
 
By:         
       Vice President of Finance and Chief 

Financial Officer 
 

THE ALLIANCE COMMUNITY FOR 
 RETIREMENT LIVING, INC. 
 
 
By:         
      Vice President of Finance and Chief 
     Financial Officer 
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Appendix A 
 

The Obligated Group and the Communities 
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Appendix B 
 

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of 
The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. 

d/b/a Shell Point for the Years ended June 30, 2016, 2017 and 2018 
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Appendix C 
 

Definitions and Excerpted Provisions of the Bond Indenture, Loan Agreement, Mortgages 
and Master Trust Indenture 
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Appendix D 
 

Form of Continuing Disclosure Agreement 
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Appendix E 
 

Form of Bond Counsel Opinion
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Appendix F 
 

Book-Entry Only System 
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FORM OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

126



 

1 
4838-1998-1716.3 

LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
HEALTHCARE FACILITIES IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2019 

(SHELL POINT/ALLIANCE OBLIGATED GROUP)  
(SHELL POINT PROJECT) 

 
JUNE __, 2019 

 
BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

Lee County Industrial Development Authority 
Fort Myers, Florida 

The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc.,  
   d/b/a Shell Point  
Fort Myers, Florida 

To the Addressees: 

The undersigned, B.C. Ziegler and Company (the “Underwriter”), being duly authorized, 
hereby offers to enter into this Bond Purchase Agreement (this “Purchase Agreement”) with the 
Lee County Industrial Development Authority (the “Issuer”) and The Christian and Missionary 
Alliance Foundation, Inc., d/b/a Shell Point (the “Company”), as Obligated Group Representative 
(as defined under the Amended and Restated Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2016 
(the “Master Indenture”) among the Company and The Alliance Community for Retirement 
Living, Inc. (“Alliance”), as members of the obligated group (the “Obligated Group”), and U.S. 
Bank National Association, as master trustee (the “Master Trustee”)), for the purchase by the 
Underwriter and the sale by the Issuer of the Bonds referred to in Section 1 hereof.  This offer is 
made subject to acceptance by the Issuer and the Company, as Obligated Group Representative, 
of this Purchase Agreement, which acceptance shall be evidenced by the execution of this Purchase 
Agreement by duly authorized officers of the respective parties prior to 1:00 P.M., Eastern Time 
on _______, 2019.  Upon such acceptance, execution and delivery, this Purchase Agreement shall 
be in full force and effect in accordance with its terms and shall be binding upon the Issuer, the 
Company, as Obligated Group Representative, and the Underwriter.  Capitalized terms used 
herein, but not otherwise defined herein, shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture 
or in the Preliminary and Final Official Statements referred to in Section 2 hereof. 

1. Purchase and Sale.  Upon the terms and conditions and based on the representations, 
warranties and covenants hereinafter set forth, the Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase from the 
Issuer, and the Issuer hereby agrees to sell to the Underwriter, all (but not less than all) of 
$____________ in aggregate principal amount of Lee County Industrial Development Authority 
Healthcare Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated 
Group) (Shell Point Project) (the “Bonds”), at the purchase price of $____________ (which 
represents the par amount of the Bonds less underwriter’s discount of $____________  [plus/less] 
original issue [premium/discount] of $____________). 
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2. Authorizing Instruments.  The Bonds shall be as described in, and shall be 
authorized by a resolution adopted by the Issuer on June __, 2019 (the “Resolution”).  The Bonds 
shall be issued and secured under and pursuant to a Bond Trust Indenture dated as of June 1, 2019 
(the “Indenture”), between the Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association, as bond trustee (in such 
capacity, the “Bond Trustee”), and shall be payable from the Trust Estate (as defined in the 
Indenture), including the revenues derived by the Issuer under a Loan Agreement dated as of June 
1, 2019 (the “Loan Agreement”), between the Issuer and the Company.  The Company, as 
Obligated Group Representative, will evidence its obligations with respect to the Bonds by issuing 
a Master Note, Series 2019 (Lee County Industrial Development Authority) (the “Series 2019 
Master Note”) pursuant to Supplement No. 20 dated as of June 1, 2019 (the “Supplement”) to the 
Master Indenture.   

Notes under the Master Indenture are secured by a security interest in certain revenues, a 
Mortgage and Security Agreement dated as of April 1, 1999, between the Company and the Master 
Trustee, as supplemented, particularly as supplemented by an Eleventh Supplemental Mortgage 
and Security Agreement dated as of June __, 2019, relating to certain property of the Company 
(the “Eleventh Supplemental Shell Point Mortgage” and collectively, the “Shell Point Mortgage”), 
and a Mortgage and Security Agreement dated as of April 1, 1999, between Alliance and the 
Master Trustee, as supplemented, particularly as supplemented by a Eleventh Supplemental 
Mortgage and Security Agreement dated as of June __, 2019, relating to certain property of 
Alliance (the “Eleventh Supplemental Alliance Mortgage” and collectively, the “Alliance 
Mortgage”).  The Shell Point Mortgage and the Alliance Mortgage are collectively hereinafter 
referred to as the “Mortgages.” 

The Bonds shall be dated the Closing Date (as defined in Section 9) and shall have the 
terms specified in the Preliminary Official Statement dated May __, 2019 (the “Preliminary 
Official Statement”) and the Final Official Statement dated June __, 2019, as the same may be 
amended or supplemented (the “Final Official Statement”), including the maturities and interest 
rates set forth in Exhibit A annexed hereto.  The Bonds shall be subject to redemption as described 
in Exhibit B hereto.   

3. Public Offering of Bonds.  The Underwriter agrees to make a bona fide public 
offering of the Bonds, solely pursuant to the Preliminary Official Statement and the Final Official 
Statement at the initial offering prices set forth on the inside cover page of the Final Official 
Statement, reserving, however, the rights to (i) change such initial offering prices as the 
Underwriter shall deem necessary in connection with the marketing of the Bonds and (ii) offer and 
sell the Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers depositing the Bonds into investment trusts) at 
concessions to be determined by the Underwriter.  The Underwriter also reserves the right to over-
allot or effect transactions that stabilize or maintain the market prices of the Bonds at levels above 
that which might otherwise prevail in the open market and to discontinue such stabilizing, if 
commenced, at any time.  

The Issuer and the Company, as the Obligated Group Representative, acknowledge 
and agree that (i) the purchase and sale of the Bonds pursuant to this Purchase Agreement is an 
arm’s length commercial transaction between the Issuer and the Underwriter; (ii) in connection 
with such transaction, the Underwriter is acting solely as a principal and not as an agent or fiduciary 
of the issuer or the Obligated Group; (iii) the Underwriter has not assumed a fiduciary 
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responsibility in favor of the Issuer or the Obligated Group with respect to the  offering of the 
Bonds or the process leading thereto (whether or not the Underwriter, or any affiliate of the 
Underwriter, has advised or is currently advising the Issuer or any Member of the Obligated Group 
on other matters) nor has it assumed any other obligation to the Issuer or any Member of the 
Obligated Group except the obligations expressly set forth in this Purchase Agreement; (iv) the 
Underwriter has financial and other interests that differ from those of the Issuer and the Members 
of the Obligated Group; and (v) the Issuer and the Company, as the Obligated Group 
Representative, have consulted with their own legal and financial advisors to the extent they have 
deemed appropriate in connection with the offering of the Bonds. 

4. Use of Proceeds.  The proceeds to be received by the Issuer from the sale of the 
Bonds will be loaned to the Company pursuant to the Loan Agreement for the purpose of (i) 
financing and refinancing a portion of the costs (including reimbursement for prior related 
expenditures) relating to the acquisition, construction and equipping of a six-story health center to 
be known as the Waterside Health Center, which will provide approximately 180 skilled nursing 
beds, comprised of approximately 162 private rooms and nine companion rooms, and including a 
medical clinic, physical therapy, dental and pharmacy facilities, multi-purpose meeting rooms, 
administrative offices, kitchen related amenities; and the acquisition, construction and equipping 
of various capital improvements to the existing senior living facilities of the Obligated Group as 
part of its capital improvement program located at Shell Point Retirement Community in Fort 
Myers, Florida (the “2019 Project”), (ii) capitalizing interest on the Bonds for 24 months, (iii) 
funding any necessary reserves, and (iv) paying costs related to issuance of the Bonds.  

5. Preliminary and Final Official Statements.   

(a) The Issuer and the Company have caused to be prepared, and the Issuer and 
the Company hereby confirm that they have heretofore made available to the Underwriter 
the Preliminary Official Statement.  The Company agrees to deliver to the Underwriter, at 
such address as the Underwriter shall specify, as many copies of the Final Official 
Statement as the Underwriter shall reasonably request as necessary to comply with 
paragraph (b)(4) of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Rule”) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “1934 Act”) and with Rule 
G 32 and all other applicable rules of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. The 
Company agrees to deliver such Final Official Statement within seven business days after 
the execution hereof.  It is understood that, in undertaking to deliver a Final Official 
Statement pursuant to this subparagraph (a), the Issuer is not undertaking any responsibility 
for the accuracy or completeness of the information in the Final Official Statement except 
for the information contained under the captions “THE ISSUER, “LITIGATION – The 
Issuer” and “FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CONTINUING DISCLOSURE – 
Disclosure Required By Florida Blue Sky Regulations.” 

(b) The Issuer and Company by their acceptance hereof, ratify and approve the 
Preliminary Official Statement as of its date and authorize and approve the Final Official 
Statement (the Final Official Statement and any amendments or supplements that may be 
authorized for use with respect to the Bonds are herein referred to collectively as the 
“Official Statement”), consent to their distribution and use by the Underwriter and 
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authorize the execution of the Final Official Statement by a duly authorized officer of the 
Company. 

(c) The Underwriter shall give notice to the Issuer on the date after which no 
participating underwriter, as such term is defined in the Rule, remains obligated to deliver 
Final Official Statements pursuant to paragraph (b)(4) of the Rule (which date shall be 
deemed to be the Closing Date (as defined herein) unless the Underwriter otherwise notifies 
the Issuer and the Borrower on the Closing Date). 

6. Disclosure.  As of the date hereof, the Underwriter has filed with the Issuer a 
disclosure and truth-in-bonding statement attached hereto as Exhibit C, pursuant to Section 
218.385, Florida Statutes, as amended. 

7. Agreed Upon Procedures and Auditor Consents. 

(a) On or prior to the date of the Preliminary Official Statement, there has been 
delivered to the Underwriter (i) a letter of BKD, LLP, with agreed upon procedures performed to 
a dated not more than five (5) business days prior to the date thereof (the “Agreed Upon Procedures 
Letter”) and (ii) a letter from BKD, LLP, consenting to the inclusion of their report on the 
Obligated Group’s audited consolidated financial statements and to references to them under the 
heading “FINANCIAL STATEMENTS” in the Preliminary Official Statement. 

(a) Within three (3) business days prior to the printing of the Official Statement, 
there shall be delivered to the Underwriter (i) a letter of BKD, LLP, to the effect that such 
accountants reaffirm the statements given in the Agreed Upon Procedures Letter and (ii) a letter 
from BKD, LLP, consenting to the inclusion of their report on the Obligated Group’s audited 
consolidated financial statements and to references to them under the heading “FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS” in the Official Statement. 

8. Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Issuer.  The Issuer hereby 
represents, warrants and covenants to the Underwriter as follows: 

(a) The Issuer is a public body corporate and politic created under and existing 
pursuant to the laws of the State of Florida. 

(b) The Issuer is authorized under the laws of the State of Florida (i) to issue 
the Bonds for the purposes described in Section 4 hereof; (ii) to pledge the Trust Estate to 
the Bond Trustee under and pursuant to the Indenture, for the benefit of the owners of the 
Bonds; (iii) to execute and deliver this Purchase Agreement, the Bonds, the Indenture and 
the Loan Agreement; and (iv) to carry out and consummate all of the transactions 
contemplated on its part by this Purchase Agreement, the Resolution, the Bonds, the 
Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Preliminary and Final Official Statements. 

(c) The information relating to the Issuer under the captions “THE ISSUER,” 
“LITIGATION – The Issuer” and “FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE – Disclosure Required By Florida Blue Sky Regulations” contained in the 
Preliminary Official Statement is, and as of the date of closing such information in the 
Final Official Statement will be, true and correct in all material respects, and the 
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Preliminary Official Statement does not and the Final Official Statement will not contain 
any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact relating to the Issuer or omit to state 
any material fact relating to the Issuer necessary to make the statements therein, in the light 
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. It is understood and 
agreed to by the parties hereto that the Issuer’s representations with respect to the 
information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Final Official 
Statement is limited to the information contained under the captions “THE ISSUER,” 
“LITIGATION – The Issuer” and “FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE – Disclosure Required By Florida Blue Sky Regulations.” 

(d) If, at any time prior to the earlier of (i) receipt of notice from the Underwriter 
pursuant to Section 5(c) hereof that the Final Official Statement is no longer required to be 
delivered under the Rule or (ii) 90 days after the Closing, any event occurs with respect to 
the Issuer as a result of which the Preliminary Official Statement or the Final Official 
Statement as then amended or supplemented might include an untrue statement of a 
material fact, or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, the Issuer shall 
promptly notify the Underwriter in writing of such event.  Any information supplied by the 
Issuer for inclusion in any amendments or supplements to the Preliminary Official 
Statement or Final Official Statement will not contain any untrue or misleading statement 
of a material fact relating to the Issuer or omit to state any material fact relating to the 
Issuer necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading. 

(e) The Issuer has duly adopted the Resolution and has duly authorized all 
actions required to be taken by it for (i) the issuance and sale of the Bonds upon the terms 
set forth herein and in the Indenture; (ii) the execution, delivery and due performance of 
this Purchase Agreement, the Bonds, the Indenture and the Loan Agreement; and (iii) the 
delivery of the Preliminary and Final Official Statements, and any and all such other 
agreements and documents as may be required to be executed, delivered, or performed by 
the Issuer in order to carry out, give effect to and consummate the transactions 
contemplated on its part hereby and by each of the aforesaid documents. 

(f) Except as may be described in the Preliminary and Final Official 
Statements, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, 
before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, 
threatened against or affecting the Issuer (or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any 
meritorious basis therefor) (i) attempting to limit, enjoin or otherwise restrict or prevent 
the Issuer from functioning or contesting or questioning the existence of the Issuer or the 
titles of the present officers of the Issuer to their offices or (ii) wherein an unfavorable 
decision, ruling or finding would (A) adversely affect the existence or powers of the Issuer 
or the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, this 
Purchase Agreement or any agreement or instrument to which the Issuer is a party and 
which is used or contemplated for use in the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby including, without limitation, the documents described in (B) below 
or by the aforesaid documents; or (B) materially adversely affect (i) the transactions 
contemplated by this Purchase Agreement, the Resolution, the Bonds, the Indenture, the 
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Loan Agreement or the Preliminary and Final Official Statements; or (ii) the exemption of 
the interest on the Bonds from federal income taxation. 

(g) The adoption by the Issuer of the Resolution and the execution and delivery 
by the Issuer of this Purchase Agreement, the Bonds, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement 
and the other documents contemplated hereby and by the Preliminary and Final Official 
Statements, and the compliance with the provisions thereof, will not conflict with or 
constitute on the part of the Issuer a violation of, breach of or default under (i) any 
constitutional provision, statute, indenture, mortgage, lease, resolution, note, agreement or 
other agreement or instrument to which the Issuer is a party or by which the Issuer is bound; 
or (ii) any order, rule or regulation of any court or governmental agency or body having 
jurisdiction over the Issuer or any of its properties. 

(h) The Issuer is not in breach of or in default under the Resolution, the 
Indenture, the Loan Agreement, any applicable law or administrative regulation of the State 
of Florida or the United States of America, or any applicable judgment or decree, or any 
loan agreement, note, resolution or other agreement or instrument to which the Issuer is a 
party or is otherwise subject, which breach or default would in any way materially 
adversely affect the authorization or issuance of the Bonds and the transactions 
contemplated hereby, and no event has occurred and is continuing which, with the passage 
of time or the giving of notice or both, would constitute such a breach or default. 

(i) All consents, approvals, authorizations and orders of governmental or 
regulatory authorities, if any, that are required to be obtained by the Issuer in connection 
with the issuance and sale of the Bonds, the execution and delivery of this Purchase 
Agreement, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Purchase 
Agreement, the Resolution, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Preliminary and 
Final Official Statements have been duly obtained and remain in full force and effect, 
except that no representation is made as to compliance with any applicable state securities 
or “Blue Sky” laws or as to any approvals or consents relating to the Project. 

(j) Neither the Issuer nor anyone acting on its behalf has, directly or indirectly, 
offered the Bonds for sale to, or solicited any offer to buy the same from, anyone other than 
the Underwriter. 

(k) The Preliminary and Final Official Statements have been duly authorized 
by the Issuer, and the Issuer has consented to the use of the Preliminary and Final Official 
Statements by the Underwriter in connection with the offering of the Bonds. 

(l) Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities 
commission has issued or, to the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, threatened to issue, any 
order preventing or suspending the use of the Preliminary Official Statement or of the Final 
Official Statement. 

(m) Any certificate signed by an authorized officer of the Issuer delivered to the 
Underwriter shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Issuer to the Underwriter 
as to the statements made therein. 
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(n) The Issuer, as a conduit issuer, issues its bonds as limited obligations of the 
Issuer, payable solely from payments to be made by the respective non-governmental 
entities which use or own the projects financed.  Some bonds issued by the Issuer may have 
been, and may continue to be, in default, but to the best knowledge of the Issuer, the 
borrowers under the related loan or lease agreements are unrelated to the Company and 
other Members of the Obligated Group, if any.  To the best knowledge of the Issuer, the 
Issuer has not been in default as to principal or interest at any time after December 31, 
1975, as to any debt obligations relating to the Company or any other member of the 
Obligated Group. 

(o) This Purchase Agreement, the Indenture and the Loan Agreement are in the 
forms approved by the Issuer and upon the execution and delivery thereof, each will 
constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Issuer, enforceable in accordance 
with its terms (subject in each case to principles of equity, regardless of whether 
proceedings for enforcement be of a legal or equitable nature, and to any applicable 
bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other laws affecting the 
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally from time to time in effect). 

(p) The Bonds will be duly authorized, executed, authenticated, issued and 
delivered and will constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Issuer and are 
entitled to the benefits and security of the Indenture (subject to principles of equity, 
regardless of whether proceedings for enforcement be of a legal or equitable nature, and 
any applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other laws affecting 
the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally from time to time in effect). 

(q) The Bonds will be limited obligations of the Issuer, payable from and 
secured by the Trust Estate, including the moneys derived by the Issuer from the Company 
pursuant to the Loan Agreement, and will not constitute an obligation or debt of Lee County 
or the State of Florida, or any political subdivision thereof, and neither the faith nor credit 
of Lee County or the State of Florida, or any political subdivision thereof, is pledged to the 
payment of the Bonds. 

(r) The Issuer has and will cooperate with the Underwriter and its counsel in 
any endeavor to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or “Blue Sky” 
laws of such jurisdictions of the United States of America as the Underwriter may request; 
provided, however, that the Issuer will not be required to pay any expenses or costs 
(including but not limited to legal fees) incurred in connection with such qualification or 
to qualify as a foreign corporation or to file any general or special consent to service of 
process under the laws of any state or other jurisdictions of the United States. 

9. Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Company, as Obligated Group 
Representative.  In order to induce the Underwriter to enter into this Purchase Agreement and in 
order to induce the Issuer to enter into the Loan Agreement and this Purchase Agreement, the 
Company, on behalf of itself and as the Obligated Group Representative, represents, warrants and 
covenants to the Underwriter and the Issuer as follows: 

133



 

8 
4838-1998-1716.3 

(a) The Company and Alliance are each not for profit corporations duly 
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Florida and 
are each qualified to transact business as a corporation in good standing under the laws of 
the State of Florida. 

(b) The Company is authorized under the laws of the State of Florida to carry 
out and consummate all of the transactions contemplated on its part by this Purchase 
Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, the Series 2019 Master Note, the 
Supplement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate and the Shell Point Mortgage, with 
respect to the proceeds of the Bonds (collectively, the “Company Documents”); and 
Alliance is authorized under the laws of the State of Florida to carry out and consummate 
all of the transactions contemplated on its part by the Master Indenture and the Alliance 
Mortgage. 

(c) The Company and Alliance have each been determined to be and each is 
exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the “Code”) by virtue of being an organization described in Section 
501(c)(3) of the Code, is not a “private foundation” as defined in Section 509(a) of the 
Code and is exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code, with 
the exception of any taxation deemed to be unrelated business taxable income and with the 
exception of any amounts deemed taxable by virtue of Section 527(f) of the Code.  The 
Company and Alliance (i) have not impaired their status as organizations exempt from 
federal income taxes under the Code, (ii) are in compliance with the provisions of the Code 
and any applicable regulations thereunder necessary to maintain such status, (iii) are 
organized and operated exclusively for charitable, educational or benevolent purposes and 
not for pecuniary profit, and (iv) are organized and operated such that no part of the net 
earnings of the Company or Alliance, respectively, will inure to the benefit of any private 
shareholder or individual. 

(d) The Company and Alliance (i) agree to file annual returns of an exempt 
organization on Form 990 for each fiscal year as required by law; and (ii) are not currently 
and do not expect to be the subject of any claim by the IRS that their operations or activities 
constitute a trade or business that, within the meaning of Section 513 of the Code, is 
unrelated to health care purposes for which the Company and Alliance are organized and 
operated. 

(e) The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority (i) to 
conduct its business and operate all of its properties and facilities, including the Project and 
Shell Point Retirement Community; (ii) to execute and deliver the Company Documents 
and to perform its obligations under the Company Documents; and (iii) to carry out and 
consummate all the transactions contemplated on its part by the Company Documents and 
the Preliminary and Final Official Statements. 

(f) The information relating to the Company and Alliance and their respective 
properties contained in the Preliminary Official Statement is, and as of the date of closing 
such information in the Final Official Statement will be, true and correct in all material 
respects, and the Preliminary Official Statement does not and the Final Official Statement 
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will not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact relating to the 
Company or Alliance or omit to state any material fact relating to the Company of Alliance 
necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which 
they were made, not misleading. 

(g) The Company has duly authorized all actions required to be taken by it for 
the execution and delivery of the Company Documents, and due performance of the 
Company Documents. 

(h) Alliance has duly authorized all actions required to be taken by it for the 
due performance of the Master Indenture, the Eleventh Supplemental Alliance Mortgage 
and the Alliance Mortgage, and any and all such other agreements and documents as may 
be required to be performed by Alliance in order to carry out, give effect to and 
consummate the transactions contemplated on its part hereby and by each of the aforesaid 
documents. 

(i) The Loan Agreement, the Series 2019 Master Note, the Supplement, and 
the Eleventh Supplemental Shell Point Mortgage are in the forms approved by the 
Company and upon the execution and delivery thereof, each will constitute the valid and 
legally binding obligation of the Company, enforceable in accordance with its terms 
(subject in each case to usual principles of equity and to any applicable bankruptcy, 
reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other laws affecting the enforcement of 
creditors’ rights generally from time to time in effect). 

(j) Alliance has all necessary corporate power and authority (i) to conduct its 
business and operate all of its properties and facilities; (ii) to perform its obligations under 
the Master Indenture and the Alliance Mortgage; and (iii) to carry out and consummate all 
the transactions contemplated on its part by the Master Indenture, the Eleventh 
Supplemental Alliance Mortgage and the Alliance Mortgage. 

(k) The Company will apply the moneys loaned by the Issuer from the proceeds 
of the sale of the Bonds as specified in the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Preliminary 
and Final Official Statements and this Purchase Agreement. 

(l) Except as described in the Preliminary and Final Official Statements, there 
is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any 
court, public board or body, pending (as to which the Company has received notice or 
service of process) or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against or affecting 
either Obligated Group Member (or, to the knowledge of the Company, any meritorious 
basis therefor) (i) attempting to limit, enjoin or otherwise restrict or prevent any Obligated 
Group from functioning, or contesting or questioning the existence of the Company or the 
titles of the current officers of any of the Obligated Group Members to their offices or 
(ii) wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect (A) the 
existence or powers of the Obligated Group Members; (B) the financial position of the 
Obligated Group Members; (C) the tax-exempt status of the Obligated Group Members 
under Sections 501(a) and 501(c)(3) of the Code; (D) the transactions contemplated hereby 
or by the documents referred to in (E) immediately below; (E) the validity or enforceability 
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of the Bonds, the Indenture, Company Documents, the Alliance Mortgage or any 
agreement or instrument to which any of the Obligated Group Members are a party and 
which is used or contemplated for use in the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby or by the aforesaid documents; or (F) the exclusion of the interest on 
the Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation. 

(m) The execution and delivery by the Company of the Company Documents 
and the other documents contemplated hereby and by the Preliminary and Final Official 
Statements, and the compliance by the Company with the provisions thereof, do not 
conflict with or constitute on the part of the Company a violation of, breach of or default 
under (i) its Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or any other governing instruments; (ii)  any 
constitutional provision, statute, indenture, mortgage, lease, resolution, note, agreement or 
instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound; or (iii) any order, rule or regulation 
of any court or governmental agency or body having jurisdiction over the Company or any 
of its properties.  All consents, approvals, authorizations and orders of governmental or 
regulatory authorities, if any, that are required to be obtained by the Company in 
connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds, the execution and delivery of this 
Purchase Agreement, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the 
Company Documents and the Preliminary and Final Official Statements have been duly 
obtained and remain in full force and effect, or with respect to construction of the Project, 
are expected to be obtained in the ordinary course of the Company’s business, except that 
no representation is made as to compliance with any applicable state securities or “Blue 
Sky” laws. 

(n) The execution and delivery by Alliance of the Eleventh Supplemental 
Alliance Mortgage, and the compliance by Alliance with the provisions of the Master 
Indenture, the Alliance Mortgage and the Eleventh Supplemental Alliance Mortgage, do 
not conflict with or constitute on the part of Alliance a violation of, breach of or default 
under (i) its Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or any other governing instruments; (ii) any 
constitutional provision, statute, indenture, mortgage, lease, resolution, note agreement or 
other agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound; or (iii) any 
order, rule or regulation of any court or governmental agency or body having jurisdiction 
over Alliance or any of its properties.  All consents, approvals, authorizations and orders 
of governmental or regulatory authorities, if any, that are required to be obtained by 
Alliance in connection with the execution and delivery of the Eleventh Supplemental 
Alliance Mortgage have been duly obtained and remain in full force and effect. 

(o) Neither the Company nor anyone acting on its behalf has, directly or 
indirectly, offered the Bonds for sale to, or solicited any offer to buy the same from, anyone 
other than the Underwriter. 

(p) The Preliminary and Final Official Statements have been duly authorized 
by the Company, and the Company has consented to the use of the Preliminary and Final 
Official Statements by the Underwriter in connection with the offering of the Bonds. 

(q) Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities 
commission has issued or, to the best of the knowledge of the Company, threatened to 
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issue, any order preventing or suspending the use of the Preliminary Official Statement or 
the Final Official Statement or otherwise seeking to enjoin the offer or sale of the Bonds. 

(r) Any certificate signed by an authorized officer of the Company and 
delivered to the Issuer or the Underwriter shall be deemed a representation and warranty 
by the Company to the Issuer or the Underwriter as to the statements made therein relating 
to the Company, Alliance and the Obligated Group. 

(s) The Company has and will cooperate with the Underwriter and its counsel 
in any endeavor to qualify the Bonds for offering and sale under the securities or “Blue 
Sky” laws of such jurisdictions of the United States of America as the Underwriter 
may request; provided, however, that the Company will not be required to qualify as a 
foreign corporation or file any special or general consents to service of process under the 
laws of any state. 

(t)   During the past five (5) years the Obligated Group Members have not failed 
to comply with any undertaking to provide the continuing disclosure of information 
pursuant to the Rule. 

(u)       The Obligated Group Members are not in default and have not been in 
default at any time since December 31, 1975, as to principal or interest, with respect to any 
bonds, notes, securities or other obligations issued by a Member of the Obligated Group, 
which would adversely affect the issuance and delivery of the Bonds or the transactions 
contemplated by the Resolution, the Company Documents or the Official Statement. 

10. Closing.  By no later than 1:00 P.M., Eastern Time, on June __, 2019 (the “Closing 
Date”), the Issuer will deliver, or cause to be delivered, to or upon the order of the Underwriter, 
the Bonds, in definitive form, duly executed and authenticated, together with the other documents 
required in Section 11 hereof, and the Underwriter will accept such delivery and pay the purchase 
price of the Bonds.  Payment for the Bonds shall be made in immediately available funds by bank 
wire transfer payable to the order of the Bond Trustee on behalf of the Issuer. 

The closing of the sale of the Bonds as aforesaid (the “Closing”) shall be held at the offices 
of Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., Tampa, Florida, except that physical delivery of the Bonds 
shall be made to the Bond Trustee as agent for The Depository Trust Company, for the account of 
the Underwriter pursuant to FAST System.  Unless otherwise requested by the Underwriter at or 
prior to the Closing, the Bonds will be delivered at the Closing in fully registered form, registered 
to Cede & Co., and in the form of one certificate for each maturity of the Bonds. 

11. Closing Conditions.  Unless expressly waived in writing by the Underwriter, the 
obligations of the Underwriter hereunder shall be subject (i) to the performance by the Issuer and 
the Company of their respective obligations to be performed hereunder at and prior to the Closing 
or such earlier time as may be specified herein; (ii) to the accuracy of each of the representations 
and warranties of the Issuer and the Company contained herein as of the date hereof and as of the 
time of the Closing, as if made at and as of the time of the Closing; and (iii) to the following 
conditions, including the delivery by the Issuer and the Company of such documents as are 
contemplated hereby in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and its counsel: 
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(a) At the time of the Closing (i) the Final Official Statement, the Indenture, 
the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, the Series 2019 Master Note, the Continuing 
Disclosure Certificate, the Supplement and the Mortgages shall be in full force and effect 
and shall not have been amended, modified or supplemented, except as may have been 
agreed to in writing by the Underwriter; (ii) the Issuer shall have duly adopted and there 
shall be in full force and effect such resolutions, including the Resolution as, in the 
reasonable opinion of Bond Counsel, shall be necessary in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby; 

(b) At or prior to the Closing, the Underwriter shall have received the 
following documents: 

(i) The approving opinion of Bond Counsel, dated the date of the 
Closing and in a form reasonably acceptable to the Underwriter and its counsel. 

(ii) An opinion of counsel to the Company and Alliance, dated the date 
of the Closing and in a form reasonably acceptable to the Underwriter, its counsel 
and Bond Counsel. An opinion of Counsel to the Issuer, dated the date of the 
Closing, and in a form reasonably acceptable to the Underwriter, its counsel and 
Bond Counsel. 

(iii) A certificate of the Issuer, dated the date of Closing, signed by an 
authorized officer of the Issuer in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the 
Underwriter, its counsel and Bond Counsel, to the effect that the representations 
and warranties of the Issuer contained herein are true and correct in all material 
respects as of the Closing and that the Issuer has performed its obligations under 
this Purchase Agreement. 

(iv) A certificate of the Company, dated the Closing Date, signed by an 
authorized officer of the Company in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to 
the Underwriter, its counsel and Bond Counsel, to the effect that the representations 
and warranties of the Company, as Obligated Group Representative, contained 
herein are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing and that the 
Company has performed its obligations under this Purchase Agreement. 

(v) Executed counterparts of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the 
Supplement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the Eleventh Supplemental 
Shell Point Mortgage and the Eleventh Supplemental Alliance Mortgage, together 
with due evidence of the recording of any Uniform Commercial Code financing 
statements required with respect thereto. 

(vi) Certified copy of the Resolution, authorizing the issuance, sale, 
execution and delivery of the Bonds and the execution, delivery and performance 
of the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and this Purchase Agreement, and 
authorizing the use of the Preliminary and Final Official Statements by the 
Underwriter in connection with the offering of the Bonds. 
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(vii) Certified copies of resolutions of the Board of Directors of the 
Company authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan 
Agreement and this Purchase Agreement, and authorizing the use of the 
Preliminary and Final Official Statements by the Underwriter in connection with 
the offering of the Bonds. 

(viii) A copy of the Series 2019 Master Note. 

(ix) Written evidence that S&P has issued a rating of “BBB+” with a 
stable outlook for the Bonds. 

(x) A specimen of the Bonds. 

(xi) Evidence of maintenance of insurance required by the Master 
Indenture. 

(xii) Copies of the (A) Articles of Incorporation of the Company, 
certified as of a recent date by the Secretary of State of Florida and (B) Bylaws of 
the Company, together with a certificate of an officer of the Company that such 
Articles of Incorporation and bylaws have not been amended, modified, revoked or 
rescinded and are in full force and effect as of the Closing Date. 

(xiii) A Certificate of the Secretary of State of the State of Florida with 
respect to the good standing of the Company. 

(xiv) A copy of Internal Revenue Service Form 8038, signed by an 
authorized officer of the Issuer. 

(xv) Evidence that Form BF2003/2004 has been executed by the Issuer, 
to be filed with the Florida Division of Bond Finance. 

(xvi) Evidence satisfactory to Bond Counsel and counsel to the 
Underwriter that the Company is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Code and is not a private foundation as described in Section 509(a) of the Code. 

(xvii) The TEFRA approval of Lee County, Florida, and evidence of the 
Issuer’s public hearing relating thereto as required by Section 147(f) of the Code. 

(xviii) The certificates and opinions required by the Master Indenture for 
the issuance thereunder of the Series 2019 Master Note. 

(xix) One executed copy of the Tax Exemption Agreement and Certificate 
dated as of June __, 2019, between the Company and the Issuer. 

(xx) One signed copy of a request and authorization to the Bond Trustee 
to authenticate and deliver the Bonds. 
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(xxi) Marked-down title commitment with respect to the Mortgaged 
Property, in form reasonably satisfactory to the Underwriter. 

(xxii) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings, 
instruments and other documents as counsel for the Underwriter may reasonably 
request to evidence compliance by the Issuer and the Company with the legal 
requirements, the truth and accuracy, as of the time of Closing, of the 
representations of the Issuer and the Company herein contained and the due 
performance or satisfaction by the Issuer and the Company, at or prior to the 
Closing, of all agreements then required to be performed and all conditions then 
required to be satisfied by the Issuer and the Company at the Closing. 

12. Conditions to Obligations of the Underwriter.  Unless expressly waived by the 
Underwriter in writing, the Underwriter shall have the right to cancel its obligations to purchase 
and accept delivery of the Bonds hereunder by notifying the Issuer and the Company, in writing 
or by telegram, of its election to do so between the date hereof and the Closing if, on or after the 
date hereof and prior to the Closing: 

(a) legislation shall be enacted or be actively considered for enactment by the 
Congress, or recommended to the Congress for passage by the President of the United 
States, or favorably reported for passage to either House of the Congress by a committee 
of such House to which such legislation has been referred for consideration, a decision by 
a court of the United States or the United States Tax Court shall be rendered, or a ruling, 
regulation or official statement by or on behalf of the Treasury Department of the United 
States, the IRS or other governmental agency shall be made or proposed to be made with 
respect to federal taxation upon revenues or other income of the general character to be 
derived by the Company or the Issuer or by any similar body, or upon interest on 
obligations of the general character of the Bonds, or other action or events shall have 
transpired that have the purpose or effect, directly or indirectly, of changing the federal 
income tax consequences of any of the transactions contemplated in connection herewith, 
including but not limited to any challenge of the Company as to its status as an organization 
described in Sections 501(a) and 501(c)(3) of the Code, that, in the opinion of the 
Underwriter, materially and adversely affects the market price of the Bonds or the market 
price generally of obligations of the general character of the Bonds; or 

(b) any legislation, ordinance or regulation shall be enacted or be actively 
considered for enactment by the Issuer, any governmental body, department or agency of 
the State of Florida or Lee County or a decision by any court of competent jurisdiction 
within the State of Florida shall be rendered that, in the opinion of the Underwriter, 
materially and adversely affects the market price of the Bonds; or 

(c) any action shall have been taken by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission that would require the registration of the Bonds under the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”), or the qualification of the Resolution or the Indenture 
under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “TIA”); or 
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(d) any event shall have occurred or shall exist that, in the opinion of the 
Underwriter, either (i) makes untrue or incorrect in any material respect any statement or 
information contained in the Preliminary and Final Official Statements, or (ii) is not 
reflected in the Preliminary and Final Official Statements and should be reflected therein 
in order to make the statements and information contained therein not misleading in any 
material respect, and the Issuer or the Company or both shall not agree to supplement the 
Preliminary and Final Official Statements to correct the same; or 

(e) there shall have occurred any outbreak of, or escalation in, hostilities or 
other national or international calamity or crisis or a financial crisis, including, but not 
limited to, (i) the United States engaging in hostilities or (ii) a declaration of war or a 
national emergency by the United States (including acts of terrorism) on or after the date 
hereof which, in the sole opinion of the Underwriter, would affect materially and adversely 
the ability of the Underwriter to market the Bonds (it being understood that no such 
situation exists on the date hereof); or 

(f) trading shall be suspended, or new or additional trading or loan restrictions 
shall be imposed, by the New York Stock Exchange or other national securities exchange 
or governmental authority with respect to obligations of the general character of the Bonds 
or a general banking moratorium shall be declared by federal, Florida or New York 
authorities; or 

(g) there shall have occurred any change in the financial condition or affairs of 
the Company the effect of which, in the sole judgment of the Underwriter, is so material 
and adverse as to make it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the offering or 
delivery of the Bonds on the terms and in the manner contemplated by the Preliminary and 
Final Official Statements; or 

(h) S&P shall have taken any action to lower, suspend or withdraw its rating of 
“BBB+” (stable outlook) for the Bonds as of the date hereof; or 

(i) Any litigation shall be instituted, pending or threatened to restrain or enjoin 
the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds or in any way contesting or questioning any 
authority for or the validity of the Bonds or the money or revenues pledged to the payment 
thereof or any of the proceedings of the Issuer or the Company taken with respect to the 
issuance and sale thereof. 

13. Termination.  If the Issuer or the Company is unable to satisfy the conditions to the 
obligations of the Underwriter contained in this Purchase Agreement, or if the obligations of the 
Underwriter to purchase and accept delivery of the Bonds shall be terminated for any reason 
permitted by this Purchase Agreement, this Purchase Agreement shall terminate at the option of 
the Underwriter and neither the Underwriter nor the Issuer nor the Company shall be under further 
obligation hereunder; except that the respective obligations to indemnify and pay expenses, as 
provided in Sections 14 and 17 hereof, shall continue in full force and effect.    

14. Indemnification.  (a) To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the 
Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Underwriter, the Issuer or the other persons 
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described in subsection (b) below against any and all losses, damages, expenses (including 
reasonable legal fees and other reasonable fees and expenses), liabilities or claims (or actions in 
respect thereof), (i) to which the Underwriter, the Issuer or the other persons described in 
subsection (b) below may become subject under any federal or state securities laws or other 
statutory law or at common law or otherwise, caused by or arising out of or based upon any untrue 
statement or misleading statement or alleged untrue statement or alleged misleading statement of 
a material fact related to the Company or the Project contained in the Preliminary and Final Official 
Statements or in the information furnished by the Company, directly or indirectly or caused by any 
omission or alleged omission of information regarding the Company or the Project from the 
Preliminary and Final Official Statements and (ii) to which the parties indemnified hereunder or 
any of them may become subject under the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act, the TIA, the rules or 
regulations under said Acts, insofar as such losses, claims, damages, expenses, actions or liabilities 
arise out of or are based upon the failure to register the Bonds or any security therefor under the 
1933 Act or to qualify the Indenture under the TIA; provided, however, that with respect to (i) 
above, the Company shall not be required to indemnify or hold harmless the Issuer with respect to 
statements in the Preliminary and Final Official Statements made or furnished by the Issuer or the 
Underwriter with respect to statements in the Preliminary and Final Official Statements made or 
furnished by the Underwriter, and with respect to (ii) above, the Company shall not be required to 
indemnify or hold harmless the Issuer or the Underwriter with respect to negligence or willful 
misconduct of the Issuer or the Underwriter, respectively. 

(b) The indemnity provided under this Section 14 shall extend upon the same 
terms and conditions to each officer, director, employee, agent or attorney of the Underwriter or 
the Issuer, and each person, if any, who controls the Underwriter or the Issuer within the meaning 
of Section 15 of the 1933 Act or Section 20 of the 1934 Act.  Such indemnity shall also extend, 
without limitation, to any and all expenses whatsoever reasonably incurred by any indemnified 
party in connection with investigating, preparing for or defending against, or providing evidence, 
producing documents or taking any other reasonable action in respect of any such loss, damage, 
expense, liability or claim (or action in respect thereof), whether or not resulting in any liability, 
and shall include any loss to the extent of the aggregate amount paid in settlement of any litigation, 
commenced or threatened, or of any claim whatsoever as set forth herein if such settlement is 
effected with the written consent of the Company. 

(c) Within a reasonable time after an indemnified party under paragraphs 
(a) and (b) of this Section 14 shall have been served with the summons or other first legal process 
or shall have received written notice of the threat of a claim in respect of which an indemnity may 
be claimed, such indemnified party shall, if a claim for indemnity in respect thereof is to be made 
against the Company under this Section 14, notify the Company in writing of the commencement 
thereof; but the omission to so notify the Company shall not relieve it from any liability that it may 
have to any indemnified party other than pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section 14 
(provided, that the Company shall be relieved of any liability that is a direct result of the failure of 
the indemnified party to provide the required notice to the Company).  The Company shall be 
entitled to participate at its own expense in the defense, and if the Company so elects within a 
reasonable time after receipt of such notice, or all indemnified parties seeking indemnification in 
such notice so direct in writing, the Company shall assume the defense of any suit brought to 
enforce any such claim, and in either such case, such defense shall be conducted by counsel chosen 
promptly by the Company and reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party; provided however, 
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that, if the defendants in any such action include such an indemnified party and the Company, or 
include more than one indemnified party and any such indemnified party shall have been advised 
by its counsel that there may be legal defenses available to such indemnified party that are different 
from or additional to those available to the Company or another defendant indemnified party, and 
that in the reasonable opinion of such counsel are sufficient to make it undesirable for the same 
counsel to represent such indemnified party and the Company, or another defendant indemnified 
party, such indemnified party shall have the right to employ separate counsel (who are reasonably 
acceptable to the Company) in such action, and in such event the reasonable fees and expenses of 
such counsel shall be borne by the Company.  Nothing contained in this paragraph (c) shall 
preclude any indemnified party, at its own expense, from retaining additional counsel to represent 
such party in any action with respect to which indemnity may be sought from the Company 
hereunder. 

(d) If the indemnification provided for in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this 
Section 14 is unavailable or insufficient to hold harmless and indemnify any indemnified party in 
respect of any losses, damages, expenses, liabilities, or claims (or actions in respect thereof) 
referred to therein, then the Company, on the one hand, and the Underwriter, on the other hand, 
shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by the indemnified party as a result of such losses, 
claims, damages, expenses, actions or liabilities in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the 
relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Underwriter on the other hand 
from the offering of the Bonds.  If, however, the allocation provided by the immediately preceding 
sentence is not permitted by applicable law, or if the indemnified party failed to give the notice 
required under subsection (c) above, the Company on the one hand and the Underwriter on the 
other hand shall contribute to such amount paid or payable by the indemnified party in such 
proportion as is appropriate to effect not only such relative benefits but also the relative fault of 
the Company on the one hand and the Underwriter on the other in connection with the statements 
or omissions that resulted in such losses, claims, damages, expenses, actions or liabilities, as well 
as any other relevant equitable considerations.  The relative benefits received by the Company on 
the one hand and the Underwriter on the other hand shall be deemed to be in such proportion so 
that the Underwriter is responsible for that portion represented by the percentage that the 
underwriting discount payable to the Underwriter hereunder (i.e., the excess of the aggregate 
public offering price for the Bonds as set forth on the inside cover page of the Final Official 
Statement over the price to be paid by the Underwriter to the Issuer upon delivery of the Bonds as 
specified in Section 1 hereof) bears to the aggregate public offering price as described above, and 
the Company is responsible for the balance.  The relative fault shall be determined by reference 
to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the 
omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the 
Company on the one hand or the Underwriter on the other hand and the parties’ relative intent, 
knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. 

The Company and the Underwriter agree that it would not be just and equitable if 
contribution pursuant to this subsection (d) were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other 
method of allocation that does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to above 
in this subsection (d).  The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the losses, 
damages, expenses, liabilities, claims or actions referred to above in this subsection (d) shall be 
deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in 
connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. 
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15. Survival of Indemnity.  The indemnity and contribution provided by Section 14 
hereof shall be in addition to any other liability that the Company may otherwise have hereunder, 
at common law or otherwise, and is provided solely for the benefit of the Underwriter, the Issuer 
and each director, officer, employee, agent, attorney and controlling person referred to therein, and 
their respective successors, assigns and legal representatives, and no other person shall acquire or 
have any right under or by virtue of such provisions of this Purchase Agreement.  The indemnity 
and contribution provided by Section 14 hereof shall survive the termination or performance of 
this Purchase Agreement. 

16. Survival of Representations.  All representations, warranties and agreements of the 
Company set forth in or made pursuant to this Purchase Agreement shall remain operative and in 
full force and effect, regardless of any investigations made by or on behalf of the Underwriter and 
shall survive the delivery of and payment for the Bonds. 

17. Payment of Expenses.  If the Bonds are sold to the Underwriter by the Issuer, the 
Company shall pay, out of the proceeds of the Bonds or from its own funds, any expenses incident 
to the performance of its obligations hereunder, including but not limited to: (i) the cost of the 
preparation, reproduction, printing, distribution, mailing, execution, delivery, filing and recording, 
as the case may be, of this Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Series 
2019 Master Note, the Supplement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the Eleventh 
Supplemental Shell Point Mortgage, the Eleventh Supplemental Alliance Mortgage, the 
Preliminary Official Statement, the Final Official Statement, Blue Sky Memoranda and all other 
agreements and documents required in connection with the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby; (ii) the cost of the preparation, engraving, printing, execution and delivery 
of the definitive Bonds; (iii) the fees and disbursements of Bond Counsel, counsel for the Issuer, 
counsel for the Company, counsel for the Bond Trustee and the Master Trustee, counsel for the 
Underwriter and any other experts retained by the Company; (iv) the acceptance fees of the Bond 
Trustee and Master Trustee; (v) any fees charged by S&P for the rating on the Bonds; (vi) the cost 
of transportation and lodging for officials and representatives of the Issuer and the Company in 
connection with attending meetings and the Closing; and (vii) the cost of qualifying the Bonds 
under the laws of such jurisdictions as the Underwriter may designate, including filing fees and 
fees and disbursements of counsel for the Underwriter in connection with such qualification and 
the preparation of Blue Sky Memoranda.  

The Company shall also pay any expenses incident to the performance of its obligations 
hereunder and, if the Bonds are not sold by the Issuer to the Underwriter, the Company shall pay 
all expenses incident to the performance of the Issuer’s obligations hereunder as provided above. 

The Underwriter shall pay (i) the cost of preparing and publishing all advertisements 
approved by it relating to the Bonds upon commencement of the offering of the Bonds; (ii) the 
cost of the transportation and lodging for officials and representatives of the Underwriter to attend 
meetings and the Closing; (iii) any fees of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds; and (iv) the cost of obtaining a CUSIP number 
assignment for the Bonds. 

18. Establishment of Issue Price 
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(a) The Underwriter agrees to assist the Issuer and the Company in establishing the 
issue price of the Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the Issuer and the Company at Closing 
an “issue price” or similar certificate, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent 
communications, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, with such modifications 
as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, the Issuer and 
Bond Counsel, to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial offering 
price or prices to the public of the Bonds.   

At or promptly after the execution of this Purchase Agreement, the Underwriter shall report 
to the Issuer, Bond Counsel and the financial advisor, the price or prices at which it has sold to 
the public each maturity of Bonds.  The Issuer will treat the first price at which 10% of each 
maturity of the Bonds (the “10% test”) is sold to the public as the issue price of that maturity (if 
different interest rates apply within a maturity, each separate CUSIP number within that maturity 
will be subject to the 10% test).  If at that time the 10% test has not been satisfied as to any 
maturity of the Bonds, the Underwriter agrees to promptly report to the Issuer, Bond Counsel and 
the financial advisor, the prices at which it sells the unsold Bonds of that maturity to the public.  
That reporting obligation shall continue, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until the 
10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity or until all Bonds of that maturity 
have been sold to the public.   

(b) The Underwriter confirms that it has offered the Bonds to the public on or before 
the date of this Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial offering price”), or 
at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, except as otherwise set 
forth therein.  Exhibit A also sets forth, as of the date of this Purchase Agreement, the maturities, 
if any, of the Bonds for which the 10% test has not been satisfied and for which the Issuer and the 
Underwriter agree that the restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, which will allow 
the Issuer to treat the initial offering price to the public of each such maturity as of the sale date as 
the issue price of that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”).  So long as the hold-the-
offering-price rule remains applicable to any maturity of the Bonds, the Underwriter will neither 
offer nor sell unsold Bonds of that maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the initial 
offering price to the public during the period starting on the sale date and ending on the earlier of 
the following:  

(1) the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or 

(2) the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that maturity of 
the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering 
price to the public.   

The Underwriter shall promptly advise the Issuer when it has sold 10% of that maturity of 
the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public, if 
that occurs prior to the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date.     

(c) The Underwriter confirms that any selling group agreement and any retail 
distribution agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the 
related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of 
the selling group and each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail distribution agreement, as 
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applicable, to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Bonds of each maturity 
allotted to it until it is notified by the Underwriter that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to 
the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the public and (B) comply 
with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so long as directed by 
the Underwriter.  The Issuer acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this 
subsection, the Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a selling group has been created in 
connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a 
member of the selling group to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, as set 
forth in a selling group agreement and the related pricing wires, and (ii) in the event that a retail 
distribution agreement was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, 
the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the hold-the-
offering-price rule, if applicable, as set forth in the retail distribution agreement and the related 
pricing wires.  The Issuer further acknowledges that the Underwriter shall not be liable for the 
failure of any dealer who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to 
a retail distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement regarding the hold-
the-offering-price rule as applicable to the Bonds.   

(d) The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Bonds to any person that is a 
related party to the Underwriter shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes of this section.  
Further, for purposes of this section: 

(i) “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party,  

(ii) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an 
underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the 
public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly 
or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to participate in the initial 
sale of the Bonds to the public (including a member of a selling group or a 
party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the 
Bonds to the public),  

(iii) a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the 
underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) at 
least 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their 
stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one 
corporation of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their 
capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships 
(including direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (iii) more 
than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the 
corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as 
applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership 
(including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity 
of the other), and 

 
(iv) “sale date” means the date of execution of this Purchase Agreement by all 

parties. 
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19. Benefit of this Purchase Agreement.  This Purchase Agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of and be binding upon the Issuer, the Company and the Underwriter and their respective 
successors and assigns. Nothing in this Purchase Agreement is intended or shall be construed to 
give any person, firm or corporation, other than the parties hereto and their respective successors 
and assigns, and the persons entitled to indemnity and contribution under Section 14 hereof, and 
their respective successors, assigns and legal representatives, any legal or equitable right, remedy 
or claim under or in respect of this Purchase Agreement or any provision herein contained.  This 
Purchase Agreement and all conditions and provisions hereof are intended to be for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, and the persons 
entitled to indemnity and contribution under Section 14 hereof, and their respective successors, 
assigns and legal representatives, and for the benefit of no other person, firm or corporation.  No 
purchaser who purchases the Bonds from the Underwriter or other person or entity shall be deemed 
to be a successor merely by reason of such purchase. 

[The Remainder of This Page Is Intentionally Left Blank] 
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20. Notices.  Any notice or other communication to be given to the Issuer or the 
Company under this Purchase Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing or by 
telex or telecopy to the address shown below, and any notice under this Purchase Agreement to 
the Underwriter may be given by delivering the same in writing to the Underwriter, as follows: 

 
To the Issuer: Lee County Industrial Development Authority 

c/o Knott Ebelini Hart  
1625 Hendry Street Ste. 301 
Fort Myers, FL 33901 

  
To the Company: The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc.,  

   d/b/a Shell Point  
15000 Shell Point Village Blvd. 
Fort Myers, FL 33908 
Attention: Tim Lochridge 
 
With a copy to: 
Holland & Knight LLP 
2115 Harden Blvd. 
Lakeland, FL 33803 
Attention: Michael Wiener 

  
To the Underwriter: B.C. Ziegler and Company 

One North Wacker Drive, Suite 2000 
Chicago, IL 60606 

  
together with a copy to: Foley & Lardner LLP 

One Independent Drive, Suite 1300 
Jacksonville, FL 32202 

 
21. Waiver and Release of Personal Liability.  No recourse under or upon any 

obligation, indemnity, covenant or agreement contained in this Purchase Agreement or under any 
judgment obtained against the Issuer, or by the enforcement of any assessment or by legal or 
equitable proceedings by virtue of any constitution or statute or otherwise or under any 
circumstances, under or independent of this Purchase Agreement, shall be had against any trustee, 
director, member, commissioner, officer, employee or agent, as such, past, present or future, of the 
Issuer, either directly or through the Issuer, or otherwise, for the payment for or to the Issuer or 
any receiver thereof, or to the Underwriter or otherwise of any amount that may become owed by 
the  hereunder.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at common law or in equity, 
or by statute or constitution or otherwise, of any trustee, director, member, commissioner, officer, 
employee or agent, as such, to respond by reason of any act or omission on his part or otherwise, 
for the payment for or to the Issuer or any receiver thereof, the Underwriter or otherwise, of any 
amount that may become owed by the Issuer hereunder is hereby expressly waived and released 
as a condition of and in consideration for the execution of this Purchase Agreement. 
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22. Governing Law.  This Purchase Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Florida. 

23. Effective Time of this Agreement.  This Purchase Agreement shall become 
effective upon the acceptance hereof by the Issuer and the Company. 

24. Severability.  If any provisions of this Purchase Agreement shall be held or deemed 
to be or shall, in fact, be inoperative or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any 
jurisdiction or jurisdictions or in all jurisdictions, or in all cases because it conflicts with any other 
provision or provisions hereof or any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any 
other reason, such circumstance shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in question 
inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of rendering any other provision 
or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable to any extent whatever.  The 
invalidity of any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses or Sections in this Purchase Agreement 
contained, shall not affect the remaining portions of this Purchase Agreement, or any part thereof. 

 
 
 
 

[The Remainder of This Page Is Intentionally Left Blank] 
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25. Execution in Counterparts.  This Purchase Agreement may be signed in any number 
of counterparts, each of which shall which shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument. 

  Very truly yours, 
   
  B.C. ZIEGLER AND COMPANY, 

as Underwriter 
 
 
By:  
 Richard Scanlon, Managing Director 
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Accepted and agreed to as 
of the date first above written: 

 LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 
 
By:  
 Chair 
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Accepted and agreed to as 
of the date first above written: 

 THE CHRISTIAN AND MISSIONARY 
ALLIANCE FOUNDATION, INC.,  
d/b/a SHELL POINT 

 
 
By:  
 Vice President of Finance and  
              Chief Financial Officer 
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EXHIBIT A 

Maturities, Amounts, Interest Rates, Yields and Prices of Bonds 
 

 
$_ Serial Bonds 

 
Maturity 

(November 15) 
 

Amount 
Interest 

Rate 
 

Yield 
 

Price 

     
     
     
     
     

 
 

$_________  _____% Term Bonds due November 15, 20__ Yield _____%  Price ______   
$_________  _____% Term Bonds due November 15, 20__ Yield _____%  Price ______   
$_________  _____% Term Bonds due November 15, 20__ Yield _____%  Price ______   

 
 
 
 

153



 

B-1 
4838-1998-1716.3 

EXHIBIT B 

Redemption of the Bonds 
Optional Redemption  

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer at the 
direction of Shell Point, as representative of the Obligated Group, on or after November 15, 20__, 
in whole or in part at any time, upon payment of a redemption price equal to the principal amount 
thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date without premium. 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption  

The Bonds maturing on November 15, 20__ shall be subject to mandatory redemption prior 
to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a maturity as chosen by the Bond Trustee 
by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the following table, but only from money 
required to be deposited therefor in the Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established 
under the Bond Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 
interest to the redemption date:   

Redemption  
Date 

(November 15) 

  
 

Amount 
   
   
   
   
   
   

_________________ 
*Final Maturity 

The Bonds maturing on November 15, 20__ shall be subject to mandatory redemption prior 
to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a maturity as chosen by the Bond Trustee 
by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the following table, but only from money 
required to be deposited therefor in the Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established 
under the Bond Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 
interest to the redemption date:   

Redemption  
Date 

(November 15) 

  
 

Amount 
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_________________ 

 

The Bonds maturing on November 15, 20__ shall be subject to mandatory redemption prior 
to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a maturity as chosen by the Bond Trustee 
by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth in the following table, but only from money 
required to be deposited therefor in the Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established 
under the Bond Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 
interest to the redemption date:   

Redemption  
Date 

(November 15) 

  
 

Amount 
   
   
   
   
   
   

_________________ 
 

As described in the Bond Indenture, the principal amount of the Bonds otherwise required 
to be redeemed by mandatory sinking fund redemption may be reduced by the principal amount 
of such Bonds theretofore delivered to the Bond Trustee in lieu of cash under the Loan Agreement 
or purchased by the Bond Trustee out of moneys in the Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service 
Fund established under the Bond Indenture and which have not been applied previously as a credit 
against any sinking fund installment.  In addition, the principal amount of the Bonds otherwise 
required to be redeemed may also be reduced by the application to such redemption obligation of 
a partial optional redemption of such Bonds in the manner designated by the Issuer, at the direction 
of the Company. 

The redemption price of any Bonds redeemed by mandatory sinking fund redemption may 
be paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account in any member bank of the 
Federal Reserve System designated in writing by the Registered Owner of the Bonds in an 
aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more, not less than 15 days prior to the applicable 
redemption date. 
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EXHIBIT C 

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND TRUTH-IN-BONDING STATEMENT 
 
 

June __, 2019 
 
 

Lee County Industrial Development Authority 
Fort Myers, Florida  
 
The Christian and Military Alliance Foundation, Inc.  
 d/b/a Shell Point 
Fort Myers, Florida 
 

Re: $12,065,000 Lee County Industrial Development Authority Healthcare 
Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell Point/Alliance 
Obligated Group) (Shell Point Project) 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

In connection with the proposed issuance by the Lee County Industrial Development 
Authority (the “Issuer”) of the above-referenced bonds (the “Bonds”), B.C. Ziegler and Company 
(the “Underwriter”) has agreed to purchase the Bonds upon the terms and conditions set forth in 
that certain Bond Purchase Agreement dated June __, 2019 (the “Agreement”), among the Issuer, 
the Purchase and The Christian and Military Alliance Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point (the 
“Company”).   

The purpose of this letter is to furnish to the Issuer and the Company certain information 
in connection with the offer and sale of the Bonds, pursuant to the provisions of Section 218.385, 
Florida Statutes, as amended.  Pursuant to Section 218.385, Florida Statutes, as amended, the 
Underwriter provides the following information: 

(a) 0BThe nature and estimated amount of expenses to be incurred by the Underwriter 
in connection with the purchase and offering of the Bonds are set forth in USchedule 1 U attached 
hereto. 

(b) 1BNo person has entered into an understanding with the Underwriter or, to the 
knowledge of the Underwriter, with the Issuer or the Company, for any paid or promised 
compensation or valuable consideration, directly or indirectly, express or implied, to act solely as 
an intermediary between the Issuer, the Company and the Underwriter or to exercise or to attempt 
to exercise any influence to effect any transaction in connection with the purchase of the Bonds. 

(c) 2BThe underwriting spread (the difference between the price at which the bonds 
will be initially offered to the public by the Underwriter and the purchase price to be paid to the 
Issuer for the Bonds, exclusive of accrued interest) will be $_______ per $1,000. 
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(d) 3BAs part of the underwriting spread, the Underwriter has charged a management 
fee of $___ per $1,000. 

(e) 4BNo fee, bonus or other compensation will be paid by the Underwriter in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds to any person not regularly employed or retained by the 
Underwriter (including any “finder,” as defined in Section 218.386(1)(a), Florida Statutes, as 
amended), except as disclosed as expenses to be incurred by the Underwriter, as set forth in 
paragraph 1 above. 

(f) 5BThe name and address of the managing underwriter is: 

B.C. Ziegler and Company 
One North Wacker Drive, Suite 2000 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
Attention:  Richard Scanlon, Managing Director 
 
(g) 6BThe Issuer is proposing to issue the Bonds for the purpose of loaning the 

proceeds thereof to the Company pursuant to the Loan Agreement dated as of June 1, 2019, 
between the Issuer and the Company, for the purpose of (i) financing and refinancing a portion of 
the costs (including reimbursement for prior related expenditures) relating to the acquisition, 
construction and equipping of a six-story health center which will provide approximately 180 
skilled nursing beds, and including a medical clinic, physical therapy, dental and pharmacy 
facilities, multi-purpose meeting rooms, administrative offices, kitchen and related amenities; and 
the acquisition, construction and equipping of various capital improvements to the existing senior 
living facilities, located at Shell Point Retirement Community, (ii) capitalizing interest on the 
Bonds for 24 months, (iii) funding any necessary reserves and (iv) paying costs related to issuance 
of the Bonds.  The Bonds are expected to be repaid over a period of approximately ____ years.  
The average coupon on the Bonds is _____% and the true interest cost of the Bonds is ____%.  
Total interest paid over the life of the Bonds will be $______. 

(h) 7BThe source of repayment or security for the Bonds consists of loan payments to 
be made by the Company and certain other security derived by the Issuer pursuant to the terms of 
the Amended and Restated Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2016, among the 
Company and The Alliance Community for Retirement Living, Inc., as members of the obligated 
group, and U.S. Bank National Association, as master trustee.  Authorization of the Bonds will not 
result in any moneys being unavailable to the Issuer to finance other services of the Issuer.   
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The foregoing statements are provided for information purposes only and shall not affect 
or control the actual terms and conditions of the Bonds. 

We understand that you do not require any further disclosure from the Underwriter 
pursuant to Section 218.385, Florida Statutes, as amended. 

  Very truly yours, 
   
  B.C. ZIEGLER AND COMPANY,  

 
 

 
By:  
 Richard Scanlon, Managing Director 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page to Disclosure Statement.] 
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Schedule 1 

Underwriter’s Expenses 
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EXHIBIT D 

Form of Issue Price Certificate 
 

LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
HEALTH CARE FACILITIES IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2019 

(SHELL POINT/ALLIANCE OBLIGATED GROUP)  
(SHELL POINT PROJECT)  

 
The undersigned hereby certifies as follows with respect to the sale of $___________ Lee 

County Industrial Development Authority (the “Issuer”) Health Care Facilities Improvement 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group) (Shell Point Project) (the 
“Series 2019 Bonds”): 

1.  The undersigned is the underwriter (as defined below) of the Series 2019 Bonds 
(the “Underwriter”). 

2.  As of the date of this Certificate, for each of the maturities set forth in Schedule A 
attached hereto (the “General Rule Maturities”), the first price at which a substantial amount (at 
least ten percent) of such maturity (as defined below) was sold to the public (expressed as a 
percentage of principal amount and exclusive of accrued interest) is set forth in Schedule A 
attached hereto. 

3.  As of the Sale Date (as defined below) for the Series 2019 Bonds, each of the 
maturities set forth in Schedule B attached hereto (the “Hold-the-Offering-Price-Maturities”) was 
offered to the public for purchase at the price (expressed as a percentage of principal amount and 
exclusive of accrued interest) set forth in Schedule B attached hereto. 

4.  As set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement for the Series 2019 Bonds, the 
Underwriter has agreed in writing that, for each of the Hold-the-Offering-Price-Maturities, the 
Underwriter would neither offer nor sell any of the Series 2019 Bonds of such maturity to any 
person at a price that is higher than the initial offering price for each maturity, as set forth in the 
pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Series 2019 Bonds attached to this Certificate, 
during the Holding Period (as defined below) for such maturity.  Pursuant to such agreement, the 
Underwriter has neither offered nor sold any of the Hold-the-Offering-Price-Maturities at a price 
higher than the respective initial offering price for that maturity of the Series 2019 Bonds during 
the Holding Period. 

5.  Definitions 

“Holding Period” means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the period 
beginning on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (a) the close of the fifth business day after 
the Sale Date or (b) the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10 percent of such Hold-
the-Offering-Price Maturity to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price 
for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 
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“Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, 
company or corporation) other than an underwriter or a related party to an underwriter.  A related 
party generally means two or more persons with greater than 50 percent common ownership, 
directly or indirectly. 

“Sale Date” means the first date on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale 
of the Series 2019 Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Series 2019 Bonds is June __, 2019. 

“Maturity” means Series 2019 Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Series 2019 
Bonds with different maturity dates, or Series 2019 Bonds with the same maturity date but different 
interest rates, are treated as separate maturities. 

“Underwriter” means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the 
Authority (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the 
initial sale of the Series 2019 Bonds to the public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a 
written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to 
participate in the initial sale of the Series 2019 Bonds to the public (including a member of the 
selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the 
Series 2019 Bonds to the public). 

6. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by 
the Issuer and The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point (the 
“Company”) and Alliance with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax 
Regulatory Agreement and No Arbitrage Certificate executed by the Authority and the Borrower 
in connection with the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds and with respect to compliance with the 
federal income tax rules affecting the Series 2019 Bonds, and by Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, 
P.A., Bond Counsel, in connection with rendering its opinion that interest on the Series 2019 Bonds 
is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal 
Revenue Service Form 8038, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer and 
the Company from time to time relating to the Series 2019 Bonds. 

EXECUTED and DELIVERED this __ day of ________, 2019. 

B.C. ZIEGLER AND COMPANY 

By: _____________________________ 
Managing Director 
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LOAN AGREEMENT 
 
 

 
between 

 
 

LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 

and 
 

THE CHRISTIAN AND MISSIONARY ALLIANCE FOUNDATION, INC. 
d/b/a SHELL POINT  

 
 
 
 

DATED AS OF JUNE 1, 2019 
 
The interest of the LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (the 
"Authority") in this Loan Agreement has been assigned (except for "Reserved Rights" 
defined in this Loan Agreement) pursuant to the Bond Trust Indenture dated as of the date 
hereof from the Authority to U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as bond trustee 
(in such capacity, the "Bond Trustee"), and is subject to the security interest of the Bond 
Trustee thereunder. 
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LOAN AGREEMENT 
 

This LOAN AGREEMENT ("Loan Agreement") dated as of June 1, 2019, between 
LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a body corporate and 
politic constituting a public corporation and public instrumentality organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Florida (the "Authority") and THE CHRISTIAN AND 
MISSIONARY ALLIANCE FOUNDATION, INC. d/b/a SHELL POINT, a not-for-profit 
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida (the "Borrower"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 
 

WHEREAS, the Authority is organized under the provisions of the Constitution of 
the State of Florida and the provisions of Parts II and III, Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, as 
amended (the "Act"), for the purpose of assisting borrowers in the acquisition, construction, 
financing and refinancing of "projects," including "health care facilities" (as such terms are 
defined in the Act) in any incorporated or unincorporated area within Lee County, Florida 
(the "County"); and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower is a not-for-profit corporation organized under the laws 
of the State of Florida which owns and operates one or more integrated senior retirement 
communities in Lee County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has determined to issue a series of its health care 
facilities improvement revenue bonds in order to loan the proceeds thereof to the Borrower 
for the principal purposes of (1) financing a portion of the costs (including reimbursement 
for prior related expenditures) relating to the acquisition, construction and equipping of a 
6-story approximately 196,952 square foot health center to be known as the Waterside 
Health Center, which will provide approximately 180 skilled nursing beds, comprised of 
162 private rooms and nine companion rooms, and including a medical clinic, physical 
therapy, dental and pharmacy facilities, multi-purpose meeting rooms, administrative 
offices, kitchen and related amenities; and the acquisition, construction and equipping of 
various capital improvements to the existing senior living facilities of the Obligated Group 
(as defined herein) as part of its capital improvement program, all located at 15101 Shell 
Point Boulevard, Fort Myers, Florida 33908 in Lee County, Florida (collectively, the "2019 
Project"), (2) funding capitalized interest on the Series 2019 Bonds for approximately 24 
months, (3) funding any necessary reserves, and (4) paying costs related to issuance of the 
Series 2019 Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, for the principal purposes of financing the 2019 Project, the Authority 
will issue, in accordance with the provisions of a Bond Trust Indenture (the "Bond 
Indenture"), dated as of June 1, 2019, between the Authority and U.S. Bank National 
Association, as bond trustee (the "Bond Trustee"), its Healthcare Facilities Improvement 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group) (Shell Point Project) 
(the "Series 2019 Bonds"), in an aggregate principal amount of $____________; and 
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WHEREAS, the Authority will lend the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds to the 
Borrower, to be applied as described above, pursuant to this Loan Agreement providing 
for, among other things, the repayment of such loan; and 

WHEREAS, to evidence and secure its payment obligations under this Loan 
Agreement with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds, the Borrower will deliver to the Bond 
Trustee, as the assignee of the Authority's rights hereunder a promissory note (the "Series 
2019 Master Note") dated as of June 1, 2019 and issued under and pursuant to an Amended 
and Restated Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2016, as amended and 
supplemented (the "Master Indenture") among the Borrower and The Alliance for 
Retirement Living, Inc., as members of the obligated group described therein (the 
"Obligated Group"), and U.S. Bank National Association, as master trustee (the "Master 
Trustee"); and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2019 Bonds are secured by payments from the Obligated 
Group on obligations issued under the Master Indenture on a parity with obligations issued 
by the Obligated Group related to (1) a certain term loan in the principal amount of 
$11,000,000; (2) the Authority's Healthcare Facilities Refunding and Improvement 
Revenue Bond (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group Project), Series 2016A issued in the 
original aggregate principal amount of $47,228,000; and (3) the Authority's Healthcare 
Facilities Refunding and Improvement Revenue Bond, Series 2016B (Shell Point/Alliance 
Obligated Group Project) issued in the original aggregate principal amount of 
$100,286,000; and 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Loan Agreement has been in all 
respects duly and validly authorized by the Authority and the Borrower; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements hereinafter 
contained, the parties hereto intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 
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ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 101. TERMS DEFINED IN RECITALS. The following terms 
shall have the meanings set forth in the recitals hereto: 

 
2019 Project 
Act 
Authority 
Bond Indenture 
Bond Trustee 
Borrower 
County  

Loan Agreement 
Master Indenture 
Master Trustee 
Obligated Group 
Series 2019 Bonds 
Series 2019 Master Note 
 

SECTION 102. OTHER DEFINED TERMS. Unless otherwise defined 
herein, all words and terms defined in the recitals hereto, in Article I of the Bond Indenture 
and in the Master Indenture shall have the meanings set forth therein. In addition, the 
following terms shall have the following meanings unless the context otherwise requires: 

"Bond Trustee Fees" means the reasonable fees and expenses, including, but not 
limited to, reasonable attorney fees, of the Bond Trustee with respect to its duties under the 
Bond Indenture, as shall be agreed upon from time to time by the Bond Trustee and the 
Borrower. 

"Capital Additions" shall mean any additions, improvements, repairs to or 
replacements of all or any part of the Facilities of the Borrower, the cost of which is 
properly chargeable to a plant or property account under generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

"Construction Contract" means the Standard Form of Agreement Between 
Owner and Contractor dated May __, 2019, between the Borrower and Weitz Construction, 
as amended and supplemented from time to time. 

"Event of Default" shall mean any of the events described as an event of default 
in Section 701 hereof. 

"Facilities" shall mean the land, buildings, fixtures, equipment, furnishings and 
other physical assets and facilities of the Borrower, the revenues from the operation of 
which are pledged to the payment of debt service on the Bonds or the Obligations (as 
defined in the Master Indenture). 

"Fiscal Year" shall mean the annual accounting year of the Borrower, which 
currently begins on the first day of July of each year. 

"Insurance Consultant" shall have the meaning set forth in the Master Indenture. 
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"Minimum Liquid Reserve Account" shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Master Indenture.  In accordance with said Section 651.035, Florida Statues, amounts on 
deposit in the 2019 Reserve Account shall be credited against the amounts required to be 
on deposit in the Minimum Liquid Reserve Account. 

"Project" shall mean the undertaking of the construction, acquisition or equipping 
of Capital Additions to any of the Facilities of the Borrower, payment of the costs of which 
are to be funded from the proceeds of any Bonds or other amounts deposited in any Account 
of the Project Fund established under the Bond Indenture. 

"Regulatory Body" means any federal, state or local government, department, 
agency, authority or instrumentality and any other public or private organization, including 
accrediting bodies, having regulatory jurisdiction and authority over the Obligated Group 
or the Facilities or operations of the Obligated Group. 

"Requisition" means a written request for a disbursement from the Costs of 
Issuance Fund, signed by the Obligated Group Representative substantially in the form 
attached hereto as EXHIBIT A and satisfactorily completed as contemplated by said form. 
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ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

SECTION 201. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES BY THE 
AUTHORITY.  The Authority represents that: 

(a) The Authority is a body corporate and politic duly organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Florida with the power to enter into the transactions 
contemplated by this Loan Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder and has 
duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Loan Agreement, the Series 2019 Bonds 
and the Bond Indenture; and 

(b) The issuance and sale of the Series 2019 Bonds, the execution and delivery 
of this Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture and the performance of all covenants and 
agreements of the Authority contained in this Loan Agreement and of all other acts and 
things required under the Constitution and laws of the State of Florida to make this Loan 
Agreement a valid and binding obligation of the Authority in accordance with its terms, 
are authorized by the Act and have been duly authorized by proceedings of the Authority 
adopted or passed at meetings thereof duly called and held in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act. 

SECTION 202. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES BY THE 
BORROWER.  The Borrower represents that: 

(a) The Borrower is a not-for-profit corporation duly organized and validly 
existing under the laws of the State of Florida with full power and authority to execute, 
deliver and perform obligations under this Loan Agreement and to enter into and carry out 
the transactions contemplated hereby. The Borrower has been determined to be an 
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code (or corresponding provisions of 
prior law), and exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Code, and is 
not a private foundation under 509(a) of the Code, and such exempt status has not been 
adversely modified, limited or revoked, and the facts and circumstances which form the 
basis of such determination as represented to the Internal Revenue Service continue to 
exist. 

(b) It has full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Loan 
Agreement and to enter into and carry out the transactions contemplated hereby. The 
execution, delivery and performance of this Loan Agreement does not, and will not, violate 
any provision of law applicable to the Borrower or the Borrower's Articles of Incorporation 
or Bylaws. This Loan Agreement has, by proper action, been duly authorized, executed 
and delivered by the Borrower, and all steps necessary have been taken to constitute this 
Loan Agreement a valid and binding obligation of the Borrower. 
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(c) Neither the execution and delivery of this Loan Agreement, the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or 
compliance with the terms and conditions of this Loan Agreement, conflict with or result 
in a breach of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any corporate restriction or any 
agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is now a party or by which it is bound, or 
constitute a default under any of the foregoing (except to the extent such conflict, breach 
or default has been waived or consented to by the parties thereto), or result in the creation 
or imposition of any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon 
any of the Facilities of the Borrower under the terms of any instrument or agreement other 
than as contemplated by this Loan Agreement. 

(d) It shall continue to operate the Facilities as part of a not-for-profit 
independent and assisted living and skilled nursing facility for the elderly and shall until 
the date on which the Series 2019 Bonds have been fully paid, and knows of no reason why 
the Facilities will not be so operated. If, in the future, there is a cessation of that operation, 
it will use its best efforts to resume that operation or accomplish an alternate use by the 
Borrower or others which will be consistent with the Act and the Code. 

(e) The Facilities created additional jobs, preserved existing employment and 
served the health care needs of the community. 

(f) The Facilities will continue to be operated and maintained in such manner as 
to conform with all applicable zoning, planning, building, environmental and other 
applicable governmental regulations and as to be consistent with the Act. 

(g) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in 
equity, before or by any court, public board or body, known to be pending or threatened 
against or affecting the Borrower or any of its officers, nor to the best knowledge of the 
Borrower is there any basis therefor, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding 
would materially adversely affect the transactions completed by this Loan Agreement or 
which would adversely affect, in any way, the validity or enforceability of the Series 2019 
Bonds, the Bond Indenture or this Loan Agreement, or any agreement or instrument to 
which the Borrower is a party, used or contemplated for use in the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby. 

(h) The Borrower has reviewed and is familiar with the terms and provisions of 
the Bond Indenture and will fully and faithfully perform all the duties and obligations 
which the Authority has covenanted and agreed in the Bond Indenture to cause the 
Borrower to perform and any duties and obligations which the Borrower is required in the 
Bond Indenture to perform. The foregoing shall not apply to any duty or undertaking of the 
Authority which by its nature cannot be delegated or assigned. 
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ARTICLE III 
THE LOAN 

SECTION 301. LOAN OF BOND PROCEEDS.  Upon the issuance of the 
Series 2019 Bonds, the Authority shall lend the proceeds thereof to the Borrower for 
application towards the cost of the 2019 Project, funding capitalized interest on the Series 
2019 Bonds for approximately 24 months, funding any necessary reserves and to pay costs 
of issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds.  The Authority and the Borrower hereby agree that 
the aforesaid loan of the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds shall be made and applied by 
depositing the same with the Bond Trustee in the manner and for the purposes set forth in 
the Bond Indenture. 
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ARTICLE IV 
PAYMENTS UNDER LOAN AGREEMENT 

SECTION 401. PAYMENTS UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT. The 
Borrower shall pay to the Bond Trustee, as the assignee of the Authority, the following 
aggregate sums: 

(a) On or before each May 1 and November 1, commencing November 1, 2019, 
an amount equal to the interest on the Series 2019 Bonds becoming due on the immediately 
succeeding May 15 or November 15, as applicable, subject to credit for other available 
funds in the manner provided in the Bond Indenture. 

(b) On or before November 1 of each year, commencing November 1, 2019 an 
amount sufficient to pay the principal of Series 2019 Bonds becoming due, whether at 
maturity or by mandatory sinking fund redemption, on the immediately succeeding 
November 15, subject to credit for other available funds in the manner provided in the 
Bond Indenture. 

(c) Commencing on the first day of the seventh month following notice from the 
Bond Trustee pursuant to Section 5.04 of the Bond Indenture that the amounts on deposit 
in the 2019 Reserve Account are less than the Reserve Requirement, and on the first day 
of each month thereafter for twelve consecutive months, an amount equal to one-twelfth of 
such deficiency. 

Payments received under the Series 2019 Master Note shall be credited against the 
foregoing.  In addition, in lieu of a portion of the payments described above, the Borrower, 
or, at its direction, the Authority or the Bond Trustee, may purchase for cancellation Series 
2019 Bonds of the maturity next becoming due at maturity or upon mandatory redemption, 
subject to the applicable requirements set forth in Section 5.03 of the Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 402. PREPAYMENTS AND REDEMPTION.  The Borrower 
shall have the option to prepay its obligations hereunder at the times and in the amounts as 
necessary to exercise its option to cause the Series 2019 Bonds to be redeemed or defeased 
as set forth in the Bond Indenture and in the Series 2019 Bonds.  The Authority, at the 
request of the Borrower, shall forthwith take all steps (other than the payment of the money 
required for such redemption) necessary under the applicable redemption provisions of the 
Bond Indenture to effect redemption of all or part of the Outstanding Series 2019 Bonds, 
as may be specified by the Borrower, on the date established for such redemption. 

SECTION 403. OTHER PAYMENTS BY THE BORROWER. The 
Borrower shall pay the following amounts when due: 
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(a) Contemporaneously with the execution and delivery hereof, the Authority's 
bond financing fee and the fees and expenses of Bond Counsel and Counsel to the 
Authority; and 

(b) All Administrative Expenses incurred from time to time by the Authority and 
the Bond Trustee Fees as and when the same shall be due and payable. 

SECTION 404. ASSIGNMENT OF LOAN AGREEMENT.  The Authority 
hereby notifies the Borrower, and the Borrower acknowledges, that all the Authority's 
right, title and interest in this Loan Agreement including its rights to receive the above 
payments (except for the Authority's right to receive all Administrative Expenses, its rights 
to indemnification as provided in Section 511 hereof and its right to receive notices, reports 
and similar matters hereunder and under the Bond Indenture) and the Series 2019 Master 
Note shall be irrevocably pledged by the Authority as security for the Series 2019 Bonds 
as provided in the Bond Indenture, and in furtherance of said pledge the Authority hereby 
unconditionally assigns all payments by the Borrower hereunder (except as aforesaid) to 
the Bond Trustee for deposit or application in accordance with this Loan Agreement and 
the Bond Indenture. The Authority consents to the payment by the Borrower of, and directs 
the Borrower to pay, all such assigned amounts directly to the Bond Trustee. 

SECTION 405. EXCESS FUNDS.  After all of the Series 2019 Bonds have 
been retired or provided for and all interest and applicable premiums, if any, due thereon 
have been paid or provision for such retirement and payment has been made in accordance 
with the Bond Indenture and all other amounts due the Bond Trustee and the Authority 
have been paid in full, excess moneys in the Funds and Accounts established under the 
Bond Indenture from whatever source derived will be paid to the Borrower as an 
adjustment of the amounts payable hereunder. This Section shall survive the termination 
of this Loan Agreement. 

SECTION 406. NO ABATEMENT OR SET-OFF. The Borrower shall pay 
loan payments and additional sums required hereunder without suspension or abatement of 
any nature, notwithstanding that all or any part of the Facilities shall have been wholly or 
partially destroyed, damaged or injured and shall not have been repaired, replaced or 
rebuilt.  So long as any of the Series 2019 Bonds remain Outstanding under the Bond 
Indenture, the obligations of the Borrower to pay loan payments hereunder shall be 
absolute and unconditional and shall not be suspended, abated, reduced, abrogated, waived, 
diminished or otherwise modified in any manner or to any extent whatsoever, regardless 
of any rights of setoff, recoupment or counterclaim that the Borrower might otherwise have 
against the Authority or any other party or parties and regardless of any contingency, act 
of God, event or cause whatsoever and notwithstanding any circumstances or occurrence 
that may arise or take place after the date hereof. 

Except to the extent provided in and subject to this Section 406, nothing contained 
herein shall be construed to prevent or restrict the Borrower from asserting any rights which 
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it may have under this Loan Agreement or any provision of law against the Authority, other 
than by means of any right of setoff, recoupment or counterclaim. 

SECTION 407. NO LIABILITY OF CMA.  The Borrower is sponsored by 
The Christian and Missionary Alliance, Inc. ("CMA").  Notwithstanding such relationship 
or any other provision hereof, CMA is not liable for any obligations hereunder or under 
any other financing documents related hereto. 
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ARTICLE V 
FURTHER AGREEMENTS OF THE BORROWER 

SECTION 501. NATURE OF OBLIGATIONS; SECURITY THEREFOR.  
The obligations of the Borrower hereunder are general obligations of the Borrower to 
which its full faith and credit are hereby pledged. The Borrower's payment obligations in 
respect of the Series 2019 Bonds are evidenced hereby and further secured by the Series 
2019 Master Note issued in favor of the Bond Trustee, pursuant to the Master Indenture. 

SECTION 502. CORPORATE EXISTENCE. The Borrower covenants that 
it will preserve and maintain its existence as a non-profit corporation under the laws of the 
State of Florida. The Borrower covenants that during the term of this Loan Agreement it 
will not initiate any proceedings or take any action whatsoever to dissolve or liquidate or 
to terminate its existence as a corporation or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of 
its assets, either in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions except as 
provided below. The Borrower covenants that during the term of this Loan Agreement it 
will not consolidate with, transfer all or substantially all of its assets to, or merge into any 
other corporation, unless the following conditions shall be met: 

(a) the successor corporation formed by such consolidation or merger shall be a 
non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the United States or any state, district 
or territory thereof, which is an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, 
exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(a) of the Code; 

(b) the successor corporation shall expressly assume in writing the full and 
faithful performance of the Borrower's duties and obligations hereunder to the same extent 
as if such successor corporation had been the original borrower under this Loan Agreement; 

(c) immediately after such consolidation or merger, the Borrower, or such 
successor corporation, shall not be in default in the performance or observance of any 
duties, obligations or covenants of the Borrower under this Loan Agreement;  

(d) the Authority and Bond Trustee shall have received an opinion of Counsel 
satisfactory to each of them that the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes of the interest on the Series 2019 Bonds will not be affected by the merger, 
transfer or consolidation; and 

(e) the Authority and Bond Trustee shall have received an opinion of Counsel 
satisfactory to each of them that the requirements of Chapter 651, Florida Statutes, or its 
successor, if still applicable to the Facilities, have been met with respect to the merger, 
transfer or consolidation. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions above with respect to any merger or 
consolidation shall not apply to any merger or consolidation of the Borrower with another 
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Obligated Issuer, provided, however, that notice of any such merger or consolidation shall 
be provided to the Bond Trustee, the Master Trustee and the Authority. 

SECTION 503. MAINTENANCE, REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT OF 
FACILITIES.  The Borrower covenants that it will, at its own expense, keep and maintain 
its Facilities in good order, repair and operating condition; that it will, without cost to the 
Authority, pay all costs and charges both ordinary and extraordinary, necessary for such 
maintenance and repair; and that it will maintain, repair, renew, replace and/or improve, as 
necessary, all furnishings, equipment and other property forming part of its Facilities, so 
as to operate continuously the Facilities, except in the case of damage, destruction or 
condemnation. The provisions of this section shall not apply, however, to any Facilities to 
the extent that, in the opinion of the Borrower, such Facilities become obsolete, unsuitable, 
undesirable or unnecessary. 

SECTION 504. PAYMENT OF TAXES AND IMPOSITIONS.  The 
Borrower shall pay or cause to be paid to the public officers charged with the collection 
thereof, promptly as the same become due, all taxes (or contributions or payments in lieu 
thereof), including but not limited to income, profits or property taxes, which may now or 
hereafter be lawfully imposed by the United States of America, any state or municipality 
or any political subdivision or subdivisions thereof, and all assessments for public 
improvements or other assessments, levies, license fees, charges for publicly supplied 
water or sewer services, excises, franchises, imposts and charges, general and special, 
ordinary and extraordinary (including interest, penalties and all costs resulting from 
delayed payment of any of the foregoing) of whatever name, nature and kind and whether 
or not now within the contemplation of the parties hereto, which are now or may hereafter 
be lawfully levied, assessed, charged or imposed on or against the Facilities or other assets 
of the Borrower; provided, however, that the Borrower shall not be required to pay or 
discharge or cause to be paid or discharged any tax, assessment, lien or other matter 
hereunder so long as the validity thereof is being contested by the Borrower in good faith 
and by appropriate legal proceedings diligently pursued and no Facilities of the Borrower 
nor any rent or income therefrom would be in immediate danger of being sold, forfeited, 
attached or lost. The Borrower will, upon written request, provide the Authority or the 
Bond Trustee with copies of any tax returns (federal, state, local or otherwise) and receipts 
for payments of taxes. 

SECTION 505. INSURANCE. The Borrower covenants to provide and 
maintain continuously insurance covering such risks, in such amounts and with such 
deductibles as shall be required by the terms and provisions of the Master Indenture. 

SECTION 506. TAX-EXEMPT STATUS OF BONDS AND THE 
BORROWER.  The Borrower agrees that throughout the term hereof: 

(a) It will not take any action or permit any action to be taken on its behalf, or 
cause or permit any circumstances within its control to arise or continue, if such action or 
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circumstances would cause the interest paid by the Authority on the Series 2019 Bonds to 
be included in the gross income of the holders for federal income tax purposes; 

(b) (i) It will take whatever actions are necessary to continue to be organized and 
operated in a manner which will preserve and maintain its status as an organization which 
is described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, exempt from federal income taxes under 
Section 501(a) of the Code; and (ii) the Borrower shall not perform any acts nor enter into 
any agreements which shall cause any revocation or adverse modification of such federal 
income tax status.  The Borrower agrees that it will not take any action or permit any action 
to be taken on its behalf or cause or permit any circumstance within its control to arise or 
continue, if such action or circumstance, or its expectation on the date of issue of the Series 
2019 Bonds, would cause the interest paid on the Series 2019 Bonds to be subject to federal 
income tax in the hands of the holders thereof; 

(c) No more than five percent (5%) of the net proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds 
(less Series 2019 Bond proceeds used to finance costs of issuance) will be used (i) in 
unrelated trades or businesses (within the meaning of Section 512(a) of the Code) of an 
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or (ii) in the trade or business of 
a person other than an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or a 
governmental entity; 

(d) The facilities financed or refinanced with proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds 
will be owned by the Borrower, or another organization exempt from federal income taxes 
under Section 501(a) of the Code and described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or a 
governmental entity; 

(e) The Borrower will not purchase, nor will it permit any related person (as 
defined in the Code) to purchase, Series 2019 Bonds of the Authority pursuant to any 
formal or informal arrangement in an amount related to the total amount payable under and 
secured by this Loan Agreement; 

(f) The average maturity of the Series 2019 Bonds, as determined pursuant to 
Section 147(b) of the Code, will not exceed 120% of the average reasonably expected 
economic life of the facilities financed and refinanced with the proceeds of the Series 2019 
Bonds; 

(g) As required by Section 513 hereof, the Borrower will pay to or for the 
account of the Authority all amounts needed to comply with the requirements of Section 
148 of the Code, with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds, including Section 148(f) which 
requires generally a rebate payment to the United States of arbitrage profit from investment 
of the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds in obligations other than tax-exempt obligations. 
The obligation of the Borrower to make such payments is unconditional and is not limited 
to funds representing the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds or income from the investment 
thereof or any other particular source. 
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SECTION 507. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  The Borrower shall, at no 
expense to the Authority, promptly comply in all material respects or cause compliance in 
all material respects with all laws, ordinances, orders, rules, regulations and requirements 
of duly constituted public authorities which may be applicable to the Borrower or to its 
Facilities and operations, including without limitation, Chapter 651, Florida Statutes (and 
any successor provisions). The Borrower shall cause the Minimum Liquid Reserve 
Account to be maintained and funded in an amount which, together with the moneys on 
deposit in the 2019 Reserve Account and any other account subsequently established in the 
Debt Service Reserve Fund, shall satisfy all of the Borrower's escrow requirements under 
Section 651.035, Florida Statutes (and any successor provisions) and prescribed in Section 
651.033, Florida Statutes, as amended (and any successor provisions).  Moneys in or to be 
deposited to any such renewal or replacement reserve escrows shall not be subject to any 
charges by the escrow agent, except escrow agent fees associated with administering the 
account, or subject to any liens, judgments, garnishments, creditor's claims, or other 
encumbrances against the Obligated Group or the Facilities, including, without limitation, 
the lien or the Trust Estate granted under the Master Indenture and the Mortgage. 

SECTION 508. RIGHT OF AUTHORITY OR BOND TRUSTEE TO 
PERFORM THE BORROWER'S COVENANTS; ADVANCES.  In the event that the 
Borrower shall fail to make any payment or perform any other act required to be performed 
hereunder, then and in each such case the Authority or the Bond Trustee may (but shall not 
be obligated to) remedy such default for the account of the Borrower and make advances 
for that purpose. No such performance or advance shall operate to release the Borrower 
from any such default and any sums so advanced by the Authority or the Bond Trustee 
shall be repayable by the Borrower on demand and shall bear interest at the Bond Trustee's 
prime rate of interest from the date of the advance until repaid. 

SECTION 509. INVESTMENTS.  The Borrower and the Authority agree that 
all moneys in any Fund established by the Bond Indenture may be invested in such 
Investment Securities as the Obligated Group Representative may direct in writing; 
provided, however, that any such directions shall conform to the requirements of the Bond 
Indenture. 

SECTION 510. THE BORROWER TO PERFORM CERTAIN 
COVENANTS UNDER BOND INDENTURE. The Borrower acknowledges that it has 
received an executed copy of the Bond Indenture, and that it is familiar with its provisions, 
and agrees to be bound to the fullest extent permitted by law to all provisions thereof 
directly or indirectly relating to it, and that, in consideration of the loan made hereunder, it 
will take all such actions as are required of it under the Bond Indenture to preserve and 
protect the rights of the Bond Trustee and of the Series 2019 Bondholders thereunder and 
that it will not take or effect any action which would cause a default thereunder or 
jeopardize such rights. The Borrower hereby assumes and agrees to perform all of the 
covenants and other obligations of the Authority under the Bond Indenture, excepting only 
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any approval or consents permitted or required to be given by the Authority thereunder, 
and those covenants contained in the Bond Indenture which are not within the control of 
the Borrower. However, nothing contained herein shall prevent the Authority from 
choosing from time to time, in its discretion, to perform any of the covenants or other 
obligations hereby assumed by the Borrower. 

SECTION 511. NO PERSONAL RECOURSE AGAINST AUTHORITY, 
INDEMNIFICATION. (a) In the exercise of the power of the Authority and its members, 
officers, employees and agents under this Loan Agreement including (without limiting the 
foregoing) the application of moneys and the investment of funds, neither the Authority 
nor its members, officers, employees or agents shall be accountable to the Borrower for 
any action taken or omitted by it or them except actions constituting gross negligence or 
willful misconduct. The Authority and such other persons shall be protected in its or their 
acting upon any paper or document believed by it or them to be genuine, and it or they may 
conclusively rely upon the advice of Counsel and may (but need not) require further 
evidence of any fact or matter before taking any action. No recourse shall be had by the 
Borrower for any claims based on this Loan Agreement or on the Bond Indenture against 
any member, officer, employee or agent of the Authority alleging personal liability on the 
part of such person. 

(b) The Borrower will indemnify and hold harmless the Authority and each 
member, officer and employee of the Authority against any and all claims, losses, damages 
or liabilities, joint and several, to which the Authority or such other persons may become 
subject, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) 
arise out of or are based upon any alleged act or omission by the Authority in connection 
with the issuance of any Series 2019 Bonds or the administration of the Bond Indenture or 
this Loan Agreement, unless the losses, damages or liabilities arise from malfeasance or 
nonfeasance in office, bad faith, gross negligence, willful misconduct, fraud or deceit of 
the Authority or of any member, officer or employee of the Authority. In the event any 
such claim is made or action brought against the Authority, or any member, officer or 
employee of the Authority, the Authority may direct the Borrower, to assume the defense 
of the claim and any action brought thereon and pay all reasonable expenses incurred 
therein or the Authority may assume the defense of any such claim or action, the reasonable 
costs of which shall be paid by the Borrower; provided, however, that counsel selected by 
the Authority to conduct such defense shall be approved by the Borrower, which approval 
shall not be unreasonably withheld, and further provided that the Borrower may engage its 
own counsel to participate in the defense of any such action. The defense of any such claim 
shall include the taking of all actions necessary or appropriate thereto. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Borrower shall not be obligated to indemnify and hold harmless the 
Authority, or any member, officer or employee of the Authority, against any costs, losses, 
damages or liabilities of the Authority pursuant to the terms of any settlement of claims for 
which the Authority is entitled to indemnification hereunder entered into without the 
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consent of the Borrower. The obligations of the Borrower under this Section shall survive 
the termination of this Loan Agreement. 

SECTION 512. INDEMNIFICATION OF THE BOND TRUSTEE. The 
Borrower shall at all times indemnify the Bond Trustee, its officers, directors, employees 
and agents from all liabilities, claims, causes of action and reasonable costs and expenses 
(including, without limitation, reasonable attorney's fees and expenses) imposed upon or 
asserted against the Bond Trustee, including its officers, directors, employees and agents, 
except as a result of its negligence or willful misconduct, on account of any actions taken 
or omitted to be taken by the Bond Trustee relating to or arising out of this Loan 
Agreement, the Bond Indenture or the Series 2019 Bonds. The obligations of the Borrower 
under this Section shall survive the termination of this Loan Agreement. 

SECTION 513. BONDS NOT TO BECOME ARBITRAGE BONDS. (a) As 
provided in the Bond Indenture, the Bond Trustee will invest moneys held by the Bond 
Trustee as directed in writing by the Obligated Group Representative. The Authority and 
the Borrower hereby covenant with each other and with the holders of the Series 2019 
Bonds that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Loan Agreement or any other 
instrument, they will neither make nor instruct the Bond Trustee to make any investment 
or other use of the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds, or take or omit to take any other 
action which would cause the Series 2019 Bonds to be arbitrage bonds under Section 148 
of the Code and the regulations thereunder, and that they will comply with the requirements 
of the Code and regulations throughout the terms of the Series 2019 Bonds. 

(b) Not later than 45 days after each "computation date" (as defined in the Code) 
for the Series 2019 Bonds, the Borrower shall provide to the Bond Trustee and the 
Authority a written statement, with appropriate supporting schedules, of the amount, if any, 
determined as of such computation date to be payable to the United States government with 
respect to Series 2019 Bonds pursuant to Section 148 of the Code, which written statement 
and supporting schedules may be prepared by the Borrower or by an accounting, consulting 
or financial advisory firm retained by it for such purpose. If any such statement indicates 
that a payment is required to be made under Section 148(f) of the Code, the Borrower shall 
make such payment directly to the United States government and shall file such related 
documentation as may be required to be filed with such payment. Evidence of such 
payment shall be provided to the Authority, and to the Bond Trustee. The Borrower shall 
retain records of all determinations made pursuant to the foregoing with regard to the Series 
2019 Bonds until six years after the retirement of the last Series 2019 Bond. 
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ARTICLE VI 
2019 PROJECT AND COSTS OF ISSUANCE 

SECTION 601. COSTS OF THE 2019 PROJECT; COSTS OF 
ISSUANCE.  (a) The Borrower will pay the costs of the 2019 Project from the proceeds 
of the Series 2019 Bonds, any Additional Bonds and other available moneys. The Borrower 
shall direct payment of the costs of the 2019 Project out of amounts deposited in the 2019 
Project Account of the Project Fund in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.02 of 
the Bond Indenture. Provided that no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the 
Borrower shall have the right to enforce payments from such 2019 Project Account of the 
Project Fund upon compliance with the procedures set forth in the Bond Indenture. 

(b) The Borrower shall direct payment of the costs of issuance related to the 
Series 2019 Bonds out of amounts deposited in the Costs of Issuance Fund by submitting 
to the Bond Trustee Requisitions in compliance with the provisions of Section 4.04 of the 
Bond Indenture and EXHIBIT A attached hereto.  Provided that no Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing, the Borrower shall have the right to enforce payments from 
such Costs of Issuance Fund upon compliance with the procedures set forth in the Bond 
Indenture. 

SECTION 602. GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS. The Borrower 
covenants that it will obtain or cause to be obtained all necessary approvals from any and 
all Regulatory Bodies requisite to the undertaking and completion of the 2019 Project. The 
Borrower further covenants that the 2019 Project, including any Capital Additions will be 
acquired, constructed and operated in compliance with all federal, state and local laws, 
ordinances and regulations applicable thereto. The Borrower will obtain or cause to be 
obtained all required occupancy permits and licenses from appropriate authorities 
authorizing the occupancy and use of the Facilities for the purposes contemplated by the 
Borrower. 

SECTION 603. BORROWER TO PAY BALANCE OF COSTS OF 2019 
PROJECT. If any funds deposited in the Project Fund available for payment of the costs 
of any Project are not sufficient to undertake and complete the 2019 Project in question 
and to pay all costs of the 2019 Project in full, the Borrower agrees to pay all such excess 
costs. No warranty, either express or implied, is made by the Authority or the Bond Trustee 
that the proceeds of any Series 2019 Bonds available for payment of the costs of the 2019 
Project will be sufficient to pay all such costs. 

SECTION 604. COMPLETION OF THE 2019 PROJECT. The Borrower 
shall cause the 2019 Project to be acquired, constructed, completed, furnished and equipped 
with reasonable dispatch and provide a certificate of completion (the "Completion 
Certificate") signed by the Obligated Group Representative stating: 

(a) the date on which the 2019 Project was substantially completed; 
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(b) that all other facilities necessary in connection with the 2019 Project have 
been acquired, constructed, installed, equipped and improved; 

(c) that the 2019 Project and those other facilities conform with all applicable 
zoning, planning, building, environmental and other similar governmental regulations; 

(d) that all 2019 Project costs then or theretofore due and payable have been 
paid; and 

(e) the amounts which the Bond Trustee shall retain in the 2019 Project Account 
of the Project Fund for the payment of Costs of the 2019 Project not yet due or for liabilities 
which the Borrower is contesting or which otherwise should be retained and the reasons 
such amounts should be retained. 

Such Completion Certificate shall be accompanied by copies of the certificates of 
occupancy for the 2019 Project and a certificate of the Obligated Group Representative 
that insurance has been obtained meeting the requirements of the Master Indenture. 
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ARTICLE VII 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 701. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.  Each of the following shall 
constitute an Event of Default: 

(a) If the Borrower fails to make any payment to the Bond Trustee when due 
pursuant to Section 401(a) or (b) of this Loan Agreement; or 

(b) If the Borrower fails to make any other payment or to perform any other 
covenant, condition or agreement herein on its part to be performed after any applicable 
cure period; or 

(c) If the Borrower proposes or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors 
or a composition agreement with all or a material part of its creditors, or a trustee, receiver, 
executor, conservator, liquidator, sequestrator or other judicial representative, similar or 
dissimilar, is appointed for the Borrower or any of its assets or revenue, or there is 
commenced any proceeding in liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement of 
debts, debtor rehabilitation, creditor adjustment or insolvency, local, state or federal, by or 
against the Borrower and if such is not vacated, dismissed or stayed on appeal within ninety 
(90) days; or 

(d) If the Bond Trustee, as the holder of the Series 2019 Master Note, receives 
notice from the Master Trustee that an Event of Default under the Master Indenture has 
occurred and is continuing. 

SECTION 702. NOTICE OF DEFAULTS; OPPORTUNITY TO CURE 
SUCH DEFAULTS.  (a) No default under 701(a) hereof shall constitute an Event of 
Default if the Borrower's failure to make any payment due under this Loan Agreement is 
cured within 10 days after the due date of the payment; provided, however, that in no event 
shall such cure period extend beyond the date the payment is due to the Series 2019 
Bondholders. 

(b) No default under Section 701(b) hereof shall constitute an Event of Default 
until actual notice of such default by registered or certified mail shall be given to the 
Obligated Group Representative by the Authority or the Bond Trustee and the Borrower 
shall have had 60 days after receipt of such notice to correct the default and shall not have 
corrected it; provided, however, if the default cannot be corrected within such 60-day 
period, it shall not constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the 
Borrower within the period and diligently pursued until the default is corrected. 

(c) The provisions of paragraphs (b) and (d) of Section 701 hereof are subject to 
the following limitations:  If by reason of acts of God, strikes, lockouts or other industrial 
disturbances, acts of public enemies, orders of any kind of the government of the United 
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States or of the State of Florida, or any department, agency, political subdivision or official 
thereof, or any civil or military authority, insurrections, riots, infection, epidemics, 
landslides, lightning, earthquakes, fires, hurricanes, storms, floods, washouts, droughts, 
arrests, restraint of government and people, civil disturbances, explosions, breakage or 
accident to machinery, partial or entire failure of utilities, or any other cause or event not 
reasonably within the control of the Borrower, the Borrower is unable in whole or in part 
to carry out its agreements referred to in paragraphs (b) or (d) of Section 701, the Borrower 
shall not be deemed in default during the continuance of such inability.  The Borrower shall 
use its best efforts to remedy with all reasonable dispatch the cause preventing it from 
carrying out its agreements, provided, that the settlement of strikes, lockouts and other 
industrial disturbances shall be entirely within the discretion of the Borrower, and the 
Borrower shall not be required to make settlement of strikes, lockouts and other industrial 
disturbances by acceding to the demands of the opposing party when such course is, in the 
judgment of the Borrower, unfavorable to the Borrower.  An event of default under the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed to be an Event of Default hereunder 
or under the Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 703. REMEDIES. If any Event of Default shall occur and be 
continuing, the Authority (or the Bond Trustee as assignee of the Authority) may at its 
option exercise any one or more of the following remedies: 

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce 
all rights of the Authority, and require the Borrower to carry out any agreements with or 
for the benefit of the Owners of the Series 2019 Bonds and to perform its duties under the 
Act or this Loan Agreement; or 

(b) by action or suit in equity require the Borrower to account as if it was the 
trustee of an express trust for the Authority; or 

(c) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful 
or in violation of the rights of the Authority; or 

(d) upon the filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial proceeding to 
enforce the rights of the Bond Trustee and the Series 2019 Bondholders, have appointed a 
receiver or receivers with respect to the Borrower and its Facilities, with such powers as 
the court making such appointment shall confer; or 

(e) upon notice to the Obligated Group Representative, accelerate the due dates 
of all sums due or to become due hereunder, if and to the extent that the Series 2019 Bonds 
have been accelerated under the Bond Indenture and such acceleration has not been 
annulled; or 

(f) enforce all rights and remedies as the holder of the Series 2019 Master Note 
under the Master Indenture. 
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SECTION 704. NO REMEDY EXCLUSIVE. No remedy herein conferred 
upon or reserved to the Authority is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy 
or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition 
to every other remedy given under this Loan Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law 
or in equity or by statute. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing 
upon an Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be 
a waiver thereof, but any such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as 
often as may be deemed expedient. In order to entitle the Authority or the Bond Trustee to 
exercise any remedy reserved to it in this Article, it shall not be necessary to give any 
notice, other than such notice as may be herein expressly required. 

SECTION 705. NO ADDITIONAL WAIVER IMPLIED BY ONE 
WAIVER. In the event the breach of any agreement contained in this Loan Agreement 
should be waived by either party, such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so 
waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other breach hereunder. 
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ARTICLE VIII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 801. NOTICES.  Except as otherwise permitted herein and in the 
Bond Indenture, all communications hereunder shall be in writing and, unless otherwise 
required under this Loan Agreement, shall be sufficiently given or made if (i) delivered 
personally to the person who is to receive the same, or (ii) mailed to such person by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, or (iii) by electronic mail or similar communications 
confirmed promptly in writing, addressed as follows: 

(a) If to the Authority: 

Lee County Industrial Development Authority 
2201 Second Street, Suite 500 
Fort Myers, Florida 33901 
Attention: Executive Director 

 
(b) If to the Borrower: 

The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. 
15000 Shell Point Boulevard 
Fort Myers, Florida 33908 
Attention: Vice President of Finance/CFO 
 

(c) If to the Bond Trustee: 

U.S. Bank National Association 
225 Water Street, Suite 700 
Jacksonville, Florida 32202 
Attention: Corporate Trust 

 
The Authority (upon written notice to the Obligated Group Representative) and the 
Borrower (upon written notice to the Authority) may designate different addresses from 
time to time for the purpose of receiving notices hereunder. A duplicate copy of each 
communication given by either party to the other shall also be given to the Bond Trustee 
at the address set forth above. 

SECTION 802. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Loan Agreement 
shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding 
shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

SECTION 803. REDEMPTION OF BONDS. If the Borrower is not in default 
in the payment of any sum or sums due hereunder, the Authority at the request of the 
Obligated Group Representative, at any time the Series 2019 Bonds are then redeemable 
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under the provisions of the Bond Indenture, shall forthwith take all steps that may be 
necessary under the applicable provisions of the Bond Indenture to effect redemption of all 
or as many of the then Outstanding Series 2019 Bonds on such redemption date as may be 
specified by the Obligated Group Representative. 

SECTION 804. COUNTERPARTS. This Loan Agreement may be executed 
in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together 
shall constitute but one and the same Loan Agreement 

SECTION 805. BENEFIT OF LOAN AGREEMENT. This Loan Agreement 
shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the Authority, the Borrower and their 
respective successors and assigns. In addition, the agreements and representations of the 
Borrower and the Authority herein contained shall inure to, but only to, the Bond Trustee 
for the benefit of the holders from time to time of all Bonds issued and Outstanding under 
the Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 806. TERMINATION. This Loan Agreement shall terminate on 
such date as the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on all Series 2019 Bonds and 
all other expenses payable by the Borrower hereunder shall have been paid (or provision 
for such payment shall have been made as provided in the Bond Indenture) and all other 
conditions of this Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture shall have been fully satisfied.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower's obligations under Sections 511, 512 and 
513 hereof shall survive any such termination. 

SECTION 807. GOVERNING LAW. This Loan Agreement shall be 
governed by the laws of the State of Florida. 

SECTION 808. ENTIRE LOAN AGREEMENT. This Loan Agreement 
constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, 
both written and oral, among the Authority and the Borrower with respect to the subject 
matter hereof. 

SECTION 809. AMENDMENTS. This Loan Agreement may be amended by 
the parties hereto subject to the provisions of Article XII of the Bond Indenture. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO LOAN AGREEMENT] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this 
Loan Agreement, all as of the day and year first above mentioned. 

(SEAL)  LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

   
   
ATTEST:   By:  
   Chairman 
   
By:    
 Secretary   

 
THE CHRISTIAN AND MISSIONARY 
ALLIANCE FOUNDATION, INC. d/b/a 
SHELL POINT  
 
 
By:  
 Vice President of Finance 
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EXHIBIT A  
FORM OF  

REQUISITION NO. ____ 
 

To: U.S. Bank National Association, as bond trustee (the "Bond Trustee") under the 
Bond Trust Indenture with the Lee County Industrial Development Authority (the 
"Authority"), dated as of June 1, 2019 (the "Bond Indenture") 

This Disbursement Request is made pursuant to Section 4.04 of the Bond Indenture 
and Section 601 of the Loan Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2019, between the Authority 
and The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point ("Shell 
Point") (the "Loan Agreement").  Terms used in this Disbursement Request shall have the 
meanings specified for them in the Bond Indenture. 

The Bond Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to make payment from the Costs 
of Issuance Fund as specified in Schedule A attached hereto. The undersigned authorized 
representative of Shell Point hereby certifies to you in connection with the amount for 
which payment is requested by this Disbursement Request, as follows: 

1. The obligations as set forth on this Disbursement Request were incurred in 
connection with the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds. 

2. All previous disbursements, if any, made pursuant to Section 4.04 of the 
Bond Indenture have been expended for Costs of Issuance described in prior Disbursement 
Requests, if any, submitted by the Authorized Shell Point Representative. 

3. This Disbursement Request is for costs that were properly incurred and are 
proper charges against the Costs of Issuance Fund. 

4. The expenditures of the amount requested under this Disbursement Request, 
when added to all disbursements under previous Disbursement Requests, will result in no 
more than two percent (2%) of the aggregate face amount of the Series 2019 Bonds being 
used for payment of costs of issuance related to the Series 2019 Bonds. 

5. Nothing has come to the attention of Shell Point that would cause it to 
conclude that the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Agreement are not 
true and correct as of the date hereof. 
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6. No event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes an Event of 
Default under the Bond Indenture or the Loan Agreement. 

 

Dated: __________, 2019  THE CHRISTIAN AND MISSIONARY 
ALLIANCE FOUNDATION, INC. d/b/a 
SHELL POINT  

   
   
  By:  
  Title: Authorized Shell Point Representative 
   
   
APPROVED:  U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 

as Bond Trustee 
   
   
  By:  
  Title: Assistant Vice President 
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SCHEDULE A 
 
 

DISBURSEMENT SCHEDULE 
 
 
TO STATEMENT NO. __ REQUESTING AND AUTHORIZING DISBURSEMENT OF 
FUNDS FROM THE COSTS OF ISSUANCE FUND PURSUANT TO SECTION 601 OF 
THE LOAN AGREEMENT between the Lee County Industrial Development Authority 
and The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point, a Florida 
not-for-profit corporation. 
 

[TO BE ATTACHED] 
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EXHIBIT D 
 
 

FORM OF BOND TRUST INDENTURE 
 

 

193



 
 
  
 
 
 
 

BOND TRUST INDENTURE 
 

from 
 

LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 

to 
 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Bond Trustee 

 
 
 
 

DATED AS OF JUNE 1, 2019 
 
 
 
 

Securing 
$____________ 

HEALTHCARE FACILITIES IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BONDS,  
SERIES 2019 (SHELL POINT/ALLIANCE OBLIGATED GROUP) 

(SHELL POINT PROJECT) 
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This BOND TRUST INDENTURE ("Bond Indenture") dated as of June 1, 2019, 
between the LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (the 
"Authority"), a public body corporate and politic organized and existing under the laws of 
the State of Florida, and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as bond trustee (the 
"Bond Trustee"), a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of 
the United States of America having its designated corporate trust office in Jacksonville, 
Florida. 

 
W I T N E S S E T H: 

 
WHEREAS, the Authority is organized under the provisions of the Constitution of 

the State of Florida and the provisions of Parts II and III, Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, as 
amended (the "Act"), for the purpose of assisting borrowers in the acquisition, construction, 
financing and refinancing of "projects," including "health care facilities" (as such terms are 
defined in the Act) in any incorporated or unincorporated area within Lee County, Florida 
(the "County"); and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has determined to undertake a financing for the benefit 
of The Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point, a Florida not-
for-profit corporation (the "Borrower"), as representative of an obligated group consisting 
of itself and The Alliance Community for Retirement Living, Inc.; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has determined to issue a series of its healthcare 
facilities improvement revenue bonds in order to loan the proceeds thereof to the Borrower 
for the principal purposes of (1) financing a portion of the costs (including reimbursement 
for prior related expenditures) relating to the acquisition, construction and equipping of a 
6-story approximately 196,952 square foot health center to be known as the Waterside 
Health Center, which will provide approximately 180 skilled nursing beds, comprised of 
162 private rooms and nine companion rooms, and including a medical clinic, physical 
therapy, dental and pharmacy facilities, multi-purpose meeting rooms, administrative 
offices, kitchen and related amenities; and the acquisition, construction and equipping of 
various capital improvements to the existing senior living facilities of the Obligated Group 
(as defined herein) as part of its capital improvement program, all located at 15101 Shell 
Point Boulevard, Fort Myers, Florida 33908 in Lee County, Florida (collectively, the "2019 
Project"), (2) funding capitalized interest on the Series 2019 Bonds for approximately 24 
months, (3) funding any necessary reserves, and (4) paying costs related to issuance of the 
Series 2019 Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, for the principal purposes of financing the 2019 Project the Authority 
will issue, in accordance with the provisions of this Bond Indenture, its Healthcare 
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Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated 
Group) (Shell Point Project) (the "Series 2019 Bonds"), in an aggregate principal amount 
of $_____________; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority will lend the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds to the 
Borrower, to be applied as described above, pursuant to a Loan Agreement (the "Loan 
Agreement"), dated as of June 1, 2019, between the Authority and the Borrower, wherein 
the Borrower agrees to make loan payments to the Authority at times and in amounts 
sufficient in the aggregate, among other things, to pay the principal or Redemption Price 
of, and interest on, the Series 2019 Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, to evidence and secure its payment obligations under the Loan 
Agreement with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds, the Borrower will deliver to the Bond 
Trustee, as the assignee of the Authority's rights under such Loan Agreement, a promissory 
note (the "Series 2019 Master Note") issued under and pursuant to an Amended and 
Restated Master Trust Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2016, as amended and 
supplemented (the "Master Indenture") among the Borrower and The Alliance for 
Retirement Living, Inc., as members of the obligated group described therein (the 
"Obligated Group"), and U.S. Bank National Association, as master trustee (the "Master 
Trustee"); and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2019 Bonds are secured by payments from the Obligated 
Group on an obligation issued under the Master Indenture on a parity with obligations 
issued by the Obligated Group related to (1) a certain term loan in the principal amount of 
$11,000,000; (2) the Authority's Healthcare Facilities Refunding and Improvement 
Revenue Bond (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated Group Project), Series 2016A issued in the 
original aggregate principal amount of $47,228,000; and (3) the Authority's Healthcare 
Facilities Refunding and Improvement Revenue Bond, Series 2016B (Shell Point/Alliance 
Obligated Group Project) issued in the original aggregate principal amount of 
$100,286,000; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to this Bond Indenture, as security for the obligations of the 
Authority with respect to the Bonds, the Authority will assign to the Bond Trustee, for the 
equal and ratable benefit of the Owners from time to time of the Bonds Outstanding 
hereunder, its right, title and interest in and to the Loan Agreement and the Series 2019 
Master Note, other than the Reserved Rights of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2019 Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds in the 
denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, in substantially the form of 
Exhibit "A" attached hereto; and 
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WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of the Series 2019 Bonds and of this Bond 
Indenture have in all respects been duly authorized and all things necessary to make the 
Series 2019 Bonds, when executed by the Authority and authenticated by the Bond Trustee, 
the valid and binding legal obligations of the Authority and to make this Bond Indenture a 
valid and binding agreement, have been done; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS BOND INDENTURE WITNESSETH, that to 
secure all Bonds issued and Outstanding under this Bond Indenture, the payment of the 
principal or Redemption Price (as the case may be) thereof and interest thereon, the rights 
of the Owners of the Bonds, and the performance of the covenants contained in the Bonds 
and herein, the Authority does hereby sell, assign, transfer, set over and pledge unto the 
Bond Trustee, its successors in trust and its assigns forever, all of the right, title and interest 
of (but not the obligations) of the Authority in and to the following (collectively, the "Trust 
Estate"), subject in each case, to the terms and provisions hereof: 

(a) the Loan Agreement, including, but not limited to, the present and 
continuing right to make claim for, collect and receive all sums of money payable 
or receivable thereunder or hereunder, the exclusive right to bring action and 
proceeding thereunder or for the enforcement thereof, the exclusive right to grant 
consents, approvals and waivers and enter into amendments and to do any and all 
other things which the Authority is or may become entitled to do thereunder; and 

(b) the Pledged Revenues as hereinafter defined; and 

(c) the Series 2019 Master Note; and 

(d) all moneys and investments in the funds and accounts created 
hereunder (including all income and receipts earned on the funds and accounts held 
by the Bond Trustee hereunder except as otherwise herein set forth), other than the 
Rebate Fund which shall be held in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.05 
hereof, and subject to the provisions hereof authorizing the establishment of 
separate accounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund as security solely for a 
particular series of Bonds; and 

(e) any and all other property rights and interests of any kind and nature 
from time to time hereafter by delivery or by writing of any kind granted, bargained, 
sold, alienated, demised, released, conveyed, assigned, transferred, mortgaged or 
pledged to the Bond Trustee, or otherwise subject hereto, as and for additional 
security herewith, by the Borrower or any other Person on its behalf or with its 
written consent or by the Authority or any other Person on its behalf or with its 
written consent, and the Bond Trustee is hereby authorized to receive any and all 
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property at any and all times and to hold and apply the same subject to the terms 
hereof. 

UNDER AND SUBJECT, however, to the Reserved Rights of the Authority; 
provided, however, that, notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary, the retention 
by the Authority of the Reserved Rights shall not authorize the Authority to accelerate the 
payment of amounts due under the Loan Agreement to collect payment of any amounts 
due under the Loan Agreement (except amounts due directly to the Authority in respect of 
the payment of its fees, expenses and indemnification by the Borrower), or apply such 
payments to amounts due from the Borrower under the Loan Agreement in respect of the 
Bonds; 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same and any other revenues, property, contracts 
or contract rights which may, by delivery, assignment or otherwise, be subject to the lien 
and security interest created by this Bond Indenture. 

IN TRUST, NEVERTHELESS, first, for the equal and ratable benefit and security 
of all present and future Owners of the Bonds issued and to be issued under this Bond 
Indenture, without preference, priority or distinction as to lien or otherwise of any one 
Bond over any other Bond except as specifically provided herein. 
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ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01. TERMS DEFINED IN RECITALS. The following terms 
shall have the meanings set forth in the recitals hereto: 
 
2019 Project 
Act 
Authority 
Bond Indenture 
Bond Trustee 
Borrower 
County 

Loan Agreement 
Master Indenture 
Master Trustee 
Obligated Group 
Series 2019 Bonds 
Series 2019 Master Note 
Trust Estate 

 
SECTION 1.02. OTHER DEFINED TERMS. The following terms used in 

this Bond Indenture and the Loan Agreement (including capitalized terms used but not 
defined in the recitals hereto) will have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
otherwise requires: 

"2019 Reserve Account" shall have the meaning described in Section 5.04 hereof. 

"2019 Sinking Fund Account" shall have the meaning described in Section 
5.03(b) hereof. 

"Additional Bonds" shall mean any Bonds or series of Bonds, other than the Series 
2019 Bonds, authenticated and delivered under this Bond Indenture. 

"Administrative Expenses" shall mean all expenses of the Authority which are 
properly chargeable as administrative expenses, including, without limitation, the 
reasonable fees and expenses of the Authority, including the Authority's employees, if any, 
and any professional advisors to the Authority reasonably necessary and fairly attributable, 
directly or indirectly, to the 2019 Project or the Bonds, and such other reasonable expenses 
as may be incurred by the Authority for such items as maintenance, rent, overhead and the 
like or in respect of liabilities for which the Borrower is obligated to provide 
indemnification under the Loan Agreement. 

"Architect" shall mean architect or engineer, or firm of architects or engineers, if 
any, appointed by a Borrower and who shall be registered in the State and qualified to pass 
upon architectural and engineering questions related to the 2019 Project, and who shall not 
be an employee, officer or director of the Borrower. 
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"Authority Board" shall mean the governing body of the Authority. 

"Authorized Denominations" shall mean (1) with respect to the Series 2019 
Bonds, $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof and (2) with respect to any series of 
Additional Bonds, the amount or amounts specified in the Supplemental Indenture 
authorizing such Additional Bonds. 

"Bond" or "Bonds" shall mean the Series 2019 Bonds and any Additional Bonds 
issued under this Bond Indenture. 

"Bond Counsel" shall mean Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., or any other 
attorney or firm of attorneys, selected by the Authority or, with the consent of the Authority 
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), the Borrower, having favorable skill 
and reputation and who shall be nationally recognized as having expertise in tax-exempt 
and government financings, including financings by or on behalf of nonprofit corporations. 

"Business Day" shall mean any day on which the Bond Trustee is open for 
business. 

"Certificate" shall mean a written statement signed by or on behalf of the Person 
charged with responsibility therefor. 

"Certified Authority Resolution" shall mean a copy of one or more resolutions 
certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Authority, under its seal, to have 
been duly adopted by the Authority Board and to be in effect on the date of such 
certification. 

"Certified Corporate Resolution" shall mean a copy of one or more resolutions 
of the Borrower under its seal, certified by the Borrower to have been duly adopted by the 
board or executive committee of the Borrower and to be in effect on the date of such 
certification. 

"Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the 
applicable regulations promulgated thereunder. 

"Construction Monitor" means zumBrunnen, Inc. and its successors and assigns. 

"Costs of Issuance Fund" means the fund created in Section 4.04 hereof. 

"Counsel" shall mean an attorney-at-law or law firm (who may be Bond Counsel 
or counsel for the Borrower, the Bond Trustee or the Authority). 
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"Debt Service Fund" shall mean the fund so designated and established pursuant 
to Section 5.03 hereof. 

"Debt Service Reserve Fund" shall mean the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
established under Section 5.04 hereof. 

"Defaulted Interest" shall have the meaning described in Section 2.06 hereof. 

"Disbursement Agreement" means the Construction Disbursement and 
Monitoring Agreement dated as of __________, 2019 among the Borrower, the 
Construction Monitor, the Master Trustee and the Bond Trustee. 

"DTC" shall mean The Depository Trust Company. 

"Electronic Notice" means notice through telecopy, telegraph, telex, facsimile, 
transmission, internet, e-mail or other electronic means of communication, capable of 
making a written record. 

"Event of Default" shall have the meaning described in Section 9.01 hereof. 

"Fiscal Year" shall mean the annual accounting year of the Borrower, which 
currently begins on the first day of July of each year. 

"Fitch" means Fitch Ratings, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Delaware, its successors and assigns, or, if such corporation shall be 
dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating 
agency, any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the 
Borrower. 

"Government Obligations" shall mean (1) direct obligations of, or obligations the 
principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of 
America, or (2) evidences of ownership in direct obligations of, or obligations the principal 
of and interest on which is unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, 
which obligations are held by a bank or trust company organized under the laws of the 
United States of America or any state thereof as custodian. 

"Interest Payment Date" shall mean (1) in the case of the Series 2019 Bonds, May 
15 and November 15 of each year, commencing November 15, 2019, and (2) in the case of 
any series of Additional Bonds, as set forth in the Supplemental Indenture providing for 
the issuance thereof. 
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"Investment Securities" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if 
and to the extent the same are at the time legal for investment of Authority funds: 

(1) Government Obligations; 

(2) debt obligations which are (a) issued by any state or political 
subdivision thereof or any agency or instrumentality of such state or political 
subdivision, and (b) at the time of purchase, rated in one of the two highest Rating 
Categories (without regard to any refinement or gradation of rating category by 
numerical modifier or otherwise) assigned by any Rating Agency; 

(3) any bond, debenture, note, participation certificate or other similar 
obligation issued by a government sponsored agency (such as the Federal National 
Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Bank System, the Federal Home 
Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal Farm Credit Bank or the Student Loan 
Marketing Association) which is either (a) rated in the highest Rating Category by 
any Rating Agency, or (b) backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of 
America; 

(4) U.S. denominated deposit account, certificates of deposit and banker’s 
acceptances of any bank, trust company, or savings and loan association, including 
the Master Trustee or its affiliates, which have a rating on their short-term 
certificates of deposit on the date of purchase in one of the three highest short-term 
Rating Categories (without regard to any refinement or gradation of rating category 
by numerical modifier or otherwise) assigned by any Rating Agency, and which 
mature not more than 360 days after the date of purchase; 

(5) commercial paper which is rated at the time of purchase in one of the 
three highest short-term Rating Categories (without regard to any refinement or 
gradation of rating category by numerical modifier or otherwise) assigned by any 
Rating Agency, and which matures not more than 270 days after the date of 
purchase; 

(6) bonds, notes, debentures or other evidences of indebtedness issued or 
guaranteed by a corporation which are, at the time of purchase, rated by any Rating 
Agency in any of the three highest Rating Categories (without regard to any 
refinement or gradation of rating category by numerical modifier or otherwise); 

(7) investment agreements with banks that at the time such agreement is 
executed are rated in one of the three highest Rating Categories (without regard to 
any refinement or gradation of rating category by numerical modifier or otherwise) 
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assigned by any Rating Agency or investment agreements with non-bank financial 
institutions, provided that (a) all of the unsecured, direct long-term debt of either the 
non-bank financial institution or the related guarantor of such non-bank financial 
institution is rated by any Rating Agency at the time such agreement is executed in 
one of the three highest Rating Categories (without regard to any refinement or 
gradation of rating category by numerical modifier or otherwise) for obligations of 
that nature; or (b) if such non-bank financial institution and any related guarantor 
have no outstanding long-term debt that is rated, all of the short-term debt of either 
the non-bank financial institution or the related guarantor of such non-bank financial 
institution is rated by any Rating Agency in the highest Rating Category (without 
regard to any refinement or gradation of the rating category by numerical modifier 
or otherwise) assigned to short term indebtedness by any Rating Agency; provided 
that if at any time after purchase the provider of the investment agreement drops 
below the two highest Rating Categories assigned by such Rating Agency, the 
investment agreement must, within 30 days, either (i) be assigned to a provider rated 
in one of the two highest Rating Categories, or (ii) be secured by the provider with 
collateral securities the fair market value of which, in relation to the amount of the 
investment agreement including principal and interest, is equal to at least 102%; 
investment agreements with banks or non-bank financial institutions shall not be 
permitted if no rating is available with respect to debt of the investment agreement 
provider or the related guarantor of such provider; 

(8) repurchase agreements with respect to and secured by Government 
Obligations or by obligations described in clause (2) and (3) above, which 
agreements may be entered into with a bank (including without limitation the Bond 
Trustee or the Master Trustee), a trust company, financial services firm, insurance 
company or a broker dealer which is a member of the Securities Investors Protection 
Corporation, provided that (a) the Master Trustee or a custodial agent of the Master 
Trustee has possession of the collateral and that the collateral is, to the knowledge 
of the Master Trustee, free and clear of third-party claims, (b) a master repurchase 
agreement or specific written repurchase agreement governs the transaction, (c) the 
collateral securities are valued no less frequently than monthly, (d) the fair market 
value of the collateral securities in relation to the amount of the repurchase 
obligation, including principal and interest, is equal to at least 103%, and (e) such 
obligations must be held in custody of the Master Trustee or Master Trustee's agent;  

(9) investments in a money market fund, which may be funds of the Bond 
Trustee or an affiliate of the Master Trustee, rated (at the time of purchase) in the 
highest Rating Category for this type of investment by any Rating Agency; and 
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(10) shares in any investment company, money market mutual fund, fixed 
income mutual fund, exchange traded fund or other collective investment fund 
registered under the federal Investment Company Act of 1940, whose shares are 
registered under the Securities Act of 1933, having assets of at least $100,000,000 
and having a rating AAAm or AAAm-G by a Rating Agency including money 
market mutual funds from which the Master Trustee, Bond Trustee or its affiliates 
derive a fee for investment advisory or other services to the fund. 

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, a corporation organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Delaware, its successors and assigns, or, if such corporation 
shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities 
rating agency, any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the 
Borrower. 

"Outstanding," in connection with any Bonds, shall mean, as of the time in 
question, all Bonds authenticated and delivered under this Bond Indenture except: 

(1) Bonds theretofore cancelled or required to be cancelled under Section 
2.08 hereof; 

(2) Bonds for the payment, redemption, or purchase of which cash or non-
callable Government Obligations, the principal of and interest on which, when due, 
will provide sufficient money to fully pay such Bonds or any portion thereof in 
accordance with the terms thereof, shall have been or shall be concurrently 
deposited with the Bond Trustee; provided that, if such Bonds are being redeemed 
the required notice of redemption shall have been given or provision satisfactory to 
the Bond Trustee or other appropriate party shall have been made therefor, and that 
if such Bonds are being purchased there shall be a firm commitment for the purchase 
and sale thereof; or 

(3) in substitution for which other Bonds have been authenticated and 
delivered pursuant to Article II of this Bond Indenture. 

"Owner" or "Owners" shall mean the Person or Persons in whose name or names 
a Bond is registered on the books of the Authority or DTC kept for that purpose in 
accordance with this Bond Indenture and the Bonds. 

"Person" shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a 
joint stock company, a trust, an unincorporated organization, a governmental body, any 
other political subdivision, municipality or municipal authority or any other group or entity. 
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"Pledged Revenues" shall mean all amounts payable by the Borrower to the 
Authority (except those representing the Administrative Expenses of the Authority) or to 
the Bond Trustee, as the assignee of the Authority's interests in the Loan Agreement and 
the Series 2019 Master Note. 

"Project Facilities" shall mean any or all of the land, leasehold interests and 
buildings, and all fixtures, equipment, furnishings and other physical assets and facilities, 
of the Borrower financed or to be financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds. 

"Project Fund" means the fund created in Section 4.01 hereof. 

"Rating Agency" means at any time any rating agency including Moody's, S&P or 
Fitch, then rating the Bonds at the request of the Authority or the Borrower. 

"Rating Category" means (i) with respect to any long-term rating category, all 
ratings designated by a particular letter or combination of letters, without regard to any 
numerical modifier, plus or minus sign or other modifier and (ii) with respect to any short-
term or commercial paper rating category, all ratings designated by a particular letter or 
combination of letters and taking into account any numerical modifier, but not any plus or 
minus sign or other modifier. 

"Rebate Fund" shall mean the fund so designated established pursuant to Section 
5.05 of this Bond Indenture. 

"Redemption Price," where used with respect to a Bond, shall mean the principal 
amount of such Bond plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof 
pursuant to this Bond Indenture. 

"Regular Record Date" shall mean the fifteenth (15th) day (whether or not a 
Business Day) of the calendar month next preceding each Interest Payment Date. 

"Representation Letter" shall mean the Blanket Issuer Letter of Representations 
signed by the Authority in the form prescribed by DTC. 

"Reserve Requirement" shall mean, with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds, 
$____________, and with respect to any Additional Bonds such amount, if any, that is set 
forth in the Supplemental Indenture executed and delivered in connection with such 
Additional Bonds. 

"Reserved Rights" shall mean the rights of the Authority (1) to receive payment 
of any Administrative Expenses, (2) to execute or grant any consent or approval expressly 
provided to be granted or approved by the Authority under the Loan Agreement or the 
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Master Indenture, and (3) the right to indemnification pursuant to Section 511 of the Loan 
Agreement. 

"S&P" means S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global, Inc., a corporation 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, its successors and their 
assigns, or, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform 
the functions of a securities rating agency, any other nationally recognized securities rating 
agency designated by the Borrower. 

"Series 2019 Term Bonds" shall mean the Series 2019 Bonds maturing on 
November 15, 20__, November 15, 20__ and November 15, 20__, respectively, which are 
subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in accordance with the provisions of the 
Series 2019 Bonds and Section 5.03(b) hereof. 

"Special Record Date" for the payment of any Defaulted Interest means a date 
fixed by the Bond Trustee in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.06 of this Bond 
Indenture. 

"State" shall mean the State of Florida. 

"Supplemental Indenture" shall mean any supplement to this Bond Indenture 
authorized pursuant to Section 12.01 or 12.02 hereof. 

"Tax Agreement" shall mean any agreement by or among the Borrower, the 
Authority and the Bond Trustee, or any of them, executed in connection with the issuance 
of any series of Tax-Exempt Bonds, in form satisfactory to Bond Counsel, for the purpose 
of setting forth certain expectations of the Authority and the Borrower with respect to the 
application of the proceeds of the Bonds and establishing procedures for the purpose of 
ensuring the continued exclusion from gross income for Federal income tax purposes of 
the interest on such Bonds. 

"Tax-Exempt Bonds" shall mean any Bonds, including the Series 2019 Bonds, 
issued hereunder as to which Bond Counsel has delivered an opinion (which has not been 
modified or withdrawn at the time in question) to the effect that, except for certain 
exceptions noted in said opinion, the interest on such Bonds is excluded from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes under Section 103(a) of the Code (or any successor 
provision thereto). 

The words "hereof," "herein," "hereto," "hereby" and "hereunder" refer to this Bond 
Indenture. 
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Every "request," "requisition," "order," "demand," "application," "notice," 
"statement," "Certificate," "consent" or similar action hereunder by the Authority shall, 
unless the form thereof is specifically provided, be in writing signed by an officer of the 
Authority. 

All words importing Persons include firms, associations and corporations, and all 
words importing the singular number include the plural number and vice versa. All Persons 
importing other goods shall be deemed "importers." 
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ARTICLE II 
THE BONDS 

 
SECTION 2.01. FORMS AND TERMS OF SERIES 2019 BONDS AND 

ADDITIONAL BONDS. (a) The Series 2019 Bonds shall be issued hereunder in the 
aggregate principal amount of $_____________ and shall be in the form set forth in 
EXHIBIT A hereto, with appropriate variations, omissions and insertions as permitted or 
required by this Bond Indenture.  The Series 2019 Bonds shall be initially dated June __, 
2019, and shall mature on the following dates and bear interest at the following rates: 

 
Maturity 

(November 15)  Principal Amount  Interest Rate 
     

  $  % 
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

 

(b) Any series of Additional Bonds shall be in such aggregate principal amounts 
and may contain such terms, not contrary to the Act or this Bond Indenture, as determined 
by the Authority and set forth in such Bonds and the Supplemental Indenture authorizing 
the issuance thereof. 

(c) All Bonds shall be issued by the Authority and authenticated by the Bond 
Trustee only in Authorized Denominations. All Bonds shall provide that principal or 
Redemption Price and interest in respect thereof shall be payable only out of the Trust 
Estate but the Authority, at its option and upon deposit with the Bond Trustee by the 
Borrower of the moneys required for such payment, may make other moneys available for 
that purpose.  All payments of principal, interest and Redemption Price, if any, shall be 
made at the times and places and in the manner set forth in the form of the Bonds. 

SECTION 2.02. EXECUTION. All Bonds shall be executed by the manual or 
facsimile signature of the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Authority, and its corporate seal 
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thereon (which may be in facsimile) shall be attested by the manual or facsimile signature 
of its Secretary or Assistant Secretary. Bonds executed as above provided may be issued 
and shall, upon request of the Authority, be authenticated by the Bond Trustee, 
notwithstanding that one or both of the officers signing any Bond shall have ceased to hold 
office at the time of issuance or authentication or shall not have held office at the date of 
the Bonds. 

SECTION 2.03. AUTHENTICATION. No Bond shall be valid until the 
certificate of authentication shall have been duly executed by the Bond Trustee, and such 
authentication shall be proof that the Owner is entitled to the benefit of the trust hereby 
created. 

SECTION 2.04. REGISTRATION, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE. The 
Authority shall cause to be kept at the designated corporate office of the Bond Trustee a 
register (herein sometimes referred to as the "Bond Register") in which, subject to such 
reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Authority shall provide for the registration 
of Bonds and the transfer of Bonds. The Bond Trustee is hereby appointed Bond Registrar 
for the purpose of registering Bonds and transferring Bonds as herein provided. 

Upon surrender for transfer of any Bond at the designated corporate trust office of 
the Bond Trustee, the Authority shall execute, and the Bond Trustee shall authenticate and 
deliver, in the name of the designated transferee or transferees, one or more new Bonds of 
any Authorized Denominations, of a like aggregate principal amount. 

At the option of the Owner, Bonds may be exchanged for other Bonds of any 
Authorized Denominations, of a like aggregate principal amount, upon surrender of the 
Bonds to be exchanged at such office. Whenever any Bonds are so surrendered for 
exchange, the Authority shall execute, and the Bond Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, 
the Bonds which the Owner making the exchange is entitled to receive. 

All Bonds issued upon any transfer or exchange of Bonds shall be the valid 
obligations of the Authority, evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits 
under this Bond Indenture, as the Bonds surrendered upon such transfer or exchange. 

Every Bond presented or surrendered for transfer or exchange shall be duly 
endorsed (with signatures guaranteed, if so requested by the Bond Trustee), or be 
accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Authority and 
the Bond Trustee duly executed by the Owner thereof or his attorney duly authorized in 
writing. 
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No service charge shall be made for any transfer or exchange of Bonds, but the 
Authority may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental 
charge that may be imposed in connection with any transfer of Bonds. 

The Authority and the Bond Trustee shall not be required (i) to issue, transfer or 
exchange any Bond during a period of 15 days before the day of the mailing of a notice of 
redemption of Bonds selected for redemption, or (ii) to transfer or exchange any Bond so 
selected for redemption in whole or in part. 

The Authority, the Bond Trustee and any paying agent may deem and treat the 
Person in whose name a Bond shall be registered as the absolute owner thereof, whether 
the Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account 
of, the principal of the Bond and all such payments so made to any such Person or upon 
his order shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon the Bond to 
the extent of the sum or sums so paid, and neither the Authority nor the Bond Trustee shall 
be affected by any notice to the contrary. For all other purposes hereunder, the Bond 
Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon the registration books of the Bond Trustee as to the 
identity of each Owner of Bonds. 

SECTION 2.05. MUTILATED, DESTROYED, LOST OR STOLEN 
BONDS. If any Bond shall become mutilated, the Authority shall execute and the Bond 
Trustee shall thereupon authenticate and deliver a new Bond of like tenor and denomination 
in exchange and substitution for the Bond so mutilated, but only upon surrender to the 
Bond Trustee of such mutilated Bond for cancellation, and the Authority and the Bond 
Trustee may require reasonable indemnity therefor. If any Bond shall be reported lost, 
stolen or destroyed, evidence as to the ownership and the loss, theft or destruction thereof 
shall be submitted to the Authority and the Bond Trustee and if such evidence shall be 
satisfactory to both and indemnity satisfactory to both shall be given, the Authority shall 
execute and thereupon the Bond Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like 
tenor and denomination. The cost of providing any substitute Bond under the provisions of 
this Section shall be borne by the Owner for whose benefit such substitute Bond is 
provided. If any such mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Bond shall have matured or be 
about to mature, the Authority may, with the consent of the Bond Trustee, pay to the Owner 
the principal amount of such Bond upon the maturity thereof and the compliance with the 
aforesaid conditions by such Owner, without the issuance of a substitute Bond therefor. 

Every substituted Bond issued pursuant to this Section 2.05 shall constitute an 
additional contractual obligation of the Authority, whether or not the Bond alleged to have 
been destroyed, lost or stolen shall be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be 
entitled to all the benefits of this Bond Indenture equally and ratably with any and all other 
Bonds duly issued hereunder. 
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All Bonds shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the foregoing 
provisions are exclusive with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, 
destroyed, lost or stolen Bonds, and shall preclude any and all other rights or remedies 
notwithstanding any law or statute existing or hereafter enacted to the contrary with respect 
to the replacement or payment of negotiable instruments, investments or other securities 
without their surrender. 

SECTION 2.06. PLACE AND MANNER OF PAYMENT; PERSONS 
ENTITLED THERETO.  (a) The principal or Redemption Price of each Bond shall be 
paid without being presented for payment if the Bonds are then registered in book-entry 
only form.  In the case of any redemption of less than the entire principal amount of any 
Bond, the Bond Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Owners, without charge, a 
new Bond of the same series and maturity in a denomination equal to the unredeemed 
principal amount of such Bond. 

(b) Interest on any Bond which is payable, and is punctually paid or duly 
provided for, on any Interest Payment Date shall be paid to the Owner of each Bond as of 
the close of business on the Regular Record Date for such interest. Any interest on any 
Bond which is payable but is not punctually paid or provided for on any Interest Payment 
Date (herein called "Defaulted Interest"), shall forthwith cease to be payable to the Owner 
on the relevant Regular Record Date, and such Defaulted Interest shall be paid to the Owner 
in whose name the Bond is registered at the close of business on a Special Record Date to 
be fixed by the Bond Trustee, such date to be not less than 10 days (whether or not a 
business day) prior to the date of proposed payment. The Bond Trustee shall, at the expense 
of the Authority, cause notice of the proposed payment of such Defaulted Interest and the 
Special Record Date therefor to be mailed, first-class postage prepaid, to each Owner of 
record five days before the mailing date, at his address as it appears in the bond register, 
not less than 10 days prior to such Special Record Date. 

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) above, interest on 
any Bonds and the Redemption Price of any Bonds redeemed by mandatory sinking fund 
redemption may be paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account in 
any member bank of the Federal Reserve System designated in writing by the Owner of 
Bonds in an aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more not less than 15 days prior 
to the applicable Interest Payment Date or redemption date; provided, however, that the 
Bond Trustee's records with respect to the payment of the principal of any Bond in 
accordance with this subsection shall be conclusive and binding on the Owner of any Bond 
so paid and each successive Owner thereof. Any such notice provided by an Owner  in 
accordance with the preceding sentence may provide that it shall be effective for any and 
all future payment dates until otherwise specified in writing. 
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SECTION 2.07. TEMPORARY BONDS. Pending preparation of definitive 
Bonds of any series, or by agreement with the purchasers of all Bonds of any series, the 
Authority may issue and, upon its request, the Bond Trustee shall authenticate, in lieu of 
definitive Bonds one or more temporary printed or typewritten Bonds in Authorized 
Denominations, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Bonds in lieu of which they are 
issued and with such appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations 
as the officers executing such Bonds may determine as evidenced by their execution of 
such Bonds. Upon request of the Authority, the Bond Trustee shall authenticate definitive 
Bonds in exchange for and upon surrender of an equal principal amount of temporary 
Bonds. Until so exchanged, temporary Bonds shall have the same rights, remedies and 
security hereunder as definitive Bonds. 

SECTION 2.08. CANCELLATION OF SURRENDERED BONDS. All 
Bonds surrendered for payment, redemption, transfer, exchange or purchase, and all Bonds 
purchased with moneys available for that purpose in any fund established under this Bond 
Indenture, shall, at the time of such payment, redemption, transfer, exchange or purchase 
be cancelled by the Bond Trustee. If the Authority shall acquire any of the Bonds, however, 
such acquisition shall not operate as a redemption or satisfaction of the indebtedness 
represented by such Bonds unless and until the same are surrendered to the Bond Trustee 
for cancellation. The Bond Trustee shall make appropriate notations in its records in respect 
of all Bonds cancelled by it. 

SECTION 2.09. PAYMENTS ON SATURDAYS, SUNDAYS, HOLIDAYS 
OR BANK HOLIDAYS. Whenever the due date for payment of interest, Redemption 
Price or principal of the Bonds or the date fixed for redemption of any Bond is not a 
Business Day, then payment of such interest, Redemption Price or principal need not be 
made on such date, but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same 
force and effect as if made on the due date for payment of principal, interest or Redemption 
Price and no interest shall accrue thereon for any period beginning on such day and ending 
on the payment date. 

SECTION 2.10. BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM FOR SERIES 2019 
BONDS. (a) The Series 2019 Bonds shall initially be issued in the form of one fully-
registered Series 2019 Bond for the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2019 Bonds 
of each maturity, which Series 2019 Bonds shall be registered in the name of Cede & Co., 
as nominee of DTC. Series 2019 Bonds issued in the name of Cede & Co. in accordance 
with the provisions of this Section may be issued in typewritten form satisfactory to DTC, 
executed on behalf of the Authority by the manual or facsimile signature of its Chair or 
Vice Chair with the corporate seal of the Authority, or a facsimile thereof, affixed or 
imprinted thereon and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary or 
Assistant Secretary of the Authority; provided that no Series 2019 Bond shall be valid for 
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any purpose unless authenticated by the manual signature of a duly authorized agent of the 
Bond Trustee. Except as provided in paragraph (g) below all of the Series 2019 Bonds shall 
be registered in the Bond Register kept by the Bond Trustee in the name of Cede & Co., as 
nominee of DTC; provided that if DTC shall request that the Series 2019 Bonds be 
registered in the name of a different nominee, the Bond Trustee shall exchange all or any 
portion of the Series 2019 Bonds for an equal aggregate principal amount of Series 2019 
Bonds registered in the name of such nominee or nominees of DTC. No person other than 
DTC or its nominee shall be entitled to receive from the Authority or the Bond Trustee 
either a Series 2019 Bond or any other evidence of ownership of the Series 2019 Bonds, or 
any right to receive any payment in respect thereof unless DTC or its nominee shall transfer 
record ownership of all or any portion of the Series 2019 Bonds on the registration books 
maintained by the Bond Trustee, in connection with discontinuing the book entry system 
as provided in paragraph (g) below or otherwise. 

(b) So long as the Series 2019 Bonds or any portion thereof are registered in the 
name of DTC or any nominee thereof, all payments of the principal or Redemption Price 
of or interest on such Series 2019 Bonds shall be made to DTC or its nominee in same-day 
funds or the equivalent on the dates provided for such payments under this Bond Indenture. 
Each such payment to DTC or its nominee shall be valid and effective to fully discharge 
all liability of the Authority, the Bond Trustee, and the Borrower with respect to the 
principal or Redemption Price of or interest on the Series 2019 Bonds to the extent of the 
sum or sums so paid. In the event of the redemption of less than all of the Series 2019 
Bonds Outstanding, the Bond Trustee shall not require surrender by DTC or its nominee 
of the Series 2019 Bonds so redeemed, but DTC (or its nominee) may retain such Series 
2019 Bonds and make an appropriate notation on the Series 2019 Bond certificate as to the 
amount of such partial redemption; provided that, in each case, the Bond Trustee shall 
request, and DTC shall deliver to the Bond Trustee, a written confirmation of such partial 
redemption and thereafter the records maintained by the Bond Trustee shall be conclusive 
as to the amount of the Series 2019 Bonds and maturity which have been redeemed. 

(c) The Authority and the Bond Trustee shall treat DTC (or its nominee) as the 
sole and exclusive Owner of the Series 2019 Bonds registered in its name for the purposes 
of payment of the principal or Redemption Price of or interest on the Series 2019 Bonds, 
selecting the Series 2019 Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, giving any notice 
permitted or required to be given to Owners of Series 2019 Bonds under this Bond 
Indenture, registering the transfer of Series 2019 Bonds, obtaining any consent or other 
action to be taken by Owners of Series 2019 Bonds and for all other purposes whatsoever; 
and neither the Authority nor the Bond Trustee shall be affected by any notice to the 
contrary. None of the Authority, the Bond Trustee, and the Borrower shall have any 
responsibility or obligation to any participant in DTC, any person claiming a beneficial 
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ownership interest in the Series 2019 Bonds under or through DTC or any such participant, 
or any other person which is not shown on the Bond Register of the Bond Trustee as being 
an Owner, with respect to: (1) the Series 2019 Bonds; or (2) the accuracy of any records 
maintained by DTC or any such payment DTC or any such participant; (3) any notice 
required to be given to Owners of Series 2019 Bonds under this Bond Indenture; (4) the 
selection by DTC or any such participant of any person to receive payment in the event of 
a partial redemption of the Series 2019 Bonds; or (5) any consent given or other action 
taken by DTC as the Owner of the Series 2019 Bonds. 

(d) So long as the Series 2019 Bonds or any portion thereof are registered in the 
name of DTC or any nominee thereof, all notices required or permitted to be given to the 
Owners of Series 2019 Bonds under this Bond Indenture shall be given to DTC as provided 
in the operational requirements of DTC as agreed in the Representation Letter. 

(e) In connection with any notice or other communication to be provided to 
Owners of Series 2019 Bonds pursuant to this Bond Indenture by the Authority or the Bond 
Trustee with respect to any consent or other action to be taken by Owners of Series 2019 
Bonds, DTC shall consider the date of receipt of notice requesting such consent or other 
action as the record date for such consent or other action, provided that the Authority or 
the Bond Trustee may establish a special record date for such consent or other action. The 
Authority or the Bond Trustee shall give DTC notice of such special record date not less 
than 15 calendar days in advance of such special record date to the extent possible. 

(f) At or prior to the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, the Authority shall 
execute and deliver to DTC the Representation Letter.  Any successor Bond Trustee shall, 
in the written acceptance of its duties under this Bond Indenture, agree to take any actions 
necessary from time to time to comply with the requirements of DTC incorporated in the 
Representation Letter. 

(g) The book-entry system for registration of the ownership of the Series 2019 
Bonds may be discontinued at any time if: (1) after notice to the Authority and the Bond 
Trustee, DTC determines to resign as securities depository for the Series 2019 Bonds; or 
(2) the Borrower determines (and notifies the Authority of its determination) that 
continuation of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or through a successor 
securities depository) is (A) not in the best interests of the beneficial owners of the Series 
2019 Bonds or (B) having an adverse impact on the operations of the Borrower or the Bond 
Trustee. In any such event, unless the Authority appoints a successor securities depository, 
the Series 2019 Bonds shall be delivered in registered certificate form to such persons, and 
in such maturities and principal amounts, as may be designated in writing by DTC, but 
without any liability on the part of the Authority, the Borrower or the Bond Trustee for the 
accuracy of such designation. Whenever DTC requests the Authority and the Bond Trustee 
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to do so, the Authority and the Bond Trustee shall cooperate with DTC in taking 
appropriate action after reasonable written notice to arrange for another securities 
depository to maintain custody of certificates evidencing the Series 2019 Bonds. If a 
successor securities depository is appointed, this Section 2.10 shall be amended as 
necessary to reflect such succession and to incorporate provisions required by the 
successor. 

(h) In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this 
Section 2.10 and the provisions of the other Sections of this Bond Indenture as they relate 
to the Series 2019 Bonds, the provisions of this Section 2.10 shall control. 
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ARTICLE III 
ISSUANCE OF BONDS 

SECTION 3.01. ISSUANCE OF BONDS. The Authority shall issue the Series 
2019 Bonds upon execution of this Bond Indenture; and the Bond Trustee shall, at the 
Authority's written request, authenticate such Series 2019 Bonds and deliver them as 
specified in such request. 

SECTION 3.02. RECEIPT AND APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS OF 
SERIES 2019 BONDS.  The Bond Trustee shall apply the proceeds from the sale of the 
Series 2019 Bonds as set forth in a certificate executed by the Authority and the Borrower 
on the date of issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds.  The Bond Trustee is hereby directed to 
create such subaccounts as described in such certificate.  The subaccounts so created shall 
be used in accordance with the provisions herein. 

SECTION 3.03. ISSUANCE OF ADDITIONAL BONDS. The Authority 
may issue one or more series of Additional Bonds from time to time and lend the proceeds 
thereof to the Borrower under the Loan Agreement to provide funds for any purpose 
permitted under the Act. Each series of Additional Bonds shall be issued pursuant to a 
Supplemental Indenture and shall be equally and ratably secured under this Bond Indenture 
with all Bonds previously issued hereunder, without preference, priority or distinction of 
any Bond over any other Bond except as herein and in the applicable Supplemental 
Indenture provided. Such Additional Bonds shall be dated, shall have an appropriate series 
designation, and shall contain such terms as to rate of interest, maturity and redemption as 
may be provided in a Supplemental Indenture. The Bond Trustee shall, at the request of 
the Authority, authenticate the Additional Bonds and deliver them as specified in the 
request, but only upon receipt of: 

(a) a Certified Authority Resolution: (1) stating the purpose and amount of the 
issue; (2) authorizing the execution of a Supplemental Indenture establishing the series of 
Bonds to be issued; (3) authorizing the execution and delivery of the Bonds to be issued; 
and (4) if the purpose is refunding, authorizing redemption of the Bonds to be redeemed as 
part of the refunding; 

(b) a Supplemental Indenture setting forth the terms and form of Bonds thereof 
and directing the payments to be made into the funds and accounts in respect thereof as 
provided in Article V hereof (and the manner of making payments into and disbursement 
from such funds) which Supplemental Indenture may provide for the creation of additional 
funds; 
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(c) Certified Corporate Resolutions of the Borrower: (1) approving the issuance 
of the series of Additional Bonds and the terms thereof; and (2) authorizing the execution 
of any required amendments or supplements to the Loan Agreement; 

(d) a supplement to the Loan Agreement duly executed and delivered by the 
Authority and the Borrower (or the Borrower on behalf of the Borrower), which shall 
require the Borrower to pay additional amounts to the Authority or its assigns, as may be 
required to enable the Authority to comply with the requirements of the Supplemental 
Indenture with respect to the Additional Bonds; 

(e) an Obligation or Obligations issued under the Master Indenture to evidence 
and secure the Borrower's payment obligations under the Loan Agreement in respect of 
such Additional Bonds, together with a supplement to the Master Indenture providing for 
the issuance thereof, together with evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Bond Trustee 
that the indebtedness represented by the Additional Bonds has been incurred in conformity 
with the provisions of the Master Indenture; and 

(f) an opinion or opinions of Counsel to the effect that: (1) all conditions 
prescribed herein as precedent to the issuance have been fulfilled; (2) the Additional Bonds 
have been validly authorized and executed and when authenticated and delivered pursuant 
to the request of the Authority will be valid obligations of the Authority entitled to the 
benefit of the trust created hereby; (3) any consents of any governmental authorities 
required in connection with the issuance of such Additional Bonds have been obtained 
(except as to the possible application of state securities laws, as to which no opinion need 
be expressed); and (4) all documents delivered by the Authority and the Borrower in 
connection with the issuance of such Additional Bonds have been duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate action and such documents have been duly executed and delivered on 
behalf of the Authority and the Borrower. 

SECTION 3.04. DISPOSITION OF PROCEEDS OF ADDITIONAL 
BONDS. Upon the issuance and delivery of any series of Additional Bonds, the Authority 
shall forthwith transfer the proceeds to the Bond Trustee, and the Bond Trustee shall apply 
such proceeds in accordance with the terms of the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the 
issuance of such series. 
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ARTICLE IV 
PROJECT FUND 

 
SECTION 4.01. ESTABLISHMENT OF PROJECT FUND AND 

ACCOUNTS. There is hereby established a Project Fund from which the Bond Trustee 
shall pay Project costs in accordance with the terms hereof. The Bond Trustee shall 
establish a "2019 Project Account" in the Project Fund for the payment of the costs of the 
2019 Project. The Bond Trustee shall establish an additional Account in the Project Fund 
for the purpose of paying the costs of any future Project to be paid from the proceeds of a 
series of Additional Bonds as directed in a Supplemental Indenture providing for the 
issuance of such Additional Bonds. All moneys in each Account of the Project Fund, until 
applied to pay the costs of the applicable Project (including, without limitation, costs 
related to the issuance of Bonds and financing costs during the construction of a Project 
and for a reasonable period thereafter), shall be held for the security of all Bonds 
Outstanding hereunder. The Borrower may, from time to time, deposit moneys in any 
Account of the Project Fund for the purpose of paying the costs of any Project and may 
direct the Bond Trustee to establish other accounts within any Project Fund whenever, in 
the opinion of the Borrower, it is appropriate to maintain separate accounting of moneys 
therein. 

SECTION 4.02. PAYMENTS FROM PROJECT FUND. The Bond Trustee 
shall make payments from any Account of the Project Fund only upon receipt of: 

(a) in every case, a Requisition signed by the Borrower, utilizing the form of 
requisition attached to the Disbursement Agreement.  Requests for disbursements from 
such account by the Borrower to pay costs of the 2019 Project are to be made by the Bond 
Trustee in accordance with the Disbursement Agreement. 

(b) in case the payment is to discharge indebtedness of the Borrower, the 
proceeds of which were used for payments properly chargeable against any Account of the 
Project Fund, any notes or other evidences of the indebtedness to be discharged, which 
shall thereupon be cancelled by the Bond Trustee and returned to the issuer thereof. 
Whenever payments are made to reimburse the Borrower for advances or to discharge 
indebtedness of the Borrower, the Requisition and the Certificate (if appropriate) shall 
relate to the underlying obligation for which the Borrower is being reimbursed or for the 
payment of which the indebtedness was incurred and shall contain the information with 
respect to such underlying obligation as required by (a) above. 

The Bond Trustee shall furnish to the Authority, upon its written request, copies of 
any or all Requisitions or summary statements thereof. 

223



 

25 

SECTION 4.03. PROCEDURE UPON COMPLETION OF PROJECTS. 
Upon the completion of the 2019 Project and any additional Project the costs of which are 
to be paid from any Account of the Project Fund, the Borrower shall furnish the Bond 
Trustee with its certificate, which may be given in reliance upon appropriate certifications 
of the Architect, showing such completion and the date thereof and certifying that all 
construction has been completed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications 
and approved changes, if any, and that all costs of such Project have been paid or stating 
the amounts to be reserved for the payment of any unpaid costs and certifying that such 
amounts are sufficient to pay such costs. The Bond Trustee shall thereupon transfer the 
balance in the applicable Account of the Project Fund, other than amounts therein not 
reserved for the payment of unpaid costs of the applicable Project, based upon the written 
direction of the Borrower or as otherwise directed in a Supplemental Indenture pursuant to 
which any Account of the Project Fund is established; provided, however, that in the case 
of amounts in any Account of the Project Fund constituting proceeds of any series of Tax-
Exempt Bonds, unless such amount is to be used solely for payment of principal or interest 
on the related Tax-Exempt Bonds, such direction shall be accompanied by an opinion of 
Bond Counsel to the effect that the application of such amounts in accordance with the 
written direction of the Borrower will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes of the interest on such Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

SECTION 4.04. ESTABLISHMENT OF COSTS OF ISSUANCE FUND.  
There is hereby created, and the Bond Trustee shall so establish, a "Costs of Issuance Fund" 
which shall be expended in accordance with Section 4.05 hereof.  The Bond Trustee shall 
keep and maintain adequate records pertaining to the Costs of Issuance Fund and all 
disbursements therefrom, including records of all Requisitions made pursuant to Section 
4.05 hereof, and upon request of the Borrower, file an accounting thereof with the 
Authority and the Borrower.  At the end of the sixth month period commencing with June 
__, 2019, or earlier upon the written direction of the Borrower, any amounts remaining in 
the Costs of Issuance Fund shall be used by the Bond Trustee for payment of interest on 
the Series 2019 Bonds as directed by the Borrower. 

SECTION 4.05. PAYMENTS FROM COSTS OF ISSUANCE FUND.  
Except as provided in Section 4.04 hereof, the Bond Trustee shall make payments from the 
Costs of Issuance Fund only upon receipt of a requisition signed by the Borrower, 
substantially in the form attached to the Loan Agreement as EXHIBIT A thereto. 
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ARTICLE V 
PLEDGED REVENUES OF THE AUTHORITY AND 

THE APPLICATION THEREOF TO FUNDS 

 
SECTION 5.01. LOAN PAYMENTS ETC., TO BE SUFFICIENT. The loan 

payments under the Loan Agreement and other fees and charges shall be fixed so that such 
payments in any Fiscal Year are sufficient: 

(a) to pay the Administrative Expenses of the Authority for said Fiscal Year (as 
defined in the Loan Agreement); 

(b) to pay the principal or Redemption Price of, and interest on, the Bonds for 
said Fiscal Year (other than interest on any Bonds satisfied from moneys capitalized in the 
Debt Service Fund); 

(c) to provide for any required payments by the Authority to the Rebate Fund 
pursuant to any Tax Agreement; 

(d) to maintain the amount on deposit in any account established in the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, including the 2019 Reserve Account, equal to the applicable 
Reserve Requirement; and 

(e) to make up, when due, any deficiency in any other fund hereunder. 

SECTION 5.02. PLEDGE OF TRUST ESTATE; PLEDGED REVENUES 
TO BE PAID OVER TO BOND TRUSTEE. Subject to the Reserved Rights of the 
Authority, the Authority hereby pledges to the Bond Trustee the Trust Estate as security 
for the performance of any obligation of the Authority or the Borrower under this Bond 
Indenture. The pledge made by this Bond Indenture shall be valid and binding from the 
time such pledge is made and shall immediately be subject to the lien of the pledge without 
any physical delivery thereof or further act. Pursuant to the assignment of the Authority's 
rights under the Loan Agreement, the Pledged Revenues shall be paid directly to the Bond 
Trustee by the Borrower. Upon receipt of any Pledged Revenues or other payments 
hereunder, the Bond Trustee shall deposit the same in the Debt Service Fund and to the 
extent provided in Section 5.04 hereof, the Reserve Fund, or otherwise as provided herein 
or in the Loan Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, such Pledged Revenues 
shall be collected, held and applied for the equal and ratable benefit and security of the 
Owners of all Bonds. 

SECTION 5.03. DEBT SERVICE FUND. (a) The Bond Trustee shall establish 
a Debt Service Fund which shall consist of the amounts deposited therein pursuant to 
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Sections 3.02, 3.04, Section 5.02 and Section 6.02(c) hereof and other provisions hereof 
and of the Loan Agreement.  The Debt Service Fund shall include the 2019 Sinking Fund 
Account as described below and such other accounts as may be established under any 
Supplemental Indenture in connection with any series of Additional Bonds. The Bond 
Trustee, as the Authority's paying agent, shall pay from the Debt Service Fund the amount 
required to pay the principal of Bonds as they mature or become payable upon redemption 
thereof, and the interest on Bonds as it becomes payable. When Bonds are redeemed the 
amount, if any, in the Debt Service Fund representing the principal thereof and the interest 
thereon shall be applied to payment of the Redemption Price thereof and the accrued 
interest thereon, respectively. 

(b) The Bond Trustee shall establish as a part of the Debt Service Fund a Series 
2019 Term Bonds Sinking Fund Account (the "2019 Sinking Fund Account") for the 
retirement of Series 2019 Term Bonds. Moneys deposited in the 2019 Sinking Fund 
Account shall be applied as hereinafter provided. The Bond Trustee shall establish such 
other sinking fund accounts for series of Additional Bonds as may be directed in the 
Supplemental Indenture establishing such series. 

The Bond Trustee shall transfer moneys from the Debt Service Fund to the 2019 
Sinking Fund Account on each date set forth below the amount required to retire Series 
2019 Term Bonds in the following amounts and in the following years through mandatory 
redemption, in direct order of maturity and within a maturity chosen by the Bond Trustee 
by such method as the Bond Trustee shall deem fair and appropriate, at a Redemption Price 
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest, or through purchase 
as hereinafter provided. 

The amounts and dates of sinking fund payments for the Series 2019 Term Bonds 
maturing on November 15, 20__ are as follows: 

 
Year 

(November 15)  Amount 
  $ 
   
   
   

*   
    
*Maturity.   
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The amounts and dates of sinking fund payments for the Series 2019 Term Bonds 
maturing on November 15, 20__ are as follows: 

 
Year 

(November 15)  Amount 
  $ 
   
   
   

*   
    
*Maturity.   

 

The amounts and dates of sinking fund payments for the Series 2019 Term Bonds 
maturing on November 15, 20__ are as follows: 

 
Year 

(November 15)  Amount 
  $ 
   
   
   

*   
    
*Maturity.   

 
Not less than 45 days prior to each redemption date as set forth above, the Bond 

Trustee, at the written direction of the Borrower, may purchase from moneys deposited in 
the applicable Sinking Fund Account as many Series 2019 Term Bonds as can be 
purchased, at prices not greater than the principal amount thereof specified in such written 
direction, pursuant to offers made at the time by the Owners thereof, together with accrued 
interest to the date of purchase (which accrued interest shall be paid from moneys in the 
Debt Service Fund). Prior to the first day of the month preceding each redemption date set 
forth above on such date as will permit the Bond Trustee to mail the notice of redemption 
required under Section 7.03 hereof, the Bond Trustee shall draw by lot, for redemption, on 
each redemption date set forth above a principal amount of Series 2019 Term Bonds as 
shall represent the difference between the principal amount of such Series 2019 Term 
Bonds fixed for redemption on such date as described above and the principal amount 

227



 

29 

thereof which the Bond Trustee shall have purchased or agreed to purchase during the 
immediately preceding period, as above provided, or which have been delivered to the 
Bond Trustee by the Borrower in accordance with Section 401 of the Loan Agreement. 

Upon selection by lot of the particular Series 2019 Term Bonds to be redeemed, as 
above provided, the Bond Trustee shall send a notice to the Owners of such Series 2019 
Term Bonds so drawn for redemption in the manner provided in Article VII hereof, and, 
by the Owners thereof, the Bond Trustee shall pay the principal amount thereof out of 
moneys in the applicable Sinking Fund Account and shall pay accrued interest due from 
moneys available therefor in the Debt Service Fund. 

If at any time all the Series 2019 Term Bonds shall have been purchased, redeemed 
or paid, the Bond Trustee shall make no further transfers to the 2019 Sinking Fund Account 
and shall transfer any balance in such account to the Debt Service Fund. Whenever Series 
2019 Term Bonds are to be purchased out of the 2019 Sinking Fund Account, if the 
Borrower shall notify the Bond Trustee that the Borrower wishes to arrange for such 
purchase, the Bond Trustee shall comply with the Borrower's arrangements provided they 
conform to this Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 5.04. DEBT SERVICE RESERVE FUND. There is hereby 
established and created a Debt Service Reserve Fund which shall consist of the amounts 
deposited therein pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.02 hereof and of the Loan 
Agreement. There is hereby established and created a 2019 Reserve Account within the 
Debt Service Reserve Fund for the benefit of the owners of the Series 2019 Bonds and such 
other separate accounts as may be required by Supplemental Indenture to secure any  
Additional Bonds. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the 2019 Reserve 
Account shall only secure the Series 2019 Bonds and any other account subsequently 
established in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall only secure the Additional Bonds for 
which it was established. In the event that monies set forth in Sections 5.02 and 5.03 hereof 
are insufficient on any date to pay the interest, principal, premium or purchase price of the 
Series 2019 Bonds or any series of Additional Bonds, the Bond Trustee shall withdraw 
from the 2019 Reserve Account or such other applicable account of the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund securing such Additional Bonds the monies necessary to make up the 
deficiency. Not less than ten (10) days prior to any withdrawal of monies from the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund (other than transfers pursuant to Section 6.02(c)(2) hereof), notice 
of the withdrawal from the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be given by the Bond Trustee 
or the Borrower by telephone [(850-413-3140) (promptly confirmed in writing) or 
facsimile (850-488-7061)] to the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation, Specialty Product 
Administration, the Larson Building, 200 East Gaines Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-
0331 (the "Office of Insurance"), provided that such notice by telephone, by facsimile or 
in writing may be given to the Office of Insurance at other telephone numbers or other 
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addresses if required by the Office of Insurance to be used in lieu of the foregoing. The 
Bond Trustee shall provide the Office of Insurance with any information concerning the 
Debt Service Reserve Fund upon request of the Office of Insurance or the Borrower. 

When the amount on deposit in any account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund is in 
excess of the applicable Reserve Requirement the Bond Trustee shall, at the request of the 
Borrower, transfer the excess to the Debt Service Fund to be used by the Bond Trustee to 
pay interest on the applicable series of Bonds. 

If the amount on deposit in any account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund is less 
than the applicable Reserve Requirement, whether as a result of a withdrawal or a decline 
in market value (as determined on each valuation date required pursuant to Section 6.03 
hereof), the Bond Trustee shall notify the Borrower and the Office of Insurance of such 
deficiency and the Borrower shall be required pursuant to Section 401(c) of the Loan 
Agreement to fund such deficiency with the Bond Trustee. 

SECTION 5.05. REBATE FUND.  There is hereby created a Rebate Fund, 
which shall be held and applied by the Bond Trustee in accordance with this Section.  
Within the Rebate Fund there is hereby established a "Series 2019 Bonds Account" for the 
benefit of the Holders of such Bonds. Moneys deposited in the Rebate Fund shall not be 
part of the Trust Estate and shall not be subject to the lien of this Bond Indenture or 
otherwise be available for the payment of the Bonds.  Separate accounts may be established 
within the Rebate Fund as provided in the Tax Agreement entered into in connection with 
the issuance of any series of Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

If required pursuant to the terms of any Tax Agreement, the Bond Trustee shall 
transfer from the applicable Funds established under this Bond Indenture, or from moneys 
provided for such purpose by the Borrower, to each applicable account of the Rebate Fund, 
such amounts as shall be necessary to cause the aggregate amounts transferred to such 
accounts to equal the respective amounts required by any Tax Agreement provided in 
connection with the Bonds of any series. 

All amounts in the Rebate Fund, including income earned from investment of 
moneys held in the Rebate Fund, shall be held by the Bond Trustee solely for the purposes 
specified in this Section, free and clear of the lien of this Bond Indenture and the Bond 
Trustee, at the direction of the Borrower (or of the Authority in the absence of such 
direction), shall pay said amounts over to the United States of America as required by any 
Tax Agreement. 

The provisions of this Section are qualified in all respects by the provisions of any 
Tax Agreement and may be deleted from this Bond Indenture or otherwise amended upon 
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receipt by the Bond Trustee and the Authority of an opinion of Bond Counsel that such 
deletion or amendment will not adversely affect the exemption of interest on any series of 
Tax-Exempt Bonds from federal income tax.  Any moneys then on deposit in the Rebate 
Fund shall be applied by the Bond Trustee as required or permitted by any such opinion. 

SECTION 5.06. PROCEDURE WHEN FUNDS ARE SUFFICIENT TO 
PAY ALL BONDS.  If in accordance with Section 6.03 hereof, the amounts held by the 
Bond Trustee in the funds established under this Article V are sufficient to pay principal 
or Redemption Price of and interest on all Bonds then Outstanding to maturity or prior 
redemption, together with any amounts due or made available by the Borrower to the 
Authority or the Bond Trustee, the Bond Trustee shall so notify the Authority and the 
Borrower and, upon the request of the Borrower, approved by the Authority, shall apply 
the amounts in the funds and any such additional funds made available to the Bond Trustee 
by the Borrower to the payment of the aforesaid obligations, and the Authority and the 
Borrower shall not be required to pay over any further revenues unless and until it shall 
appear that there is a deficiency in the Funds held by the Bond Trustee. 

SECTION 5.07. MONEYS TO BE HELD FOR ALL BONDHOLDERS, 
WITH CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS. Until applied as herein provided, the moneys and 
investments held in all Funds and accounts established hereunder and the proceeds of any 
remedies exercised under Article IX hereof shall be held in trust for the benefit of the 
holders of all Outstanding Bonds, except that: (a) on and after the date on which the interest 
on or principal or Redemption Price of any particular Bond or Bonds is due and payable 
from the Debt Service Fund, the unexpended balance of the amount deposited or reserved 
in the Debt Service Fund for the making of such payments shall, to the extent necessary 
therefor, be held for the benefit of the Bondholder or Bondholders entitled thereto; (b) any 
special fund established in connection with the issuance of any Additional Bonds for a 
refunding shall be held for the benefit of the holders of Bonds being refunded; (c) the rights 
of any Bondholders with respect to principal or interest payments extended beyond their 
due dates pursuant to Section 9.03 hereof shall be subordinate to the rights of Bondholders 
with respect to payments not so extended; and (d) any account that is established in the 
Debt Service Reserve Fund, including the 2019 Reserve Account, shall only secure the 
series of Bonds for which it is established. 

SECTION 5.08. ADDITIONAL ACCOUNTS AND SUBACCOUNTS. 
Upon the issuance of Additional Bonds hereunder, the Bond Trustee may, and at the written 
request of the Borrower, the Bond Trustee shall, establish and maintain additional accounts 
and subaccounts within the funds held by the Bond Trustee hereunder; provided that (a) in 
each case, the Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which the Additional Bonds are issued, 
or the written request of the Borrower, shall set forth in reasonable detail the sources of 
deposits into and disbursements from the account or subaccount to be established, (b) in 
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each case, the sources of deposits into and disbursements from the account or subaccount 
to be established shall be limited to the sources of deposits permitted or required to be made 
into and the disbursements permitted or required to be made from the fund or account 
within which it is to be established, and (c) except as otherwise provided in Section 5.07 
hereof, each additional account or subaccount established hereunder shall be held in trust 
for the benefit of the Owners of all Outstanding Bonds. 
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ARTICLE VI 
SECURITY FOR AND INVESTMENT OR DEPOSIT 

OF FUNDS 

 
SECTION 6.01. DEPOSITS AND SECURITY THEREFOR. Except for 

amounts deposited in the Rebate Fund, all moneys received by the Bond Trustee under this 
Bond Indenture for deposit in any fund established hereunder shall be considered trust 
funds, shall not be subject to lien or attachment, except for the lien of this Bond Indenture, 
and shall, except as hereinafter provided, be deposited with the Bond Trustee, until or 
unless invested or deposited as provided in Section 6.02 hereof.  Subject to the foregoing 
requirements as to security, if at any time the commercial department of the Bond Trustee 
is unwilling to accept such deposits or unable to secure them as provided above, the Bond 
Trustee may deposit such moneys with any other depository which is authorized to receive 
them and the deposits of which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 
All deposits in any other depository in excess of the amount covered by insurance (whether 
under this Section or Section 6.02 as aforesaid) shall, to the extent permitted by law, be 
fully secured by full faith and credit obligations of the United States of America, or if not 
so permitted, then secured as by law for such trust deposits. Such security shall be deposited 
with a Federal Reserve Bank, provided in the trust department of the Bond Trustee as 
authorized by law with respect to trust funds in Florida, or with a bank or trust company 
having a combined net capital and surplus of not less than $50,000,000. 

SECTION 6.02. INVESTMENT OR DEPOSIT OF FUNDS. Moneys on 
deposit in the funds established pursuant to Articles IV and V hereof shall be invested and 
reinvested by the Bond Trustee as follows: 

(a) All investments shall constitute Investment Securities and shall mature, or be 
subject to repurchase, withdrawal without penalty or redemption at the option of the Bond 
Trustee, on or before the dates on which the amounts invested are reasonably expected to 
be needed for the purposes hereof; provided, however, that Investment Securities held in 
the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall not have a term longer than, or shall be subject to 
redemption or tender for purchase by the obligor at the direction of the Bond Trustee at a 
price of not less than par within a term shorter than, five (5) years or such other period as 
shall be specified with respect to a particular account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
securing any series of Additional Bonds in the Supplemental Indenture establishing such 
account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. 

(b) All investments shall be made at the direction of the Borrower (given in 
writing or orally, confirmed in writing).  In the absence of any direction from the Borrower 
as to the investment of any moneys held hereunder, the Bond Trustee shall cause such 
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moneys to be held uninvested.  The Bond Trustee shall not make any representation as to 
the accuracy of any quotation of market price of any security or investment (or the accrued 
interest thereon) in any fund or account, and the Borrower shall further be obligated to 
indemnify and hold harmless the Bond Trustee, its officers and employees, from and 
against any and all liabilities, claims and charges, etc. in connection with or resulting from 
the Bond Trustee's valuation of the investments in any funds or accounts as provided in 
this Bond Indenture other than the Bond Trustee's negligence or willful misconduct. 

(c) All interest, income and gains received in respect of amounts on deposit in 
any fund shall be applied as follows: (1) unless otherwise specified in a Supplemental 
Indenture, during the period of construction of any Project funded from any Account of the 
Project Fund established hereunder, all interest, income and profits received in respect of 
Investment Securities held in such Account of the Project Fund or upon the sale or 
disposition thereof, shall (after deduction of any expenses) be retained in such Account of 
the Project Fund, (2) all interest, income and gains received in respect of Investment 
Securities in any account of the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be retained therein to the 
extent required to maintain the applicable Reserve Requirement and otherwise shall be 
transferred to and deposited in the Debt Service Fund, as received, and credited against 
subsequent deposit requirements as provided in Section 5.03 hereof, (3) all interest, income 
and gains received in respect of Investment Securities in any account of the Costs of 
Issuance Fund shall be retained therein until such time as all the amounts therein are 
transferred to the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 4.04 hereof, and (4) all interest, 
income and gains received in respect of Investment Securities in the Debt Service Fund 
shall be retained therein and credited against subsequent deposit requirements as provided 
in Section 5.03 hereof. Whenever any other transfer or payment is required to be made 
from any particular fund, such transfer or payment shall be made from such combination 
of maturing principal, redemption or repurchase prices, liquidation proceeds and 
withdrawals of principal as the Bond Trustee deems appropriate for such purpose. 

(d) Neither the Authority nor the Bond Trustee (to the extent the Bond Trustee 
has followed the written investment instructions provided to the Bond Trustee by the 
Borrower) shall be accountable for any depreciation in the value of any Investment 
Securities or any losses incurred upon any authorized disposition thereof. 

(e) The Bond Trustee may make any and all such investments through its own 
bond or investment department or the bond or investment department of any bank or trust 
company under common control with the Bond Trustee. All such investments shall at all 
times be a part of the fund or account from which the moneys used to acquire such 
investments shall have come and all income and profits on such investments shall be 
credited to, and losses thereon shall be charged against, such fund or account. All 
investments hereunder shall be registered in the name of the Bond Trustee, as Bond Trustee 
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under this Bond Indenture. All investments hereunder shall be held by or under the control 
of the Bond Trustee. The Bond Trustee shall sell and reduce to cash a sufficient amount of 
investments of funds in any account of the Debt Service Fund whenever the cash balance 
in such account of the Debt Service Fund is insufficient, together with any other funds 
available therefor, to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2019 
Bonds when due. The Bond Trustee shall not be responsible for any reduction of the value 
of any investments made in accordance with the directions of the Borrower or any losses 
incurred in the sale of such investments. 

SECTION 6.03. VALUATION OF FUNDS.  The Bond Trustee shall 
determine the value of the assets in each of the funds established hereunder as of each 
Interest Payment Date.  As soon as practicable after each such valuation date, the Bond 
Trustee shall furnish to the Borrower a report of the status of each fund as of such date.  
The Bond Trustee shall also advise the Borrower at such time of the amounts then available 
in the Debt Service Fund as a credit against future deposits prior to the next valuation date 
in direct order of the due dates of such deposits.  In computing the value of assets in any 
fund or account, investments shall be valued at the market value thereof, except the 
Investment Securities of the types described in clauses (5) and (10) of the definition thereof 
shall be valued at cost, and all investments (valued as aforesaid) and accrued interest 
thereon shall be deemed a part of such funds and accounts. 

SECTION 6.04. REPORTS OF BOND TRUSTEE.  The Bond Trustee shall 
deliver to the Borrower a monthly statement no later than the 15th day of the month next 
following the month in which this Bond Indenture is executed, and no later than the same 
day of each month thereafter, describing the investment or deposit of funds made pursuant 
to Section 6.02 hereof, the investment income thereon, as applicable, and the transfers to 
or charges against the various funds established hereunder as directed under Section 6.02 
hereof.  The Authority shall be entitled to receive copies of any such statements upon its 
written request. 
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ARTICLE VII 
REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

 
SECTION 7.01. BONDS SUBJECT TO REDEMPTION; SELECTION OF 

BONDS TO BE CALLED FOR REDEMPTION. The Bonds shall be subject to 
redemption prior to maturity as provided in the form of Bond authorized pursuant to this 
Bond Indenture. Redemption of Bonds otherwise shall be in the manner provided in this 
Article VII. 

SECTION 7.02. SELECTION BY BOND TRUSTEE OF BONDS TO BE 
REDEEMED. If less than all the Bonds of a series are to be redeemed, the particular Bonds 
of a series to be redeemed shall be selected by the Bond Trustee in Authorized 
Denominations from the Outstanding Bonds of such series not previously called for 
redemption, in order of maturities directed by the Borrower (except for sinking fund 
redemptions which shall be made in direct order of maturity) and within any maturity by 
such method as the Bond Trustee shall deem fair and appropriate and which may provide 
for the selection for redemption of portions of the principal of Bonds of such series of a 
denomination larger than the minimum Authorized Denomination for such Bonds. 

The Bond Trustee shall promptly notify the Authority in writing of the Bonds 
selected for redemption and, in the case of any Bond selected for partial redemption, the 
principal amount thereof to be redeemed. 

For all purposes of this Bond Indenture, unless the context otherwise requires, all 
provisions relating to the redemption of Bonds shall relate, in the case of any Bond 
redeemed or to be redeemed only in part, to the portion of the principal of such Bond which 
has been or is to be redeemed. 

SECTION 7.03. NOTICE OF REDEMPTIONS. (a) When required to redeem 
Bonds under any provision of this Bond Indenture or directed to do so by the Borrower on 
behalf of the Authority, the Bond Trustee shall cause notice of the redemption to be given 
by Electronic Notice or first-class mail to the Owners of all Bonds to be redeemed at the 
addresses appearing in the Bond Register not less than 20 nor more than 60 days prior to 
the date set for redemption. Such notice shall be given by the Bond Trustee in the name of 
the Authority, shall identify the Bonds (and, in the case of partial redemption, the respective 
principal amounts thereof) to be redeemed by reference to their designation and numbers, 
shall specify the redemption date and the Redemption Price, shall state that on the 
redemption date the Bonds (or portions thereof) called for redemption will be payable at 
the designated corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee and from that date interest thereon 
will cease to accrue, and shall include the CUSIP numbers assigned to such Bonds and 
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shall also state that no representation is made as to correctness or accuracy of the CUSIP 
numbers listed in such notice or printed on the Bonds. No defect, whether in the notice of 
redemption or in the mailing thereof (including failure to mail the notice) with respect to 
the redemption of any Bond shall affect the validity of the redemption proceedings.  Such 
notice may also state any condition to such redemption and that such notice may be 
rescinded by the Borrower prior to the date of redemption. 

(b) In addition to the foregoing notice, not more than 60 days following the 
applicable redemption date, a further notice shall be mailed as provided in (a) above, to the 
Owner of any Bonds called for redemption and not presented for payment on the 
redemption date, but no defect in said further notice nor any failure to give all or any portion 
of such further notice shall in any manner defeat the effectiveness of any redemption of 
Bonds: 

(c) Upon the payment of the Redemption Price of Bonds being redeemed, each 
check or other transfer of funds issued for such purpose shall bear a description of the issue 
and maturity of the Bonds being redeemed including the CUSIP number of such Bonds, 
with the proceeds of such check or other transfer. 

SECTION 7.04. PAYMENT OF REDEMPTION PRICE. If (a) 
unconditional notice of redemption has been duly given or duly waived by the Owners of 
all Bonds called for redemption or (b) conditional notice of redemption has been so given 
or waived and the redemption moneys have been duly deposited with the Bond Trustee, 
then in either case the Bonds called for redemption shall be payable on the redemption date 
at the applicable Redemption Price plus accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date, 
and from and after the date fixed for redemption interest on the Bonds or portions thereof 
so called for redemption shall cease to accrue and become payable. Payment of the 
Redemption Price together with accrued interest shall be made by the Bond Trustee to or 
upon the order of the Owners of the Bonds called for redemption. The Redemption Price, 
including accrued interest, the expenses of giving notice and any other expenses of 
redemption, shall be paid out of the funds provided under this Bond Indenture or from 
moneys provided by the Borrower, except that the accrued interest shall be paid out of the 
Debt Service Fund, as and to the extent provided in Section 5.03 hereof. 

SECTION 7.05. BONDS REDEEMED IN PART. Any Bond which is to be 
redeemed only in part shall be presented by the Owner thereof to the Bond Trustee at the 
designated corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee (with due endorsement by, or a 
written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Bond Trustee duly executed by, 
the Owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing) and the Authority shall execute and 
the Bond Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the Owner of such Bond without service 
charge, a new Bond or Bonds, of any Authorized Denomination(s) as requested by such 
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Owner in an aggregate principal amount equal to and in exchange for the unredeemed 
portion of the principal of the Bond so surrendered. 
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ARTICLE VIII 
CERTAIN COVENANTS 

SECTION 8.01. PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST ON THE 
BONDS. The Authority shall be required to make the payments of principal of and interest 
on the Bonds only out of the Trust Estate. The Authority shall appoint one or more paying 
agents for such purpose, and a registrar to keep books of registration with respect to the 
Owners from time to time of the Bonds, each such paying agent or registrar to be a bank 
and trust company or a trust company or a national banking association having trust 
powers. The Authority hereby appoints the Bond Trustee to act as paying agent and has 
appointed the Bond Trustee as registrar as provided in Section 2.04 hereof, such 
appointment to remain in effect until notice of change is filed with the Bond Trustee. 

SECTION 8.02. CORPORATE EXISTENCE; NO TRANSFER OF 
TRUST ESTATE. Except as such interest may be otherwise granted in or to another 
qualifying governmental authority, the Authority shall maintain its existence as a public 
body corporate and politic under the Act and shall not sell, lease, encumber or otherwise 
transfer any of its interest in and to the Trust Estate other than as provided in this Bond 
Indenture. 

SECTION 8.03. FINANCING STATEMENTS AND OTHER ACTION TO 
PROTECT SECURITY INTERESTS. The Bond Trustee shall file Uniform  Commercial 
Code continuation statements and shall perform or shall cause to be performed such acts, 
and execute and cause to be executed any and all further instruments as may be required 
by law or as shall be reasonably requested by the Owners for such protection of the interests 
of the Owners of the Bond, and, upon request shall furnish, or cause to be furnished, 
satisfactory evidence to the Owners of recording, registering filing and refiling of such 
instruments and of every additional instrument which shall be necessary to preserve the 
lien of this Bond Indenture upon the Trust Estate or any part thereof until the principal of 
and interest on the Bonds secured hereby shall have been paid. The Bond Trustee shall 
execute or join in the execution of any such further or additional instrument and file or join 
in the filing thereof at such time or times and in such place or places as it may be advised 
by an Opinion of Counsel will preserve the lien of this Bond Indenture upon the Trust 
Estate or any part thereof until the aforesaid principal and interest shall have been paid. All 
reasonable costs and expenses of the Bond Trustee incurred in connection with the duties 
set forth in this Section shall be paid by the Borrower. 

SECTION 8.04. FURTHER ASSURANCES; ADDITIONAL REVENUES. 
The Authority shall not enter into any contract or take any action by which the rights of the 
Bond Trustee or the Owners of the Bonds may be impaired and shall, from time to time, 
execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be 
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required to carry out the purposes of this Bond Indenture. If at any time the Authority 
receives any income or payment from or in respect of the Trust Estate or the Bonds which 
is not assigned to the Bond Trustee or otherwise reserved by the Authority, it shall promptly 
pay the same to the Bond Trustee for deposit in the Debt Service Fund (or other appropriate 
fund) and, at the request of the Bond Trustee, shall execute and deliver an assignment of 
its right, title and interest in and to future income or payments of the same type to the Bond 
Trustee to be held as part of Pledged Revenues and file or record such assignment as may 
be appropriate to perfect the security interest created thereby. 

SECTION 8.05. INVESTMENTS TO COMPLY WITH INTERNAL 
REVENUE CODE.  The Authority covenants to the Owners of any Tax-Exempt Bonds 
that it will not knowingly make any investment or other use of the proceeds of such Tax-
Exempt Bonds which would cause any Tax-Exempt Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" within 
the meaning of the Code, and that it will comply with the requirements of the Code 
throughout the term of all Tax-Exempt Bonds and that it will not knowingly take or omit 
to take any action over which it has control which action or inaction, as the case may be, 
would adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes 
of the interest on such Tax-Exempt Bonds. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Authority 
shall not be liable for any investment decisions made by the Borrower with respect to the 
investment of the proceeds of Tax-Exempt Bonds and shall not be deemed to have 
approved such investment decisions by reason of it being a party to this Bond Indenture. 
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ARTICLE IX 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 9.01. EVENTS OF DEFAULT DEFINED. Each of the following 
shall be an "Event of Default" hereunder: 

(a) if payment of any installment of interest on any Bond is not made when it 
becomes due and payable; or 

(b) if payment of the principal or Redemption Price of any Bond is not made 
when it becomes due and payable at maturity or upon call for redemption or otherwise; or 

(c) if the Authority defaults in the due and punctual performance of any other 
covenant in the Bonds or this Bond Indenture or in the Loan Agreement (other than as 
specified in (a) or (b) above); or 

(d) if the Authority fails to comply with any provision of the Act or for any 
reason is rendered incapable of fulfilling its obligations hereunder or thereunder; or 

(e) if an Event of Default occurs under the Loan Agreement or any amendment 
or supplement thereto; or 

(f) if the Bond Trustee receives notice from the Master Trustee that the principal 
of, and accrued interest on any Obligation thereunder is immediately due and payable. 

SECTION 9.02. NOTICE OF DEFAULT; OPPORTUNITY TO CURE. No 
Event of Default shall occur under Section 9.01(c) or (d) above unless such Event of 
Default continues for 60 days after written notice requiring the same to be remedied shall 
have been given to the Authority and the Borrower by the Bond Trustee, which may give 
such notice in its discretion and shall give such notice at the written request of the Owners 
of not less than 25% in principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding; provided, however, 
that if such performance requires work to be done, actions to be taken or conditions to be 
remedied, which by their nature cannot reasonably be done, taken or remedied, as the case 
may be, within such 60-day period no Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred 
or to exist if, and so long as, the Authority or the Borrower shall commence such 
performance within such 60-day period, and the Authority or the Borrower shall diligently 
and continuously prosecute the same to completion. 

SECTION 9.03. ACCELERATION AND ANNULMENT THEREOF. If 
any Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Bond Trustee may, and upon 
written request of the Owners of 25% in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding 
and affected thereby shall, by notice in writing to the Authority, declare the principal of all 
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Bonds then Outstanding to be immediately due and payable, and upon such declaration 
said principal, together with interest accrued thereon, shall become due and payable 
immediately at the place of payment provided therein, anything in this Bond Indenture or 
in the Bonds to the contrary notwithstanding, unless the Borrower cures such Event of 
Default prior to the date of the declaration. 

If after the principal of the Bonds has been so declared to be due and payable, all 
arrears of interest upon the Bonds and the principal of all Bonds then Outstanding which 
have matured, except the principal of any Bonds due solely because of such declaration, 
and the interest accrued on the Bonds since the last interest payment date are paid by the 
Authority, and the Authority also performs all other things in respect to which it may have 
been in default hereunder and pays the reasonable charges of the Bond Trustee, the Owners 
of Bonds, and any other bond trustee or receiver appointed hereunder, including reasonable 
attorney's fees, then, and in every such case, the Owners of a majority in principal amount 
of the Bonds then Outstanding, by written notice to the Authority and to the Bond Trustee, 
may annul such declaration and its consequences and such annulment shall be binding upon 
the Bond Trustee and upon all Owners of Bonds issued hereunder; but no such annulment 
shall extend to or affect any subsequent default or impair any right or remedy consequent 
thereon. 

SECTION 9.04. REMEDIES OR DEFAULT. If any Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing, the Bond Trustee in its own discretion may, and upon the 
written direction of the Owners of not less than 25% in principal amount of the Bonds then 
Outstanding and upon receipt of indemnity satisfactory to it shall, in its own name, take 
whatever action at law or in equity is necessary or desirable to enforce collection of 
payments due under the Loan Agreement, or to enforce the performance, observation or 
compliance by the Authority, or the Borrower, under this Bond Indenture or the Loan 
Agreement, or proceed in any other manner to protect and enforce its rights and the rights 
of the Owners of Bonds then Outstanding by such suits, actions or special proceedings in 
equity or at law, either for the specific performance of any covenant, condition or 
agreement contained herein, or in the Loan Agreement or in aid or execution of any power 
granted herein or in the Loan Agreement for the enforcement of any proper legal remedy 
as the Bond Trustee shall deem most effective to protect and enforce such rights. 

SECTION 9.05. DISCONTINUANCE OF PROCEEDINGS BY BOND 
TRUSTEE. If any proceeding taken by the Bond Trustee on account of any default is 
discontinued or is determined adversely to the Bond Trustee, the Authority, the Bond 
Trustee and the Owners of Bonds shall be restored to their former positions and rights 
hereunder as though no such proceeding had been taken. 
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SECTION 9.06. OWNERS OF BONDS MAY DIRECT PROCEEDINGS. 
The Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding hereunder 
shall have the right to direct the method and place of conducting all remedial proceedings 
by the Bond Trustee hereunder, provided such directions shall not be otherwise than in 
accordance with law and the provisions of this Bond Indenture, and that the Bond Trustee 
shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of the Bond 
Trustee would be unjustly prejudicial to Owners of Bonds not parties to such direction. 

SECTION 9.07. LIMITATIONS ON ACTIONS BY OWNERS OF 
BONDS. No Owners of Bonds shall have any right to pursue any remedy hereunder unless 
(a) the Bond Trustee shall have been given written notice of an Event of Default, (b)the 
Owners of at least 25% in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have 
requested the Bond Trustee, in writing, to exercise the powers hereinabove granted or to 
pursue such remedy in its or their name or names, (c) the Bond Trustee shall have been 
offered indemnity satisfactory to it against costs, expenses and liabilities, and (d) the Bond 
Trustee shall have failed to comply with such request within a reasonable time. 

SECTION 9.08. BOND TRUSTEE MAY ENFORCE RIGHTS WITHOUT 
POSSESSION OF BONDS.  All rights under this Bond Indenture and the Bonds may be 
enforced by the Bond Trustee without the possession of any Bonds or the production 
thereof at the trial or other proceedings relative thereto, and any proceeding instituted by 
the Bond Trustee shall be brought in its name for the ratable benefit of the Owners of the 
Bonds. 

SECTION 9.09. REMEDIES NOT EXCLUSIVE. Except as limited under 
Sections 14.01 and 14.02 of this Bond Indenture, no remedy herein conferred is intended 
to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each remedy is in addition to every 
other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

SECTION 9.10. DELAYS AND OMISSIONS NOT TO IMPAIR RIGHTS. 
No delay or omission in respect of exercising any right or power accruing upon any default 
shall impair such right or power or be a waiver of such default, and every remedy given by 
this Article IX may be exercised from time to time and as often may be deemed expedient. 

SECTION 9.11. APPLICATION OF MONEYS IN EVENT OF DEFAULT. 
Any moneys received by the Bond Trustee under this Article IX shall be applied: 

FIRST: to the payment of the reasonable costs of the Bond Trustee, 
including reasonable Counsel fees, any disbursements of the Bond Trustee with 
interest thereon and its reasonable compensation; and 
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SECOND: to the payment of principal or Redemption Price (as the case 
may be) of and interest then owing on the Bonds and in case such moneys shall be 
insufficient to pay the same in full, then to the payment of principal or Redemption 
Price and interest ratably, without preference or priority of one Bond over another 
or of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest. 

The surplus, if any, shall be paid to the Authority or the Person lawfully entitled to 
receive the same or as a court of competent jurisdiction may direct. 

SECTION 9.12. BOND TRUSTEE'S RIGHT TO RECEIVER; 
COMPLIANCE WITH ACT. The Bond Trustee shall be entitled as of right to the 
appointment of a receiver; and the Bond Trustee, the Owners of Bonds and any receiver so 
appointed shall have such rights and powers and be subject to such limitations and 
restrictions as are contained in the Act. 

SECTION 9.13. BOND TRUSTEE AND OWNERS OF BONDS 
ENTITLED TO ALL REMEDIES UNDER ACT. It is the purpose of this Article to 
provide such remedies to the Bond Trustee and Owners of Bonds as may be lawfully 
granted under the provisions of the Act; but should any remedy herein granted be held 
unlawful, the Bond Trustee and the Owners of Bonds shall nevertheless be entitled to every 
other remedy provided by the Act. It is further intended that, insofar as lawfully possible, 
the provisions of this Article shall apply to and be binding upon the Bond Trustee or 
receiver appointed under the Act. 
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ARTICLE X 
THE BOND TRUSTEE 

SECTION 10.01. ACCEPTANCE OF TRUST. The Bond Trustee accepts and 
agrees to execute the trusts hereby created, but only upon the additional terms set forth in 
this Article, to all of which the parties hereto and the Owners of Bonds agree. 

SECTION 10.02. NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR RECITALS, ETC. The 
recitals, statements and representations in this Bond Indenture or in the Bonds, save only 
the Bond Trustee's Certificate upon the Bonds, have been made by the Authority and not 
by the Bond Trustee; and the Bond Trustee shall be under no responsibility for the 
correctness thereof. 

SECTION 10.03. BOND TRUSTEE MAY ACT THROUGH AGENTS; 
ANSWERABLE ONLY FOR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OR NEGLIGENCE.  The 
Bond Trustee may execute any powers hereunder and perform any duties required of it 
through attorneys or agents, and shall be entitled to advice of Counsel concerning all 
questions hereunder; and the Bond Trustee shall not be answerable for the default or 
misconduct of any attorney or agent selected by it with reasonable care.  The Bond Trustee 
shall not be answerable for the exercise of any discretion or power under this Bond 
Indenture nor for anything whatever in connection with the trust hereunder, except only its 
own willful misconduct or negligence. 

SECTION 10.04. COMPENSATION.  The Authority shall use its best efforts 
to cause the Borrower to pay the Bond Trustee compensation for its services hereunder, 
and also all its reasonable expenses and disbursements, all as may be agreed upon by the 
Bond Trustee and the Borrower.  All such payments shall be the responsibility of the 
Borrower, and the Authority shall have no responsibility therefor. 

SECTION 10.05. NOTICE OF DEFAULT; RIGHT TO INVESTIGATE. 
The Bond Trustee shall, within 90 days of knowledge of the occurrence of any Event of 
Default, give written notice thereof by first-class mail to Owners of Bonds, unless such 
defaults have been remedied (the term "defaults" for purposes of this Section and Section 
10.07 hereof being defined to include the events specified in clauses (a) through (f) of 
Section 9.01 hereof, not including any notice or periods of grace provided for therein); 
provided that, except in the case of a default in payment of principal or interest or premium 
or sinking fund requirements, the Bond Trustee may withhold such notice so long as it in 
good faith determines that such withholding is not detrimental to the interest of the Owners. 
The Bond Trustee shall not be deemed to have knowledge of the occurrence of any Event 
of Default hereunder unless the Bond Trustee shall have been notified of such Event of 
Default by the Borrower or by the Owners of 25% or more in principal amount of the Bonds 
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Outstanding or shall otherwise have actual knowledge thereof, and, in the absence of such 
notice or knowledge, the Bond Trustee may conclusively presume the absence of any Event 
of Default; provided, however, that the Bond Trustee shall be deemed to have notice of any 
Event of Default arising under Section 9.01(a) or (b) hereof or by reason of any Event of 
Default described in Section 701(a) of the Loan Agreement. The Bond Trustee may, 
however, at any time require of Borrower or the Authority full information relating to any 
default or potential default satisfactory to it, and if the same is not forthcoming, the Bond 
Trustee may make or cause to be made, at the expense of the Authority, an investigation 
into the affairs of the Authority related to this Bond Indenture and the Project Facilities. 

SECTION 10.06. OBLIGATIONS TO ACT ON DEFAULTS. The Bond 
Trustee shall be under no obligation to take any action in respect of any Event of Default 
or otherwise unless it is requested in writing to do so by the Owners of at least 25% in 
principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding and, if in its opinion such action may tend 
to involve expense or liability, unless it is also furnished with indemnity satisfactory to it. 

SECTION 10.07. RELIANCE ON REQUISITIONS, ETC.  The Bond Trustee 
may act on any requisition, resolution, notice, telegram, request, consent, waiver, 
certificate, statement, affidavit, voucher, bond or other paper or document which it in good 
faith believes to be genuine and to have been passed or signed by the proper Persons or to 
have been prepared and furnished pursuant to any of the provisions of this Bond Indenture 
and the Bond Trustee shall be under no duty to make any investigation as to any statement 
contained in any such instrument, but may accept the same as conclusive evidence of the 
accuracy of such statement in the absence of actual notice to the contrary. As to the 
existence of any facts or circumstances relevant hereunder, the Bond Trustee may, in the 
absence of bad faith on its part, conclusively rely upon a Certificate of the Borrower (or 
other relevant Person) as to such facts or circumstances.  Whenever required to take any 
action or refrain from taking any action hereunder (including, without limitation, the 
execution of any Supplemental Indenture), the Bond Trustee shall be entitled to request an 
opinion of Counsel to the effect that such action (or inaction) complies with, or is permitted 
by, the terms of this Bond Indenture and all applicable law (which opinion may be given 
in reliance upon the facts and circumstances set forth in any Certificate described in the 
preceding sentence). 

SECTION 10.08. BOND TRUSTEE MAY DEAL IN BONDS; OTHER 
RELATIONSHIPS.  The Bond Trustee may in good faith buy, sell, own, hold and deal in 
any of the Bonds and may join in any action which any Owners of Bonds may be entitled 
to take with like effect as if the Bond Trustee were not a party to this Bond Indenture.  The 
Bond Trustee may also engage in or be interested in any financial or other transaction with 
the Borrower or the Authority, whether in connection with transactions relating to any 
Bonds issued hereunder or otherwise, provided that if the Bond Trustee determines that 
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any such relation is in conflict with its duties under this Bond Indenture, it shall eliminate 
the conflict or resign as Bond Trustee. 

SECTION 10.09. CONSTRUCTION OF AMBIGUOUS PROVISIONS. The 
Bond Trustee may construe any ambiguous or inconsistent provisions of this Bond 
Indenture, and any construction by the Bond Trustee shall be binding upon the Owners of 
Bonds. The Bond Trustee shall give prompt notice to the Authority of any intention to 
make such construction. 

SECTION 10.10. CO-BOND TRUSTEE. The Bond Trustee, with the approval 
of the Authority and the Borrower, may appoint an additional individual or institution as a 
separate or co-bond trustee. If the Bond Trustee appoints a separate or co-bond trustee, 
each power or right vested in the Bond Trustee hereunder shall be exercisable by and vest 
in such separate or co-bond trustee to the extent necessary or desirable to enable the co-
bond trustee to exercise such powers or rights, and every covenant and obligation necessary 
to the exercise thereof by such separate or co-bond trustee shall run to and be enforceable 
by either of them. 

SECTION 10.11. RESIGNATION OF BOND TRUSTEE. The Bond Trustee 
may at any time resign from the trusts hereby created by giving written notice to the 
Authority, the Borrower and each Owner of Bonds then Outstanding. Any such resignation 
shall take effect upon the later of (a) the date specified by the Bond Trustee in the foregoing 
notice (which shall be not less than 30 days after the giving of such notice), or (b) the 
appointment of a successor Bond Trustee (i) by the Borrower (as set forth in a Certificate 
of the Borrower), unless an Event of Default has occurred under the Loan Agreement or 
an event has occurred which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, would 
constitute such an Event of Default (a "Potential Default"), or (ii) if no such Event of 
Default or Potential Event of Default shall have occurred and then be continuing, by the 
holders of at least 25 percent in aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds. 

SECTION 10.12. REMOVAL OF BOND TRUSTEE. Any Bond Trustee 
hereunder may be removed at any time upon 30 days written notice by an instrument 
appointing a successor to the Bond Trustee so removed, executed by an officer of the 
Borrower, unless an Event of Default or Potential Default (as defined in Section 10.11 
above) has occurred, or if any Event of Default or Potential Default shall have occurred 
and then be continuing, by the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then 
Outstanding. Such notice shall be given to the Bond Trustee to be removed, to the Authority 
and (if given by the Owners) to the Borrower and shall be effective immediately, if the 
removal is for a breach of the Bond Trustee's duties hereunder, or on a specified date not 
less than 30 days after the giving of the notice, in all other cases. The successor Bond 
Trustee shall notify all Owners of such removal and appointment. 
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SECTION 10.13. APPOINTMENT OF SUCCESSOR BOND TRUSTEE. In 
the event that a successor Bond Trustee is not appointed pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 10.11 or 10.12 hereof, the Authority shall appoint a successor and shall promptly 
mail, or cause such successor Bond Trustee to mail on its behalf, a notice by first class mail 
to the Owners of the Bonds outstanding. If the Authority fails to make such appointment 
within 30 days, the Owners of at least 25 percent in aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds then Outstanding may do so. Promptly thereafter, the retiring Bond Trustee shall 
transfer all property held by it as Bond Trustee to the successor Bond Trustee, the 
resignation or removal of the retiring Bond Trustee shall then (but only then) become 
effective, and the successor Bond Trustee shall have the rights, powers and duties of the 
Bond Trustee under this Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 10.14. QUALIFICATION OF SUCCESSOR. The Bond Trustee 
and any successor Bond Trustee shall be a corporation organized and doing business under 
the laws of the United States of America or any state or the District of Columbia, is 
authorized under such laws to exercise corporate trust powers, is subject to supervision or 
examination by the United States of America, any state or the District of Columbia and has 
a combined capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000 set forth in its most recent published 
annual report of condition. 

SECTION 10.15. COURT APPOINTMENT OF SUCCESSOR BOND 
TRUSTEE. In case at any time the Bond Trustee shall resign and no appointment of a 
successor Bond Trustee shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Article 
X prior to the date specified in the notice of resignation as the date when such resignation 
shall take effect, the resigning Bond Trustee or any Owner may forthwith apply to a court 
of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Bond Trustee. Such court may 
thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribed, appoint a 
successor Bond Trustee. 

SECTION 10.16. INSTRUMENTS OF SUCCESSION. Any successor bond 
trustee shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Authority and the Borrower an 
instrument accepting such appointment hereunder; and thereupon such successor bond 
trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the 
estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor in the 
trust hereunder, with like effect as if originally named Bond Trustee herein. The Bond 
Trustee ceasing to act hereunder shall pay over to the successor bond trustee all moneys 
held by it hereunder; and, upon request of the successor bond trustee, the Bond Trustee 
ceasing to act and the Authority shall execute and deliver an instrument transferring to the 
successor bond trustee all the estate, properties, rights, powers and trusts hereunder of the 
Bond Trustee ceasing to act. 
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SECTION 10.17. BOND TRUSTEE'S RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 
UNDER MASTER INDENTURE. The Bond Trustee, in its capacity as Master Trustee 
and as holder of the Series 2019 Master Note, shall be entitled to exercise all rights and 
remedies available to the holders of obligations under the Master Indenture. Subject only 
to the rights of the Owners under Articles IX and XII hereof, the Bond Trustee shall be the 
exclusive agent of the Owners for such purpose and shall not be required to obtain any 
consents or approvals of the Owners in connection therewith. 
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ARTICLE XI 
ACTS OF OWNERS; EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP OF 

BONDS 

 
SECTION 11.01. ACTS OF OWNERS OF BONDS: EVIDENCE OF 

OWNERSHIP.  Any action to be taken by Owners of Bonds may be evidenced by one or 
more concurrent written instruments of similar tenor signed or executed by such Owners 
of Bonds in Person or by agent appointed in writing. The fact and date of the execution by 
any Person of any such instrument may be proved by acknowledgment before a notary 
public or other officer empowered to take acknowledgments or by an affidavit of a witness 
to such execution. Any action by the Owner of any Bond shall bind all future Owners of 
the same Bond in respect of anything done or suffered by the Authority or the Bond Trustee 
in pursuance thereof.  Except where expressly provided otherwise (as with respect to the 
provisions hereof with respect to the transfer or exchange of any Bond or the right to 
receive payment in respect of any Bond), any consent, request, direction, approval, 
objection or other instrument or action required or permitted by this Bond Indenture to be 
executed or taken by any Owner shall be fully effective if executed or taken by the Owner. 

249



 

51 

ARTICLE XII 
AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS 

 
SECTION 12.01. AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS WITHOUT 

CONSENT OF OWNERS OF BONDS.  This Bond Indenture may be amended or 
supplemented at any time and from time to time, without the consent of the Owners of 
Bonds, by a Supplemental Indenture authorized by a Certified Authority Resolution filed 
with the Bond Trustee, for one or more of the following purposes: 

(a) in connection with the issuance of Additional Bonds, to set forth such matters 
as are specifically required or permitted hereunder or such other matters as will not 
adversely affect the Owners of the Bonds Outstanding; 

(b) to add additional covenants of the Authority or to surrender any right or 
power herein conferred upon the Authority; 

(c) to make appropriate provision for the issuance of Bonds in bearer form with 
coupons should such issuance be available without causing the interest on any Tax-Exempt 
Bonds to become taxable for federal income tax purposes; 

(d) to comply with any provision of the Code affecting the tax-exempt status of 
interest on any Bonds; and 

(e) to make conforming changes in connection with any changes to any Loan 
Agreement otherwise permitted hereunder; 

(f) obtain or maintain any credit rating or ratings on any series of Bonds; 

(g) to cure any ambiguity or to cure, correct or supplement any defective 
(whether because of any inconsistency with any other provisions hereof or otherwise) 
provision of this Bond Indenture in such manner as shall not be inconsistent with this Bond 
Indenture (which cured, corrected or supplemented provision shall supersede any actions 
taken by the Bond Trustee under Section 10.10 hereof) and shall not impair the security 
hereof or adversely affect the Owners of Bonds; and 

(h) to effect any other change herein which, in the judgment of the Bond Trustee, 
does not materially adversely affect the rights of the Bond Trustee or the Owners of Bonds. 

In the event a Rating Agency has assigned a rating to any of the Bonds, such Rating 
Agency or Agencies shall receive prior written notice from the Bond Trustee of the 
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proposed amendment but such notice shall not be a condition of the effectiveness of such 
amendment and the failure to so provide shall not be default hereunder. 

Notwithstanding the forgoing, no amendment to this Bond Indenture shall be made 
which affects the rights or liabilities of the Bond Trustee hereunder without its written 
consent. 

SECTION 12.02. AMENDMENTS WITH CONSENT OF OWNERS OF 
BONDS.  This Bond Indenture may be amended from time to time, except with respect to 
(a) the interest payable upon any Bond, (b) the dates of maturity, sinking fund and 
redemption provisions of any Bonds, (c) this Article XII, and (d) the security provisions 
hereunder, by a Supplemental Indenture approved by the Owners of at least a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding and affected thereby; provided, 
that no amendment shall be made which adversely affects the rights of some but less than 
all series of Bonds without the consent of the Owners of at least a majority of the then 
Outstanding Bonds of each series so affected, and no amendment shall be made which 
affects the rights of some but less than all the Bonds of any one series without the consent 
of the Owners of a majority of the Bonds so affected. Amendments with respect to matters 
described in clauses (a), (b), (c) or (d) of the first sentence of this Section 12.02 shall be 
effected only with the consent of Owners of all Bonds then Outstanding and affected by 
such amendments. 

SECTION 12.03. BOND TRUSTEE AUTHORIZED TO JOIN IN 
AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTS; RELIANCE ON COUNSEL. The Bond 
Trustee is authorized to join with the Authority in the execution and delivery of any 
Supplemental Indenture or amendment permitted by this Article XII and in so doing shall 
be fully protected by an opinion of Counsel that such Supplemental Indenture or 
amendment is so permitted and has been duly authorized by the Authority and that all 
things necessary to make it a valid and binding agreement have been done. 

SECTION 12.04. AMENDMENTS TO THE LOAN AGREEMENT 
WITHOUT CONSENT OF BONDHOLDERS. Any Loan Agreement may be amended 
without the consent of the Owners (a) in connection with the issuance of Additional Bonds, 
to set forth such matters as are permitted or required hereunder in connection with such 
issuance or to set forth such other matters as will not adversely affect the Owners of the 
Bonds then Outstanding, (b) to add additional covenants of the Borrower or to surrender 
any right or power conferred upon the Borrower, (c) in connection with any merger or 
consolidation of a Borrower, provided such merger or consolidation would not materially 
adversely affect the Owners, (d) to make conforming changes in connection with any 
amendment of this Bond Indenture otherwise permitted hereunder, (e) to obtain or maintain 
any credit rating (or ratings) on any series of Bonds, or (f) to cure any ambiguity, 
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inconsistency or formal defect or omission in any Loan Agreement or to make any other 
change in a Loan Agreement which, in the judgment of the Bond Trustee (which judgment 
may be made in reliance upon an opinion of Counsel), does not materially adversely affect 
the rights of the holders of any Bonds. No prior notice to the Bondholders of any proposed 
changes pursuant to this Section shall be required. 

SECTION 12.05. AMENDMENTS TO MASTER INDENTURE. (a) The 
Bond Trustee, in its capacity as Master Trustee and as the holder of the Series 2019 Master 
Note, is hereby authorized to consent to any amendments, change or modification to, or 
waiver of any requirement of, the Master Indenture (if such consent is required under the 
Master Indenture), and no prior notice to or consent of the Owners shall be required for 
any such amendment which does not materially adversely affect the rights of the Owners. 

(b) In the case of any amendment, change or modification to, a waiver of any 
requirement of, the Master Indenture, which, in the judgment of the Bond Trustee may 
materially adversely affect the rights of the Owners of the Bonds, the Bond Trustee shall 
consent thereto (solely in its capacity as the holder of the Series 2019 Master Note) only 
after notice to the Owners of the Bonds then Outstanding and the approval thereof by the 
Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then 
Outstanding (or 100% in aggregate principal amount thereof in the case of any amendment, 
change or modification to any provision of, or waiver of any requirement of, the Master 
Indenture which requires the consent of the holders of 100% of the Obligations outstanding 
thereunder and affected thereby). 

252



 

54 

ARTICLE XIII 
DEFEASANCE 

SECTION 13.01. DEFEASANCE. (a) When the interest on, and principal or 
Redemption Price (as the case may be) of, any Bonds issued hereunder have been paid, or 
there shall have been deposited with the Bond Trustee an amount, evidenced by cash or 
non-callable Government Obligations the principal of and interest on which, when due, 
will provide sufficient moneys to fully pay such Bonds, as well as all other sums payable 
hereunder by the Authority, then with respect to such Bonds, all right, title and interest of 
the Bond Trustee shall thereupon cease and the Bond Trustee, on demand of the Authority, 
shall release this Bond Indenture and shall execute such documents to evidence such 
release as may be reasonably required by the Authority and shall turn over to the Authority 
or to such Person, body or authority as may be entitled to receive the same all balances 
remaining in any funds hereunder. 

(b) Provision for the payment of any Bonds shall be deemed to have been made 
when the Bond Trustee holds in the Debt Service Fund or other fund established for such 
purpose (i) cash in an amount sufficient to make all payments (including the principal or 
Redemption Price of and interest on such Bonds) specified in subsection (a) above with 
respect to such Bonds, and/or (ii) noncallable Government Obligations maturing on or 
before the date or dates when the payments specified above shall become due, the principal 
amount of which and the interest thereon, when due, is or will be, in the aggregate, 
sufficient without reinvestment to make all such payments provided that (A) the Bond 
Trustee shall have received an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that a deposit of 
obligations described in clause (ii) or (iii) above will not adversely affect the exclusion 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest on any of the Tax-Exempt 
Bonds or cause any of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to be classified as "arbitrage bonds" within 
the meaning of Section 148 of the Code, and (B) provision for payment of such Bonds shall 
be deemed to be made only if the Bond Trustee holds in the Debt Service Fund or other 
fund established for such purpose cash and/or such obligations for payment of such Bonds 
in amounts sufficient to make all payments specified above with respect to such Bonds, as 
verified by an accountant's certification in form acceptable to the Bond Trustee. 

(c) Neither the moneys nor the obligations deposited with the Bond Trustee 
pursuant to this Article shall be withdrawn or used for any purpose other than, and such 
obligations and moneys shall be segregated and held in trust for, the payment of the 
principal or Redemption Price and interest on, a series of Bonds (or portions thereof). 

(d) Whenever moneys or obligations shall be deposited with the Bond Trustee 
for the payment or redemption of any Bonds more than 60 days prior to the date that such 
Bonds are to mature or be redeemed, the Bond Trustee shall mail a notice to the Owners 
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of such Bonds for the payment of which such moneys or obligations are being held at their 
registered addresses stating that such moneys or obligations have been deposited. Such 
notice shall also be sent by the Bond Trustee to the Rating Agencies, if any, then rating 
such Bonds.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no delivery to the Bond Trustee under this 
Section shall be deemed a payment of any Bonds which it has been determined at the time 
of delivery to the Bond Trustee are to be redeemed prior to their stated maturity until such 
Bonds shall have been irrevocably called or designated for redemption on a date thereafter 
on which such Bonds may be redeemed in accordance with the provisions of this Bond 
Indenture and proper notice of such redemption shall have been given in accordance with 
Article VII hereof or the Authority shall have given the Bond Trustee, in form satisfactory 
to the Bond Trustee, irrevocable instructions to give, in the manner and at the times 
prescribed by Article VII hereof, notice of redemption. 

SECTION 13.02. DEPOSIT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF BONDS. If the 
Authority deposits with the Bond Trustee moneys sufficient to pay the principal or 
Redemption Price of any Bonds becoming due, either at maturity or by call for redemption 
or otherwise, together with all interest accruing thereon to the due date, interest on such 
Bonds shall cease to accrue on the due date and all liability of the Authority with respect 
to such Bonds shall likewise cease, except as hereinafter provided.  Thereafter, such Bonds 
shall be deemed not to be Outstanding hereunder and the Owners of such Bonds shall be 
restricted exclusively to the funds so deposited for any claim of whatsoever nature with 
respect to such Bonds, and the Bond Trustee shall hold such funds in trust for such Owners. 

SECTION 13.03. UNCLAIMED FUNDS. Moneys so deposited with the Bond 
Trustee which remain unclaimed four (4) years after the date payment thereof becomes due 
shall, if the Borrower is not at the time, to the knowledge of the Bond Trustee, in default 
with respect to any covenant in this Bond Indenture or the Bonds and if the Borrower is 
not at the time, to the knowledge of the Bond Trustee, in default with respect to any 
covenant contained in the Loan Agreement, be paid to the Borrower; and the Owners of 
the Bonds for which the deposit was made shall thereafter be limited to a claim against the 
Borrower; provided, however, that the Bond Trustee, before making payment to the 
Borrower, shall, at the expense of the Borrower, cause a notice to be mailed to the Owners 
thereof stating that the moneys remaining unclaimed will be returned to the Borrower after 
a specified date. The Bond Trustee shall be protected in all events when acting in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section. 
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ARTICLE XIV 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

SECTION 14.01. NO PERSONAL RECOURSE; LIMITED 
OBLIGATIONS OF AUTHORITY. No personal recourse shall be had for any claim 
based on this Bond Indenture or the Bonds against any member, officer or employee, past, 
present or future, of the Authority or of any successor body as such, either directly or 
through the Authority or any such successor body, under any constitutional provision, 
statute or rule of law or by the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise. 

The Bonds are payable solely from the Trust Estate, and any other moneys held by 
the Bond Trustee hereunder for such purpose. There shall be no other recourse under the 
Bonds, this Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement or otherwise against the Authority or any 
other property now or hereafter owned by it. The Authority shall be conclusively deemed 
to have complied with all of its covenants and other obligations hereunder,  upon requiring 
the Borrower in the Loan Agreement to agree to perform such Authority covenants and 
other obligations (excepting only any approvals or consents permitted or required to be 
given by the Authority hereunder, and any exceptions to the performance by the Borrower 
of the Authority's covenants and other obligations hereunder, as provided herein or in the 
Loan Agreement). However, nothing contained in any such agreement or in the Loan 
Agreement shall prevent the Authority from time to time, in its discretion from performing 
any such covenants or other obligations.  The Authority shall have no liability for any 
failure to fulfill, or breach by the Borrower of, obligations under or with respect to the 
Bonds, this Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture or otherwise, 
including without limitation the Borrower's obligation to fulfill the Authority's covenants 
and other obligations under this Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 14.02. NO RECOURSE AGAINST THE STATE, COUNTY OR 
OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION. No recourse shall be had for the payment of the 
principal of, the interest on, or the premium (if any) payable upon the redemption of, any 
Bond or for any claim based thereon or on this Bond Indenture or any Supplemental 
Indenture hereto, against the State or any political subdivision thereof, including Lee 
County, it being expressly agreed and understood that this Bond Indenture and any 
Supplemental Indenture hereto and the Bonds are solely corporate obligations of the 
Authority payable out of the Trust Estate and from such moneys as may be made available 
for the purpose and do not pledge the credit or taxing power of the State or of any political 
subdivision thereof including Lee County. 
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SECTION 14.03. NO RIGHTS CONFERRED ON OTHERS. Nothing herein 
contained shall confer any right upon any Person other than the parties hereto and the 
Owners of the Bonds. 

SECTION 14.04. ILLEGAL, ETC. PROVISIONS DISREGARDED. If any 
term or provision of this Bond Indenture or the Bonds or the application thereof for any 
reason or circumstances shall to any extent be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the 
remaining provisions or the application of such term or provision to Persons other than 
those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each 
term and provision hereof and thereof shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent 
permitted by law. 

SECTION 14.05. NOTICES TO BOND TRUSTEE AND AUTHORITY. 
Any notice to or demand upon the Bond Trustee may be served, presented or made at the 
Principal Office of the Bond Trustee. Any notice to or demand upon the Authority shall be 
deemed to have been sufficiently given or served by the Bond Trustee for all purposes by 
being sent by registered United States mail to Lee County Industrial Development 
Authority, 2201 Second Street, Suite 500, Fort Myers, Florida 33901, Attention: Executive 
Director, or at such other address as may be filed by the Authority with the Bond Trustee. 

SECTION 14.06. GOVERNING LAW.  The laws of the State shall govern the 
construction and interpretation of this Bond Indenture. 

SECTION 14.07. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.  All the covenants, 
promises and agreements in this Bond Indenture contained by or on behalf of the Authority 
or by or on behalf of the Bond Trustee shall bind and inure to the benefit of their respective 
successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not. 

SECTION 14.08. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY. The table of 
contents and descriptive headings in this Bond Indenture are inserted for convenience only 
and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof. 

SECTION 14.09. COUNTERPARTS.  This Bond Indenture may be executed 
in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an 
original; but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO BOND TRUST INDENTURE] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY has caused this Bond Indenture to be executed by its Chairman or Vice 
Chairman and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed, attested by its Secretary or Assistant 
Secretary and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION has caused this Bond Indenture 
to be executed by one of its Authorized Officers and its seal to be hereunto affixed, and 
attested by one of its Authorized Officers, all as of the day and year first above written. 

 
  LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
   
   
ATTEST:   By:  
   Chairman 
   
By:    
 Secretary   

 
 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, as Bond Trustee 

 
 
By:  
 Authorized Officer 
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EXHIBIT A 
FORM OF SERIES 2019 BOND 

 
THIS BOND IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 159, 
PARTS II AND III, FLORIDA STATUTES AS AMENDED, AND IS EXEMPT FROM 
FLORIDA DOCUMENTARY STAMP TAX AND FLORIDA INTANGIBLE 
PROPERTY TAX AS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 159.27(1), 159.31 AND 159.50, 
FLORIDA STATUTES, AS AMENDED. 
 
No. RB- $__________ 
 

LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
HEALTHCARE FACILITIES IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BOND 

(SHELL POINT/ALLIANCE OBLIGATED GROUP) 
(SHELL POINT PROJECT) 

SERIES 2019 
 

SERIES ISSUE 
DATE  

INTEREST 
RATE  

MATURITY 
DATE  CUSIP 

       
June __, 2019  _____%  November 15, 20__  52349___ 

 
 
OWNER: Cede & Co. 
 
PRINCIPAL SUM:  
 
 

LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (the "Authority"), 
a body politic and corporate created under the Constitution of the State of Florida, Parts II 
and III of Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, as amended (the "Act"), for value received, 
promises to pay (but only out of the Trust Estate described in the Bond Indenture 
hereinafter defined) to the Owner hereof specified above or registered assigns, on the 
Maturity Date specified above, the Principal Sum hereof unless this Bond shall have been 
previously called for redemption and payment of the Redemption Price shall have been 
duly made or provided for, and to pay to the Owner hereof (but only out of said Trust 
Estate) interest thereon (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) 
from the Interest Payment Date (hereinafter defined) to which interest has been paid or 
provided next preceding the date of authentication hereof, unless the date of authentication 
(i) is a date after a Regular Record Date (hereinafter defined) and before the next 
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succeeding Interest Payment Date, in which event this Bond shall bear interest from the 
next succeeding Interest Payment Date, or (ii) is an Interest Payment Date to which interest 
has been paid, in which event this Bond shall bear interest from the date of authentication 
hereof, in which event this Bond shall bear interest from June __, 2019, until payment of 
said Principal Sum has been made or provided for, unless this Bond has been called for 
redemption as described herein, at the Interest Rate shown above. 

The interest on this Bond is payable on May 15 and November 15 of each year 
commencing November 15, 2019 (each an "Interest Payment Date"), to the Owner hereof 
by check or draft drawn on the Bond Trustee (hereinafter defined) and mailed to the Owner 
at his address as it appears on the bond register maintained by or on behalf of the Authority 
at the close of business on the fifteenth (15th) day (whether or not a business day) of the 
calendar month next preceding each Interest Payment Date (the "Regular Record Date"), 
irrespective of any transfer or exchange of this Bond subsequent to such Regular Record 
Date and prior to such Interest Payment Date, unless the Authority shall default in the 
payment of interest due on such Interest Payment Date. In the event of any such default, 
such defaulted interest will be payable to the Person in whose name such Bond is registered 
at the close of business on a Special Record Date for the payment of such defaulted interest 
established by notice mailed by the Bond Trustee on behalf of the Authority to the Owners 
of the Bonds not less than ten (10) days preceding the proposed payment date. Such notice 
of Special Record Date will be mailed to the Persons in whose names the Bonds are 
registered at the close of business on the fifth (5th) day preceding the date of mailing. All 
payments with respect to this Bond shall be made in any coin or currency of the United 
States which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private 
debts. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, interest on any Bond and the Redemption Price of 
any Bond redeemed by mandatory sinking fund redemption as herein described may be 
paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account in any member bank of 
the Federal Reserve System designated in writing by the Owner of Bonds in an aggregate 
principal amount of $1,000,000 or more not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the 
applicable Interest Payment Date or redemption date; provided, however, that the Bond 
Trustee's records with respect to the payment of the principal of any Bond in accordance 
with this subsection shall be conclusive and binding on the Owner of any Bond so paid and 
each successive Owner thereof. Any such notice provided by an Owner in accordance with 
the preceding sentence may provide that it shall be effective for any and all future payment 
dates until otherwise specified in writing. 

If the date for payment of the principal or redemption price of, or interest on this 
Bond, or a date fixed for redemption of this Bond, shall be a Saturday, Sunday, legal 
holiday or a day on which banking institutions in the State or in any jurisdiction in which 
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the designated corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee is located are authorized or 
required by law or executive order to close, then the date for such payment shall be the 
next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day on which such banking 
institutions are authorized or required to close and payment on such date shall have the 
same force and effect as if made on the nominal date of payment. 

THIS BOND CONSTITUTES A SPECIAL AND LIMITED OBLIGATION 
PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE TRUST ESTATE DESCRIBED IN, AND OTHER 
MONEYS AVAILABLE THEREFOR UNDER, THE BOND INDENTURE. THIS 
BOND SHALL NOT BE IN ANY WAY A DEBT OR LIABILITY OF LEE COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR 
AGENCY THEREOF, AND SHALL NOT DIRECTLY, INDIRECTLY OR 
CONTINGENTLY OBLIGATE, OR CREATE OR CONSTITUTE AN 
INDEBTEDNESS, LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION OF, LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA,  
THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY 
THEREOF, MORAL OR OTHERWISE.  NEITHER THE CREDIT NOR THE TAXING 
POWER OF LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA, THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANY 
POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OR AGENCY THEREOF IS PLEDGED TO THE 
PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON 
THIS BOND. THE AUTHORITY HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

This Bond is one of a series limited to $___________ in maximum aggregate 
principal amount, designated "Lee County Industrial Development Authority Healthcare 
Facilities Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Shell Point/Alliance Obligated 
Group) (Shell Point Project) (the "Series 2019 Bonds"), issued in denominations of $5,000 
each or any integral multiple thereof, in fully registered form, without coupons, all of like 
tenor, and all issued under, and together with any Additional Bonds which may from time 
to time be issued and secured by a Bond Trust Indenture dated as of June 1, 2019, (the 
"Bond Indenture") between the Authority and U.S. Bank National Association, as bond 
trustee (the "Bond Trustee"), for the purpose of providing funds for the benefit of The 
Christian and Missionary Alliance Foundation, Inc. d/b/a Shell Point (the "Borrower"). 

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, the Authority has loaned 
the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds to the Borrower, pursuant to a loan agreement dated 
as of June 1, 2019 (the "Loan Agreement) between the Borrower and the Authority under 
which the Borrower has agreed to make payments to the Authority in amounts and at times 
sufficient in the aggregate to enable the Authority to pay the principal of and interest on 
the Bonds.  To evidence and secure its respective payment obligations under the Loan 
Agreement, the Borrower has delivered to the Bond Trustee, as the assignee of the 
Authority's rights under the Loan Agreement, a promissory note (the "Series 2019 Master 
Note") dated as of June __, 2019 issued under and pursuant to an Amended and Restated 
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Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2016, as amended and supplemented (the 
"Master Indenture) between the Borrower, as representative of the obligated group 
described therein, and U.S. Bank National Association, as master trustee. The interests of 
the Authority in and to the Loan Agreement (except for its right to receive payment of its 
Administrative Expenses) and the Series 2019 Master Note have been assigned to the Bond 
Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of all Bonds issued under this Bond Indenture, 
including the Series 2019 Bonds.  

Additional reference is made to the Bond Indenture, which is hereby incorporated 
by reference, for a statement of the purposes for which the Series 2019 Bonds are issued; 
a description of the Trust Estate assigned and pledged for the security of the Series 2019 
Bonds, and any other bonds which may be issued under the Bond Indenture, the provisions 
relating to the issuance of Additional Bonds under the Bond Indenture, which shall include 
the Authority's right, title and interest in and to payments under the Loan Agreement, as 
well as the moneys and securities held from time to time under the Bond Indenture; a 
description of the duties and rights of the Authority and of the Bond Trustee; the provisions 
under which the lien of the Bond Indenture may be defeased and the extent and manner of 
enforcement of the rights of the Owners of the Series 2019 Bonds. 

 
MANDATORY SINKING FUND REDEMPTION 

 
The Series 2019 Bonds maturing on November 15, 20__ shall be subject to 

mandatory redemption prior to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a 
maturity as chosen by the Bond Trustee by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth on 
the table below but only from moneys required to be deposited therefor in the 2019 Sinking 
Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established under the Bond Indenture, at a 
redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus interest accrued thereon to the 
date of redemption: 

Year 
(November 15)  Amount 

  $ 
   
   
   

*   
    
*Maturity.   
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The Series 2019 Bonds maturing on November 15, 20__ shall be subject to 
mandatory redemption prior to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a 
maturity as chosen by the Bond Trustee by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth on 
the table below but only from moneys required to be deposited therefor in the 2019 Sinking 
Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established under the Bond Indenture, at a 
redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus interest accrued thereon to the 
date of redemption: 

Year 
(November 15)  Amount 

  $ 
   
   
   

*   
    
*Maturity.   

 
The Series 2019 Bonds maturing on November 15, 20__ shall be subject to 

mandatory redemption prior to maturity, in part, in direct order of maturity, and within a 
maturity as chosen by the Bond Trustee by lot, on the dates and in the amounts set forth on 
the table below but only from moneys required to be deposited therefor in the 2019 Sinking 
Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established under the Bond Indenture, at a 
redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus interest accrued thereon to the 
date of redemption: 

Year 
(November 15)  Amount 

  $ 
   
   
   

*   
    
*Maturity.   

 
 

As described in the Bond Indenture, the principal amount of the Series 2019 Bonds 
otherwise required to be redeemed by mandatory sinking fund redemption may be reduced 
by the principal amount of such Series 2019 Bonds theretofore delivered to the Bond 
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Trustee in lieu of cash under the Loan Agreement or purchased by the Bond Trustee out of 
moneys in the 2019 Sinking Fund Account of the Debt Service Fund established under the 
Bond Indenture and which have not been applied as a credit against any sinking fund 
installment. In addition, as described under "Optional Redemption" below, the principal 
amount of Bonds otherwise required to be redeemed may also be reduced by the application 
to such redemption obligation of a partial optional redemption of such Series 2019 Bonds 
in the manner designated by the Authority, at the direction of the borrower. 

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION 

The Series 2019 Bonds are subject to optional redemption prior to maturity by the 
Issuer, at the written direction of the Borrower, on or after ______, 20__, at any time as a 
whole or in part by lot (subject to the requirements of the Bond Indenture with respect to 
partial redemptions), at the following redemption prices (expressed as a percentage of the 
principal amount to be redeemed), plus accrued interest to the redemption date: 

Redemption Period 
(Dates Inclusive) Redemption Price 

___________, 20__ through __________, 20__ % 
___________, 20__ through __________, 20__  
___________, 20__ through __________, 20__  
______ ____, 20__ and thereafter  

In the case of the optional or extraordinary redemption of the Series 2019 Bonds 
subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, the Authority at the 
direction of the Borrower shall be entitled to designate whether such payments shall be 
credited against principal amounts due at maturity or against particular mandatory 
redemption obligations with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds. 

 
EXTRAORDINARY OPTIONAL REDEMPTION 

 
The Series 2019 Bonds will be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option 

of the Authority at the direction of the Borrower, in whole or in part at any time, upon 
payment of a redemption price equal to one hundred percent (100%) of their principal 
amount, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, but only in the event that all or a 
portion of the Project Facilities is damaged, destroyed, condemned or sold under threat of 
condemnation and it is determined by the Borrower that repair or reconstruction is not 
desirable, practical or financially feasible, from and to the extent of insurance proceeds or 
condemnation awards or proceeds of any sale under threat of condemnation received by 
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the Bond Trustee, as a result of such damage, destruction, condemnation or sale under 
threat of condemnation. 

In the case of any optional or extraordinary optional redemption of Series 2019 
Bonds in part, the Series 2019 Bonds shall be redeemed in any order of maturities and any 
amount within each maturity as shall be directed by the Borrower, and the Borrower shall 
be entitled (but shall not be obligated) to select the Series 2019 Bonds or portions thereof 
within any maturity to be redeemed, but in the absence of such selection, the Series 2019 
Bonds of any maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by the Bond Trustee by lot. 

In the event the Authority shall exercise its option required to redeem any or all of 
the Series 2019 Bonds, notice of such redemption shall be mailed by Electronic Notice or 
first-class mail, postage paid, to the Owners of any Series 2019 Bonds or portions of Series 
2019 Bonds to be redeemed not less than 20 days nor more than 60 days prior to the 
redemption date in the manner set forth in this Bond Indenture; provided, however, that no 
defect in the mailed notice or the mailing thereof (including the failure to mail any notice) 
shall affect the validity of the redemption of other Series 2019 Bonds for which proper 
notice of redemption has been given. Notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, 
the Series 2019 Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption shall become due and 
payable at the applicable redemption price herein provided, and from and after the date so 
fixed for redemption, interest on the Series 2019 Bonds or portions thereof so called for 
redemption shall cease to accrue and become payable; provided, however, that such notice 
may be conditioned upon certain events or may be rescinded and, in cases where such 
events do not occur or the notice is rescinded, such notice shall be of no effect and such 
Series 2019 Bonds shall remain Outstanding and interest thereon shall continue to accrue. 
If less than all the Series 2019 Bonds of a maturity are to be redeemed, the Bond Trustee 
shall select the Series 2019 Bonds to be redeemed by lot. 

Certain modifications and alterations of the Bond Indenture not adversely affecting 
rights of Owners of the Series 2019 Bonds Outstanding thereunder may be made without 
the consent of the Owners of the Series 2019 Bonds in the manner and upon the terms and 
conditions provided in the Bond Indenture.  Any other modification or alteration of the 
Bond Indenture and of rights and obligations of the Authority and of Owners of the bonds 
outstanding thereunder may be made in the manner and upon terms and conditions 
provided in the Bond Indenture.  Any consent by the Owner of this Bond when required 
by the Bond Indenture (unless revoked as provided in the Bond Indenture), shall be 
conclusive and binding upon such owner and all future Owners of this Bond, irrespective 
of whether any notation of such consent is made upon this Bond. 

Executed counterparts of this Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Series 2019 
Master Note and the Master Indenture are on file at the designated corporate trust office of 
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the Bond Trustee in Jacksonville, Florida, and are available for inspection. All descriptions 
of the provisions of such documents contained herein are amplified and qualified in all 
respects by the exact provisions of such documents, and the definitions contained therein 
shall apply to like terms contained in this Bond. The acceptance of the terms and conditions 
of all of the above documents is an explicit and material part of the consideration for the 
issuance of this Bond, and the acceptance of this Bond shall bind the Owner to the terms 
and conditions of all of the above documents. 

In case an Event of Default, as defined in the Bond Indenture, shall have occurred, 
the principal of the Series 2019 Bonds and all other bonds then outstanding under the Bond 
Indenture may become due and payable before their maturity dates. 

No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal or redemption price of or 
interest on this Bond, or for any claim based hereon or on the Bond Indenture, against any 
member, officer or employee, past, present, or future, of the Authority or of any successor 
body, as such, either directly or through the Authority or any such successor body, under 
any constitutional provision, statute or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any assessment 
or by any legal or equitable proceeding or otherwise, all such liability of such members, 
officers or employees being released as a condition of and as an explicit and material part 
of the consideration for the execution of this Bond Indenture and the issuance of this Bond. 

This Bond is transferable, as provided in the Bond Indenture, by the Owner hereof 
or his duly authorized attorney at the designated corporate trust office of the Bond Trustee, 
upon surrender of this Bond, accompanied by a duly executed instrument of transfer (with 
signatures guaranteed if so requested by the Bond Trustee), in form satisfactory to the Bond 
Trustee, and upon payment by the Owner hereof of any taxes, fees or other governmental 
charges incident to such transfer.  Upon such transfer, one or more new fully registered 
Series 2019 Bonds without coupons of the same series and in the same aggregate principal 
amount, or in any Authorized Denomination, will be issued to the transferee.  The 
Authority and the Bond Trustee may treat the Owner of this Bond as the absolute owner 
hereof for all purposes, whether or not this Bond shall be overdue, and shall not be affected 
by any notice to the contrary.  The Bond Trustee shall not be required to transfer or 
exchange any Bond during the 15 days preceding the date of the mailing of notice calling 
such Bond or any portion thereof for redemption as provided in this Bond Indenture or any 
Series 2019 Bonds thereafter selected for redemption. 

Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of The 
Depository Trust Company, a New York corporation ("DTC"), to the Authority or 
its agent for registration of transfer, exchange, or payment, and any certificate issued 
is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such other name as is requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to Cede & Co. or to such 
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other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY 
TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR 
OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the Owner 
hereof, Cede & Co., has an interest herein. 

This Bond is not valid unless the Bond Trustee's Authentication Certificate endorsed 
hereon is duly executed. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority has caused this Bond to be executed in 
its name by the facsimile signature of its Chairman or Vice Chairman and a facsimile of its 
corporate seal to be printed hereon and attested by the facsimile signature of its Secretary 
or Assistant Secretary. 

(SEAL)  LEE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

   
   
ATTEST:   By:  
   Chairman 
   
By:    
 Secretary   
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BOND TRUSTEE'S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE 
 

This Bond is one of the Bonds, of the Series designated herein, described in the 
within mentioned Bond Indenture. 

Date of Authentication: 
 
 

 U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, as Bond Trustee 

   
  By:  
   Authorized Signature 
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ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 
 
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto 
 
  
 Insert Social Security or Other Identifying Number of Assignee 
 
  
 (Name and Address of Assignee) 
 
  
 
the within Bond and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint ________________ 
_____________________________, as attorney to register the transfer of the within 
named Bond Trustee, with full power of substitution in the premises. 
 

 
 

Dated:    
   
Guaranteed:   
   
   
NOTICE: Signature(s) must be 
guaranteed by an institution which is a 
participant in the Securities Transfer 
Agent Medallion Program (STAMP) or 
similar program. 

 NOTICE:  The signature to this 
assignment must correspond with the 
name of the Registered Holder as it 
appears upon the face of the within Bond 
in every particular, without alteration or 
enlargement or any change whatever and 
the Social Security or other identifying 
number of such assignee must be supplied. 
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366 East Olympia Avenue 
Punta Gorda, Florida  33950 

Phone: 941.639.6600 
Fax: 941.639.6115 

May 21, 2019 

Board of Directors 
Lee County Industrial Development Authority 
Fort Myers, Florida    

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

Providing high quality and responsive service to local governments is an increasingly complex and demanding 
process.  Success in this process requires a level of understanding that can only be obtained through practical 
experience and knowledge of the local environment. 

Our objective in this proposal is to demonstrate why it is in Lee County Industrial Development Authority’s 
(the “IDA”) best interest to select us as your auditor and advisor.  We believe there are several areas where we 
clearly provide a level of added value.  Specifically these areas are: 

Experience 

Having professionals with extensive expertise in governmental accounting is a definite advantage.  Staff members 
to be assigned to this engagement are all experienced governmental auditors, including working on the IDA. We 
believe that you should expect from us the highest level of responsiveness, efficiency, and understanding of your 
operations and issues. 

1.
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The Importance of Continuity 

IDA management is charged with managing a diversity of responsibilities, including, complying with state and 
federal requirements, ensuring fiscal responsibility and meeting financial reporting deadlines.  Our experienced 
service team is uniquely prepared to begin working on the 2018 audit without having to take your time learning 
about IDA records, employee duties and current issues.   

Our planning is in place, and we are ready to begin interim fieldwork immediately upon selection.  Changing 
auditors carries with it a number of risk factors such as: 

• Inefficient use of IDA staff time
• Disruption of daily operations
• Potential for mistakes and misstatements
• No assurance you will receive comparable levels of service

An Efficient Approach 

We understand and commit to meeting all of your requirements and performance specifications.  Our audit 
approach is designed to produce results that will comply with each of the professional requirements in an 
integrated, cost-effective manner.  We commit to you that we will perform the scope of work within your timeline 
and we will work with you on an ongoing basis to identify opportunities to streamline and accelerate it.   

Our Commitment 

Service is an area where you will benefit directly from selecting us.  We promise to maintain excellent 
communication with you and your staff.  We clearly understand the work to be done and what is required under 
governmental auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the standards set forth for 
financial audits by the United States General Accounting Office’s Government Auditing Standards, the 
requirements prescribed by Florida Statutes, regulations of the State of Florida Department of Financial Services, 
and the Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida. 

Thank you for the opportunity to propose to serve you as your auditors and advisors.  Underlying our written 
response, we hope you sense the pride and enthusiasm we have in our commitment to provide you with quality 
services. 

Any questions regarding this proposal should be directed to Jeff Brown at (941) 639-6600 or 366 E. Olympia 
Ave., Punta Gorda, FL 33950 or jeff@ashleybrowncpas.com.  

Ashley, Brown & Company 
Certified Public Accountants 
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Firm Qualifications and Experience 
 
 
We are an established firm and possess a wealth of experience and technical knowledge.  We are a group of 
seasoned professionals who have united for a sole purpose – the delivery of a quality and timely service to our 
clients. 
 
Jeff Brown, Teresa DaCosta Tony Smith, and Jaime Stratico are professionals who bring a wide variety of 
experience in accounting, auditing and tax matters serving a wide range of clients.  These individuals have been 
assigned to numerous governmental audits in the past, including the IDA.  Enclosed in this proposal are resumes 
for all members of the engagement team.  Jeff Brown, who is licensed to practice as a certified public accountant 
in Florida and has completed all CPE’s required by the AICPA and State of Florida for audits of governmental 
units, will serve as partner on this engagement.   
 
Our firm has never been subjected to any federal or state desk reviews or field reviews of its audits.  In addition, 
there has been no disciplinary action taken or pending against the firm with state regulatory bodies or professional 
organizations, as well as no pending litigation or accounts of federal indictments for any civil or criminal matters 
for which the firm has been charged.  The firm does not have a record of substandard audit work.  The firm meets 
independence standards as established by the GAGAS, AICPA and the State of Florida. 
 
The firm is properly licensed as a certified public accounting firm in the State of Florida and has always remained 
in good standing.  A copy of our license, downloaded from the state’s website, is enclosed in this proposal. 
 
Professional development is a high priority of the firm.  Staff members are encouraged to exceed the minimum 
required levels of continuing professional education in order to comply with the State Board of Accountancy’s 
requirements applicable to audits of Florida local governments.  All personnel to be assigned to this engagement 
are in compliance with the State Board of Accountancy and the General Accounting Office of the federal 
government’s requirements.  Each member’s continuing education hours are represented on their enclosed 
resumes.   
 
The firm is dedicated to providing high quality service to each and every client in part by ensuring that all staff 
are educated and abide by the firm’s quality control requirements. All audit staff are committed to preventing 
ethical violations. Their dedication ensures the success of our clients, firm, and profession.   
 
Our most recent peer review report is enclosed and is dated November 14, 2017.  This report indicates that for 
the year ended March 31, 2017, our firm received the rating of PASS, which is the highest possible rating.  Further, 
the peer review states, “as required by the standards, engagements selected for review included engagements 
performed under Government Auditing Standards”, thus including reviews of local government client activities.  
Our firm is an active member of the AICPA, FICPA, and FGFOA and we receive constant updates from each. 
 
Although we offer a full range of accounting, auditing and tax services, the predominant part of our practice is 
devoted to the governmental arena.  Auditing local governments is not a sideline – it is the cornerstone of our 
local practice. 
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Specific Audit Approach 
 
Our firm is capable of meeting all of the audit requirements in an efficient and cost effective manner. 
 
Our audit approach guarantees getting the basics right.  It focuses on key organizational elements and key accounts 
or groups of accounts to bring you, on time, an audit of the highest quality and maximum economy.  It is a proven 
approach that has been applied many times, and it permits flexibility and adaptability to meet your needs. 
 
Our audit strategy contains the following critical elements: 
 

• Knowledge of Your Operations - We come to the engagement with a solid understanding of the 
environment in which you operate and with highly experienced auditors.  Due to governmental 
auditing being the cornerstone of our practice, we understand the laws and regulations required to be 
subjected to audit test work as well as how to evaluate and report on compliance.  All of the 
engagement team members have been assigned to governmental audits in the past, including the IDA. 

 
• Management Involvement - Deciding on audit strategies requires seasoned judgment.  Jeff Brown 

will be heavily involved in all phases of the audit. 
  
• Continuous Risk Assessment and Planning - Our audit approach emphasizes the use of professional 

judgment.  We continually monitor client operations and adapt our audit strategy based on risk 
assessment. 

 
• Focus on Controls - Our systems approach to auditing evaluates the accounting and management 

controls which are of most importance to you.  This enables us to reduce the level of substantive 
auditing in well-controlled environments and facilitate timely external reporting.   
 

• Exploiting Technology - We use state-of-the-art computer systems technology in all aspects of the 
audit.  Our staff members bring a wealth of practical experience and training to this phase of the 
engagement. 

 
• Effective, Timely Communication – We know there is no value to be derived from audit information 

unless it is communicated to you in an effective and timely manner.  We represent to you that we will 
work with you and your staff to streamline and accelerate the audit process.  Additionally, in the event 
we become aware of any irregularities, illegal acts, or indications of illegal acts we will make an 
immediate written report to the Chairman of the Board. 

 
• Technical Issues Resolution – The cornerstone of our philosophy is continual involvement with our 

clients.  This interaction, coupled with a full understanding of the governmental environment, fosters 
timely identification and resolution of technical issues. 
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Specific Audit Approach, continued 
 

• Cost Effectiveness – We provide added value to our clients with the cost effectiveness of our professional 
services.  We can maintain a commitment to a reasonable and fair fee because of fundamental efficiency 
and economy inherent in our overall audit philosophy. 

 
• Internal Control – We will begin our audit of the IDA by carefully evaluating the effectiveness of both 

the manual and computerized internal accounting control systems as required under generally accepted 
auditing standards, as well as selected operating controls.  Our audit approach is system-based.  It is 
designed to determine the effectiveness and reliability of control systems, balanced with procedures 
designed to verify critical assets, liabilities and transactions reflected in the financial statements.  Our 
examinations of systems involve a thorough study of accounting and financial managing procedures.  We 
will document your procedures, evaluate effectiveness of the controls inherent in the systems, and test the 
operation of the control by examining transactions following through the systems.  We will utilize the 
IDA’s organizational chart, accounting manuals and documented internal control procedures and 
programs, budgets and financial reports to develop our audit work plan. 

 
• Analytical Procedures – We utilize analytical procedures in all aspects of the engagement from the initial 

planning phases to performing final fluctuation analysis. We also utilize these procedures during the 
testing of specific account balances, when it is deemed to be effective and efficient.  We often use 
analytical procedures as an additional verification to back-up and see if something makes sense, does it 
pass the often referred to “smell test.”   
 

• Sample Sizes – We utilize various audit techniques to develop sample sizes applicable to the audit 
procedure.  The size of the sample is determined based on analytical procedures and is modified based on 
the results of the testing.  We will work with IDA staff to keep sample sizes to a minimal level to ensure 
efficient use of IDA staff. 
 

• Good Business Intelligence - We are interested in the efficient operations of the IDA.  To ensure this, we 
will meet with management at as many levels as possible.  Your staff will know where to turn when they 
have questions or need to draw on our experience and resources.  The result is that you receive a steady 
stream of information that, in many cases, is vital to informed decision making.  We will be your sounding 
board for ideas, issues, current developments and suggestions to help run your operations better – not just 
at year-end, but also year round. 
 

• Proposed timeline and budget for the audit – We are flexible and it is ultimately up to the IDA’s staff 
as to dates of fieldwork and other aspects of the audit.  Upon our selection as your auditors, we will 
immediately begin planning the audit and schedule fieldwork.   
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Location  
 
Our office is located in Punta Gorda and is approximately 25 minutes from your office and are always only a 
phone call or email away to provide assistance.  Additionally, we are accustomed to servicing out-of-town clients 
and distance has yet to be a detriment to responding to client needs.  We currently service numerous clients in 
Sarasota, DeSoto, Lee, Charlotte, Hendry, Polk and Collier Counties, including governmental, not-for-profit and 
commercial entities. 
 
 
 
 
Fee 
 
Our all-inclusive price to complete the IDA’s audit, including all variable, direct and indirect costs for the fiscal 
year ending September 30, 2018 is $5,325.  This is a 2.9% increase from our fee for the prior year audit. 
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Jeff Brown, CPA 
 
 
Professional Experience 

• Over fifteen years of governmental audit experience since joining the firm 
• Governmental audit engagements undertaken include: City of Punta Gorda; Charlotte County; City of 

Bonita Springs; City of Everglades City; DeSoto County; Hendry County; Bonita Springs Fire Control 
and Rescue District; Tice Fire Protection and Rescue Service District; Bayshore Fire Protection and 
Rescue Service District; Lee County Industrial Development Authority; Lee County Mosquito Control 
District; Lee County Hyacinth Control District; Collier Mosquito Control District; Fort Myers Beach 
Mosquito Control District; Fort Myers Beach Library District; Charlotte County Housing Finance 
Authority; Captiva Erosion Prevention Control District; East Charlotte Drainage District; Joshua 
Water Control District; County Line Drainage District; Estates at Cherry Lake Community 
Development District; Upper Captiva Fire Protection and Rescue Service District; Estero Fire District; 
Fort Myers Beach Fire Control District 

• Non-Profit Expending Federal and State Grant Awards: Early Learning Coalition of Florida’s 
Heartland, Inc. 

 
Professional and Civic Affiliations 

• Member, Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
• Associate Member of Florida and Southwest Florida Chapters of GFOA 
• Board of Directors, Charlotte County Industrial Development Authority 
• Past Treasurer, Charlotte County Chamber of Commerce 
• Board of Directors, Charlotte Behavioral Health Care (formerly Charlotte Mental Health Services) 
• Alumnus, Leadership Charlotte County 
• Member, Charlotte County Young Professionals 

 
Education and Licenses 

• Certified Public Accountant – State of Florida - February 2006 
• Masters of Accountancy and Taxation - Florida Gulf Coast University – Fall 2003 
• Bachelor of Science with major in Accounting - West Virginia Wesleyan College – Spring 1998 

 
Specialized Government and Audit Training 

• 128 hours of Continuing Professional Education credits in the last three years, of which 123 hours 
were specific to governmental accounting and auditing. 
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Tony Smith  
 
 
Professional Experience 

• Participation in several county, municipal and special district audits for the 8 years employed by the 
firm 

• Skilled in computer applications 
• Various accounting, auditing and taxation experience 

• Governmental audit engagements undertaken include: City of Punta Gorda; Charlotte County Sheriff; 
Charlotte County Tax Collector; Charlotte County Clerk of Courts; Charlotte County Supervisor of 
Elections; Charlotte County Property Appraiser; City of Bonita Springs; City of Everglades City;  Hendry 
County; Bonita Springs Fire Control and Rescue District; Tice Fire Protection and Rescue Service District; 
Bayshore Fire Protection and Rescue Service District; Lee County Industrial Development Authority; Lee 
County Mosquito Control District; Lee County Hyacinth Control District; Fort Myers Beach Mosquito 
Control District; Fort Myers Beach Library District; East Charlotte Drainage District; Joshua Water 
Control District; County Line Drainage District; Upper Captiva Fire Protection and Rescue Service 
District; Estero Fire District; Fort Myers Beach Fire Control District 
• Non-Profit Expending Federal and State Grant Awards: Early Learning Coalition of Florida’s 

Heartland, Inc. 
 
Professional and Civic Affiliations 

• Associate Member of Florida and Southwest Florida Chapters of GFOA 
• Associate Member of Florida Institutes of Certified Public Accountants 
• Alumnus, Leadership Charlotte County, Class of 2015 
• Treasurer, Charlotte County Chamber of Commerce 

 
Education and Licenses 

• Masters of Accountancy and Taxation - Florida Gulf Coast University - 2015 
• Bachelor of Science in Accounting - Florida Gulf Coast University - 2011 

 
Prior Work Experience 

• United States Navy, Aviation Electrician, Active Duty, February 2003 – March 2007 – Honorable 
Discharge 

 
Specialized Government & Auditing Training 

• 358 hours of Continuing Professional Education credits in the last three years, of which 162 hours 
were specific to governmental accounting and auditing. 
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Jaime Stratico, CPA  
 
 
Professional Experience 

• Participation in several county, municipal, non-profits and special district audits for the 5 years 
employed by the firm. 

• Skilled in computer applications and tax preparation 
• Various accounting, taxation, general ledger and payroll experience 
• Governmental audit engagements undertaken include: City of Punta Gorda; Charlotte County Sheriff; 

Charlotte County Tax Collector; Charlotte County Clerk of Courts; Charlotte County Supervisor of 
Elections; Charlotte County Property Appraiser; City of Bonita Springs; City of Everglades City;  
Hendry County; Bonita Springs Fire Control and Rescue District; Tice Fire Protection and Rescue 
Service District; Bayshore Fire Protection and Rescue Service District; Lee County Industrial 
Development Authority; Lee County Mosquito Control District; Lee County Hyacinth Control 
District; Fort Myers Beach Mosquito Control District; Fort Myers Beach Library District; East 
Charlotte Drainage District; Joshua Water Control District; County Line Drainage District; East 
Mulloch Drainage District; Upper Captiva Fire Protection and Rescue Service District; Estero Fire 
District; Fort Myers Beach Fire Control District 

• Non-Profit Expending Federal and State Grant Awards: Early Learning Coalition of Florida’s 
Heartland, Inc. 

 
Education and Licenses 

• Masters of Accountancy and Taxation – University of Central Florida - 2012  
• Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accounting – Florida Gulf Coast University - 2003 

 
Specialized Government & Auditing Training 

• 281 hours of Continuing Professional Education credits in the last two years, of which 138 hours were 
specific to governmental accounting and auditing. 
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Teresa DaCosta 
 
 
Professional Experience 

• Participation in several county, municipal, non-profits and special district audits for the 4 years 
employed by the firm. 

• Skilled in computer applications and tax preparation 
• Various accounting, taxation, general ledger and payroll experience 
• Governmental audit engagements undertaken include: City of Punta Gorda; Charlotte County Sheriff; 

Charlotte County Tax Collector; Charlotte County Clerk of Courts; Charlotte County Supervisor of 
Elections; Charlotte County Property Appraiser; City of Bonita Springs; City of Everglades City;  
Hendry County; Bonita Springs Fire Control and Rescue District; Tice Fire Protection and Rescue 
Service District; Bayshore Fire Protection and Rescue Service District; Lee County Industrial 
Development Authority; Lee County Mosquito Control District; Lee County Hyacinth Control 
District; Fort Myers Beach Mosquito Control District; Fort Myers Beach Library District; East 
Charlotte Drainage District; Joshua Water Control District; County Line Drainage District; East 
Mulloch Drainage District; Upper Captiva Fire Protection and Rescue Service District; Estero Fire 
District; Fort Myers Beach Fire Control District 

• Non-Profit Expending Federal and State Grant Awards: Early Learning Coalition of Florida’s 
Heartland, Inc. 

 
Education and Licenses 

• Currently enrolled in Masters of Accountancy and Taxation, Florida Gulf Coast University  
• Bachelor of Science in Accounting - Florida Gulf Coast University - Fall 2014 

 
Specialized Government & Auditing Training 

• 362 hours of Continuing Professional Education credits in the last three years, of which 138 hours 
were specific to governmental accounting and auditing. 
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References 
 
 
Chief Larry Nisbet 
Bayshore Fire Protection & Rescue Service District 
17350 Nalle Road  
North Fort Myers, Florida  33917 
(239) 543-3443 
 
 
Ms. Lisa Gendron, Finance Director 
Bonita Springs Fire Control & Rescue District 
27701 Bonita Grande Drive 
Bonita Springs, FL  34135 
(239) 390-7953 
 
 
Ms. Anne Wright, Finance Director 
City of Bonita Springs 
9101 Bonita Beach Road 
Bonita Springs, Florida  34135 
Phone - (239) 949-6262  
 
 
Ms. Kristin Simeone, Director of Finance 
City of Punta Gorda 
326 W. Marion Ave. 
Punta Gorda, Florida 33950 
(941) 575-3318 
 
 
Chief Ted Ross 
Tice Fire & Rescue District 
9351 Workmen Way 
Fort Myers, Florida  33905 
(239) 694-2380 
 
 
We pride ourselves in being your year-round advisors and not just the year-end auditors.  We encourage you to 
contact the professionals listed above and inquire about the level of responsiveness and quality of service that we 
provide.  Additional references can be provided upon request. 
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5/21/2019 DBPR - ASHLEY, BROWN & COMPANY, CPA'S, FIRM

https://www.myfloridalicense.com/LicenseDetail.asp?SID=&id=BCA2E3C4DBF1447B6D836263A6DC2EF6 1/1

10:39:06 AM 5/21/2019

Licensee Details
Licensee Information

Name: ASHLEY, BROWN & COMPANY, CPA'S (Primary Name)

Main Address: 366 E OLYMPIA AVENUE 
PUNTA GORDA  Florida  33950

County: CHARLOTTE

License Mailing:

LicenseLocation: 366 E OLYMPIA AVENUE 
PUNTA GORDA   FL   33950

County: CHARLOTTE

License Information
License Type: FIRM
Rank: CPA Firms
License Number: AD0019377
Status: Current
Licensure Date: 12/07/1999
Expires: 12/31/2019

Special Qualifications Qualification Effective
Corporation

Alternate Names

View Related License Information
View License Complaint

2601 Blair Stone Road, Tallahassee FL 32399 :: Email: Customer Contact Center :: Customer Contact Center: 850.487.1395

The State of Florida is an AA/EEO employer. Copyright 2007-2010 State of Florida. Privacy Statement

Under Florida law, email addresses are public records. If you do not want your email address released in response to a public-records request,
do not send electronic mail to this entity. Instead, contact the office by phone or by traditional mail. If you have any questions, please contact
850.487.1395. *Pursuant to Section 455.275(1), Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2012, licensees licensed under Chapter 455, F.S. must
provide the Department with an email address if they have one. The emails provided may be used for official communication with the licensee.

However email addresses are public record. If you do not wish to supply a personal address, please provide the Department with an email
address which can be made available to the public.
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http://maps.google.com/maps?f=q&source=s_q&hl=en&geocode=&q=2601+Blair+Stone+Road,+Tallahassee+FL+32399&sll=30.425336,-84.248805&ie=UTF8&hq=&hnear=2601+Blair+Stone+Rd,+Tallahassee,+Florida+32301&ll=30.425336,-84.248805&z=16
http://www.myfloridalicense.com/DBPR/contactus
http://www.myflorida.com/myflorida/copyright.html
http://www.myflorida.com/myflorida/privacy.html
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